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INTRODUCTION

JOHN C. INSCOE

The very first issue of the Journal of Negro History, published in 1916, included
an essay on slavery in Appalachia. It was written by Carter G. Woodson, the
journal’s founder, who would go on to become one of the most distinguished
African American historians of the first half of the twentieth century. Woodson
was himself a product of Appalachia; though born in 1875 in piedmont Vir-
ginia, he followed his older brothers into West Virginia at the age of seven-
teen, where he laid railroad ties and mined coal before heading west again for
an education at Berea College in Kentucky. He graduated in 1904, only a year
before the Kentucky legislature prohibited the enrollment of blacks there.
Woodson went on to the University of Chicago, where he became the nation’s
second black Ph.D. (following W.E.B. Du Bois) with a dissertation on Virginia’s
secession movement and the creation of West Virginia.1

Thus one of America’s first great scholars of the African American expe-
rience began his career as a scholar of Appalachia, a region he had come to
know intimately during his formative years. In his 1916 essay, certainly the
most thoughtful and comprehensive treatment of the subject of race and racial
attitudes in the mountain South up to that time, Woodson explored the vari-
ous facets of Appalachian distinctiveness on such issues, many of them well
established in popular conceptions about the region. He gave credence to the
long-standing impression that southern highlanders were as a whole “a hardy
race of European dissenters” of very different stock from other southern colo-
nists, Germans and Scotch-Irish, along “with a sprinkling of Huguenots, Quak-
ers, and poor whites who had served their time as indentured servants in the
East.” As backwoodsmen and highlanders, they opposed slavery formally,
through abolitionist organizations, newspapers, or institutions of higher edu-
cation (notably Berea and Maryville Colleges), or more informally, through a
base, often unarticulated resentment of and estrangement from the slaveholding
class that had driven them into the hills. While not denying a black presence in
the mountains (he conceded that the mountaineers’ attacks on slavery were
“not altogether opposition to an institution foreign” to them), Woodson’s
emphasis was much more on the topographic, economic, and ideological im-
pediments to slavery’s existence in the highlands and to the religious and eth-
nic makeup of those who first shunned the institution in their midst.2

Woodson’s essay remains a landmark in Appalachian historiography. It
represents the first scholarly assessment of an aspect of southern mountain life
and culture that, well before and well after its appearance, continued to be
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perceived as one of its most distinguishing characteristics—its racial innocence.
Yet it hardly inspired any further scrutiny by historians or other scholars. The
subject of race and Appalachia was raised only sporadically for the next fifty to
sixty years. Only with the explosion of scholarship on the region that has taken
place in the century’s final decades have scholars again given serious attention
to the presence of African Americans in Appalachia and the implications of
that presence—socially, politically, economically, and culturally—on the re-
gion and beyond.

These essays represent a cross section of this recent work. Yet this is not
the breakthrough work that an earlier such volume was. In 1985, the Univer-
sity Press of Kentucky published a volume titled simply Blacks in Appalachia.
Edited by two of the foremost African American scholars then working on and
in the region, William H. Turner and Edward J. Cabbell, that book was a rich
compilation of new, old, and even “classic” works on the subject. Its purpose
was, among other things, to challenge what was still legitimately seen as the
“black invisibility” factor in Appalachian Studies, as Cabbell termed it. It was
multidisciplinary in makeup and included historical, sociological, demographic,
and bibliographic assessments of the topic, along with more intimate writings
by and about black residents of the region, in the form of oral interviews,
memoirs, and personal reminiscences.3

After the appearance of that book, it would be difficult to argue that
blacks, past or present, are invisible in the region.4 The African American pres-
ence in the mountain South is now a given, and we have moved on to explore
the implications of that presence in more particular and increasingly sophisti-
cated ways. The sheer range of scholarship on the black experience in the
mountain South and on white responses to it suggests that race relations there
were no less complex (and often perplexing in their contradictions and ambi-
guities) than anywhere else in the South or the nation.5 We are now much
more attuned to the variety of circumstances that brought blacks, slave or free,
into the southern highlands and to the variety of circumstances under which
they lived and worked there.

This volume is more traditionally historical in its approach, and repre-
sents for the most part work produced since the publication of Blacks in Appa-
lachia.6 While in many ways it expands upon the themes raised in that earlier
volume, these essays also reflect new concerns and new questions about race
relations in the region over the course of the nineteenth century. The dynam-
ics and diversity of slave labor in the mountains—who owned slaves and how
they used them—have been central to this new scholarship. Closely related are
new explorations of the shifting demographics of Appalachia’s African Ameri-
can presence: questions of how and why blacks were moved by others into and
out of the region before the Civil War, and how and why they did so of their
own accord (a shift from passive to active voice) afterward.

We are also becoming more aware of the extent to which race relations
and the biracial demographics of the mountain South were functions of vari-
ous forces of modernization. Kenneth Noe notes the apparent paradox in the
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fact that most such enterprises in antebellum Appalachia were so dependent
on that most “unmodern” of institutions—slavery. And yet, as he and others in
essays that follow clearly demonstrate, the ways in which black labor (or as
Nina Silber demonstrates, the lack of a black presence) contributed to the eco-
nomic development of the region say as much or more about the qualified
nature of the term “modernization” when applied to Appalachia, or for that
matter, to the South in general.

While we still lack a comprehensive treatment of Reconstruction in Ap-
palachia, several essays here suggest considerable variation in the emancipa-
tion experience of highland freedmen and freedwomen throughout the region
and equal variation in how historians have approached that era and those expe-
riences. By century’s end, what has been termed the “nadir” of southern race
relations was in full swing, as racial violence and political and legal setbacks to
civil rights began to undo the gains of the postemancipation decade. The moun-
tain South was not immune from the setbacks of Jim Crow, but they coincided
with other developments as well: new economic opportunities that drew a sig-
nificant new black presence into parts of the region; and the so-called “discov-
ery” of Appalachia, in which outside interest in, perceptions of, and a mission
impulse toward the region intensified. The implications of these simultaneous,
if often contradictory, trends are explored in several essays here as well.

This collection opens with a much discussed and often cited essay by
Richard B. Drake, arguably the first historian since Woodson to fully embrace
the themes that the latter laid out in 1916. Seventy years later, Drake, a profes-
sor of history at Berea, Woodson’s alma mater, produced a more hard-hitting
and less romanticized analysis of the proslavery and antislavery impulses evi-
dent in southern Appalachia. Like Woodson’s essay, Drake’s is wide-ranging in
its coverage. He documents the extensiveness of the peculiar institution’s pres-
ence throughout the region and establishes a much more realistic context for
the emergence of abolitionist sentiments and the various forms it took. In his
arguments and in the source material from which he draws them (particularly
the WPA exslave interviews of the 1930s), Drake foreshadows much of the
multifaceted work on the subject that is represented here.

The essay following his, however, takes a very different tact from any
other work in this volume. Cecelia Conway’s work is unique in that she ex-
plores the impact of African Americans on the mountain region, not so much
in social, economic, or political terms, but rather as biracial cultural transmis-
sions that first shaped and continue to be evident in the techniques, styles, and
repertoires of Appalachian banjo playing. Though the multigenerational con-
nections she makes span the eighteenth to early twentieth centuries, the heart
of her argument rests on the correlation she establishes between antebellum
black migration patterns and the emergence of banjo playing by whites in cer-
tain communities of northwest North Carolina and southwest Virginia. Conway
argues that African traditions were among the earliest and most obvious trans-
missions that underlay this most distinctive of mountain musical forms. Among
several notable implications to her extraordinary, yet well-documented, claims
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is that even the transitory presence of African Americans had the potential for
making a significant and lasting impact on the cultural distinctiveness of the
region through which they passed.

Much of the recent scholarship on mountain slavery has focused on ways
in which a black labor force was made useful, and profitable, in highland re-
gions devoid of large-scale plantation agriculture. Four essays here reflect the
very different contexts in which slave labor operated in “industrial” enterprises
in this otherwise most “preindustrial” of times and places. All are drawn from
book-length treatments of antebellum economic activity in different parts of
the southern highlands.7

David Williams chronicles the visible, even central, role played by Afri-
can Americans in a gold rush that brought thousands of opportunists, white
and black, into Georgia’s Blue Ridge Mountains in the late 1820s and early
1830s. For slaves and free blacks, the turbulent times in and around the
boomtowns of Dahlonega and Auraria presented both limitations and oppor-
tunities. For slaves, some opportunities were created or condoned by the own-
ers that brought them into the hills as mining hands; in other cases, slaves
themselves took advantage, often through subversive means, of a situation that
availed them the chance to gain their freedom by purchase or escape.8 The
impact of that relatively brief surge of activity was felt in a number of ways,
one of which was a far more substantial black population base than was evident
anywhere else in Georgia’s highlands. (The long-term effects of that demo-
graphic reality, with somewhat different implications in a second,
postemancipation generation of that community, are explored in a later essay
by Jennifer Lund Smith.)

John Stealey provides a comprehensive analysis of how slave labor fueled
perhaps the most profitable of Appalachia’s extractive industries before the
Civil War: the salt mines and furnaces of Virginia’s Kanawha Valley (which,
during the war, would become West Virginia). The demand for salt in antebel-
lum America and the vast supplies available in southwestern Virginia made it
the earliest and most extensive industrial operation in the mountain South,
with factories established on the Kanawha River by 1810. Slave labor followed
quickly, and in this selection from his book on that operation and the markets
it served, Stealey’s work joins that of Ronald Lewis, Robert Starobin, and Charles
Dew, in particular, in demonstrating the extent to which mining enterprises of
various sorts in Appalachia took full advantage of the manpower provided by
the “peculiar institution” and adapted it—in some ways efficiently and effec-
tively, in others with considerable risk—to serve the demands of their own
peculiar labor needs and functions.9

Dew’s essay examines similar trends in another antebellum industry, an
ironworks in western Virginia, and does so at a far more intimate level, from
the perspective of a single slave life. Sam Williams belonged to William Weaver,
who owned Buffalo Forge and the slaves that worked it. Dew reconstructs in
remarkable detail the life of Williams, an exceptionally able and ambitious
bondsman; through that life he provides in the most personalized of terms a
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vivid sense of the antebellum iron industry and how it shaped master-slave rela-
tionships, slave family and slave community, and the transition from slavery to
freedom. Dew sets this story more within the context of southern industrial
slavery than within its Appalachian setting. Yet this rich portrait of these men,
their work, and their relationship with each other takes on new meanings when
juxtaposed with the other essays here that deal with black miners and master-
slave interaction in the nonplantation, nonagricultural environment where so
many highland blacks found themselves.

Kenneth Noe’s first book focused on another aspect of modernization in
the mountains: the economic and political impact of the Virginia and Tennes-
see Railroad on southwest Virginia. In a chapter from that book reproduced
here, Noe traces the peculiar institution’s emergence in this vast region of
some two dozen counties (a third of which would later become part of the new
state of West Virginia) from its early settlement onward. He gives particular
emphasis, though, to the several ways in which the construction of a railroad
through the heart of this region in the mid-1850s reinforced slavery’s eco-
nomic value, from providing a major new outlet for hired labor as construction
workers to facilitating the movement of slaves bought and sold within and
beyond this section of the state.

Noe is among the first historians to deal substantively with the move-
ment of slaves into and out of the mountains as a central component of the
economic and political dimensions of Appalachian slavery. More recent work
by Wilma Dunaway is causing us to rethink the implications of that movement
in other ways as well. Her focus, too, is on the economic impact of slavery on
the region, but less in terms of their labor than on their marketability as ex-
ported commodities. In her essay, Dunaway documents the movement of Afri-
can Americans into, out of, and through the mountains; she views such activity
as part of the vast commercial network by which upper South markets supplied
the lower South’s seemingly insatiable demand for slave labor. Given the per-
vasiveness of the lucrative trade in slaves through much of the region, white
Appalachian residents of all classes took advantage of the opportunities that
such trafficking in human property offered, as slaveholders, as slave traders,
even as slave catchers or bounty hunters.10 Thus, like Cecelia Conway, Dunaway
suggests that even the transitory presence of African Americans could have
significantly impacted, in direct and indirect ways, those areas through which
they moved.

One of the major unexplored areas of highland race relations before the
Civil War remains the place held by its free black residents.11 Thus, Marie
Tedesco’s portrait of a southwest Virginia slave who emerged as a free black
man in northeastern Tennessee in the early nineteenth century offers an in-
sightful introduction into the implications of such status within the region.
Tedesco meticulously reconstructs the lineage and the life of Adam Waterford,
whose many business transactions in Sullivan County included his own pur-
chase of slave property. One of those slaves was his own brother, whose status
as slave or free remained unresolved at Adam’s death and thus the basis of
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continuing legal battles. In tracing the financial and legal entanglements of the
Waterford brothers, one owner, one owned, Tedesco reveals much about the
business of slavery in Appalachia; at the same time, Waterford’s extraordinary
interactions with the white elites of the Sullivan County community of which
he was a part raise even more intriguing questions about the opportunities,
economic and social, available to an ambitious African American in this par-
ticular time and place.

My own contribution here is an examination of one of the earliest con-
scious attempts to analyze the racial attitudes of white mountaineers, that made
by the most effective investigative journalist of the slave South, Frederick Law
Olmsted. We have many nineteenth-century travelers’ accounts of the south-
ern highlands, but no one else moved through the region with so specific an
agenda as Olmsted. His aim was to observe and to report on the racial realities,
demographically, economically, and ideologically, that made the highland ex-
perience different from those of the lowland South, through which he had
already moved and written about extensively. His attempt to capture what white
mountaineers thought about blacks, whether or not they knew any, gets at the
heart of the region’s perceived “racial innocence” that later generations of
Appalachian observers would find so intriguing and that Nina Silber, in a later
essay here, explores.12

Community studies have been among the most valuable means by which
recent scholarship has come to terms with the intricacies and the variables in
the Appalachian experience. No single community in Appalachia has received
more scholarly attention over a wider span of time than the Beech Creek com-
munity of eastern Kentucky. As part of their own multifaceted analysis of nine-
teenth-century Beech Creek and of Clay County, within which it fell,
sociologists Kathleen Blee and Dwight Billings address what has been until
now an unexplored issue for that area or elsewhere: race and its impact on
economic opportunity and the lack thereof. In the broadest chronological span
covered in this volume, Blee and Billings utilize a variety of statistical data to
trace the routes to wealth and poverty taken by black and white residents of
Clay County over the course of the last half of the nineteenth century and the
different strategies devised by members of each race to cope with the conse-
quences of their economic deterioration as it became more chronic over the
course of six decades.

While the antebellum era and the Civil War in the mountain South have
become prevalent topics of historical exploration in recent years, Reconstruc-
tion remains among the major gaps in Appalachian historiography. Other than
Gordon McKinney’s Southern Mountain Republicans, there is no book-length
work devoted to the postwar era and the adjustments, political, social, or eco-
nomic, with which southern highlanders, like southerners elsewhere, were
forced to cope. And yet there are, as demonstrated here, several enlightening
studies of the emancipation and Reconstruction experiences of blacks and whites
in several highland settings.

John Cimprich looks at the impact of slavery’s disintegration in East Ten-
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nessee. Drawing from a larger study of the peculiar institution’s wartime de-
mise in Tennessee,13 Cimprich examines how the upheaval in the eastern part
of the state undermined the relationship between master and slave, a phenom-
enon similar to that experienced most intently in areas of the Confederacy
occupied by Union forces. What made that process unusual for this area were
the relatively few slaves and masters in the region, which, by war’s end, allowed
a more assertive black populace to demand entry into the postwar political
arena. By the same token, the predominant Unionist sentiment among white
East Tennesseans led to a more ambivalent stance on emancipation than was
true for many other parts of the Confederacy.14

Gordon McKinney also addresses the latter issue and pushes it into the
postbellum era as highland Unionists became Republicans. His article, one of
the first set in Appalachia ever to appear in the Journal of Southern History,
remains the fullest treatment we have of the political activism of Appalachian
African Americans and the larger forces that drove it. While at first there seemed
to be less support for black suffrage in parts of Appalachia other than East
Tennessee, the political realities of black voters in bolstering Republican can-
didates and agendas soon changed the minds of highland party leaders. Just as
Cimprich demonstrates a new assertiveness among East Tennessee blacks at
war’s end, so McKinney notes the extent to which freedmen elsewhere in the
region became increasingly aggressive as voters and as candidates once their
value to the party was apparent. That story hardly ended when Reconstruction
did, and McKinney traces the deteriorating relationship between mountain
Republicans and their black constituents through the end of the century, as
Jim Crow ushered in that “nadir” of southern race relations from which high-
landers were by no means exempt, either politically, as McKinney demon-
strates, or in more violent fashion, as Fitzhugh Brundage’s later essay makes
painfully clear.

Education was a high priority for Appalachian freedmen and freedwomen
just as it was for blacks throughout the Reconstruction South. That quest for
schools and schooling was often central to the dynamics of race relations at the
local level, as Jennifer Lund Smith demonstrates was the case in a north Geor-
gia community. Drawn from a dissertation in which she compares how four
different Georgia communities struggled with the issues of freedmen’s educa-
tion during Reconstruction, Smith’s essay describes the distinctive strategies
with which an Appalachian black community negotiated the terms of its inde-
pendence.15 Like David Williams earlier, Smith looks at gold-rich Lumpkin
County and tells the story of how a second generation of this unique group of
freedpeople worked closely with the local white elites to obtain property, re-
sources, and teachers to establish schools. In contrast to the lowland Georgia
settings Smith studied, these black highlanders achieved their ends largely with-
out the support or sponsorship of the Freedmen’s Bureau or other federal or
state intervention.16

Conrad Ostwalt and Phoebe Pollitt chronicle a very different scenario in
the education of mountain blacks. Unlike the Reconstruction dynamics be-
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tween local blacks and whites that drove the quest for schools in north Geor-
gia, a different set of impulses led to the establishment of the Salem School
and Orphanage in a remote North Carolina Blue Ridge community toward
the end of the century. It was the much more pervasive movement by Protes-
tant denominations to establish mission schools for southern highland children
that led to the establishment of Elk Park’s Salem School. A Connecticut-born
woman, five Ohio missionaries, and a group of Russian emigrant Mennonites
from Kansas all converged there to establish a school specifically for the few
African American children in a three-county area. In telling their story and
that of the school over the course of its brief duration, Ostwalt and Pollitt
illuminate an unusual experiment in multicultural, biracial, and ecumenical
interaction to educate native blacks in circumstances quite unlike those efforts
to meet the same needs in Lumpkin County, Georgia.

So much of our understanding and misunderstanding of Appalachia has
come from those outside observers whose writings shaped national percep-
tions of this “strange land and peculiar people.” This was particularly true of
the region’s racial “purity,” that is, the widespread assumption that the moun-
tain South distinguished itself from the rest of the region by its whiteness. In a
seminal essay James Klotter demonstrated the practical implications of that
assumption in arguing that it was the lack of a black presence among southern
highlanders that so appealed to northern philanthropists, social workers, and
missionaries in the aftermath of the setbacks in their efforts toward freedmen
and freedwomen elsewhere in the Reconstruction South.17 In her essay in this
volume, Nina Silber also sees southern Appalachia’s racial purity as central to
the fascination with which so many Americans, particularly outside the South,
viewed the region toward the end of the nineteenth century, but she explains
the reason behind that outside interest in different and rather provocative terms.
Rather than an all-white section of the South reinforcing the pejorative “oth-
erness” in outside eyes, she suggests that it was the lack of a black presence that
gave the highlands a sense of commonality with the North. And rather than
the philanthropic impulses that Klotter sees as driving this new attention to
the region, Silber sees sectional reconciliation and economic investment as the
greater motive on the part of northerners.18 The mountain South is uniquely
suited for such efforts, as Silber demonstrates through a wide range of writings
celebrating the many positive, “all-American” attributes of southern highland-
ers, not the least of which were their racial purity and their detachment from
slavery and from the other southern sins committed in its name.

If whiteness was an integral factor in northern capitalist investments in
postwar Appalachia, as Silber contends, a black labor force was as central to
the implementation of those investments as it had been to similar ventures
before the war. Ronald Lewis and Joe Trotter are among the foremost histori-
ans of the most extensive Appalachian industry resulting from those invest-
ments—coal mining—and what it meant for regional race relations as played
out over the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries. In the selection of Lewis’s
work included here, he examines the use of African American convict lease
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labor, a form not as closely associated with highland settings as with other
parts of the South. Even as applied to the coalfields, convicts worked in such
operations in southernmost Appalachia, in Georgia, Tennessee, and Alabama,
rather than in the mines of Central Appalachia. Lewis details the extent to
which coal companies conspired with the prisons, court systems, and govern-
ments in each of those states to implement one of the more egregious forms of
racial exploitation imposed on postemancipation blacks. The blatant abuses in
working conditions and in the criminal justice system rendered prisoner-workers
even more vulnerable than slaves. Lewis’s grim chronicle of this most extreme
of the “New South’s moral failures” offers a revealing basis of comparison with
its Old South counterparts, black labor forces that fueled Appalachian indus-
trial enterprises in that earlier era, as laid out earlier in this volume. Such a
comparison makes even more apparent the extent to which the monetary worth
of slaves shielded them from the extremes of danger and cruelty to which con-
victs, without any market value, were regularly exposed.

Joe Trotter looks at a very different facet of the same economic phenom-
enon: the social and political implications of black migration into the coalfields
of southern West Virginia. The selection from his book, Coal, Class, and Color,
focuses on the institutional elements, churches, fraternal orders, and party
politics, that contributed to the strong sense of community and racial solidar-
ity that evolved as increasing numbers of blacks moved into the region. De-
spite inherent class tensions between this black leadership and the workers
they served, such tensions were submerged under a growing group conscious-
ness that made itself felt through a revitalized Republican party at state and
local levels. Interestingly, the development in the coal communities coincided
with the deterioration of the strong Republican-African American alliance else-
where in the mountains, as Gordon McKinney has documented.

Finally Fitz Brundage, though more than ready to move beyond his well-
deserved reputation as our leading scholar of southern lynching,19 extends his
astute analyses of racial violence into the mountain South. Expanding on his
study of lynching in Georgia and Virginia, Brundage documents numerous
instances of mob violence inflicted on black victims throughout Appalachia,
from the late nineteenth through the early twentieth centuries. In causal fac-
tors, means of implementation, and the racial identities of their victims, high-
land violence was little different from that enacted throughout the South. As
do other authors here, Brundage sees modernizing tendencies as directly af-
fecting the region’s racial dynamics. In only one respect does he suggest a
significant diversion from lynching patterns elsewhere in the South: in the
mountains, it was more an urban than a rural phenomenon. As such he raises
an important issue not addressed elsewhere in this volume: the extent to which
Appalachia’s town and city residents, all too often overlooked by nineteenth-
century historians of the region, experienced very different racial dynamics
than did its predominantly rural populace.20

Together these explorations of race in the southern highlands address,
though often in contradictory ways, the age-old question around which so much



10 JOHN C. INSCOE

of Appalachian scholarship still centers: its distinctiveness. As Brundage and
Lewis demonstrate most directly, and others do more by inference, the exploi-
tation of black labor, slave and free, along with the racial violence and political
manipulation of the post–Civil War era, all seem to chronicle patterns and
trends very much like those elsewhere in the South. Variations were more of
degree than of kind, based simply on the demographic reality of a significantly
smaller black populace. Other essayists, however, detect significant distinc-
tions between highlander and lowlander—differences in racial attitudes (abo-
litionist or rabid racist), in the types of work that African Americans performed,
and in the extent to which perceptions of whiteness shaped how outsiders un-
derstood the region and acted toward it. Still other essays document situations
that must have been anomalies as much within Appalachia as in any other part
of the South. For example, a Mennonite mission for blacks in a remote Blue
Ridge community; the legal, financial, and kinship entanglements of free black
Adam Waterford; the transmission of banjo music making from black to white—
all of these suggest unusual scenarios that may or may not have been shaped by
the mountain environment in which they took place.

The cumulative effect of all of this work then is, first and foremost, a
realization of the diversity within the broad and varied region. If challenging
myths and stereotypes remains a central thrust of Appalachian scholarship, an
equally important facet or, perhaps, by-product of this work has been
complexifying the region’s historical past by particularizing its various compo-
nents. We can no longer make blanket generalizations about Appalachia or
Appalachians as a whole. Its racial dynamics, as much or more than other is-
sues, should sensitize us to the extent to which the region and its residents
often operated in different ways, at different paces, and with different priori-
ties and agendas, depending on time, place, people involved, and other vari-
ables. Historian Barbara Fields has warned us of the dangers of according race
“a transhistorical, almost metaphysical, status,” noting that “ideas about color,
like ideas about anything else, derive their importance, indeed their very defi-
nition, from their context.”21 The authors in this collection have been particu-
larly sensitive to context in their explorations of racial attitudes, race relations,
and black experiences.

With several significant exceptions, one finds relatively little African
American agency reflected in these essays. Despite the considerable advances
Appalachian scholars have made in our understanding of race relations and
black highlanders, it seems that we still lag behind so much of the history of
African Americans elsewhere, during and after emancipation, in that we still
see that history primarily from a white perspective. Much of our understand-
ing of race relations has to do with white actions and attitudes. Here, as else-
where, it is white highlanders who hold center stage, but in very different ways.
As slaveholders, as slave traders, as employers and labor recruiters, as teachers
and mission workers, as politicians, and as lynch mobs and rioters, whites within
and beyond the region had much to do with creating and shaping the black
presence in the southern highlands and in defining the status they held once
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there. Most of the essays here reflect that reality and draw from that domi-
nance in terms of agency and source material.

Yet the exceptions are significant, and provide valuable counterpoints to
the white-driven stories in whose midst they are set. Whether the implied
agency of slaves as culture brokers in the distinctive musical imprints they
imposed on white mountain residents, as Cecelia Conway demonstrates, or as
politically active coalitions or more subtle, behind-the-scenes negotiators de-
termined to have a voice in shaping their futures through politics, churches,
schools, or other institutions, Appalachian blacks take center stage in a variety
of places and in a variety of ways in several essays. Richard Drake and Wilma
Dunaway demonstrate that black Appalachian voices do exist and have much
to tell us on a range of issues for that seemingly distant past. Drake and Dunaway
are among the few who have effectively tapped the WPA ex-slave narratives to
provide among the most immediate and most emotional testimony we have of
the treatment slaves received at the hands of the white highlanders who owned
them.

Two other authors, Charles Dew and Marie Tedesco, have met one of
the most difficult challenges of nineteenth-century historians—the detailed
reconstruction of the very lives of obscure individual blacks, even when their
own voices or perspectives are not among the resources that they as historians
have to draw upon. These biographical essays provide inspiration and models
for the rest of us, not only in the challenging detective work it took to piece
together those stories, but also in viewing the region’s black populace as fully
engaged individuals who managed to better their lives and their families’ lives
and those of their families within the considerable limitations of the oppres-
sive antebellum regime under which they lived.

Such contradictions become equally apparent through the juxtaposition
of the works brought together here. John Cimprich, Gordon McKinney, Jenni-
fer Lund Smith, and Joe Trotter demonstrate that black highlanders were quick
to grasp the new opportunities for collective action in the postemancipation era
in political, civic, and economic terms; other essayists, particularly Ron Lewis
and Fitz Brundage, chronicle the equally oppressive environments within which
mountain blacks had to endure, as new forms of unfree labor emerged to re-
place slavery and other forms of racial abuse before the war.

As vast as the range of issues and experiences chronicled here is in terms
of how southern highlanders, white and black, interacted with each other, the
field of Appalachian race relations remains wide open. It is hoped that this
sampling of current scholarship in that field will stimulate further work and fill
many of the glaring gaps. The free black experience in antebellum Appalachia,
for example, remains one of the most intriguing of such topics. Several essays
document the demographics of black mobility into and out of different parts
of Appalachia and the impact that such movement had on the locales where
they lived and those that they abandoned. Like much of the best work on the
region, the linkages between highlands and lowlands that were so integral to
this movement offer rich opportunities for further study.
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Gordon McKinney, John Cimprich, and Joe Trotter have provided us
with a range of issues and frameworks from which we can glean much more
about the political dimensions of a black presence and the impact of such activ-
ism at local and regional levels. By the same token, we have barely scratched
the surface, it seems, in our attempts to understand the nature of highland
white attitudes toward blacks. Other than Frederick Law Olmsted, few have
made any systematic attempt to chronicle the beliefs, prejudices, and fears of
white highlanders in terms of race, either before or after the Civil War, though
the assumptions and stereotypes are rampant. The fact that Appalachians en-
gaged in more abolitionist activity than did other antebellum southerners and
also demonstrated some of the most virulent racism in keeping a black pres-
ence at bay suggests contradictions that cry out for more serious analysis than
they have yet received.22

The list of areas still unexplored goes on and on. Other than the teachers
who taught at the Salem School, women, individually or collectively, black or
white, play remarkably little role in these essays, pointing up yet another void
that needs to be addressed: the ways in which gender roles impacted race rela-
tions. The distinctive nature of the black experience in Appalachia’s few urban
areas also remains underrepresented here, with only a few exceptions. The
vantage point of community study theory and methodology applied to towns
and cities would add a great deal to our understanding of the socioeconomic
complexities of the region that have for so long been so easily overlooked.

But it is not just for a greater understanding of Appalachia that the essays
here have value. In an essay titled “The Edges of Slavery in the Old South: Or,
Do Exceptions Prove the Rule?” historian Peter Parish argues that by a close
examination of the less conventional outlets for slave labor, especially those in
urban and industrial settings, and the anomalies of slave status, we can better
understand the institution as a whole. Reasoning that “the typical, the average,
the majority, are not necessarily nor always the same as the most significant,
the most dynamic, the most influential—or in terms of historical study, the
most illuminating,” Parish urges us to pay more attention to the deviations
and the peripheries. Such exceptions, he argues, “may serve to illuminate many
features of slavery and of southern society generally—its racial attitudes and
compromises, its internal pressures, its readiness sometimes to subordinate
economic to racial and social priorities, its combination of inflexible rules and
flexible application, and not least the ability of slaves to exploit the weaknesses
or loopholes of the system in their own interest.”23

I would suggest that the same holds true not just for slavery but for race
relations in general and that Appalachia serves as a particularly interesting “edge”
of the South, Old and New, in which the “exceptions” do enlighten us on the
“rules” of race in all of its varied manifestations over the course of the nine-
teenth century: slavery, emancipation, Reconstruction, or, toward century’s end,
the implementation of Jim Crow and its grim side effects. The essays here
include examples of all of the “features” that Parish lists above, along with
others, that not only contribute to a greater understanding of the complexities
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of Appalachian society, economics, politics, and demographics, but also, by
extension, tell us much about the commonalities and variables that character-
ized southern race relations in all of its forms.

In another recent collection of essays on nineteenth-century Appalachia
the editors made much the same point. “Unlike a long tradition of Appala-
chian regional studies,” wrote editors Mary Beth Pudup, Dwight Billings, and
Altina Waller of the essays in Appalachia in the Making, “none claim that the
patterns described were necessarily unique to the southern highlands or gen-
eral to the whole mountain region.”24 I hope that the same might be said of
this collection as well and that these essays reflect ways in which the broader
themes of southern and American race relations are “nuanced by geographical
difference.”25 As such, they should further challenge the long-standing assump-
tion of Appalachian distinctiveness while acknowledging the centrality of re-
gional context as an explanatory force in terms of how black and white Americans
interacted with each other over the course of a turbulent century.
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1

SLAVERY AND ANTISLAVERY
IN APPALACHIA

RICHARD B. DRAKE

One of the least understood periods of Appalachian history is the period be-
tween the end of the War of 1812 and the beginning of the Civil War. By 1815
the “backwoodsmen” of Appalachia were becoming strongly identified with
the federal experiment in government known as the United States. Those in
Tennessee and Kentucky especially had helped Andrew Jackson in 1813 re-
move the last real Indian “threat” in eastern America in the Creek War. Then,
many were with “Old Hickory” when the American army turned back the British
at the Battle of New Orleans, the War of 1812’s most significant victory over
the British on land. Appalachians furthermore generally supported Andrew
Jackson’s rise to the presidency, and by the 1830s and 1840s the South’s
backwoodsmen were clearly loyal to the Union and identified with its for-
tunes. The Appalachians enthusiastically supported the Mexican War in the
mid-1840s, which added greatly to the territories of the United States. But the
acquisition of these territories raised the question of slavery before the Ameri-
can people in ways that could not be solved short of a tragic civil war.

Historians have approached this period of the Appalachian experience
from 1815 to 1860 with very different attitudes. Forty-five years ago one of
the most prominent historians of the Old South, Thomas Jefferson Wertenbaker
of the University of Virginia, claimed that one of the most significant struggles
in American history was played out within southern society as Appalachian
backwoodsmen—“Cohees,” as he called them and as they called themselves—
attempted to stop the march of plantation society across a line that proceeded
southward from Winchester, Virginia, to Chattanooga, Tennessee. Had the
Cohees been able to stop the spread of slave society, Wertenbaker suggested
that the Civil War might not have been necessary.1

But not all historians agree with Wertenbaker’s assessment of the impor-
tance of the Appalachian backwoodsman within antebellum southern society.
One of Appalachia’s most widely read modern historians, Ronald D Eller, is
not impressed with the story and has called antebellum Appalachia a “quiet
backwater of the Old South.”2 Furthermore, a 1985 issue of Appalachia, a 108-
page “apology” for the Appalachian Regional Commission, goes to great pains
to argue that “slavery was not the root cause of the division between the high-
land and the lowlands” that developed in the pre–Civil War years. Rather,
according to the editors of Appalachia, it was the result of a “political and social
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structure vastly different from the interdependent and relatively prosperous
society of the flatlands.”3

Which of these approaches comes closest to the truth? Was the pre–
Civil War Appalachian South a society that played little or no role in the struggle
over slavery? Was it only a less prosperous society in a “different South”? Or
did this society struggle mightily with the proslavery forces of the plantation
South, only to lose that struggle, thus making the larger struggle with an anti-
slavery North inevitable? A study of slavery and antislavery in Appalachia in
the years between 1820 and 1860 can shed some useful light on this intriguing
question. It seems clear that the Appalachian South in the pre–Civil War de-
cades was a quite different “South” from the plantation South that so domi-
nated the region from 1820 to 1860 and that led eleven of its states to secede
and create a new nation.

Another South did challenge this dominant “Old South” in the days be-
fore the Civil War. The Germans and Quakers especially, within Cohee soci-
ety, tended to take a strong and consistent antislavery position. In the largely
mountain-centered debate over slavery within the South, Hinton R. Helper,
author of the strongly antislavery and influential The Impending Crisis of the
South (1857), reflected the views of his German, up-country ancestry. And the
southern Quakers kept up their quick and consistent witness against slavery in
the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia and in the North Carolina up-country.4

Of course, slavery existed in all of the Appalachian South. It was a legal
institution, and it gave an economic advantage to those willing to own slaves.
Slavery existed in every Appalachian county south of the Mason-Dixon line.
Most southern mountain county populations, however, were less than 10 per-
cent slave. But by 1820 large slave concentrations were emerging in Boyd
County, Kentucky, and Madison County, Alabama; in Kanawha and Green-
brier Counties in western Virginia; and in certain areas in the Shenandoah
Valley and the Tennessee Valley around Knoxville.5 By 1860 slaveholding had
spread so that more-than-50-percent-black populations existed in most of north
Alabama (Madison, Morgan, Limestone, Lawrence, Franklin, Colbert, and
Lauderdale Counties), and a proportion of blacks of up to 25 percent existed in
a few foothill counties of north Georgia and western North Carolina and in
the Shenandoah Valley.6 There were, however, counties in Appalachia where
slavery was nearly absent. In the mountain counties of Madison and Haywood
in North Carolina, the slave population was about 4 percent, and in Jackson
County, Kentucky, blacks were less than 1 percent of the population.7

There is no reason to believe that slavery was particularly mild in Appa-
lachia as compared with other areas in the Old South. Probably slavery was
harshest in the lower reaches of the Mississippi River simply because the work
in sugar-growing areas was much more difficult. Slaves certainly feared being
sold downriver, thus indicating a recognition of slavery’s harshness there. But a
few stories of slavery in Appalachia should suffice to give something of slavery’s
condition in the southern mountains.

Sophia Ward was born a slave in 1837 in Clay County, Kentucky. Clay
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County reported a slave population of 349, with 262 free blacks and 6,041
whites in the county in 1860. She said of her life in eastern Kentucky, “I wuz a
slave nineteen yeahs and nine months, but somehow or nuther I didn’t belong
to a real mean set of people. The white folks said I was the meanest nigger that
ever wuz. One day my mistress Lydia called for me to come in the house, but
no, I wouldn’t go. She walks out and says she gwaine make me go. So she take
and drags me into the house. Then I grab that white woman when she turn her
back, and shook her until she begged for mercy. When the master comes in, I
was given a terrible beating with a whip but I didn’t care for I gave that mis-
tress a good ’un too.”

Aunt Sophia, who was interviewed in her ninety-ninth year, continued,
“We lived off to the back of the master’s house in a little log cabin that had one
winder on the side. We lived tobly well and didn’t starve for we had enough to
eat. We didn’t have as good as the master and mistress had. We would slip into
the house after the master and mistress wuz sleeping and cook to suit our-
selves. . . . My master wuzn’t as mean as most masters. Hugh White wuz so
mean to his slaves that I know two gals that kilt themselfs. . . . One nigger gal
. . . he whipped . . . most to death for fergittin to put onions in the stew. Next
day she went down to the river and drowned herself.”8

The conditions under which slaves lived varied greatly. Not only were
there “good” masters and “mean” masters, but the economic situation of the
slaves varied according to the wealth of their master. Even in Appalachia pros-
perous plantations emerged with their communities of one hundred or so slaves,
like the place where Callie Elder lived in Floyd County near Rome, Georgia.
The plantation house was a “whoppin big place,” and there were “too many
slaves on that plantation for me to count.” The slaves lived in log cabins daubed
with mud inside and furnished only with beds held together by cords. Food
was largely “cornbread, and meal with plenty of vegetables.” Sundays, she re-
membered, they had “wheatbread.” Her master was “just as good to us as could
be,” but the men had to be in the fields at sunrise and the women by 8 A.M.9

In Madison County, Alabama, one of the state’s most prosperous coun-
ties and a county where the plantation system was firmly established, a white
man who worked with the blacks reported that slave “dwellings are log huts,
from ten to twelve feet square often without windows, doors or floors. They
have neither chairs, tables nor bedsteads. These huts are occupied by eight,
ten, or twelve persons each. Their bedding generally consists of two old blan-
kets. Many of them sleep night after night sitting upon their blocks or stools,
others sleep in the open air. Our task was appointed, and from dawn til dark all
must bend to their work. Their meals were taken without knife or plate, dish
or spoon. Their food was corn pone, prepared in the coarsest manner, with a
small allowance of meat. . . . For punishing in the field [the overseer] preferred
a large hickory stick.”10

Mrs. Amelia Jones of Clay and Laurel Counties, Kentucky, was owned
by a small planter-farmer named Daw White. “He was a Southern Republican
and was elected as a congressman . . . from Manchester, Kentucky,” she re-
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called. “Master White was good to his slaves. He fed us well and had good
places for us to sleep, and didn’t whip, only when it was necessary. But he
didn’t hesitate to sell his slaves. He said, ‘You all belong to me, and if you don’t
like it, I’ll put you in my pocket,’ meaning of course that he would sell that
slave and put the money in his pocket.”

Mrs. Jones continued, “The day that he was to sell the children from
their mother, he would tell that mother to go to some other place to do some
work, and in her absence he would see the children. It was the same way when
he would sell a man’s wife . . . when he returned his wife would be gone. The
master only said, ‘Don’t worry, you can get another one.’”11

Another slave narrative in this same vein, set again in Appalachian Ala-
bama, tells of how a slave, Diana Wagner, was induced by her mistress to “go
down the road a piece” with her: “She went with her, and they got to a place
where there was a whole lot of people. They were putting [slaves] up on the
block and selling them just like cattle. She had a little nursing baby at home,
and she broke away from her mistress and them and said, ‘I can’t go off and
leave my baby.’ And they had to git someone and throw her down and hold her
to keep her from going back to the house. They sold her away from her baby
boy.”12

Slaves could be sold at any gathering of people, but regular slave markets
existed throughout the southern mountains. Slave markets existed at Win-
chester, Staunton, Lexington, and Bristol in Virginia and at Knoxville, Chatta-
nooga, and Jonesboro in Tennessee. Even in the much poorer Cumberland
Mountains of Kentucky, regular slave auctions were held in London, Pikeville,
and Manchester. Of the Manchester slave market, Amelia Jones noted that her
father was sold at auction: “There was a long line of slaves to be sold and a
good price was paid for each. They were handcuffed and marched away South.”
The auction block in Manchester was built in an open space from “rough made
lumber” and had a few steps, then a platform on which the slave stood. “He
would look at the crowd as the auctioneer would give a general description of
the ability and the physical standing of the man. He heard the bids as they
came wondering what his new master would be like.”13

The threat of sale or harsh treatment often led slaves to attempt to es-
cape the system, sometimes by death, sometimes by other means. A slave owner
in western Virginia bought a thirteen-year-old black girl at an auction. When
this girl was taken to his home she escaped, and after searching everywhere
without finding her, he decided that she had been helped to escape and gave
her up for lost. About two years later, as a neighbor on a nearby farm was in the
woods feeding his cattle, he saw what he thought was a wild boar running into
the thicket among his cows. Getting help he rounded up the cattle and, searching
the thick woodland, finally found that what he had supposed was a wild boar
was the long lost fugitive black girl. She had lived all this time in caves, feeding
on nuts, berries, wild apples, and milk from cows.14

Nor were many of the barbaric aspects of the slave trade absent from
southern Appalachia. A traveler at Rowley’s Tavern, twelve miles west of



20 RICHARD B. DRAKE

Lewisburg in Greenbrier County, Virginia, reported on what he witnessed
there in the winter of 1833–1834.

A drove of 50 or 60 negroes stopped at the same place that night.
They usually camp out, but as it was excessively muddy, they were
permitted to come into the house. So far as my knowledge extends,
droves on their way to the south eat twice a day, early morning and
at night. Their supper was a compound of potatoes and meal, and
without exception the dirtiest, blackest-looking mess I ever saw. . . .
They slept on the floor of the room which they were permitted to
occupy, lying in every form imaginable, males and females. There
were three drovers. . . . Each of the latter took a female from the
drove to lodge with him, as is the common practice of the drovers.
. . . Six or eight in the drove were chained. . . . In the autumn of the
same year I saw a drove of upwards of a hundred, between 40 and
50 of them were fastened to one chain, the links being made of iron
rods, as thick in diameter as a man’s little finger. . . . They generally
appear extremely dejected. I have seen in the course of five years,
on the road where I reside, 12 or 15 droves at least, passing to the
south. They would average 40 in each drove. Near the first of Janu-
ary, 1834, I started about sunrise to go to Lewisburg. It was a bitter
cold morning. I met a drove of negroes, 30 to 40 in number, re-
markably ragged and destitute of clothing. One little boy particu-
larly excited my sympathy. . . . Although he was shivering with cold
and crying, the driver was pushing him up to a trot to overtake the
main gang. All of them looked as if they were half frozen.15

By all indications slavery was expanding in Appalachia even as it was in the Old
South throughout the antebellum period. In Burke County, North Carolina,
the percentage of slaves in the county population rose from 7 percent in 1790
to 27 percent in 1850, and 26 percent in 1860. The number of heads of fami-
lies owning no slaves in 1790 was 1,091, and in 1860 it was 1,007. The number
of heads of families owning one to ten slaves was 152 in 1790, and 153 in 1860.
And the number owning more than ten slaves was 12 in 1790 but 60 in 1860.
The population of Burke County, on the eastern edge of Appalachian North
Carolina, grew only slightly from 8,110 in 1790 to 9,239 in 1860, though the
area of the county was much smaller in 1860 than it had been in 1790. Such
data seem to suggest that a larger number of slaves were being held by a small
but growing elite. In Burke County a strong nine-family slaveholding elite had
developed, and most of those families had English or Scotch-Irish names.16

Yet with this Appalachian slaveholding and its typical slaveholding prac-
tices, the American antislavery movement was in part born in the southern
backcountry areas of the Appalachians. Before 1830, the vast majority of anti-
slavery societies in the United States were in the mountain South, not in the
North. In 1827, of the 130 antislavery societies in the nation as a whole, 106
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were in the South—and most of these in the southern highlands.17 Antislavery
advocates in the South were, after all, much more immediately challenged by
the immoralities of slavery than were those in the North, where the effects of
the American Revolution had led to slavery’s demise. By 1820, each state north
of the Mason-Dixon line, the boundary between Pennsylvania and Maryland,
had either abolished slavery outright or had set in motion a scheme for the
gradual emancipation of the slaves within that state.

For a time it seemed that this spread of “emancipationism” might reach
southward into Virginia, Kentucky, and even Tennessee. Virginia had seriously
debated emancipation as late as 1830–1831. In Kentucky, antislavery advo-
cates were hopeful that slavery could be done away with from the first consti-
tutional convention in 1791 until the constitutional convention of 1849. But
all antislavery moves were countered by strong proslavery forces. In Tennes-
see, however, the eastern mountain portion of that state became the nation’s
center of antislavery activity for a time.

A clarification of terms might be helpful at this point. “Antislavery” is
the larger, more inclusive term that refers to all those who took a position
against slavery. Antislavery adherents, then, can be divided into three smaller
groups. Some were “colonizationists.” Such persons generally operated through
the American Colonization Society, founded in 1817, and included among its
supporters many prominent planters in the South. Bushrod Washington, the
first president’s adopted son and an associate justice of the Supreme Court,
was an early vice president of the Colonization Society. So were Henry Clay
and Andrew Jackson. Colonizationists took the position that the tragedy was
the introduction of blacks into American society in the first place. The way to
solve the slave problem from this perspective, then, was to make arrangements
to remove blacks from American society and to send them elsewhere, to a
colony in the Caribbean or back to Africa. The American Colonization Soci-
ety spent its major energies establishing Liberia in Africa as a protectorate of
the United States for a haven for the deported American blacks. The inad-
equacy of the colonization “solution” was not clear until the 1830s, when it
became obvious that despite the society’s massive efforts the few thousand blacks
induced into migration were dwarfed by the massive natural increase in popu-
lation among American slaves.

A second antislavery position was “emancipationism.” This position held
that a scheme should be set in motion to do away with slavery on some gradual
basis. Owners would be compensated, and slaves born after a certain date would
be freed. Others on reaching a certain age at a given time would also be freed.
The varieties that this type of antislavery action could take were infinite; its
flexibility was its strength and its weakness. Although New York and Pennsyl-
vania had done away with slavery in this manner, the ambiguity of the emanci-
pationists’ answer made it a difficult program to sell. In the 1849 Kentucky
constitutional debates, for example, probably the major reason for antislavery’s
failure was the flabbiness of the emancipationist answer.

Finally there were the “immediate abolitionists.” At least the answer was
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clear: end slavery immediately and unequivocally. Clearly, this was the most
radical solution to the problem and the hardest for southerners to accept. There
were, needless to say, very few southern abolitionists.

East Tennessee until 1830 was the major center for antislavery activities
in the United States. The antislavery base in East Tennessee had been laid by
the founders of Presbyterianism in that state: Samuel Doak, Hezakiah Balch,
Samuel Carrick, and others. Most of these ministers preached the “New Light”
gospel of a socially aware evangelicalism. Several of them were prominent in
the establishment of the State of Franklin and in the late eighteenth century
established the roots of antislavery in East Tennessee. The mountainous areas
of Virginia, in what would become West Virginia and the Shenandoah Valley,
also had antislavery groups. But in Virginia, antislavery sentiments were aimed
mainly at either sustaining a minority antislavery witness, as with the Menno-
nites in the Shenandoah, or at sustaining the movement, which reached its
near-success in the constitutional debates of 1830–1831. With the failure of
the antislavery efforts in 1830–1831, the movement subsided in Virginia and
trailed off into a sectionalism that was to lead to the birth of West Virginia
during the Civil War. In East Tennessee, the firm religious base for antislavery
built by Doak, Balch, and others attracted abolitionist Quakers driven from
the piedmont of North Carolina by increasing persecution by the proslavery
elite.

In the 1820s, for a time, Jonesboro, Tennessee, became the capital of the
nation’s antislavery crusade. Jonesboro was a remarkable Tennessee Valley town.
It had been the seat of the State of Franklin, was one of the first “laid out”
towns in the “West,” and served briefly as the capital of Tennessee. It was the
home of Martin Academy, an early “log cabin” Presbyterian school, and it had
a strong Presbyterian church. It became the county seat of Washington County,
and in the 1820s, it contained an antislavery printing establishment, which
published the leading antislavery journal of the time, Benjamin Lundy’s Genius
of Universal Emancipation, between 1821 and 1825. In some of these years the
paper included on its staff the young William Lloyd Garrison. More impor-
tant, perhaps, was the Emancipator, a paper edited by a Quaker, Elihu Embree,
published in Greeneville, Tennessee, during 1819, and the first paper pub-
lished in the United States that took an open and clear abolitionist position.

More important even than this temporary journalistic bastion for anti-
slavery within the southern Appalachians was the educational system begun by
Samuel Doak and other pioneer Presbyterians. These “log cabin colleges”—
the school alongside the Presbyterian church, both being served by a semi-
nary-trained minister—almost universally taught a strong antislavery doctrine.
And when it became too dangerous to continue to teach or preach antislavery
in the slave state of Tennessee, these ministers and their students migrated to
the Midwest and the West, where they became significant abolitionist leaders.
John Rankin, Gideon Blackburn, David Nelson, James and William Dickey,
and Samuel Carothers were among the many Tennessee-born leaders of west-
ern abolitionism.18
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In the 1850s, furthermore, a corner of Appalachian Kentucky became
the locale for a “radical” abolitionist witness. This was the aggressive aboli-
tionist witness established by John G. Fee in Madison County, Kentucky. Fee
had been invited to the area by Cassius M. Clay, a remarkable Kentucky aristo-
crat who had been converted to emancipationism while a student at Yale Uni-
versity. Clay had heard Garrison speak and went back to Kentucky to try to
build a political career on an antislavery base. He ran for the state legislature
on several occasions, winning only during his earliest tries. Once he ran for
governor and was defeated soundly. Ultimately he was one of the founders of
the Republican party in Kentucky. In his try for the governorship he had gained
only a little over 3,500 votes of the 100,000 cast,19 but he had developed a
small, loyal constituency, largely in Kentucky’s mountain areas.

Fee was also a Kentuckian, from the Ohio River county of Bracken. He
had been schooled at Augusta College in Bracken County and also at Miami
University in Ohio; he then trained at Lane Seminary in Cincinnati to become
a Presbyterian minister. While at Lane he became an abolitionist and pledged
to return to Kentucky to preach against slavery. This led to his removal from
Kentucky’s proslavery presbytery and to his ultimate support by the aggres-
sively antislavery American Missionary Association. Fee was a dedicated aboli-
tionist, and on Clay’s invitation he came to “the interior of slavery” in southern

John G. Fee. (Courtesy of Berea College)
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Madison County to establish a community that he named “Berea” (see Acts
17:10–11). Here he established several antislavery churches as well as a school.
When the excitement of John Brown’s raid in Appalachian Virginia at Harper’s
Ferry led to a “great fear” in Madison County, the fear that the abolitionists of
the county were about to encourage a slave insurrection, the proslavery major-
ity of the county with its leading citizens rode to Berea and insisted that the
Bereans leave the state. They returned only fitfully until the issues of the Civil
War were pretty well settled in 1863. After the Civil War, Berea became a
major force in linking mainstream, evangelical, former abolitionist forces with
post–Civil War mountain needs.20

The citizens of “Coheedom,” however, did not as a whole take a clear
antislavery position. Elites in virtually every mountain community owned slaves
and were strong supporters of the institution. But a majority of the mountain
population, especially in Appalachian Kentucky, Virginia, and Tennessee, prob-
ably were antislavery. In traveling through western North Carolina in 1854,
Frederick Law Olmsted wrote of a local resident he encountered:“I asked him
if the people here preferred Iowa and Indiana to Missouri at all because they
were free states. ‘I reckon,’ he replied, ‘they don’t have no allusion to that
Slavery is a great cuss, though, I think, the greatest there is in these United
States. There ain’ no account of slaves up here in the West, but down in the
east part of the State about Fayetteville, there’s as many as in South Carolina.
That’s the reason the West and the East don’t agree in this State. People out
here hates the eastern people.”21 The sectionalism that emerged in the mountain
area of each southern state appears to have had at least in part an antislavery
base.

Through the 1830s, 1840s, and 1850s, slave society became more and
more sensitive to a defense of the “peculiar institution.” From a “necessary
evil,” which was the position taken by most apologists of slavery in the days of
Jefferson and Madison, southerners increasingly took the position that slavery
was a “positive good.” The phrase was John C. Calhoun’s, himself a product of
the fringes of Appalachian Carolina. This “positive good” argument was gen-
erally based upon a range of basic rationales, ranging from an organic view of
society to an emulation of classical history and a literal reading of selected
portions of the Bible. As southern society sold itself on slavery’s validity—
while convincing few others—it became more and more insistent upon a uni-
formity of opinion within its borders. Thus in North Carolina, Tennessee,
Kentucky, Georgia, and Virginia, where substantial antislavery sentiment had
existed, particularly in the “Cohee” mountain sections of these states, antislavery
sentiments were either driven out or hushed into silence. In the mountain
town of Barbourville, Kentucky, for example, so solid a citizen as Dr. Samuel
Freeman Miller was induced to leave the state following the frustrations of the
failure of antislavery in the constitutional debate of 1849. Miller, an antislavery
man, left for the free state of Iowa, where he first became governor, then was
appointed by Lincoln to the U.S. Supreme Court, where he served brilliantly
from 1862 to 1890. By 1845, slavery was not a debatable subject inside the
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slave states, and any significant group within a slave state, like Cohee moun-
taineers, held their antislavery sentiments at great peril to themselves and to
their way of life.22

Cohee leadership should have been able to see the emerging division
within American society that ultimately tore the Federal Union to pieces. It
appears, however, that the reason that most mountaineers were so surprised
when the political fabric tore apart in 1860 was that, in the past, politics had
always been able to heal such issue-oriented divisions. Furthermore, the Union
seemed to be such an effective mechanism in gaining control of the continent
for the mutual benefit of Yankee, Cohee, and “Tuckahoe” that it was hard to
believe that any one group would tear it apart. But the war among brothers did
come. And as the section least prepared for it and the one most divided by it, it
was also Coheedom that probably suffered most when the war came.
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2

APPALACHIAN ECHOES OF THE
AFRICAN BANJO

CECELIA CONWAY

Today the banjo still sounds throughout Appalachia and has become an em-
blem for white mountain folk. But this has not always been so. Blacks actually
brought the banjo with them from Africa in the 1740s or earlier. Even today,
certain elderly and little-noticed black musicians in the North Carolina pied-
mont continue to play old-time, five-string banjo in much the same compel-
ling style as did white mountain players, and southern black and mountain
white repertoires overlap in surprising ways.

When and where white mountain musicians initially acquired the banjo
and their playing styles have remained obscure and controversial. The initial
formation of white mountain banjo playing likely resulted from southern black
influence before the Civil War. By 1840, whites had begun to “catch” banjo
styles from African American slaves and to play solo banjo. Some soon blacked
their faces and became traveling minstrels. They had opportunities for imitat-
ing blacks, from whom they acquired repertory and techniques, and they were
utterly dependent upon African Americans as a source for the banjo itself. Only
later did they begin to play the banjo in combination with their familiar fiddle.

Some scholars believe that because of the widespread popularity of trav-
eling blackface shows, white minstrels influenced the formation of mountain
banjo playing in the nineteenth century. Certainly the traveling shows were
influential. And yet it was blacks rather than white minstrels who provided this
formative influence. Although their stories are less documented than those of
the popular minstrels, several white highlanders in this early period were al-
ready playing the downstroking style known to blacks. Before 1840, a man
named Ferguson from western Virginia was already playing banjo. The Cin-
cinnati Circus hired Ferguson, a roustabout, for ten dollars a month when it
passed through the mountains in the late spring or summer of 1840. By the
time the circus reached Lexington, Kentucky, that fall, the manager was will-
ing to say that the banjo-playing Ferguson was “the greatest card we had.”1

Joel Sweeney and his two brothers of Buckingham County, Virginia, played
banjo and fiddle to entertain local crowds on court days as early as 1831. These
men became well known locally and regionally. During his summer touring
with the circus, Ferguson served as a mentor to Dan Emmett, who would later
become one of the earliest and most prominent minstrels.

Like many of the early northern minstrels, southern white banjo players
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actually learned from blacks. The three Sweeneys learned from slaves, with
“Negro melodies” remaining an important part of their repertoire, while
Ferguson’s outspoken circus boss, who described the lively musician as “nigger
all over except in color,” counted him as Emmett’s teacher.2 Joel Sweeney be-
came the leader of the Virginia Minstels (which included Emmett) when the
band became wildly popular in London and Ireland. Their influence was such
that it could be argued that mountain whites, as well as blacks, influenced the
formation of minstrelsy. Minstrels, then, were irrelevant to the initial trans-
mission of African American banjo playing to mountain folk musicians.

This different explanation of how mountain whites first acquired the
banjo appeared in 1973 in the remarks of fiddler Alan Jabbour, then head of
the American Folklife Center. “Little is known about this style . . . ‘thumping,’
. . . the old downstroke style of the Upper South,” he wrote, “but there is a
smattering of evidence that, like the banjo itself, it came originally from black
musicians in the Virginia and North Carolina Piedmont, when it spread south-
westward into the Appalachians and beyond.”3 Although overlooked by some,
Jabbour’s explanation has the virtue of being the simplest. This theory also
offers the earliest beginning for this cross-cultural exchange and thus the longest
duration. His claim, moreover, does not depend on river routes and schedules
or occasional overland southern tours by minstrel shows and circuses, as does
the minstrel theory. The acquisition of banjo techniques by whites could easily
have occurred even in the piedmont, where many African Americans were
living as slaves in close and frequent contact with whites. The white settlers
themselves could then have helped carry the banjo and its playing styles with
them into the mountains as they moved west.

Historical data supports the likelihood that blacks in Maryland, Virginia,
and North Carolina were the initial transmitters of the downstroking style.
The eighteenth- and early nineteenth-century written record compiled by Dena
Epstein and other scholars established that the earliest and strongest tradition
of banjo playing by blacks was located in the upper South.4 Moreover, a report
that indicated that there were black banjo players in Knoxville by 1798 sup-
ports the claim that banjo playing spread “southwestward into the Appala-
chians and beyond” and that blacks themselves carried it into the mountains.
Furthermore, Joel Sweeney, among the first whites known to have played the
banjo, learned his downstroking style by 1830 and thus even before Ferguson.
Indeed, even the Hammonses, a family of mountain musicians from more re-
mote western Virginia (later West Virginia), had access to black traditions in
these areas. In the last thirty years of the eighteenth century, the family resided
in the Virginia piedmont, somewhat south of the Sweeney plantation, and at
the turn of the century, they lived near Cumberland Gap, about fifty miles
northeast of Knoxville.5 Both locations are contiguous with Ferguson’s terri-
tory and were linked with it by pioneer and circus travel routes.

Banjo playing by blacks reached the far-flung region of the Mississippi
River Valley before 1840. The diffusion of this tradition from the upland South
through Appalachia to western river routes was accelerated by the presence of
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banjo players in New Orleans by the beginning of the nineteenth century.
Even mountain whites had an opportunity to hear blacks playing the banjo
along the Mississippi. Many of those west of the eastern continental divide,
like those who lived near Coe Ridge on the Tennessee-Kentucky border, trav-
eled downriver on rafts to sell their goods in New Orleans, where they might
well have seen and heard black musicians performing. In sum, white moun-
taineers had contact with black musical traditions, including banjo playing, in
the piedmont, in the mountains, and on the river routes to New Orleans, all
well before the advent of minstrelsy.

A second argument in favor of black transmission of banjo music and
techniques to mountain whites lies in Alan Jabbour’s observation that “groups
with strong musical traditions may be expected to exert an influence out of
proportion to their numerical strength.” This argument helps refute the doubts
of those who consider the relatively small slave populace of the southern high-
lands less likely to play a significant role. But blues researcher Tony Russell
believes that the small number of blacks actually may have enhanced their
influence: “Racial antipathy, of course, hampered the free exchange of musical
ideas, and it will become clear . . . that interaction was more fertile in areas
where blacks were scattered” and thus less feared.6 Furthermore, since most
white mountain settlers tended to be small, independent farmers, they were
often Scotch and Irish folk musicians and not above learning banjo by ear and

A Pastoral Visit, by Richard N. Brooke, 1881. (Author’s collection)
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by imitating blacks. Like the Sweeneys, Emmett, and others who eventually
won acclaim as minstrel performers, they seemed eager to learn new music
from blacks.

Many sources, including the commercial minstrel and medicine shows,
influenced mountain music, but apparently even small numbers of blacks ini-
tially transmitted downstroking banjo to mountain whites, some of whom be-
came minstrels. Later, opportunities for banjo exchange between blacks and
whites and other musical exchange increased during the upheaval of the Civil
War and again during the railroad construction and mining operations that
drew so many more African Americans into the mountain South late in the
nineteenth century.

One means of further examining this crosscultural transmission is to study
the patterns of musical continuity and change in three highland crossroad com-
munities in which they are especially evident—two in northwestern North
Carolina and one across the state line in southwestern Virginia. All three ar-
eas—Sugar Grove in Ashe County, North Carolina, Big Stone Gap, near
Norton, Virginia, and Round Peak in Surry County, North Carolina—counted
among their residents in the early twentieth century accomplished white banjo
players who had contact with black musicians living in or traveling through
their communities.

SUGAR GROVE

Where the state lines of Virginia, North Carolina, and Tennessee converge is
a mountain crossroads that I call the “Sugar Grove region.” I chose this area
for discussion because its past is better documented than that of many other
sections of the Appalachians and because of its strategic location as an early
trading center. This region is the mountainous center of a large area that re-
ported white and black banjo players in the first forty years of the nineteenth
century. The northwest border of the region is the earliest migration route
westward through the Appalachians, and its southwest border is the Watauga
River Valley. Within this region, Johnson County, Tennessee, is separated from
Ashe and Watauga Counties in North Carolina by “the crest of the little-known
Stone Mountains . . . a ridge, albeit a low and sometimes indistinct one, broken
by passable gaps.”7 The region is bounded on the northeast by the New River
Valley in North Carolina and includes portions of Grayson and Washington
Counties, Virginia. On the southeast, the region is bounded by the Blue Ridge
Mountains, which run parallel to the migration route.

The heart of this area, Ashe County, was called the “Lost Province” by
North Carolinians. From its establishment in 1799 until the first usable road
connected it with the east in 1849, Old Ashe County (which then included
what are now Alleghany and Watauga Counties as well) remained rather se-
cluded from the Carolina piedmont but connected with the rest of Appalachia
due to its geographical and historical connections to western Virginia, connec-
tions that proved significant to the nature of the musical exchange there.
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It is more than coincidence that several of the early banjo players lived
near the migration route that passed by the Sugar Grove region. The white
Virginian Ferguson, Joel Sweeney, and Sweeney’s brothers lived northeast of
the Sugar Grove area. The Knoxville (1798) and Asheville (1867) black banjo
players were southwest of the region, and the travels of the ancestors of the
white West Virginia Hammonses overlapped and crossed this main migration
route.

Although by the beginning of the twentieth century some blacks were
passing through the region with the railroad or on their way to work in the
mines, others had settled there in earlier days. Before the Revolutionary War,
as “Royal and Proprietary oppressions became more distasteful, migration into
Ashe increased and by 1775 was in a steady stream. North Carolinians . . .
came over Low Gap into Virginia, then south via the Old Warrior’s trail into
Ashe.” Some of the early white settlers brought black slaves with them, and
this route gave them extensive access to the mountains. The 1790 census listed
ten slaves in the area that would become Ashe County in 1799. When the
1830 census was compiled, the number of slaves had increased to 492. By 1850,
8,096 whites, 595 slaves, and 86 free blacks were living in the area, giving Old
Ashe “a percentage of slaves somewhat lower than the rest of the mountains.”8

Whites in this region and in most other mountain areas had mixed feel-
ings about the approaching Civil War. This attitude arose in part because many
had never been wealthy landholders or slaveholders and tended to favor state
rights without necessarily supporting slavery. There was “such a strong Union
sympathy in Ashe,” for example, “that it remained Republican for a long time.”9

In addition to these political attitudes among the majority of residents, some
in Ashe County demonstrated racial tolerance toward free blacks. They were
permitted to remain in the area, and runaway slaves sometimes found refuge
with local residents. Two mountains, Nigger Mountain (now called Mount
Jefferson) and Mulatto Mountain, were named for African Americans. Nigger
Mountain, according to local tradition, was named for the fact that fugitive
slaves hid there and that it actually served as a station of the Underground
Railroad.10 This tradition reveals that at least some residents were not only
Union sympathizers but were working actively for the abolition of slavery.
From Ashe County’s earliest settlement, then, blacks were present. And before
the Civil War a number of whites demonstrated political and presumably cul-
tural open-mindedness toward them.

More specifically, just before the Civil War the ancestors of black banjo
player Dave Thompson arrived in Ashe County from the North Carolina pied-
mont. Dave’s grandfather, Archibald Thompson, is known to have been in
Chatham County in 1851 and in Guilford County in 1856, the same section of
the piedmont where John Snipes, Dink Roberts, and Odell Thompson, all
twentieth-century banjo players, lived in the 1980s. Sometime after 1856,
Archibald, his son Avery, and other family members moved from that area
toward the free lands of Indiana. Because Archibald was a freeborn black trav-
eling in still dangerous times, he carried with him two letters of recommenda-
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tion from notable white men in the piedmont. Before his family reached Ten-
nessee, according to Dave’s cousin, Mrs. Addie Moore, the ox cart broke down
on the last mountain in northwest North Carolina. As Quakers were numer-
ous in the piedmont counties where the Thompsons had lived, Archibald prob-
ably knew of their Underground Railroad activities and may have already known
that this area was not unfavorable for southern blacks. The family settled there,
and Archibald Thompson registered his title to land at the county courthouse.
The mountain where he settled came to be known as Thompson Mountain,
the third one named after an African American.11

Archibald Thompson’s family was notably musical. Banjo players included
his grandson Dave Thompson and Dave’s first cousin William. They each had
one sister who married local banjo players. One of these men, Frank McQueen,
died as a young man in the Virginia coal mines. Dave traveled north some-
times into Tennessee to work on the railroad and other times to the Kentucky
coal mines. His son now lives across the West Virginia line, where he works in
the mines at Yukon. This family network suggests the extensive travel that
occurred throughout Sugar Grove’s black community in the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries. Their work patterns reflect the fact that the
mines, like the railroad, accounted for increased contact between whites and
blacks. Moreover, frequent string music gatherings, especially at Christmas,
provided the Thompsons with opportunities for musical exchange with whites
like Frank Proffitt, Doc Watson, and others who attended these gatherings.

This history of a single family in North Carolina is evidence of a strong
black banjo tradition to which white mountain banjo players remained exposed
during the early twentieth century. Two of the best known white mountain
musicians from this district, Tom Ashley and Hobart Smith, were from old
families who had brought, acquired, and developed their own musical tradi-
tions. In 1905, at the age of eight, Clarence (Tom) Ashley learned black-de-
rived downstroking banjo from his two aunts, although he never fully mastered
his Aunt Daisy’s unorthodox style of picking up, instead of down, on the fifth
string.12 His Aunt Ary played “standard clawhammer,”13 and Ashley’s mastery
of that style earned him a job in a medicine show. He was so accomplished that
before he was eighteen his boss, Doc Hower, assigned him the responsibility
of training a new recruit, Roy Acuff. Although Acuff was best known as a fid-
dler and a singer, he also played clawhammer and rememberd his early work
with Ashley.14 Ashley remained an intermittent but widely accessible banjo
source on the medicine-show circuits until at least 1943.15

Hobart Smith is yet another musician whose career reflects the vigorous
local rather than minstrel-style tradition that was crucial to the transmission of
clawhammer banjo-playing to the mountains. Smith called his playing “the
old-timey rappin’ style,” which he learned from his father. He also noted that
John Greer, “a feller I was raised up with,” was a strong influence. He “came
along . . . double-notin’, and he was the best man I ever heard on the banjer.
And I patterned after him.”16 Later Smith described his musical history during
the depression, saying that he “had a band” and performed with Tom Ashley.17
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These men traveled more than we might expect and, in so doing, transmitted
their own strong local traditions to other mountain musicians. The variations
in banjo playing styles that Ashley (born 1896) and Smith (born 1897) picked
up suggest how well established the white folk banjo tradition had become in
the northwestern North Carolina mountain region between 1840 and 1880.

Furthermore, Ashley and Smith had contact with black musicians. Hobart
Smith, whose ancestors came from Britain in the mid-eighteenth century, grew
up in Saltville, Virginia, quite close to the overland migration route on the
northern border of the Sugar Grove region. By 1915, when Hobart Smith was
eighteen years old, he was playing the fiddle and had been playing the banjo
for eleven years. He liked to tell a story that appears in the repertory of tales of
many guitar players. He said that a few years earlier, “Blind Lemon Jefferson
came through, and he stayed there about a month. He stayed with the other
colored fellows and they worked on the railroad there; he’d just sing and play
to entertain the men in the work camp. I think that right about there I started
on the guitar.” Jefferson’s influence appears in Smith’s “Six White Horses” and
“Railroad Bill,” both of which he said he learned from Jefferson, and in “Grave-
yard Blues.”18 From a black musician, then, and as the result of the arrival of
railroads in the mountains, Smith acquired a repertoire and an initial instru-
mental style.

Even before the arrival of the railroads, a black introduced Smith to the
fiddle: “The first fiddle I ever heard in my life was when I was a kid. There was
an old colored man who was raised up in slave times. His name was Jim Spen-
cer. He played ‘Jinny, Put the Kettle On’ and all those old tunes like that. And
he would come up to our house and he’d play.”19 During Smith’s boyhood, at
least three black banjo players lived in the Sugar Grove region, according to a
local resident.20 Though there is no direct evidence of his contact with them,
Smith’s account demonstrates his appreciation of African American musician-
ship, style, and repertory, and his eagerness to borrow from blacks.

Tom Ashley also had opportunity for contact with black banjo players.
Although his taped recollections make no reference to African American influ-
ence on his music, his repertory reveals strains of black tradition, for example,
“Red Rocking Chair” and “Walking Boss.” His family, who came from Ire-
land, had access to black music from before 1800, when they settled in eastern
Virginia. They moved to Ashe County sometime before the Civil War, and
Ashley grew up in Mountain City, Tennessee. Ashley’s own travels, even when
he was not working medicine shows, probably put him in contact with black
musicians. He and the fiddler G.B. Grayson used to go north to play in the
West Virginia coalfields, and he met Hobart Smith when he played at a week-
long carnival in Saltville.21

Although both Smith and Ashley learned their banjo styles from mem-
bers of their own families, they were able and eager to acquire more inacces-
sible music from African Americans. Their musical inquisitiveness suggests
that they had already incorporated the local black styles into their own banjo
playing. This attitude among talented white musicians in the Sugar Grove
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region during the early twentieth century is important, for it suggests the prob-
able openness of their ancestors to borrowing from African Americans before
the Civil War, when banjo playing initially took hold in the mountains.

BIG STONE GAP

What happened in Sugar Grove recurred in other Virginia and North Caro-
lina mountain regions to the west and east. To the west, Dock Boggs, like the
Sugar Grove whites, was influenced by blacks. His hometown, Norton, Vir-
ginia, is about fifty miles northwest of Abingdon, on the migration route that
forms the northern boundary of the Sugar Grove area. Norton is also about
fifty miles northeast of Cumberland Gap and much closer to Big Stone Gap,
both of which are mountain passes on major travel routes from Virginia to
Kentucky. This nexus of frontier migration routes near Big Stone Gap was settled
by whites and African Americans before the end of the eighteenth century.

The style of banjo playing used by the older members of Boggs’s family
was, as one would expect, the old downstroking method first learned by whites
from blacks. Dock’s eldest brother, John, born about 1870, “played fiddle or
banjo, either one.”22 “All about the banjo players played that knock-down way,
or whatever you want to call it.”23 Although Dock Boggs, born in 1898, was
fascinated by his brother John, he did not follow the “knock-down,”
“clawhammer” style used by John and others in his family and in the area. “I
had never heard any man play any kind of blues on a banjo,” Dock recalled.
“But I had seen two colored men who picked the banjo with one finger and a
thumb, or with two fingers. I said to myself never telling anyone, that was the
way I was goin’ to learn. I started to learn when I was 12 or 13.”24

Thus at least two banjo-playing methods were available to Boggs when
he learned the banjo: the “knock-down” method of his older brother and the
two-finger method of these particular African American players. Although he
played some tunes in two-finger “picking” style, he developed his own unor-
thodox three-finger style based on the diverse sounds, rather than methods, to
which he was exposed. Musician Mike Seeger has described his unique perfor-
mance style as “a highly individual synthesis of old mountain and blues styles,”
whose picking “is as unorthodox as his use of vocal and instrumental melody.”25

African American influences turn up not only in Boggs’s performance
style but also in at least two repertory items on his third album. He learned
“Turkey in the Straw” and “Sugar Blues” from blacks. Of the latter, he said,
“Well that was accompanied by piano, I think sung by Sara Martin . . . some
colored lady in New York, it must have been 45–48 years ago,” in the early
1920s. Boggs indicates that, although he knew the words to this song for years,
he did not work it out where he “could sing it and play it on the banjo” until
the 1960s. His translation of such material to the banjo illustrates the process
that inspired his personal banjo style. Early and late, Boggs was more respon-
sive to musical sounds than performance techniques, and those sounds that
were most formative were African American.
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ROUND PEAK

Another section of the Blue Ridge Mountains, one county to the east of Sugar
Grove, was also the scene of black influence upon mountain whites. This com-
munity, called Round Peak, lies in Surry County, North Carolina, just over the
line from Virginia on the eastern slope of the Blue Ridge. This tiny region is
northwest of the piedmont, beyond Pilot Mountain on the southern slope of
Fisher’s Peak. Low Gap is the pass beside Fisher’s Peak that North Carolinians
used after crossing the southern slope of the Blue Ridge to migrate on toward
Ashe County before the Revolutionary War. The twenty or so families in the
Round Peak region were self-sufficient and enjoyed their space and freedom.
The old-fashioned flavor of rural life in Round Peak that persisted into the
early years of this century emerges in Corinna Bowdon’s recollections of her
childhood. Her grandfather Pet McKinny, for example, made shoes with
wooden pegs. The musical traditions of the community were strong, and
Corinna was directly connected with them, for she was a regular participant at
the local dances, and her grandfather, known as “Old Man Pet,” was a promi-
nent fiddler.

In those days “one colored family” lived on Pine Ridge some eight or
nine miles away. They were also a part of the community, and folks “didn’t
even think of them as being black.” By the late 1920s, a black band played for
white dances down in Mount Airy. At least one dance was held at a warehouse
to raise money for the March of Dimes, but most dances were at the Moose
Hall. The dancers used the circular formation favored at Round Peak, and the
black band played familiar tunes, although they did “change” some of them.
The band consisted of a fiddle, a banjo, one big drum,—the first Corinna had
seen—and sometimes piano.26 Born near the turn of the century, the black guitar
player Jim Raleigh also documents banjo tradition in Mount Airy at this time by
his recollection of several black banjo players who were his contemporaries.

One of Round Peak’s foremost white musicians was Tommy Jarrell, born
in 1901. He learned to play banjo at the age of ten from Boggy Cockerham, a
white man hired to help on the Jarrell family farm. A few years later, about
1915, Jarrell took up the fiddle from his father and uncle and began to acquire
repertory from even older members of the community. He learned “Sail Away
Ladies,” for example, from Corinna’s grandfather. But even in this somewhat
isolated community he had contact with African American music. Before he
learned to play banjo, he remembers that a black man who picked rather than
downstroked, came up from Mount Airy to buy whiskey from his father. Al-
though Tommy remained uninfluenced by the black man’s picking method,
this incident verifies the existence of a banjo tradition among blacks in Mount
Airy and his access to it. Later, as a young man, Tommy went with his brother
Fred to a tent show where he heard a “yellar gal” sing “Bo Weaval” and accom-
pany herself with tambourine. Tommy and Fred paid their money again to
listen to the song a second time. From this hearing Tommy learned to sing and
fiddle a beautiful, full version of this song. After he moved to Mount Airy in
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the 1920s, Tommy also learned another African American song, “Rylan
Spenser.”27 Tommy learned to fiddle the tune from his brother-in-law, who
had learned to play it on guitar from Jim Raleigh, the black guitar player who
lived down the road from Tommy. Tommy caught the words, however, di-
rectly from Raleigh at an earlier time. He used to lie in bed and listen to Ra-
leigh sing the song as he walked home from parties about daybreak on Sunday
mornings.

Underlying these historical facts concerning the white acquisition of African
American repertory and playing styles is an important truth about traditional
musicians: good musicians tend to be musically receptive to new influences.
The old-timers in Round Peak, Big Stone Gap, and Sugar Grove were not
merely back-porch pickers, but exceptional musicians. It is also significant that
many of these banjo players and fiddlers are descendants of the Scots and the
Irish. A variety of ethnic groups, of course, contributed to the settling of Appa-
lachia. But Celtic American banjo players and fiddlers have influenced Ameri-
can music disproportionately in relation to their small numbers.28 Likewise,
many of the early minstrels who learned banjo or other music directly from
slaves, such as Rice, Sweeney, Emmett, and others, were Irish and Scots-Irish.
The father of one such minstrel, Dan Emmett, for example, was “an Irishman
who lived in Staunton, Virginia, and about 1806 moved to Mount Vernon,
Ohio, where he was a blacksmith.”29

All of the mountain white musicians discussed above played several in-
struments and became well recognized beyond their own communities. Al-
though the Celtic American mountain banjo players retained the old
downstroking style of early black musicians, they were inquisitive, but not
unselective, in their search for new, often African American, material, whether
by direct contact, recordings, or radio.

This tendency was also true for the preceding generation. The foremost
community musicians were usually the first in their areas to own record-play-
ing devices. Tommy Jarrell’s father, Ben, bought the first record player in the
Round Peak community. In Kentucky, Jean Ritchie’s father was the first to
own such a machine in his mountain community some twenty miles from
Cumberland Gap and not so far from Big Stone Gap. He even made a little
extra money carrying it around to play for his neighbors. A photograph of the
West Virginia Hammons family ancestors shows one holding a fiddle, one
holding a shotgun, and the third holding an Edison player. Although acquisi-
tion of new repertory and stylistic techniques was guided by principles of tra-
dition and personal taste, the musicians of both generations were receptive to
new material.

The lasting impact of direct and initial contact with strong African Ameri-
can musical traditions also reveals striking diversity. In Big Stone Gap, black
traditions were interwoven with a great variety of other influences. As a cross-
roads of several early migration routes and later of mining traffic, Big Stone
Gap was exposed to more diverse cultural and regional traditions than either
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Sugar Grove or Round Peak. The family of Dock Boggs alone included broth-
ers who played downstroking (John), two-finger (Roscoe and Dock), and three-
finger banjo (Dock). Dock’s banjo repertory ranges widely from archaic banjo
pieces (“Cumberland Gap” and “Davenport”), to recorded blues (“Sugar
Blues”), to fiddle tune (“Turkey in the Straw,” as learned from blacks), to topi-
cal songs (“Cuba”), to traditionally unaccompanied ballads (“Loving Nancy”).

Although the Sugar Grove region also reflects considerable diversity, the
white and black banjo players remained focused on African American
downstroking and the full complement of techniques associated with this
method. The repertory in the relatively more isolated Sugar Grove region
emphasized old songs rather than fiddle-tune or fiddle and banjo material. It
included a number of banjo pieces of strong African American influence and
uncertain origin.

In the Round Peak region, banjo playing was less varied and more spe-
cialized. Jarrell, Cockerham, and many others are famed primarily for their
extraordinary playing of banjo-fiddle duets. The banjoists played downstroking
with a driving rhythm that includes as many notes as possible. The effect of
the heavy noting sustained the rhythm as well as produced the fully developed
melodies. Although Jarrell and Cockerham were fine singers and knew banjo
songs and an unusual number of fiddle-tune verses, their banjo-fiddle arrange-
ments influenced most of their pieces.

This intense merging of the fiddle and banjo in the Round Peak region is
not surprising given the information about the early black-white exchange.
The old-time string band tradition, an ensemble that reenacts and symboli-
cally honors democratic interaction between the white fiddle and the African
American banjo tradition, is one of the especially important results of blacks
bringing the banjo to this country.

The contrasting methods, repertory, and ensembles preserved in these
three Appalachian regions hold another implication worth exploring. Round
Peak players have evolved the most integrated instrumental traditions from
the interplay of banjo and fiddle. Sugar Grove offers the greatest variety of
banjo song material derived from the solo banjo tradition. Big Stone Gap of-
fers the most diverse traditions. In each of these mountain sections a correla-
tion exists between the preservation of old African American banjo traditions
and proximity to the piedmont. Mountain whites, physically closer to the tra-
ditions of the piedmont blacks, preserved the older styles. The merging of the
Celtic fiddle tradition and the African American banjo tradition into old-time
southern music reached its peak in the early decades of this century and repre-
sents some of our best American music and vision.
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GEORGIA’S FORGOTTEN MINERS

African Americans and the
Georgia Gold Rush of 1829

DAVID WILLIAMS

In 1935, an article titled “Georgia’s Forgotten Industry: Gold Mining,” by
Fletcher M. Green, appeared in the Georgia Historical Quarterly.1 The title was
indeed appropriate, for this was the first scholarly investigation of the gold
rush since it began in 1829, more than a hundred years earlier. In subsequent
years the history of gold mining in Georgia has received more attention, but
only slightly. A short book by E. Merton Coulter on the gold rush town of
Auraria appeared in 1956, and in the past decade two books have been pub-
lished on the Dahlonega Mint, which coined over $6 million in gold between
1838 and 1861.2 However, to date, no comprehensive scholarly treatment of
Georgia’s gold rush era has made it to print.3

As little attention as the gold rush has received, one aspect has been al-
most completely ignored. Nearly everyone with an interest in Georgia history
is to some degree familiar with the state’s gold rush and the resulting conflict
between the state of Georgia and the Cherokee, ultimately leading to Chero-
kee removal on the “Trail of Tears” during the winter of 1838–1839. But a
third group, though not as numerous and largely overlooked, contributed some
of the most engaging and extraordinary tales associated with the gold rush era:
the African Americans, slave and free. They are, one might say, Georgia’s for-
gotten miners.4

Despite numerous claims to the contrary, no one knows for sure when or
where the first discovery of gold was made in Georgia. There is even greater
uncertainty about who made it.5 Yet from the very outset, blacks played a promi-
nent role in stories dealing with the origins of Georgia’s gold rush. According
to one account, in 1828 a slave owned by a man named Logan found gold in a
branch of the Nacoochee River in what is today White County. Logan and his
servant were returning from the gold fields of Rutherford County, North Caro-
lina, when the slave noticed a similarity between the soil of the Nacoochee
Valley and that of the gold region to the north. He tested a sample and discov-
ered that it did indeed contain gold.6 At about the same time another black
man is said to have found gold on Bear Creek near the present site of
Dahlonega.7
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Whatever the origins of the gold rush, there is no question that by the
autumn of 1829 it was well under way. The sudden influx of thousands of
miners into the Cherokee Nation was known even then as the “Great Intru-
sion.” The natives protested loudly against this obvious infringement on the
part of the whites. The Cherokee Phoenix noted, “Our neighbors who regard no
law and pay no respects to the laws of humanity are now reaping a plentiful
harvest. . . . We are an abused people.”8 But there was little the Cherokee could
do. It seemed the more vehemently they protested, the more eagerly the min-
ers came.

In 1831, surveyors entered the area and began partitioning the new lands
in preparation for a lottery in which the Cherokee Nation would be distrib-
uted to Georgia citizens. By September 1832, the surveys were complete and
all across the state people were flocking to their respective county seats to
register for the drawing. The names were sent to the state capitol at
Milledgeville, where they were deposited in a large wooden drum from which
they would be drawn. Tickets identifying individual land or gold lots were
placed in another drum. Nearly everyone who had been a Georgia resident for
a certain number of years was eligible to participate in the lottery, with one
major exception: Persons with even a trace of African ancestry were excluded.
These people were defined by state law not as citizens but as “free persons of
color,” and only “citizens” were eligible for the lottery.9 Nonetheless, there were
those of mixed racial background who attempted to get around the restriction.
In one instance a man from Tattnall County named Allen Summerall registered
for a chance in the lottery as a single white male. Only later did the authorities
discover that his mother was black. According to Georgia law, this made
Summerall a “free person of color” and as such ineligible for the drawing.10

The lottery was not the only activity from which blacks were barred.
Life and labor in the gold region was spartan at best, and the miners sought
diversion at every opportunity. But free blacks, because of their social status,
and slaves, because of their bondage, could not join in recreational pastimes
taken for granted by other miners. When the miners were not in the country-
side digging for gold, they could usually be found in town looking for ways to
spend it. According to one account, “Gambling houses, dancing houses, drinking
saloons, houses of ill fame, billiard saloons, and tenpin alleys were open day
and night.”11 The men were nearly matched in number by women, who were,
wrote a citizen of Dahlonega, “equally as vile and wicked.”12 Wrote another
eyewitness, “I can hardly conceive of a more unmoral community than exists
around these mines; drunkenness, gambling, fighting, lewdness, and every other
vice exist here to an awful extent.” It appears that as a group, in the words of
this contemporary, “generally the most moral” people were those denied an
opportunity to participate in these festivities—the blacks.13

If recreation was difficult to come by for the black miners, such was not
the case with hard work in the mines. Most were slaves and had less choice in the
matter than free blacks. More to the point, they had no choice. Soon after
the discovery of gold in Georgia, mining quickly proved to be very popular as
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an off-season activity among yeoman farmers and planters. After the fall har-
vest, many headed for the hills to try their luck in the gold fields, taking their
slaves with them to work the mines. Those who were residents of the gold
country often operated mines on their own lands to supplement their incomes.14

This practice was so common in some areas that the nineteenth-century min-
ing engineers Nitze and Wilkens commented, “Farming and gold-digging went,
in many cases, hand in hand. When crops were laid by, the slaves and farm-
hands were turned into the creek-bottoms, thus utilizing their time during the
dull season.”15 One such man from Augusta, named Phinizy, brought a large
group of slaves to the gold region each year to work in the mines.16 Thomas
Lumsden, a Nacoochee mine owner in what is today White County, recorded
that his slaves produced thirty thousand dollars in gold during a single sea-
son.17 At one point, Sen. John C. Calhoun of South Carolina had twenty slaves
working in his mine just south of Dahlonega in Lumpkin County. Over a two-
year period between 1833 and 1835, the mine produced around five hundred
dollars per hand annually, and Calhoun saw “no reason why it should not con-
tinue to yield at the same rate.”18

There were also planters who leased gold lands and worked slaves in the
mines seasonally or throughout the year. Others gave up “King Cotton” alto-
gether and devoted their energies completely to gold mining.19 As one writer
put it, “Where mining proved more profitable than planting, the former su-
perseded the latter entirely.”20 In most cases, however, when the price of
cotton was high farmers and planters abandoned the gold fields and then re-
turned to the mines when the price of cotton again fell off.21

Slaves were also purchased strictly for work in the mines or leased from
low-country planters for the purpose. Advertisements in Georgia newspapers
gave notice to slave traders, “Liberal prices will be given for Negroes.”22 Such
ads also announced that “Strong Negro Men are in demand at the Mines, at
$10 per month.”23 The money, of course, went to the slave’s owner.

The slaves quite naturally resented not profiting from their labor. Some
sought to compensate themselves by concealing what gold they could from the
overseer. They hid it in the seams of their clothing and even placed gold dust
and small nuggets in their hair. One mine proprietor surprised his slaves one
evening by ordering that they be shaved before going to their quarters. When
the hair was shaken out, several ounces of pure gold were recovered.24 Some-
times, while working the mines, slaves attempted to secretly bury small gold
nuggets and to retrieve them at a more opportune time. One Gilmer County
slave maneuvered a large nugget from his shovel and worked it into the dirt
with his foot when no one was watching. That night he escaped and tried to
find his treasure, but the mine was pitch black. The unfortunate slave found it
impossible to locate the spot where he had buried the nugget. While vainly
searching for what might literally have been a ticket to freedom, his absence
was detected, and he was severely beaten for his insolence. The nugget was
later found and estimated to be worth over six hundred dollars.25

When slaves were successful in concealing gold from their owners, they
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either saved it or tried to sell it to any convenient buyer. This was risky busi-
ness for the buyer and the seller. In 1833, the Lumpkin County grand jury
brought charges against Jefferson Witherow, Alfred Witherow, and Frances B.
Bulfinch for buying ten dollars worth of gold from the slaves of James H.
Poteet, Jacob Page, and Leander Smith.26 In Habersham County, a white
man named Andrew Johnson was charged with “trading with a slave.” Johnson
pleaded guilty and was fined five dollars. The slave’s punishment was not
recorded.27

There were at least a few slaves who did not have to conceal gold from
their masters. Some mine owners allowed their slaves to keep a portion of the
gold they discovered, while others rented out slaves and let them have a per-
centage of the proceeds. Jacob Scudder permitted his slaves to keep all the
gold they found after sundown at his placer mine. It was, of course, no easy
task to find tiny bits of gold while panning in the dark by pine torches, but
Scudder placed no limit on the amount of gold they could pan. However, he
did insist that they sell their findings only to him. At least a few of his slaves
saved enough gold from their nightly workings to purchase their freedom.28

Besides hard work and often brutal treatment, the mines also presented a
danger to life and limb for the slaves. Many tunnels were hastily dug and hap-
hazardly braced by inexperienced workers. Not surprisingly, such tunnels were
subject to cave-ins without warning. This was a constant danger to all mine
workers, slave or free. An entire work crew of slaves was once killed when

Slaves mining gold, ca. 1830s. (Courtesy of the North Carolina Collection, University
of North Carolina at Chapel Hill)



44 DAVID WILLIAMS

supporting timbers gave way and the roof collapsed at the Franklin Mine in
Cherokee County.29

Some slaves found their treatment and the dangers of mining so unbear-
able that, like many slaves in the antebellum South, they decided to run away.
A few slaves used the gold they had hidden to help them get out of the South
once they made a break for it. Area newspapers carried numerous advertise-
ments calling for the return of runaway slaves, sometimes offering handsome
rewards. A Cass County mine owner, Charles Cleghorn, announced in the
Western Herald that a slave named Jack had escaped from his Allatoona mine.
Cleghorn offered fifty dollars for the slave’s return or “twenty-five dollars if
lodged in any Jail.” Jack was a blacksmith by trade and described as heavy-built
and “light complected, but a full blooded negro.” He had “a down look when
spoken to,” spoke “slow and somewhat stammering,” and was “very fond of
spirits.”30

Another slave named Henry, apparently unhappy with his treatment, es-
caped from a gold mine near Auraria to which he had been leased. Nathan
Cook, the mine owner, thought the eighteen-year-old slave might be headed
for North Carolina, where he had lived before being brought to Georgia by a
speculator. Henry was described as a tall man and, like the slave Jack, had
“rather a down look, when spoken to.” A reward was offered to anyone who
could capture and hold Henry.31 “A Negro Fellow by the name of John,” who
had worked in Auraria as a cook in the taverns of William Rogers and Robert
A. Watkins, ran away from the mining operations of a man named Pinchback
in October 1833. It is hardly surprising that John was more fond of cooking
than of mining. Pinchback offered a ten-dollar reward for John’s return.32

There were also advertisements announcing the capture of blacks thought
for one reason or another to be escaped slaves. Typical of these is the following
item from an April 1833 issue of the Southern Banner.33

NOTICE

Brought to Clayton Jail, Rabun county, on Tuesday the fifth in-
stant, a mulatto fellow who says he is a free man, and was hired to
P. Caldwell at the gold mines in Lumpkin, and was raised by James
Campbell of Iredell county, North Carolina. The owner is requested
to come and pay charges, and take him away.

T. M. HENSON, Jailer

It is not known what cause the jailer had to doubt this man’s claim to freedom
other than the color of his skin. In antebellum Georgia, where less than 1
percent of the black population was free, that was usually enough.34

However, not all blacks in the gold region were slaves. Though few in
number, there were free blacks in the area who farmed or worked in the mines.
A good many did both. This was the case with Dan and Lucinda Riley of
Cherokee County, who bought their freedom from Jacob Scudder. After their
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emancipation the couple worked as sharecroppers and panned for gold in the
vicinity of the Franklin Mine to supplement their income.35

Perhaps the most remarkable black man in north Georgia during the
gold rush was an entrepreneur, gold miner, and part-time preacher named
James Boisclair, or “Free Jim,” as he was known to the residents of Dahlonega.
At the height of the gold rush, Boisclair arrived in Dahlonega from Augusta
and set up a small cake and fruit shop. Like other merchants before him, he
quickly became interested in mining and soon began to pan for gold. Luck was
with him, and he discovered a rich vein of gold ore on lot 998, just east of
town. He wanted to buy the property, but as a black man the law permitted
him neither to buy nor sell real estate. Dr. Joseph J. Singleton, the first super-
intendent of the Dahlonega Mint, agreed to serve as Boisclair’s “guardian,”
and it was through Singleton that he bought the lot.36

Boisclair worked the mine successfully for nearly a decade, making enough
money to establish the largest dry goods and general merchandise store in
Dahlonega. He also built an icehouse, where he stored natural ice and sold it
throughout the year. Located where the Dahlonega Baptist Church now stands,
it was one of the most popular businesses in town, especially during hot moun-
tain summers. Another popular Boisclair establishment was his saloon, which
was so popular that he was expelled from the Baptist church “for selling spiri-
tus liquors on the Sabbath.” It is not known what sort of penance he was re-
quired to undergo, but about a year later he was “restored on recantation.”37

Another problem involved with his saloon was the difficulty he encountered in
obtaining a liquor license. By state law, a “free person of color” could not hold
such a license. To get around the restriction, a white person was authorized to
sell liquor at the saloon “for Boisclair.” The license had to be renewed on an
annual basis.38

Despite the ability of some blacks to buy their freedom and the success
of a few like James Boisclair, it is important to note that most blacks in the
antebellum gold region were taken there as slaves and remained slaves. There
is considerable doubt concerning the number of slaves used in the mines. Be-
cause most were transient labor, this is and must remain an open question. It
can be said, however, that although some mine owners found it profitable to
use slaves, this practice was not nearly as common in the gold mines of north
Georgia as it was on the cotton and rice plantations of the coastal plains. Local
white residents were uncomfortable with the presence of a large slave popula-
tion in the vicinity, and mining companies often preferred white labor anyway.
It was cheap and did not incur the responsibilities of food, clothing, and shel-
ter associated with slavery.39

The use of slaves in gold mining decreased sharply in the early 1840s as
the gold began to play out. Within a few years, scarcely any slaves were left in
the mines. Then, in 1849, word of the great California strikes reached the
gold-hungry miners of Georgia, and singularly and in groups they began a
mass exodus westward. Dr. Matthew Stephenson, a geologist and assayer at
the Dahlonega Mint, called for a meeting at the town square in a futile attempt
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to keep the miners in Georgia. Mounting the courthouse steps to address a
crowd of about two hundred miners, Stephenson chastised them for allowing
their heads to be turned by tall tales of gold in California. Waving his hand
toward Findley Ridge, just south of Dahlonega, Stephenson shouted, “Why
go to California? In that ridge lies more gold than man ever dreamt of. There’s
millions in it!” Despite Stephenson’s admonitions, the impatient miners, black
and white, left for California in droves.40

James Boisclair, too, was caught up by this wave of gold fever and left
Dahlonega to pursue his fortune in the newly discovered gold fields of Califor-
nia. In 1850, he contracted with about fifty men to pay their way to the new
western “El Dorado” in exchange for half their first year’s earnings. Such an
arrangement might have doubled or tripled his already substantial wealth, but
it was not to be. When Boisclair arrived in California, he found not fortune
but fate. He soon became involved in a heated argument over a claim. The
quarrel turned violent, and Boisclair, age forty-six, was shot to death. But his
memory lives on around Dahlonega, where the mine he worked for ten years
is still known as the “Free Jim.”41

More fortunate than James Boisclair were Dan and Lucinda Riley, the
free black couple who farmed and panned for gold on the side. Though they
did not strike it rich in California, they at least made a few thousand dollars
and lived to return home. However, they were nearly prevented from making
the journey at all. As the story goes, it was only chance that made it possible for
them to try their luck in California. Like other Georgia miners, Dan and
Lucinda caught gold fever in 1849 and yearned to go west, but they were much
too poor to make the journey for the moment. Shortly after hearing of the
California gold strike, Dan made a find of his own while panning for gold
along the stream adjacent to the property of Jacob Scudder, his former master.
At a certain point along the stream Dan noticed that the gold was “coarse and
ragged,” indicating the presence of a nearby vein. He traced the gold to its
source and, on a hill bordering the stream, dug down about three feet and hit
a rich quartz vein. Dan scooped up a pan of dirt from the top of the vein,
panned it out, and found so much gold that, as he later said, “it looked like [I]
had dug into a yellow jacket’s nest.”42 His first thought was that perhaps now
he and Lucinda could go to California. His second was to keep the find a
secret. While digging he noticed a few of Scudder’s slaves working in the dis-
tance on the other side of the river and was afraid that they might have seen
him. He quickly filled in the hole and erased all trace of his work. The follow-
ing day Dan sold his findings for seventy dollars, and he and Lucinda were
shortly on their way to California. In their later years, after the California gold
played out, they returned to Georgia with the intention of locating the rich
vein that Dan had discovered so long ago. They searched the area for years,
digging holes all along the stream, but they could never find the old vein. Dan
told his story to Richard Carnes, a local farmer and part-time miner, who often
helped the old couple in their searches. Even after Dan and Lucinda passed
away, Carnes continued to look for the mine, but to no avail. The tale has been
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passed down for over a century, and to this day Cherokee County residents
still enjoy telling the story of the “Lost Negro Mine.”43

By the time Dan and Lucinda Riley came home, the heyday of gold min-
ing in Georgia had long passed. Though the introduction of hydraulic mining
in the 1850s resulted in a brief revival of gold fever, the coming of the Civil
War saw the final collapse of gold mining as a notable industry in Georgia.44

The miners went off to war, the mint closed, and emancipation brought free-
dom to the few slaves still working the mines. So scarce did blacks become in
north Georgia following the war that an 1886 issue of Dahlonega’s newspaper
noted that there were people living in the mountains who had never seen a
black person.45 Even now there are few blacks living in what was Georgia’s
bustling gold region 150 years ago.46 Aside from the traditional neglect of Af-
rican American history before the 1960s, perhaps this is one reason why the
role of blacks in the Georgia gold rush has been generally ignored for so long.
In any case, considering the significance of their participation, voluntary and
involuntary, Georgia’s forgotten miners should not remain so.
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4

SLAVERY IN THE
KANAWHA SALT INDUSTRY

JOHN E. STEALEY III

In the first years of the nineteenth century, a great salt lick in far western Vir-
ginia became the site of one of the most significant premodern manufacturing
operations in antebellum Appalachia—the Kanawha salt industry. Located along
a ten-mile stretch of a major Ohio River tributary, the Great Kanawha, at
Kanawha Salines, two or three miles above Charleston, Virginia (later to be
West Virginia), it accounted for an almost unparalleled enterprise that served
the seemingly insatiable demands of an expanding western market for a com-
modity that was essential for life, processing, and preservation. Although other
sources of salt existed, none rivaled the Kanawha brine in ensuring the emer-
gence of large-scale economic development, rural and urban, in the Ohio River
basin. Agricultural prosperity in the West and the growth of the pork-packing
industry at Cincinnati, Louisville, and other river towns could not have hap-
pened without the salt extracted from the Kanawha Salines.

Only in 1808, after a decade-long series of legal disputes over the prop-
erty their father had acquired and several years of experimentation, did Joseph
Ruffner’s sons first successfully establish a drilling operation to excavate the
brine that they found concentrated along the river’s northern bank. At the
same time they constructed the first of what would become many salt furnaces
to process the brine into usable and marketable salt. Their operation expanded
so dramatically that by 1810 the salt factories on the Great Kanawha consti-
tuted the nation’s largest salt production area.

From the War of 1812, Kanawha manufacturers, not having sufficient
white labor available, relied primarily on slaves for their workforce. The phe-
nomenal growth of the salt industry and its economic opportunities attracted
slave owners as furnace proprietors and lessors of chattels. The resultant slave
society that emerged there was unusual in the antebellum South: bondsmen
located in the Appalachian Mountains produced an extractive commodity for
interstate commerce.1 Initially, slaves came to the Great Kanawha Valley from
Kentucky and piedmont Virginia, but as time passed, most slaves came from
eastern Virginia.2 The western Virginia salt industry drew labor from the
commonwealth’s tobacco economy, which was in decline.3 Most slaves were
hirelings, as some large eastern slaveholders had leasing agents on the
Kanawha, and many salt companies annually sent representatives to the pied-
mont to rent slaves.4 Legal agreements between eastern Virginia entrepre-
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neurs who entered the salt business often provided for shared furnishing of
slave labor.

Keeping pace with the growing demands of the salt industry between
1810 and 1850, the slave population of Kanawha County grew rapidly. From
1810 to 1820 the number of slaves in the county more than tripled, growing
from 352 to 1,073. In succeeding decades the growth rate was slower. From
1820 to 1830 slave numbers increased 60 percent to 1,717. The 1830s and
1840s saw growth rates of 49 and 22 percent respectively. In 1850 the slave
population reached its peak at 3,140 slaves. The rate of demographic increase
of slaves was more impressive when compared with the growth of the white
citizenry, which was much slower: from 1810 to 1820, the population grew
from 3,468 to 5,297, a 53 percent increase; the 1820s and 1830s saw a 42 and
44 percent increase, respectively; in the 1840s the rate slowed to 10 percent,
with 12,001 white residents recorded in the county in 1850.5

Although slave numbers were substantial, the slave population numbers
are not absolute: the numbers of slaves associated with the Kanawha industry
far exceeded fixed census figures. Slaves were often transient, passing in and
out of the valley individually and in groups. Many furnace operators moved
their owned or leased chattels at will, usually on an annual basis, by redeploy-
ment to other occupations, nonrenewal of leases, or sale. When Harry Heth, a
well-known Manchester, Virginia, coal operator, his son-in-law Beverley
Randolph, and Samuel G. Adams entered the salt business with high hopes in
December 1814, Heth and Randolph agreed to furnish thirty-six “Negroe men,”
and Adams would augment the number as required.6 Within four months,
Randolph, who acted as resident manager and overseer, saw that the partner-
ship had entered an economic quagmire and started to extricate it from the
business. The slaves who had been reluctant to come to the Kanawha were
eager to return to the Richmond area. In reply to Heth’s expressed desire for a
group of ten to remain and for the others to return, Randolph warned, “No 10
will be more willing to stay than any other 10. They all despise this place as
much as I do, & more they can not.” However, in January 1814 William
Dickinson and Joel Shrewsbury, a piedmont Virginia partnership, moved slaves
they owned and leased to their salt property; many of those slaves and their
offspring remained there until the Civil War.7 Although hired slaves could be
transferred quickly, many remained on the Kanawha for years or even decades,
usually with several different manufacturers.

Salt makers employed slaves in all phases of the manufacturing process
and in all subsidiary activities necessary to support a salt furnace. Most tasks
performed by hired and company-owned slaves were routine, but some re-
quired a high degree of skill. One completely integrated salt furnace operation
that did not contract for coal and barrel deliveries required twenty-three to
thirty-three slaves. A two-furnace factory needed approximately double that
number. In 1854 James Cowey, a manager of two salt furnaces, deposed that of
sixty-four laborers under his control, fifty-eight were slaves. Testifying in 1853,
veteran salt maker Richard C.M. Lovell estimated the employment of hands at



52 JOHN E. STEALEY III

two salt furnaces as fourteen coal diggers; five wheelers, who wheeled coal
from the interior of the mine to its mouth; four haulers, who hauled coal by
team on the railroad tramway from the mine mouth to the furnace; three kettle
tenders; one or two “cat-hole” cleaners, who cleaned the coal ash repository;
six engineers, who ran steam engines to pump brine from the well; two salt
lifters and wheelers, who lifted the salt from the pan after evaporation and
wheeled the product to the packing shed; seven “jim arounds” and packers,
who served as general laborers and firemen and who placed salt into barrels for
shipment; two blacksmiths; one “negro man sort of manager”; and one cook.8

To attain optimum production capabilities and return on plant invest-
ment, salt makers ran their furnaces twenty-four hours per day and, if they
chose to incur the risk of arrest and overproduction, seven days per week.
Although police regulations forbade labor on Sunday and established six days
as the legal length of the work week, producers usually disobeyed this laxly
enforced prohibition. At times, depressed salt prices occasioned by overpro-
duction forced Kanawha manufacturers to agree mutually to “blow out” their
furnaces on Sunday. In these periods, community pressure caused the justices
of the peace to enforce the law. In 1841 Nathaniel Hatch, a justice who held
court in the Terra Salis Presbyterian Church, fined a number of producers for
breaking the Sabbath by working and by forcing their slaves to work.9

Salt manufacturers offered monetary incentives to factory slaves (except
coal diggers) to work without days of rest, and these payments became recog-
nized by custom. The firms paid hired and owned slaves an extra amount for
Sabbath labor. The manager carried the accumulated amounts on the books

View of the salt works on the Kanawha. (From Henry Howe, The Historical Collections of
Virginia [1845])
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during the year and paid the whole sum to the slave on Christmas Day. A
former coal-bank manager noted, “The coal diggers generally dug their coal
for Sunday’s run on Saturday; but it was paid for extra. It was generally hauled
to the furnace on Sunday. The other hands . . . were actually employed on
Sunday.” Over a five-year period Thomas Friend paid between $1,200 and
$1,482 annually for extra Sunday work to thirty-five to forty hands.10 When
Joel Shrewsbury returned leased slaves to Bedford County, Virginia, in 1816,
he asked his partner to furnish the slaves certain items of clothing. He also
instructed, “You will let Reuben & Frank have the amt set against each of their
names in Store goods it being for Cord Wood cut by them of Nights & C.”
Shrewsbury expected one and a half cords of wood per slave per day. In 1818,
Shrewsbury made similar requests to his Bedford partner: “Please pay the negroe
boys in Store Goods as follows Viz Spence Nine & half Dollars Tom Six & half
Dollars & Abram Four Dollars for labour of Sunday & Christmas &c.” Manu-
facturers frequently operated their furnaces during the Christmas season. Slaves
received direct extra payment for this holiday work.11

Owners and managers could project the production of a furnace for a
certain operating period, barring breakdowns and accidents. They knew the
amount of fuel and the number of barrels that were needed for efficient opera-
tion, and they could set production goals for labor. A stable and predictable
labor supply and work system met these requirements and goals. Kanawha
manufacturers universally adopted the task system in the Salines to measure
production and to reduce managerial costs. John D. Lewis, who had manufac-
tured salt since 1832, testified in 1854 in a court case that, on the Kanawha,
“we operate a furnace by task work, a coal digger has a prescribed quantity of
coal to dig, a hauler, a salt packer a prescribed quantity to pack, and engineer,
and kettle tender a certain time to be on watch.”12

Despite the use of the task system, owners maintained a managerial hier-
archy. In an integrated salt manufacturing facility, a manager (overseer), boss
kettle tender, coal-bank manager, and, in some cases, a well tender composed
the supervisory personnel. Resident owners acted as general superintendents
and handled sales but left the active management to overseers. Managerial
personnel were responsible for meeting the goals of production and for repair-
ing the machinery and equipment.13 Usually white men occupied supervisory
positions, but there is evidence that slaves sometimes performed managerial
functions. In the furnaces operated by Thomas Friend, two slaves held the
important positions of boss kettle tender and overseer. In an inventory of hands,
Tom, the boss kettle tender, was adjudged as very skillful in maintaining and
repairing the furnace. Simon, age thirty-three, was appraised: “Kean, stout;
salt well tuber, engine repairer, salt-maker and overseer experienced, skilful,
and industrious.”14

Slave ownership and leasing reached a high point in the Kanawha salt
industry in 1850, according to the census that year.15 The census schedule
listing products of industry gives thirty-three salt companies, but only twenty-
seven appear as possessors of slaves in the schedule of slave inhabitants in
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Kanawha County. The six missing companies, Kleason and Downward, C.W.
Atkinson, Norton and Kline, William and Jones, Shrewsbury and Fitzhugh,
and Warth and English, reported a combined average monthly total of 133
male workers. We can assume that at least a hundred of these workers were
slaves because the proportion would be consistent with the number of slaves in
the total workforce of other enumerated firms. The census schedules of slave
inhabitants also do not denote whether the slaves in the possession of salt com-
panies were leased or owned. The accuracy of the reporting of the slaves’ ages
in the census returns cannot be assured, although experienced hirers and users
who enumerated slaves in their possession would be approximately correct.
Nor were factors such as physical condition and work skill of slaves recognized
or recorded. For example, a fifty-year-old slave who was a kettle tender or
blacksmith might have been more desirable for a salt company to retain than a
twenty-five-year-old laborer.

Generalizations about prime hands are hazardous, but it could be con-
ceded that slaves between fifteen and thirty-nine years old were in greater
demand, as most labor around the salt furnace was physically rigorous. In trans-

Making salt at Saltville, Virginia. (From Edward King, The Southern States of America,
vol. 3 [1875])
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Allegheny Virginia, Kanawha County had the highest slave population in 1850:
3,140 persons. Of this total, 1,902 were male, and 1,238 were female. Salt
firms controlled and possessed at least 1,497 of the total. Adding the one hun-
dred slave hands presumed to have been controlled by the six salt companies
mentioned above, one can conclude that over one-half of all slaves in Kanawha
County were controlled by the salt industry centered at Kanawha Salines. Based
on 1850 census data, salt manufacturing firms retained 60 percent of all male
slaves and 29 percent of all female slaves in Kanawha County. Of the slaves
owned by salt firms, 76 percent were male. Of all male slaves held by the salt
manufacturers, 34 percent were between the ages of twenty and twenty-nine,
and 21 percent were from thirty to thirty nine. Hence, 55 percent of all male
slaves were in the prime labor age category. If one extended the prime male
slave category to include the group aged fifteen to nineteen, 64 percent of all
male slaves held by salt companies would be considered prime workmen. Of
the total number of slaves, male and female, retained by the salt companies, 49
percent were males between the ages of fifteen and thirty-nine.

Slave family units did exist to some extent. Female slaves had limited use
in the domestic establishment of the enterprise: some worked as cooks. Women
over fifteen years numbered only 186 and comprised 51 percent of the female
slave population in the salt business. Of the total number of slaves held by the
salt companies, 364, or 24 percent, were males and females under fifteen. As in
the southern slave population as a whole, the numbers of males and females in
the under-fifteen group on the Kanawha were approximately equal. The male-
to-female ratios in the other age groups differed markedly: fifteen to nineteen,
3.5:1; twenty to twenty-nine, 5.5:1; thirty to thirty-nine, 6.8:1; forty to forty-
nine, 5.3:1; fifty to fifty-nine, 4.1:1; and over fifty-nine, 1.9:1.16 There is a
definite correlation between the largest salt firms and manufacturers, mea-
sured both in total production and in total slave possession, and the control of
slave women and children. The largest salt companies, which included the
oldest in the industry, held most of the slave women and children. The top
seven firms in slave possession controlled 57 percent of all slaves held by salt
manufacturers in 1850 and 50 percent of the males over fourteen. These same
firms held 69 percent of all females and 71 percent of the slaves of both sexes
under the age of fifteen. Operators of single furnaces could not support many
slaves under fifteen or many family units. Newer companies and short-term
entrepreneurs had not been in operation long enough, nor had they the re-
sources, to accumulate slave families. Firms or manufacturers on leased prop-
erty would rent prime labor in order to maximize profits, to maintain annual
flexibility, and to withdraw easily upon expiration of the lease. For example,
James S.O. Brooks leased a furnace from Luke Willcox in 1845 for an eight-
year term.17 In 1850 he possessed forty-nine male and four female slaves, and
all the females were between fifteen and thirty-nine years old.

In 1850, Dickinson & Shrewsbury, one of the two oldest salt manufac-
turing companies, was the largest slave user, holding 232 slaves, 195 males and
37 females. In 1855, when the partnership dissolved, it owned or had an inter-
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est in 128 slaves, 93 males and 35 females. The relatively constant number of
female slaves suggests that family units existed. The 104 fewer slaves, almost
all male, displayed the level of slave leasing in 1850 and some attrition by sale
and death. Analysis of the 1855 Dickinson and Shrewsbury slave inventory
reveals the existence of family units. The list gives ages for only one group of
sixteen slaves and does not indicate male kinship ties, only noting relationships
between mother and child and between grandmother and grandchild.18

Of the 128 slaves held by Dickinson and Shrewsbury in 1855, 68 were
associated with nine separate common female ancestors; 55 were single men,
though several may be related to one or more of the common female ancestor
groups; and 5 were single women. The best-documented family group de-
scended from a woman named Fann. The partnership had purchased a half
interest in Fann on April 14, 1814, from John Lacy of Franklin County, Vir-
ginia. Joel Shrewsbury traveled to Guilford County, North Carolina, where he
individually purchased the other half interest. He noted that “the wench is
heavy with child.”19 Fann bore ten children, six boys and four girls, who in
1855 ranged in age from twenty-five to forty-five. The two oldest were de-
scribed as “mulatto,” and the remainder “black.” The oldest female was sold,
and the youngest male had died. Two daughters, Rachel and Elija, had borne
respectively two and four grandchildren, aged from a few months to eighteen
years. Of Fann’s descendants living in 1855, ten were male and four were fe-
male. Of the remaining eight maternal ancestors, three women account for
thirty-five of the fifty-four slaves in family groups. Four of the women had
surnames: Jane Turner, Lucinda McCommas, Marcella Sharpe, and Sally Burke
(deceased). Few other slaves on the list had last names. Of the 128 Dickinson
and Shrewsbury slaves in 1855, at least thirty-eight males and twenty females
were part of the nine family groups.

Most salt firms exclusively employed their chattels in the salt furnace
and allied activities. Dickinson and Shrewsbury’s effective integration of manu-
facturing with an extensive agricultural enterprise, however, probably made it
the most efficient user of slave labor of all the salt companies. From the time of
Joel Shrewsbury’s arrival in the Salines in 1814, the firm acquired some of the
best agricultural land in the valley. Besides vertically integrating its own fur-
nace operations by cutting its own wood and later mining its own coal, it sold
its surplus to others. It constructed its own factories, buildings, barns, out-
buildings, and houses.

It established a blacksmith shop (with slave labor) that performed all the
firm’s work and much for other producers. Its slaves cleared land, raised live-
stock (the firm speculated in hogs and cattle), and engaged in extensive culti-
vation of the bottomlands. After a few years Dickinson and Shrewsbury annually
raised four thousand bushels of corn. Management shifted its slaves from fac-
tory to farm as needed. In 1820 Shrewsbury wrote that he ran two salt fur-
naces, five or six plantations, a sawmill and gristmill, and a blacksmith shop.20

Many slaves held by the Kanawha salt industry were hirelings, but the
exact number cannot be determined. In his pioneering work on industrial
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slavery, Robert S. Starobin concluded that four-fifths of industrial bondsmen
in the Old South were company-owned. On the Kanawha, the proportion of
owned slaves was much lower, as demonstrated by Dickinson and Shrewsbury,
which controlled 232 slaves in 1850 but owned only 128 in 1856, when the
partnership was dissolved. One could assume that about a hundred slaves were
leased, as Dickinson and Shrewsbury was an active producer until its dissolu-
tion. Frequently 30 to 45 percent of a salt company’s slave labor force was
leased, and in some cases the proportion was as high as 90 percent. One physi-
cian-manufacturer stated, “The larger proportion is hired, taking all the fur-
naces.”21 Leased slaves in the Kanawha salt industry would exceed 50 percent
of all slave labor controlled by manufacturers in any given year.

Hire or lease agreements between bailor and bailee in the leasing of slave
labor in the salt industry were as diverse as the desires of the contracting par-
ties and reflect the adjustment of the institution to an industrial situation.22 In
the typical hire agreement, verbal or written, the bailee agreed to treat the
property humanely, to provide a certain standard of clothing and medical at-
tention, and to pay all taxes. Slaves were usually hired for the period from
January to December 25. Hired slaves, by custom, were usually returned to
their owners on Christmas or the day before with a blanket and winter cloth-
ing. A general slave holiday lasted from Christmas to New Year’s Day.

Some slaveholders enhanced their investment by arranging for the in-
struction of their slaves in trades or occupations useful in the salt industry.
Samuel Hannah hired a young slave to a blacksmith for a four-year term for a
yearly rent of fifty dollars. The blacksmith bound himself “to teach & learn
the said Boy Preston to the best of his skill & judgment the Blacksmiths trade
in all its various branches of business and to keep the said boy employed at no
other business of work.” Three slaves were hired to salt maker Samuel H.
Early “to be allowed a Reasonable time to learn to cooper.” If they could not
become coopers, the slaves could be employed at other labor. A slave named
Tom was hired by his master to a producer “to spend part of his time learning
the Coopers trade.”23

One of the safest and most common employments for slaves at the Sa-
lines was in the manufacture of barrels for packing salt. The standard slave task
was the assembling of seven barrels per day, or 2,142 barrels in a year.24 William
H. Alpin hired two slave coopers, Henry and Ananias, on an incentive basis
from the trustees of the estate of L.C. Lett. In addition to paying for medical
bills, clothing, taxes, and food, Alpin promised to pay the slaves “ten cents for
each and all barrels they shall have made over forty two each week.” Several
bailors prevented the overexertion of their slaves in manufacturing barrels by
inserting restrictive provisions in the lease agreement. Richard, a cooper owned
by Samuel B. Brown, was required to assemble only six barrels per day. Of
course, such a provision could be interpreted as a requirement for a minimum
level of performance. John Waid agreed not to demand hired slaves “when
they labor to make more than six barrels per day each.”25 Many lease contracts
specified that certain slaves would be employed only in the cooperage trade, so
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that owners or managers of salt furnaces could not force the slave cooper to
work in a more dangerous job.26

With the exception of coopering, occupations in the salt industry were
hazardous. Coal mining was the most dangerous of all nineteenth-century
employments. Slaves were the laborers in the coal banks that supplied the fuel
for salt furnaces, and many black coal miners met savage accidents and deaths.
In 1844 Luke Willcox wrote in his diary that his slave Isam had his “Arm
Broke by Slate and coal falling on him.” The master immediately sent for
medical aid, but he later tersely noted the outcome: “Isam died about 7 o’clock
in the Evening.” In a court case in which a doctor was suing a salt manufac-
turer for a medical fee, a physician’s assistant related a gruesome accident. The
slave treated was injured in a roof fall, “a very bad one.” His thigh was broken,
his arm was fractured in two places, one above and one below the elbow, and
crushed, and one hand was mangled, with two fingers removed.27

Aware of the inherent dangers of mining, some slaveholders stipulated
that a lessee could not work the valuable property in coal mines. George W.
Summers forced the salt company that leased his slave Jim to agree to several
prohibitions: “The negro man Jim is not to be worked in Coal Bank or as a
kettle-tender, nor to be compelled to work on Sundays.”28 Prohibitions forbid-
ding slaves from working in unsafe pursuits did not restrain salt makers or
managers. A woman sued Lewis Ruffner for eight hundred dollars in damages
when her slave was killed in a roof fall in Ruffner’s mine. The plaintiff con-
tended that Ruffner had agreed not to employ the slave in his coal mines. On
January 1, 1832, Charles G. Reynolds hired two slaves, Lewis and Harry, from
Ann Pollard for one hundred dollars apiece. During the term of bailment, the
slave Lewis was “suffocated, crushed, and killed” in Reynolds’s coal bank. Pol-
lard said that her slave was killed in September 1832. She asserted that Reynolds
had promised that he intended to use the slaves to tend kettles. Lewis was
appraised at seven hundred dollars, and as a result of being deprived of “divers
great gains and profits” by his death, the plaintiff sued for one thousand dollars
in damages. The defendant entered a general demurrer to each count of the
declaration and pleaded non assumpsit.29

In a separate case, Pollard again sued Reynolds, this time for the two
hundred dollars in rent for Lewis and Harry. Reynolds showed that Lewis was
killed in the coal mine on January 18, 1832, seventeen days after his hiring,
without any fault on the defendant’s part. Declaring that he was willing to pay
for the hire of Harry, the defendant claimed a credit for ninety-five dollars for
the loss of services caused by the death of Lewis for the remainder of the term
of hire. The jury upheld the claims of Reynolds and awarded Pollard $105 and
costs.30 Although this case leaves much unsaid, it is instructive. The distance
between owner and slave when the bondsman was hired to a salt manufacturer
is apparent. Pollard, though she lived in Kanawha County, did not know when
her slave was killed or the circumstances of his demise.

The machinery and highly heated brine of a salt furnace provided many
inherent dangers for the unwary novice and the careless workman. Loss of
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balance around the grainer pan could result in a fall into the nearly boiling
water. One of Luke Willcox’s slaves, Mid, was so severely scalded and burned
in such an accident that he died.31 Boiler explosions around the steam engines
occurred frequently. In 1845 James Cowey and Company hired a slave named
Frank to haul coal from its mines to its salt furnace. When the company later
used the slave in tending a steam engine, the boiler exploded and killed him.
The owner, Edward C. Murphy, sued for the value of the slave plus damages,
contending that the boiler was defective. The accident occurred on Sunday,
when the slave was working contrary to law, as salt evaporation was not a house-
hold duty “of daily necessity.” After litigation lasting from 1848 to 1852, the
jury in the circuit superior court found for the plaintiff, awarding him $739.75
in damages plus interest from December 4, 1852.32

Wiley P. Woods, the hiring agent for the plaintiff, stated that he had
hired the slave, Frank, to Stuart Robinson of James Cowey and Company dur-
ing the Christmas holidays of 1844 for one hundred dollars a year. The agent
had never seen this particular slave before, and Frank was the last slave hired
by the agent in the Kanawha Salines that year. Woods understood that the
slave had been in Kanawha County only one year and had been employed by
George Warth as a car driver in his coal banks. Warth had refused to give the
agent the full price of the hire for the young man because he considered him
an inexperienced hand. In the lease to James Cowey and Company, Woods
secured no written contract but understood that Frank would be used as a
driver of a coal car. The agent described the slave as a young Negro of small
size, “rather below ordinary . . . delicate looking.” He estimated his value at
$500-550 in 1847.33

Edward Turnbull, a native of Great Britain and a “practical Engineer of
Locomotive & Stationary Engines,” managed James Cowey and Company
manufacturing operations from 1845 to 1848. He controlled all slave labor at
the furnace. Turnbull employed Frank at hauling coal, packing salt, and wheeling
salt, but he found him too weak to perform these tasks efficiently. The man-
ager then placed Frank on the steam engine as an operator, where the work
was lighter. He attended the steam engine until the boiler explosion. On Sun-
day morning, March 7, 1847, at four or five o’clock, the steam engine was
stopped because Frank’s slave partner, John, had boiled the boiler dry, melting
the lead rivets in the bottom. Turnbull worked from the time that the engine
stopped until one o’clock in the afternoon replacing the rivets. He then started
the engine again. Turnbull ran the engine for one hour before placing John on
duty, as it was his turn. (John and Frank had alternate six-hour shifts through a
twenty-four-hour period.) Turnbull remained with John for five minutes and
then left. Fifteen minutes after his departure, the boiler exploded. In the inter-
val before the explosion, John had left the scene, and Frank had entered the
engine house, where he was killed by the blast. The manager, upon hearing
the explosion, ran back to the site and saw Frank dead, but he did not find John
immediately. Turnbull testified that the slaves stayed in a cabin 100 feet from
the engine when not on duty but that the company did not confine them there.34
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The location of the salt industry on the Great Kanawha River, which
furnished so many advantages for transportation, was a mixed blessing for slave
owners. The westward-flowing Kanawha River furnished the bondsman an
avenue of escape to the free state of Ohio, and accidental drowning was an
ever-present threat, as the manufacturing center straddled the Kanawha River.
Ann and Martin P. Brooks hired a slave named Lewis to Hewitt, Ruffner, and
Company to be used as a blacksmith, kettle tender, or coal digger or in any
other work connected with salt manufacture. The company promised to use
Lewis in a “reasonable and moderate manner.” The Brooks family alleged that
the company forced the slave to board a steamboat to labor “without the knowl-
edge or consent of the owners.” After completing blacksmith work aboard the
Tuckahoe, Lewis became intoxicated, fell overboard, and drowned. His owners
sued the company. John Hays, a clerk of the steamboat, maintained that Lewis
was not on the boat when he became intoxicated and drowned. Upon being
cross-examined by the plaintiff’s counsel, Hays could not definitely establish
the departure of the slave from the boat, as thirty blacks, whom he could not
identify, were working around the steamer. This point determined the deci-
sion of the jury, which awarded the owners one thousand dollars in damages
for the full value of the slave.35

The overland flight of slaves from the saltworks to Ohio occurred fre-
quently. In 1827 Joel Shrewsbury surmised that a slave belonging to William
Brooks, Isaac, had received advice and provisions from a bondsman of James
Gilbert’s. Both slaves, he guessed, had fled to Ohio. He thought that two dis-
creet men could capture them if they spent enough money, but he warned that
“neither fools nor Misers will ever be able to get runaway Negroes in the cor-
rupted S[tate of] Ohio.” After the holiday season in 1834, there was a rash of
escapes. Judge Lewis Summers reported to his brother in January 1835 that
“there seems to be some restlessness among the slaves of the salt works, and I
thought more uneasiness in relation to that species of property than usual.”
Two slaves had fled from a Mr. Fitzhugh. “On the happening of this occur-
rence, he shipped all the residue of his slaves to Natches and the lower mar-
kets.” Moses M. Fuqua “lost three of his black boys,” but two were recovered
and “pretty efficient measures adopted for the recovery” of the other one. In
1844 Lewis Ruffner advertised the escape of Gatewood, “supposed to be 25 or
26 years old, about 5 feet 7 inches high, tolerably black, speaks gruff when
spoken to.” Gatewood had run away from Ruffner’s coal mine. “There is rea-
son to suppose that he is lurking about in the neighborhood, but may if not
soon taken up, make for Ohio.” A Monroe County, Virginia, resident advised
the law firm to which he was sending a slave to be sold to meet legal expenses
to lodge the bondsman “in jail for greater Security and that no notice Should
be given him as I think he will be disposed to run.”36

Salt maker John J. Cabell experienced much difficulty with one slave
who desired to secure his freedom by escaping to Ohio. Black Jack ran away
from the Cabell furnace to Ohio, but he was captured and placed in jail at
Point Pleasant. After paying seventy dollars in expenses to retake Jack from
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the Mason County jail, Cabell tried to sell him on the Ohio River, but no one
wanted to buy a slave who was likely to flee. On the first night of the journey
back to the Salines, Jack escaped again. He was soon captured a second time in
Ohio. After expending another eighty-five dollars, Cabell lodged Black Jack in
the Kanawha County jail, “awaiting an opportunity to Selling him to be car-
ried to New Orleans.”37

One slaveholder in Kanawha County protected his property from drown-
ing or escape by water by inserting a restrictive clause in lease agreements. Salt
producers who leased his slave promised “not [to] suffer s[ai]d Negro or go on
the river in any kind [of] Craft for employment.” Other slave owners were not
so cautious. Francis Thompson leased a slave girl for service on the steamboat
Daniel Webster.38 The steamboat, the primary vehicle of transportation of people
and goods other than salt, was a corrosive influence on the institution of slavery
at the Salines. Steamers frequently employed slaves as stewards and cooks.
Such slaves enjoyed a degree of freedom unavailable to laborers at salt fur-
naces. The steamboat transported ideas as well as merchandise. Contact with
“liberated” slaves who transferred knowledge of distant Ohio ports could erode
discipline. To fleeing slaves, boats furnished the possibility of quick mobility
that overland flight did not. The presence of steamboats provided another
motive for owners to keep their chattels away from river craft.39

The Great Kanawha that so advantageously carried the produce of the
Salines down its current brought an ascending, unwelcome visitor when the
steamship eased two-way intercourse with Ohio River towns. The unwelcome
visitor was Asiatic cholera, a dreaded scourge in the nineteenth century. Caused
by the bacterial toxin Vibrio chlolerae, the waterborne, infectious disease in-
flicted upon its victims violent diarrhea and spasmodic vomiting, muscular
cramps, dehydration (often cyanosis), and eventual collapse, and was a serious
threat to life. Its effects ranged from extreme illness to death within a few
hours or days.40

The first major epidemic of Asiatic cholera occurred in the United States
and in the Kanawha Salines in 1832. The disease was introduced into Atlantic
seaports and passed to the Ohio River via the Great Lakes and the Ohio Ca-
nal.41 Diary and manuscript accounts indicate that slaves were more affected
by the epidemic than white residents of the Salines. In October 1832 a Charles-
ton newspaper reported that three slaves had died of the disease. Joel Shrewsbury
reported the same three deaths at the same furnace. He had heard that three
steamboats had attempted to land with cholera victims at Charleston and that
municipal authorities had refused to permit them to stop. Commenting on the
presence of cholera in mid-November, John Cabell, salt maker and physician,
lamented the loss of one of his slaves and reported that the effect of the disease
was abating somewhat; the new cases appeared to be milder and many slaves
were recovering. At the end of the month he wrote that there had not been any
new cases for several days.42

In the summers of 1833 and 1834 cholera again arrived at the Salines. In
July 1833, Dr. Cabell, who would himself succumb to the disease in a later
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year, wrote to his wife in Lynchburg, Virginia, that “the people dying around
us everyday more or less with that fatal Epedimic the Cholera.” Business was
suspended at the saltworks and the towns along the Ohio. Over half of the salt
furnaces had stopped production because of the desertion of the labor force.
Cabell reported that five or six of his slaves, including his carriage driver, had
the disease. In the summer of 1834 the Kanawha Banner noted that cholera had
killed a number of Negroes at the Salines.43

The most serious epidemic of Asiatic cholera spread to Kanawha County
in 1849. This attack claimed an estimated three hundred lives in the county
between April and August 1849. During May, diarist and salt producer Luke
Willcox counted forty-five deaths in the Salines alone. Willcox departed for a
timely vacation at Blue Sulphur Springs on June 22, and in a seven-day interval
between his departure and his receipt of a letter from home, thirty people had
expired. In mid-July, Willcox estimated that approximately one hundred people
had died from cholera just in the Salines.44

During the 1849 epidemic, a clerk in the John R. Smith and Company
store in Malden kept a cholera death register in which he recorded all expira-
tions that occurred on the Great Kanawha from Elk River to the upper salt-
works, about a ten-mile stretch. He noted that the first phase of the scourge
began on May 1 at Tinkersville and lasted four weeks. Thirty-nine deaths re-
sulted. His register encompassed the second phase, which began on June 19
and ended on August 23 with the death of prominent salt manufacturer Levi
Welch. The clerk recorded the place of death, sometimes the victim’s name or
occupation, the victim’s race, whether the victim was an adult or a child, and
the sex of adults only. Including Charleston, seventy-eight people died, thirty-
one whites and forty-seven blacks. Excluding Charleston, where no salt was
made and sixteen whites and four blacks died, all other deaths occurred in the
salt manufacturing district. Of these fifty-eight deaths, fifteen of the victims
were white, and forty-three were slaves.45

The existence of cholera and its effects caused some litigation and adap-
tation of slave-hire agreements. On behalf of Zalinda L. Davis, agent John
McConihay hired a slave named Jack to Crockett Ingles, a salt maker, for the
year 1849. Ingles had agreed to return the slave to his owner in the event of a
cholera epidemic. When the disease struck the locality in the late spring of
1849, Ingles refused to surrender Jack. Jack contracted cholera and expired on
July 10. Upon this slave’s death, Ingles’s other hired slaves fled to their homes
in eastern Virginia. Jack’s owner successfully sued Ingles in the circuit court
because of noncompliance with the verbal agreement.46

After the 1849 outbreak, agreements for hire almost invariably contained
provisions for slave safety in case of a cholera epidemic. Martha Stone of Bedford
City, Virginia, hired out two slaves, Jim and John, for $325 for the year 1850
with a reservation: “It is further understood that if the cholera should reappear
in the salt works during the present year that Mrs. Stone or her agent has
permission to withdraw the said negroes deducting for the time so lost at the
rate of $325 a year.” Warth and English promised to remove a hired slave
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“should the cholera prevail,” with the owner’s deducting the time lost from the
rent.47

In the summer of 1850 Asiatic cholera again struck the Salines. During
ten days ending on July 5, a salt maker recorded that eighteen people died in
the Salines. The clerk who kept the 1849 register kept an identical tabulation
in 1850. Between June 27 and September 2 he recorded sixteen deaths, all in
the Salines: five white males and eleven slaves, of which eight were men and
three were women. Again slaves suffered more. During the brief visitation,
Green, a slave belonging to a John Potter of Franklin County, Virginia, ran
away to his home from the salt firm of Warth and English. Advising the owner
to retain Green because of the possibility of future flight to Ohio, the firm
minimized the alarm of disease as a motive by asserting that the runaway “only
used it as a pretext to make a call on his old friends in Franklin.”48

In all phases of slave life on the Kanawha, what the individual slave thought
is difficult to determine. We can consider only acts. No words have survived.
Correspondence among the salt makers reveals that owned and hired slaves
from piedmont Virginia who did not wish to move from their homes to the
Kanawha resisted however they could. In 1819, when Harry Heth marched a
coffle from Manchester under the care of an overseer to hire to salt makers,
three slaves escaped their chains in Buckingham County.49 Resistance was usu-
ally more subtle. William Dickinson warned his partner, who in 1814 was gath-
ering hired slaves in Franklin County for the trek to the Kanawha, that his
father was willing to lease two “if they are Wiling to go, but they don’t seem
quite Wiling to go, but perhaps you could influence them.” Having difficulty
convincing another group that he had hired from William Terry, Shrewsbury
commented that they “were very loath to go but have had no trouble with
them.” In 1820 Dickinson wanted to send more of his slaves to the Kanawha,
but he had to arrange to overpower one slave who objected. The owner ob-
served, “Jim & Will concluded to frustrate the design & seem to fein them
sick, first one & then the other—& Will has hinted that [he] would not go. I
have had pr hand Cuffs made & shall put Will & Washington together.”
Dickinson and Shrewsbury always had an overseer with owned or hired slaves
when they traveled westward from the piedmont, but when hired slaves were
to return at the end of their hire periods to Franklin or Bedford Counties, the
firm often allowed them to travel unaccompanied. At Christmas in 1819
Shrewsbury sent Tom, Spencer, and Abram home with a pass and expense
money. “As they are sensible negroes & desireous to get home,” Shrewsbury
wrote, he “thought it not necessary to be at the expense of hiring a hand to go
with them.”50

A subtle system of control imposed discipline upon the slaves in the
Kanawha salt industry. Most tasks, including skilled ones, could be routinized,
thus minimizing management costs and establishing a common discipline. Goals
for production of coal, barrels, and packed barrels were easily set. Slaves in
positions requiring skill and attention, such as kettle tenders and machine op-
erators, worked on a time basis.
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If slaves met measured work requirements, they enjoyed considerable
freedom to roam at large, although the task size restricted this possibility to
some degree. Owners and managers tendered incentives to encourage produc-
tion. Payments for Sunday and holiday work caused slaves to endure continu-
ous daily labor. Deferring payment until year’s end discouraged misbehavior
and flight because the slave had accumulated something of value that was pos-
sessed by the manager and subject to his whim. A recalcitrant slave who re-
fused to meet production goals could be employed in a wet room in the coal
mine and subjected to the ridicule of fellow workers. Salt makers fostered a
sense of pride and rivalry among the workforce of the different furnaces. Vet-
eran salt manufacturer Henry H. Wood observed that overestimation of fur-
nace output was quite common, “particularly by the hands,” because they try
“to excel other furnaces and to gain reputation.”51

The goals of production had priority over the interests of the slave. At
most furnaces, a superintendent or manager oversaw operations. Because as-
sessments of his performance were based on production and efficiency, his
primary concern was probably not the condition of the labor force unless out-
put was inhibited. Economic self-interest did encourage kindness to the extent
that the protection of property required the humane treatment of personally
owned slaves. If a hired slave was abused physically or died from an industrial
accident, the result would be nonrenewal of the lease, or the operator might
entertain the fear of an unsavory reputation and perhaps a costly legal contro-
versy with a distant owner.52

The food and clothing of Kanawha slaves were substantial and plentiful.
The nature of the work required ample food and durable apparel, and the
presence of company stores that regularly traded with Cincinnati ensured the
availability of a variety of articles. Clothing, “stout and coarse, suitable for
rough work,” consisted of summer cloth (pants and shirt), a blanket, one hat,
one winter coat and pants, one winter shirt, socks, and three to six pairs of
shoes and tacks. Bacon and cornbread were the basic dietary staples, but flour,
sugar, coffee, molasses, and vegetables accompanied this fare. Tea and rice
were available to the sick. Allotments of food to slaves were not strict. Thomas
Friend, operator of two furnaces, tried to give his slaves what they would eat,
as “they labored very hard,” although he restricted meat to one and one-fourth
pounds of side bacon and one and a half pounds of shoulder per day to each
slave.53

With the extensive employment of hired slaves, the salt producers sepa-
rated the owners from their chattel. The producer gained the supervision of
the bondsmen away from the knowledge and watchful eyes of the owners.
Distance would tend to result in the harsher use of the bondsmen. This sepa-
ration, especially apparent with slaves from eastern Virginia, is revealed by
comments entered in the inventories of estates in Franklin County. Before his
death, Samuel Patterson leased a slave to a salt company. The appraisers of his
estate reported that the “Negro Man Amos (Known to us but now in Kanawha
County, Va if in health)” was worth nine hundred dollars. The administrators
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of another estate represented “that Man Squire who is now hired at the Kanawha
that from the best information that we have we suppose to be worth” four
hundred dollars.54

Although salt makers hired slave labor for skilled and unskilled jobs in
their factories, most leased bondsmen were employed in the unskilled, danger-
ous occupations of coal mining and wheeling. Most labor at a furnace worked
in the mine. The manufacturers often owned the skilled slaves, and the higher
rents paid for skilled workmen ensured their usage at their trades. Thomas
Friend, who owned a higher percentage of his hands than was usual, rented
from five to fifteen slaves per year from 1846 to 1850. He employed every
leased slave in his coal mine as a digger or wheeler.55

Bailors and bailees recognized that higher rents prevailed for slaves em-
ployed in the salt industry of the Kanawha Valley than elsewhere in the upper
South because of the increased possibility of accident or escape to Ohio. In a
court case heard by the Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia in the 1830s, the
fact that slaves taken from Wood County to the Kanawha Salines hired for
rates that were 25 to 30 percent higher than elsewhere was introduced as evi-
dence. In 1838 slaves hiring for $90 per year in eastern Virginia could be leased
for $150 in Kanawha County. A resident of Louisa County wrote a friend, a
salt maker who had inquired about the slave market, that “in relation to hire
likely men can be had at $90 & from that downwards but I discover the people
of this country don’t like to hire to the Kanawha people, it is a long distance &
near the state of Ohio.” Some Kanawha petitioners to the Virginia General
Assembly blamed the high lease prices on the activity of Ohio abolitionists.56

Rentals varied greatly with the knowledge and skill of the individual slave
in the salt business. Experienced and skilled workmen hired at higher rates
than common labor. Age, sex, and physical condition would affect a slave’s
rental value. A first-rate boss kettle tender or blacksmith would lease for double
the amount paid for a common laborer, such as a coal hauler, salt packer, salt
lifter, or salt wheeler. A good coal digger would bring a premium of twenty-
five dollars over the rent of a common laborer.57

Hire rents for slaves, although they were on an upward trend through-
out the antebellum period, fluctuated widely and were quite sensitive to the
economic condition of the Kanawha salt industry. In 1937 Thomas Senior
Berry conducted an important, comprehensive study of commodity prices in
the antebellum Cincinnati market. Basing his findings on sources then avail-
able, Berry plotted salt prices in that emporium and related these to Kanawha
production. Despite the limitations of his sources that marred his narrative
about the development of the Kanawha salt industry, Berry’s production fig-
ures and price charts are accurate. He charted the monthly purchasing power
of Kanawha salt using general prices in the Cincinnati market from 1816 to
1860. Chart 4.1 shows the correlation of the hire rates of common slave labor
with the annual purchasing power of Kanawha salt in the Cincinnati market
for the period 1844–1854. This time period is the only extensive span for which
sufficient slave-hire data exist. It should be emphasized that the slaves were
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Chart 4.1. Relationship of Average Annual Hire Rates for Common Slave La-
bor in the Kanawha Salt Industry to the Annual Purchasing Power of Kanawha
Salt in the Cincinnati Market, 1844–1854

Sources: Berry, Western Prices, chart 27, p. 304; Hale, “Salt,” 303; deposition of Robert
Blaine, [n.d.], in Early v. Friend (1857), 1: 222–23; deposition of John N. Clarkson,
Feb. 28, 1855, in Thomas R. Friend v. William J. Stephens, Abraham Williams, et al.,
CSC, MCCR (1853). Luke Willcox Diary, Jan. 1, 11, and 16, 1844, vol. 1, p. 1; Jan. 1,
1845, vol. 1, p. 17; Dec. 5 and 30, 1847, vol. 1, pp. 54[64]–55[65]; Dec. 25 and 26,
1848, vol. 2, p. 10; Dec. 31, 1849, vol. 2, p. 25; Dec. 31, 1851, vol. 2, p. 55; Dec. 27,
1853, vol. 3, p. 5.
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hired for common, not skilled, labor. Also, the changes in purchasing power of
salt were not as precipitous in fact as on Berry’s chart. The abrupt changes are
caused by the use of annual percentages.

A close correlation existed between common slave hire prices and the
annual purchasing power of Kanawha salt in the Queen City market. This
correlation would be even closer if the rent for each year were cast in the
preceding year, when the contracts of hire were actually consummated. For
example, the rate for the year 1847 could be placed in December 1846, elimi-
nating the lag. The diverse factors affecting salt production are ignored here,
although total production affected the annual purchasing power of the com-
modity. High production begot lower purchasing power, and low production
produced higher purchasing power, which in turn affected rents. This is not to
suggest that the purchasing power of salt was the sole influence on hire prices.
Undoubtedly the cholera epidemic of 1849 had some impact on hire rates for
1850.

Between 1850 and 1860 the salt industry of the Great Kanawha Valley
suffered a severe decline unrelated to the labor system. Only nine salt manu-
facturing establishments existed in 1860. The surviving companies employed
only an average of 285 male and 10 female hands in a month of operation.
Annual salt production was approximately a third of what it had been a decade
before. While Kanawha County’s white population increased between 1850
and 1860, to become second only to that of Ohio County in the area of present-
day West Virginia, the slave population dropped dramatically because of the
demise of the salt industry.58 The total slave population decreased by 30 per-
cent, and the male and female slave populations decreased by 35 percent and
23 percent, respectively.

Contemporary salt manufacturers believed that slave labor was superior
for their industrial needs because of cheapness, supply, and stability. Salt mak-
ers who petitioned the Virginia General Assembly asserted, “Slave labor is
usually cheaper than free and for the business in which we are engaged it is
believed to be the best.”59 A comparison of costs of hired common slave labor
and free white labor in the period from 1850 to 1854 (see table 4.1) reveals that
slave labor was cheaper than free white, and yet free labor was actually scarce.
The operation of the hire system eliminated questions about the cost of rear-
ing slaves and care for the infirm and elderly. The average hire for common
slave labor for the period, a time of high rents, was $170 per year. In 1855 John
N. Clarkson estimated that board, clothes, taxes, and medical treatment for
each leased slave cost a bailee approximately a hundred dollars annually above
the rental cost. The major extra cost was board, but furnace operators custom-
arily furnished board to white laborers as they did for slave labor. The slave
lease always provided for the rental payment at the end of the hire period. This
was, in fact, the loan of capital and labor for a one-year term. The employment
of free labor could not be executed with this advantage, and therefore a 6 per-
cent interest rate (a low estimate of the cost of money) on the monthly wage
must be charged to free labor in calculating costs. Management costs would be
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about the same. John J. Cabell reported to his son-in-law in 1832 that the few
white hands that he had hired required more supervision than did all his slaves.
On the Kanawha, it was commonly assumed that a salt furnace operated at
least three hundred days annually. In 1854 Richard C.M. Lovell deposed that
the cost of free labor in the Kanawha Salines was $1.50-$2.00 per day.60 Taking
the lower figure results in a yearly wage of a free white laborer of $450. One
can readily see that hired common slave labor was cheaper than free labor. If
one assumed the free labor to be skilled, the hire of the common slave can be
doubled, as in the case of a boss kettle tender, and a marked differentiation
remains. The wage of the free laborer could be reduced to one-half, and the
result is the same.

Kanawha salt makers preferred to lease slaves because they could maintain
lower costs and flexibility. Less capital could be invested in human property,
and manufacturers could adjust their labor needs annually. The payment of
rents in December came at a convenient time since the greatest salt sales oc-
curred in autumn, before the slaughtering season. In 1833 John J. Cabell wrote
that it was an established rule on the Great Kanawha River that if an able-
bodied young male slave could be hired at 20 percent or less of his value per
year, then that slave would be cheaper to lease than to purchase.61 Incompetent
workmen could be returned on the basis of misrepresentation, or they could
be allowed to find other bailees at the expiration of the lease term. Loss in case
of accident could be minimized by leasing slaves because one’s own property
was not being killed or maimed. The only threat was a lawsuit, but an adverse
result could be defeated on appeal, delayed, or avoided when the plaintiff re-
sided in a distant locality.

In light of recent debates of historians concerning the question of the
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economic efficiency and function of slave labor, the Kanawha salt industry
provides an interesting case. Historians usually inquire about the alternative
uses of free white or slave labor, a choice not confronted by western Virginia
entrepreneurs. In the Salines there never was enough free labor available for
employment in all phases of the salt industry. The real choice was between no
or insufficient labor and slave labor, and the manufacturers did not hesitate to
make the necessary decision. The evidence indicates that Kanawha producers
preferred slave labor. There is no sign of ethical opposition or question in the
matter. Transient free labor could not be depended upon for salt production.
Slave workmanship was adequate in an enterprise where most jobs were rou-
tine. Slaves learned to tend kettles, cooper, dig coal, haul and pack salt, load
boats, and drive teams as well as free labor. Incentive was not a problem; subtle
rewards were provided and production was easily measurable. What was most
needed at a salt furnace was a stable supply of workmen, and slaves fulfilled the
requirement. In a court case in Mason County in 1853, expert testimony on
the cost of erection and operation of salt furnaces was required to settle a con-
troversy between the developers of the West Columbia saltworks. Kanawha
salt makers consistently deposed that the Kanawha manufacturing establish-
ments operated more cheaply than did those on the Ohio River because of the
lower cost and stability of the slave labor supply.62 The West Columbia salt-
works could not retain free white labor for long periods, as it hired workers by
the day or by the month.63

Slavery in the Great Kanawha Valley salt industry differed greatly from
the institution that prevailed in agricultural or urban situations in the Old South.
This microcosmic investigation does not lend itself to extensive, broad gener-
alizations about the larger questions of political economy in the Old South.
After all, Kanawha slavery at its peak involved only a few thousand slaves and a
few hundred whites, whereas southern slavery as a whole affected millions. On
the eve of the Civil War, Virginia’s slave population approached a half million.
The extractive salt business, depending upon surplus Virginia chattels for its
labor and having its product’s major market on the Ohio River and its south-
ern and mid-western tributaries, was an exceptional phenomenon resting upon
the effective functioning of a hire system. The Kanawha salt industry’s rise and
fall, essentially unrelated to its labor system, were induced by the market. The
institution of slavery did not restrict the entry of entrepreneurs, nor did it
inhibit technological progress. The salt enterprise could not have expanded or
flourished as it did without slave labor and the hire system. The Kanawha
system displayed a remarkable ability to meet the industrial requirements of
salt manufacturers. Their success in harnessing the institution for their use
suggests what might have occurred in southern Appalachian extractive indus-
tries had slavery continued to exist.
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SAM WILLIAMS, FORGEMAN

The Life of an Industrial Slave
at Buffalo Forge, Virginia

CHARLES B. DEW

William Weaver was the leading ironmaster in Rockbridge County, and per-
haps in the entire Valley of Virginia, when he died at his home at Buffalo Forge
in March 1863. During his eighty-three years he had built up a legendary
fortune that, at the time of his death, included his iron-making facilities and
rich farmlands centered at Buffalo Forge and over twenty thousand additional
acres of land scattered across three western Virginia counties. His accumu-
lated force of seventy slaves (twenty-six men, fourteen women, and thirty chil-
dren) made him the largest slave owner in the county.l The inventory of his
estate provided a detailed listing of his personal property, his “goods and chat-
tels” in the language of the law, and, along with entries for items like feather
beds, rocking chairs, farm implements, and draft animals, a careful enumera-
tion and appraisal of his slave holdings.2 The lengthy list evaluating Weaver’s
slaves included the following brief notations:

One male slave Sam Williams $2,800.00
One male slave Sam Williams Senior 0 000.00
One female slave Sally 500.00
One female slave Nancy 1,500.00
One female slave Lydia 2,000.00
One female slave Caroline and two children 2,500.00
Two female slaves Mary Caroline and Julia 600.00

These entries constituted one of the rare instances when the name of Sam
Williams and the names of his father, Sam Williams Sr.; his mother, Sally; his
wife, Nancy; two of their children, Lydia and Caroline; and two of their grand-
children, Mary Caroline and Julia, appeared on a legal document. And it is
symbolic of the status of slaves as property that two of Sam and Nancy Williams’s
grandchildren, Caroline’s “two children” in the appraisal, were not even iden-
tified by name on this occasion. The public record, in short, is sparse indeed
on the life of Sam Williams and his family.

As might be expected, Sam Williams did not leave letters, diaries, jour-



SAM WILLIAMS, FORGEMAN 75

nals, or other manuscript materials behind either, the kind of documentary
evidence that Weaver and his family left in abundance. Like most slaves in the
American South, Sam Williams never learned to read or write; the closest thing
we have to a document written by him is an “X” he made over his name on a
work contract he entered into in 1867.3 No member of the Williams family, as
far as we know, ever talked to an interviewer from the Federal Writers’ Project
or from Fisk or Southern University when their invaluable oral histories of
slavery were being compiled in the 1920s and 1930s.4 Yet it is possible to dis-
cover a great deal about Sam Williams and his family, and they are, on many
grounds, eminently worth knowing. They deserve our attention not only be-
cause they were people caught up in the American system of human bondage
and thus illustrate something of the nature of the antebellum South’s most
significant institution. They also warrant our best efforts at understanding
because, if we look carefully, we can catch at least a glimpse of them as men
and women who lived out human lives despite the confines and cruelties of
their enslavement. Their love and affection, their joys and sorrows, their
times of trial and moments of triumph come through to us, imperfectly to be
sure, but visibly nonetheless, in spite of their inability to speak to us through

William Weaver, ca. 1860. (Author’s collection)
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traditional historical sources. This essay will attempt, in some small measure,
to speak for them.

William Weaver became an ironmaster, a slave owner, and a Virginian
almost by accident. He was born in 1781 on a farm near Philadelphia, and he
spent most of his first forty or so years in and around that city, where he devel-
oped a series of successful business enterprises. As a merchant, miller, and
textile manufacturer, Weaver began accumulating enough surplus capital to
look elsewhere for profitable investments, and the War of 1812 seemed to
create some excellent prospects in the Valley of Virginia.5 The brisk wartime
demand for iron prompted him to form a partnership in 1814 with Thomas
Mayburry, another Philadelphia merchant, who had several years’ experience
in the Pennsylvania and Maryland iron business. The firm of Mayburry and
Weaver purchased two iron properties in the Valley in the summer of 1814:
Union Forge, which Weaver later renamed Buffalo Forge, located on Buffalo
Creek some nine miles south of Lexington in Rockbridge County, Virginia;
and Etna and Retreat Furnaces, two charcoal blast furnaces approximately eigh-
teen miles southwest of Union Forge in neighboring Botetourt County. Re-
treat Furnace was abandoned rather quickly, but the firm launched extensive
rebuilding projects at Etna Furnace and Union Forge and soon had both prop-
erties in full operation.7

Weaver did not move to Virginia immediately, however. Mayburry came
down to manage the ironworks and supervise renovations at both installations,
but Weaver remained in Philadelphia to raise needed capital and to look after
his business interests there. Over the next few years, Weaver sank close to
forty thousand dollars into the Virginia iron-making venture.8 Among the more
valuable acquisitions made with this money during the early years of Mayburry
and Weaver’s partnership was a growing force of slaves at Etna Furnace and
Union Forge.

The first slaves acquired by the firm were purchased in the fall of 1815.
The seller was John S. Wilson, one of the Virginia ironmasters from whom
Weaver and Mayburry had bought their furnaces and forge the previous year.
Wilson had a number of slaves he wished to dispose of, and Mayburry wanted
and needed those hands. In late October 1815, Wilson journeyed north to
Philadelphia, and there he and Weaver completed the deal. Weaver paid $3,200
for eleven slaves, divided into two very distinct groups. The first parcel con-
sisted of an ironworker named Tooler; his wife, Rebecca; and her four chil-
dren, all boys: Bill, seventeen; Robert, seven; Tooler, four; and Joe, two. The
father and the oldest son, Bill, promised an immediate return to the firm as
their services would be available without delay. It would be several years before
Robert, Tooler Junior, and Joe could enter the workforce, but as young males,
there was a strong likelihood that they might also be productive furnace or
forge hands at some future point.

The second group of slaves that Weaver bought from Wilson, however,
included no males. It consisted of a slave woman named Mary and her four
daughters: Sally, thirteen; Amey, ten; Louisa, six; and Georgianna, two.9 In
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this instance, Weaver appears to have been looking toward a different sort of
investment. He was, in effect, seeking to ensure that his slave force could be
built up by natural increase. Clearly, Mary seems to have been, in Weaver’s
eyes, a “breeding woman.”10 The sale papers contain no mention of her hus-
band, and nothing indicates that he was ever acquired by Weaver or Mayburry.
He may have lived near Etna Furnace or Union Forge, so the sale of his wife
and daughters to Weaver might not have separated the family. Mary had sev-
eral more children after Wilson sold her, so there is a strong possibility that
her husband lived close by. One thing is certain, however: in obtaining Mary
and her daughters, Weaver made an investment that was to pay rich dividends.
In the years that lay ahead, this slave family would play a monumental role in
shaping the fortunes of Weaver’s iron-making venture in Virginia.

Mary and her children settled at Etna Furnace. There, probably in 1817
when she was fifteen years old, Sally, Mary’s oldest daughter, married a man
named Sam Williams, one of the skilled slave ironworkers that Weaver and
Mayburry had added to their labor force. Sam and Sally Williams had their
first child, a girl, in 1817, and they named her Mary, undoubtedly for her
grandmother. Three years later, Sally gave birth to another child, a boy this
time, and she and her husband named their new baby after his father, Sam
Williams.11

Very little is known about Sam Williams Sr. because most of the records
dealing with Weaver’s early iron-making activities in Virginia have not sur-
vived. According to a slave register compiled at Buffalo Forge during the Civil
War, Sally’s husband was born in 1795, but that date was probably a rough
approximation.12 The appraisal of him at the time of Weaver’s death in 1863,
“no value,” suggests that he was physically or mentally incapacitated and un-
able to perform useful work at age sixty-eight or so, an assumption reinforced
by the fact that other slave men of similar age had values of two hundred to
three hundred dollars beside their names on the 1863 estate inventory. Other
fragmentary evidence indicates the cause of his disability. In 1832 when one of
Weaver’s managers was in desperate need of a skilled worker to fill in for a sick
hand, he spoke to Sam about taking a turn at the forge. Sam refused; “He
objects [because of] . . . his eyes,” the manager told Weaver.13 Ironworkers,
black and white, were in constant danger of eye injuries from sparks and flying
bits of red-hot metal, and Sam Williams Sr. seems to have suffered such an
injury, or perhaps a series of them. Clearly, his eyes were badly damaged while
he was still a relatively young man; he would have been in his middle or late
thirties in 1832 and, if sound, still in his most productive years as a “prime
hand.” He may well have been blind by 1863, when the county appraisers
examined, itemized, and evaluated “the goods and chattels of William Weaver
deceased” and entered a string of zeroes after the name Sam Williams Senior

Toward the end of 1823, when Sam and Sally Williams’s son, Sam, was
three years old, Weaver took up residence at Union Forge, due to the floun-
dering financial condition of his iron-making enterprise there. Despite the
substantial amount of capital that he had poured into the blast furnace and
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forge operations since 1814, almost forty thousand dollars, Mayburry and
Weaver had still not returned a profit on their investment.14 Not long after his
arrival at the forge, he renamed the property after the creek that supplied wa-
terpower to the works. The name Union Forge had not brought much luck to
the two Yankees who made up the firm of Mayburry and Weaver. Perhaps
Buffalo Forge would do better.

A year working with Mayburry on-site apparently convinced Weaver of
something he had suspected for some time—that his partner was incompetent.
As a result, early in 1824 Weaver moved to dissolve their partnership and to
divide the assets of the firm.15 Prominent among these assets were the “Wilson
negroes,” the name that Mayburry and Weaver regularly used to describe the
first slaves bought by the partnership in 1815. Their argument over the own-
ership of the “Wilson negroes”—Tooler and his wife and children; Mary and
her children (including Sally Williams) and grandchildren (including Sam
Williams Jr.) soon brought to light an interesting fact, one that revealed a
great deal about Weaver and his business practices. When Weaver purchased
these slaves from John Wilson in 1815, he took title to them in his own name,
not in the name of the firm of Mayburry and Weaver. He had done this, he
assured Wilson at the time, only because he feared that Mayburry “might have
some religious scruples” about owning slaves.16 Mayburry did not discover
Weaver’s delicate concern for the health of his soul until Weaver moved to
dissolve their association in 1824, nine years later, and demanded that Mayburry
surrender the entire Wilson slave force. Mayburry, who was living at Etna
Furnace, where a number of these slaves worked, refused to do so on the quite
reasonable grounds that Weaver had duped him in the original transaction.
Their clash over these slaves was one of a series of heated disputes between the
two men that led to Weaver’s filing suit against Mayburry and throwing the
entire matter into the tortuously slow machinery of the Virginia chancery
courts.17 Eleven years passed before the two former partners finally reached an
out-of-court settlement. That settlement brought with it the seeds of bitter
anguish for many of the slaves involved.

In their article of agreement signed on August 3, 1836, Weaver and
Mayburry agreed to a division of the “Wilson negroes.” On January 1, 1837,
Mayburry was to turn over to Weaver the bulk of these slaves still in his pos-
session. Because Weaver already had Tooler and his wife and children at Buf-
falo Forge, that family remained intact under Weaver’s ownership. Mary’s family
was not so fortunate, however. Mayburry still had Mary and her children and
grandchildren at Etna Furnace, and his share of the human assets of the firm
was to include Mary and three of her younger children. But her two older
daughters, Sally Williams and Louisa, along with their children, were to pass
into Weaver’s possession.18

The division took place as scheduled at the beginning of 1837. Mayburry
surrendered Sally and Louisa and their children to Weaver at Buffalo Forge;
he retained, as their agreement stipulated, Mary and John, Hamilton, and Ellen,
who he took with him when he moved on to a new iron-making venture in
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northern Rockbridge County.19 As a result, Mary’s family was broken in the
name of fairness and compromise. But subsequent events were to show that
she and the children who went with her were not forgotten by those who were
left at Buffalo Forge early in 1837.

Sam Williams would turn seventeen sometime during that year, and this
birthday would occur at a new home under a new master. But he could take
some comfort from the knowledge that his immediate family was with him.
Sam Williams Sr. had been under Weaver’s control for a number of years be-
fore 1837, and his mother Sally had, of course, come to Weaver in the division,
along with young Sam’s brothers and sisters. The family had grown substan-
tially and now included at least four children: Sam; his older sister, Mary; a
younger sister, Elizabeth, born in 1825; and a younger brother, Washington,
born in 1827. The birthplace of Sally’s sons was indicated clearly in the Buffalo
Forge record as they entered Weaver’s workforce: they were listed as “Sam
Etna” and “Washington Etna.”20 Sam, at least, knew who he was and resented
this place name as his own. It would take him a long time, but he would get his
name back.

To be precise, it took sixteen years. On a page in the Buffalo Forge led-
gers covering his work for the year 1853, his name appears two ways: as “Samuel
Etna” and as “Sam Williams.”21 The most logical explanation for the change is
that Sam himself wanted it made. By the 1850s he was important enough to
Weaver’s operations to get his way. From this point on, as far as the records
were concerned, he was “Sam Williams” at Buffalo Forge; his father was “Sam
Williams Senior.”22

Since the early Etna Furnace records have not survived, there is no way
to trace young Sam Williams’s life before his arrival at Buffalo Forge in 1837.
If his youth was spent like that of most slave boys who grew up at iron-making
facilities in the South, he probably had no regular duties until he reached age
eight or so, when he would have been expected to assume some light chores,
such as helping to look after the younger slave children during the day. By age
twelve or fourteen, he would have entered the regular workforce, perhaps as a
furnace boy doing odd jobs or as a leaf raker at the charcoal pits.23 The elder
Sam Williams’s failing eyesight probably prevented him from training his teen-
age son in his iron-working skills, a method of transmitting knowledge and
expertise that occurred frequently at Virginia furnaces and forges in the nine-
teenth century.24 He may have been untrained when he arrived at Buffalo Forge
as a sixteen-year-old youth on New Year’s Day, 1837, but William Weaver
could clearly see that Sam Williams’s boy had the potential for forge work.

His assets were several. First of all, he came from a family that produced
good mechanics. Intelligent southern iron men looking for slave recruits for
critical furnace and forge jobs paid close attention to things like heredity, and
Weaver was certainly no fool when it came to the iron business. He seemed to
feel about black ironworkers the same way he felt about white ironmasters.
You had to have “the proper head for it,” Weaver once instructed his nephew.
“Training alone will not [do] as nature must do something, in order to make a
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good Iron Master.”25 Nature seemed to have done a great deal for Sam Wil-
liams. He had the necessary size and strength; he stood five feet ten inches tall
when he achieved his full stature, which made him one of the tallest slave
hands at Buffalo Forge. And his color suggested to white southerners of that
place and time that he was likely to possess intelligence and good judgment as
well. A physical description of him drawn up during the Civil War listed his
color as “yellow.”26 He had, at some point in his ancestry, a strong admixture of
white blood.

After a year in which the only work recorded for him at Buffalo Forge
consisted of field labor with the farmhands, Sam entered the forge in 1838 at
the age of eighteen.27 Weaver undoubtedly had Sam go down to the forge and
watch the black refiners and hammermen at their jobs before deciding whether
he wanted to train as a forgeman, as was Weaver’s usual practice with potential
ironworker recruits.28 It was far better to have a willing apprentice than a surly,
rebellious underhand who would turn out poor-quality work, try to escape, or
perhaps sabotage the forge machinery. As Sam walked into the stone forge
building that stood alongside Buffalo Creek, he would have seen an impres-
sive, even awesome, sight: charcoal fires burning at white heat; slave refiners
and their helpers working bars of pig iron in those fires until the iron turned
into a ball of glowing, pasty metal, then slinging this semimolten mass of iron
onto their anvils, where they pounded and shaped it under the rhythmic blows
of their huge, water-powered hammers. Through successive reheatings and
poundings, Weaver’s refiners removed enough of the impurities in the pig iron
to work it into something called an “anchony.” Turning out high-quality
anchonies was the most important single job in the forge, and that was what
Weaver wanted Sam Williams to do.29

Weaver himself described an anchony in a court deposition he gave in
1840: It was a piece of malleable iron about six inches square weighing be-
tween 80 and 150 pounds, “with a blade of iron about the length of my cane,”
Weaver noted (his cane measured thirty-two inches); “one end of the blade has
what is called the tail end, which contains iron enough generally to make a
shovel mould,” he added.30 Producing this rather strange-looking item was no
easy task. The key point in the refining process was exactly when the pig iron
heating in the refinery fire had reached just the right temperature and consis-
tency for pounding and shaping on the anvil block. Bringing the pig iron “to
nature,” as this was called, was the most difficult forge skill to learn, and it
could be acquired only by many months of apprenticeship to a master refiner.31

If Sam Williams decided that he wanted to follow in his father’s footsteps and
became a refiner, he would have to start as an underhand at the fires of men
like Phill Easton, John Baxter, or the Hunt brothers, “Harry and Billy,” all of
whom were skilled slave refinery hands at Buffalo Forge in the late 1830s.32

Pounding out anchonies was the most critical part of the forge opera-
tion, but it was only the first half of the manufacturing process. The final stage
came when a second group of operatives, the hammermen, reheated the
anchonies and worked them at another forge called a chaffery. The hammermen
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produced iron bars of various standardized shapes, sizes, and lengths—“mer-
chant bars,” in the language of the iron trade—which would be shipped to
market and sold. Merchant bars kept the wheels of agriculture turning. Black-
smiths hammered them into the things needed on (or off) the farm: horse and
mule shoes, wagon tires, nails, tools, agricultural implements, and the like.33

The slave hammermen at Buffalo Forge at the time of Sam Williams’s ar-
rival—Tooler, the son of the ironworker of the same name and one of the
original “Wilson negroes”; his brother Bob, another “Wilson negro”; and
Garland Thompson—were, like the refiners, prize hands worth a substantial
premium on the open market.34

Weaver was well aware of their value to him. Without his forge and the
slaves who ran it, William Weaver would have been just another valley farmer,
a prosperous one, to be sure, but a farmer nonetheless. There would have been
nothing wrong with that, of course. But Buffalo Forge and his skilled crew of
slave hands made him much more. They made him an ironmaster, a person of
premier importance in the local economy and someone to be reckoned with,
politically and socially, in the Valley. “Some of my Friends in Phila. wondered
why I did not reside amongst them,” he confided to a friend in Lexington in
1848. “I replied—At home I was but a small person—but that I was some-
body—The people knew me—and in crowded Phila. I would be nobody.”35

Weaver was much more than “a small person” in Rockbridge County, and he
knew well where the source of his prestige lay. It lay in that stone forge build-
ing that stood beside Buffalo Creek, in the massive hammers and charcoal fires
and in the black men who worked them so skillfully.

To retain his status, and the wealth that went with it, Weaver had to train
and hold good slave artisans and replace those hands who were growing too
old, like Billy Hunt, or were too infirm, like Sam Williams Sr., to work. One
suspects that when young Sam Williams decided that he wanted to be a
forgeman, William Weaver could not have been happier.

The advantage of doing forge work would not have been unknown to
Sam Williams. In making himself indispensable to Weaver’s iron-making op-
erations, he would be gaining a significant amount of influence over his own
fate. There was no sure guarantee against punishment or sale; like all southern
masters, Weaver could do pretty much what he wished in the way of punish-
ment, and if he should fall deeply into debt or die suddenly, his slave force
could be dispersed either by sale or by the division of his estate. Barring that
sort of catastrophe, however, Sam would be in a much stronger bargaining
position as a skilled forge hand than in any other occupation at Buffalo Forge.
If he trained as a refiner and showed an aptitude for the work, he would have
talents that his owner would need and even be willing to pay him for.

Compensation for extra work was almost a universal feature of the labor
system at slave-manned furnaces and forges in the Old South, and Buffalo
Forge was no exception. Slaves had a daily or weekly task to accomplish, but
they were paid for anything they turned out over and above that amount—
“overwork,” it was called.36 The task for refiners at Weaver’s forge and every-



82 CHARLES B. DEW

where else in the Valley was a ton and a half of anchonies per week (the quota
required of hammermen was a “journey” of 560 pounds of bar iron per day).37

These amounts had been the customary tasks for years, and old traditions like
this were hard to change. Slaves as well as masters knew what the tasks were,
and any attempt by ironmasters to increase work quotas or to abolish compen-
sation for overwork entirely would have been a very risky venture. It did not
take much, for instance, to break a hammer “helve,” the huge wooden beams
that supported the five hundred– to six hundred–pound cast-iron hammer-
heads in the forge. And every time a helve broke, the forge had to shut down
for at least a day or two for repairs. Sabotage of this sort would be relatively
simple to accomplish. It was this sort of unspoken threat that gave slave
forgemen considerable protection against an increase in their tasks and that
helped them to preserve their right to earn compensation for themselves.

Payment for overwork came in several forms, and the option lay with the
slave. The slaves at Buffalo Forge could take it in cash; they could take it in
credit at Weaver’s store and draw against it for items that they wished to buy;
they could use their overwork to secure time off from their regular duties; and
finally, if Weaver permitted, they could attempt to purchase their own free-
dom.38 This last option was almost never granted. In 1830, Weaver allowed an
elderly slave forge hand whom he had purchased in the Lynchburg area to buy
himself and return to his former home.39 But this appears to be the only time
that Weaver made such a concession to any member of his slave force. Never-
theless, the overwork system had obvious advantages for the slave, as Sam
Williams’s life at Buffalo Forge illustrates in rich and elaborate detail.

Sam’s first year in the forge, 1838, was a year of apprenticeship. He served
as an underhand to both John Baxter and Harry Hunt, and under their guid-
ance he sought to master the refiner’s art: learning to put up and maintain the
special refinery fire, heating the pig iron and bringing it “to nature,” and then
pounding the red-hot metal under the huge hammer into those oddly shaped
anchonies.40 He undoubtedly cost Weaver some money that year in wasted pig
iron and excessive use of expensive charcoal, but the only way to learn was by
doing.

Sam had expert teachers. Harry Hunt, for instance, was fifty years old in
1838 and had been a refiner for well over twenty-five years. He, like many
other slave ironworkers, had been born to the trade. In his case, this meant
birth, youth, and young adulthood at the Oxford Iron Works in Campbell
County, not far from Lynchburg. Harry and his brother Billy had been trained
in the forge under David Ross, one of the most famous Virginia ironmasters of
the Revolutionary and post-Revolutionary eras. Ross’s death in 1817 and the
subsequent sale of his estate sent a number of his best ironworkers across the
Blue Ridge Mountains and into the Valley, where the Virginia iron industry
was moving during the early years of the nineteenth century and where
ironmasters like William Weaver were eagerly seeking skilled furnace and forge
workers.41

Harry Hunt knew his job, and Sam learned quickly. Before his first year
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was out, he had sufficiently mastered the techniques of refining to earn a mod-
est amount of overwork: “1/2 ton over iron 2.00.”42 It was not a great deal of
money, especially when compared with what some of the other skilled forgemen
were able to put away. But it was a start toward something better, toward a life
in which his skills could help make things a little more comfortable and per-
haps a bit more predictable and secure. By 1840, he had added reason to be
concerned about a more comfortable present and a more certain future.

Sometime during the year 1840, Sam Williams married. His wife was a
slave woman named Nancy Jefferson, who was also owned by William Weaver.
She was twenty-three years old that year, three years older than Sam, but the
difference in age meant little.43 Sam had finished his forge training by then and
was now one of Weaver’s master refiners.44 His future was probably as secure
as any slave’s could ever be, and he was ready to assume the responsibilities of
a husband and, soon, a father. Their marriage was not a legal one, of course.
Slave marriages had no standing in Virginia law or in that of any other south-
ern state. But time would clearly show that Sam Williams and Nancy Jefferson
viewed themselves as man and wife. The date of their marriage was not re-
corded in the journals and papers kept at Buffalo Forge, but they knew the
year was 1840, and they never forgot it.

The birth of their first child did appear in the Buffalo Forge records,
however, and for good reason. The birth of a new baby in the slave quarters
meant an addition to the master’s wealth and potential workforce. So, when
Elizabeth Williams came into the world later that year, note was taken of the
event.45 Elizabeth, or Betty, as she was more frequently called, was undoubt-
edly named after Sam’s younger sister, Elizabeth, who is mentioned in early
legal documents dealing with the dispute over the “Wilson negroes.”46

Sam’s marriage and the birth of his daughter gave him added incentive to
exploit the possibilities opened up by the overwork system. He had earned
some relatively small amounts of money before 1840: $3.00 in 1837, the same
in 1838, and just over $4.50 in 1839.47 He would not be content with earnings
of this size in 1840, however. Early in the year, he began to devote a consider-
able amount of his spare time to “tar burning,” as it was called. He would
collect the heart of fallen pine trees from the woods around Buffalo Forge,
stack it closely on a low, hard-packed mound of earth with gutters running out
from the center, cover the resinous pine with dirt, and light it. As the wood
smoldered, the gum would flow out as tar through the trenches cut in the
earth.49 Sam would collect this “tair,” as it was spelled in the Buffalo Forge
books, and sell it to his master. Weaver was willing to pay twenty-five cents a
gallon for it—pitch and tar were always needed around installations dependent
on waterpower—and Sam’s long hours in the woods produced no less than
fifty-nine gallons of tar before the year was out.49

He also did something else the year he was married that he had not done
during his three previous years at Buffalo Forge: he worked through the Christ-
mas holidays. The week between Christmas and New Year’s was a traditional
period of rest for Weaver’s slave hands, as it was for most southern slaves. The
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forge closed for Christmas, but there were plenty of other things to do: stock
to feed and water, roads and walks to shovel if it snowed, ice to cut from the
forge pond and haul to the icehouse if a cold snap hit. Sam worked five days
out of the seven-day Christmas break in 1840 and earned $2.50 for his labor.
(Fifty cents a day was the usual pay for anyone, white or black, who did com-
mon labor, so Sam was not paid “slave wages” for his holiday work.) By his tar
burning, forge overwork, and Christmas labor in 1840, he earned $22.42, well
over four times what he had made for himself in any previous year at Buffalo
Forge.50

There is no way of knowing why Sam worked so hard in 1840, but it
seems safe to assume that his efforts were spurred by a desire to be able to do
more for his wife and his new baby. This view is reinforced by the record of his
purchases during the year: sugar and molasses (treats all three of them could
enjoy), coffee for himself and Nancy, and crocks for her to use for household
storage. Several of the larger expenditures that he made in 1840 were not spelled
out in the books, like his store “order” of $4.00 on March 7 and a similarly
vague entry on September 5 for $9.16.51 These sizable store purchases prob-
ably included items for Nancy and Betty, but we cannot be sure.

Sam and Nancy Williams’s family grew steadily. In 1842, a second daugh-
ter, Caroline, was born, and she was followed by two more girls, Ann, born in
1843, and Lydia, born the next year.52 Sam’s overwork increased along with the
size of his family. He continued his tar burning in 1841 but on a reduced scale.
He concentrated more and more on his work at the refinery forge in his effort
to earn extra income for himself and his wife and daughters. This made sense.
As his skills improved, so did his chance to earn overwork pay by hammering
out extra pounds of anchonies. It was now easier for him to make his task of a
ton and a half of refined iron per week, and anything he turned out above that
amount meant money in his pocket or credit at the Buffalo Forge store. He
was paid $8.82 for pounding out over two tons of extra iron in 1841, while his
tar production dropped off to thirty-six and a half gallons, which still earned
him $9.12. Once again, his purchases at Weaver’s store suggest that he was
using his overwork compensation to buy things his family could use—items
like sugar, calico, ticking, drill, jeans cloth, and trimmings. And a week before
Christmas 1841, he spent $1.25 for a silk handkerchief.53

Sam’s growing prowess as a refiner and his continued support of his fam-
ily are apparent in his overwork accounts during the next few years. No records
have survived for 1842 and 1843, but he made thirty-one dollars in overwork
pay in 1844, most of which he earned at his forge. As a master refiner, he was
paid for his overwork at the same rate that a white artisan would have been
paid for the same job, eight dollars per ton, with three-fifths of that going to
Sam, as the refiner, and two-fifths going to his underhand. Sam’s five tons of
“over iron” in 1844 translated into a credit of twenty-four dollars on Weaver’s
books.54

During the next several years, Sam’s overwork earnings continued to
mount. By the early 1850s, he was regularly making more than fifty dollars per
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annum, and in 1855 and 1856, the last two years for which his complete ac-
counts are available, his compensation reached even greater levels. In 1855,
his overwork amounted to $92.23, and the next year, for the first time, it ex-
ceeded $100. It was $103 to be exact. The first $100 were earned by refining
twenty tons of “Over Iron.”55

There is no need to make a detailed list of his purchases during this ten-
to twelve-year period, but some of the things he did with his money suggest a
good deal about this man and his attitudes and priorities. He supplemented
Weaver’s standard rations of pork and cornmeal with regular purchases of flour,
sugar, coffee, and molasses, and he frequently bought cloth for Nancy to sew
into garments for the family. His overwork kept him, and perhaps Nancy as
well, supplied with tobacco. And he continued to give gifts to various family
members. His mother received fifty pounds of flour from him in February
1845, and he gave his father a pound of coffee in April 1846. Nancy, as might
be expected, received a number of presents: a pair of buckskin gloves at Christ-
mas in 1848, a shawl in May 1849, and nine yards of silk in October 1851. One
of his special purchases for his children was eight and three-fourths yards of
cloth for a bedspread for Ann when she was ten years old.56

The most fascinating items of all that he acquired during these years
were the articles of furniture he bought for the cabin that he, Nancy, and the
girls shared. His major Christmas gift to the family in 1845 consisted of a
table, at three dollars, and a bedstead, at nine dollars, both of which he pur-

Brick slave quarters at Buffalo Forge, with Blue Ridge Mountains as backdrop. (Author’s
collection)
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chased at the Buffalo Forge store on Christmas Eve. He added significantly to
the cabin’s furnishings six years later when he apparently attended an estate
sale held in the neighborhood. In April 1851, he made two acquisitions “at
Blackford’s Sale”: a set of chairs, for which he paid $7.25, and, probably his most
revealing purchase of the entire antebellum era, “1 looking glass,” priced at $1.75.57

There are many reasons why any family would want to own a mirror,
perfectly natural reasons such as curiosity about one’s appearance or a touch of
vanity perhaps. Sam and Nancy Williams had growing daughters, too. In 1851,
Betty was eleven, Caroline was nine, Anne was eight, and Lydia was seven. But
a slave’s buying a mirror suggests something more. It would seem to indicate a
strong sense of pride in one’s self and one’s family that transcended their status
as slaves. Why else would Sam spend that kind of money on such a purchase
whose price represented the sweat and sore muscles that went into several
hundred pounds of overwork iron? One almost suspects that that looking glass
stood as a symbol of Sam and Nancy Williams’s feelings about themselves and
their children. And there were other signs of pride as well.

In 1849, Sam began fairly frequently making cash withdrawals against
his overwork account. Some of this money he undoubtedly used to buy items
at rural stores that dotted the nearby countryside, places like Saunder’s Store,
which stood just across Buffalo Creek from the forge. But he was not spending
all of it in this way. Part of the money that he pocketed during these years
ended up in a rather remarkable place, as indicated by a letter written by Weaver’s
young forge clerk in 1855. On February 25 of that year, John A. Rex, a twenty-
three-year-old nephew of Weaver’s who had come from Pennsylvania to help
out at Buffalo Forge, described an incident that had recently occurred there. “I
wish to ask you one question,” he wrote to James D. Davidson, Weaver’s attor-
ney in Lexington: “whether Sam Williams can draw his money from the Sav-
ings Bank or if he cannot.” Sam, it seems, had made a bet with a man named
Henry Nash, a free black cooper who lived near Buffalo Forge and who made
the barrels for Weaver’s flour. Nash refused to believe that Sam had a savings
account in the bank in Lexington, and Sam had bet his watch, another impres-
sive acquisition for a slave, against Nash’s watch that he did. “It is my opinion
that he can draw his money if he gives the Directors of the Bank 10 days no-
tice,” Rex continued. “After he receives the money he wishes to show it to
Henry Nash, and then he will return the said money back to the Bank again.”
Rex closed the letter by assuring Davidson that he “was witness to the said
bargain.”59

James Davidson was an experienced attorney, but it is doubtful that he
had ever before had to give an opinion as to how a slave should handle his
savings account. The only thing he knew to do was to advise young Rex “to
confer with Wm. Weaver” on the business.60 Perhaps the master could decide
how a man who was legally property should deal with his own property, in this
case a sizable account in a major Lexington financial institution.

There are several extraordinary things about this incident, not the least
of which is the white forge clerk’s holding the bet for a slave and a free Negro
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and serving as a witness to their wager. But everyday life in the Old South was
filled with anomalies of this sort, so perhaps this part of the story was not so
remarkable after all. That Sam Williams had a savings account was remarkable
by any standard, however, and, given the value of the dollar in the 1850s, his
account was a large one. We know the size of his savings because just over a
year after Rex wrote Davidson about the bet, the lawyer withdrew Sam’s money
from the bank. It may have been that the bank directors felt uneasy about
holding and paying interest on a slave’s money, particularly after the wager
brought up the subject. Or maybe Weaver decided it would be better to handle
these funds in some other way. Whatever the reason, on April 22, 1856,
Davidson rode out to Buffalo Forge carrying Sam Williams’s savings of $91.31.
He also brought with him $61.96 belonging to Sam’s wife.61

Nancy Williams, it turned out, had a savings account, too, and in her
own name. She was in charge of dairy operations at Buffalo Forge and did a
good deal of housework at Weaver’s residence, so she clearly had had opportu-
nities to earn overwork pay in her own right. The house account books have
not survived, so there is no way to discover exactly what she did to make money
or to trace the precise amounts of her compensation. But her savings account
was two-thirds the size of her husband’s, so her earnings must have been sub-
stantial. Between them, Sam and Nancy had over $150 in cash.

What were they saving for? No evidence exists to show that Weaver had
given the couple the right to buy their own freedom or that of their children,
so self-purchase apparently was not the reason. The fact that they were saving
anything at all suggests that they felt that their material standard of living was
adequate to the family’s needs; if it had not been, they probably would have
spent much more than they did on various food items and cloth. The most
logical explanation for their extraordinary and substantial bank accounts would
seem to be that they both had extra overwork funds and that they had simply
put their money in a safe place where it would earn interest for them.

William Weaver, in effect, replaced the savings bank as the holder of the
Williamses’ money and as the payer of interest on their accounts. Special en-
tries were made under their separate names in a private ledger kept at the
forge, and Sam and Nancy each placed their full savings with Weaver on April
22, 1856, the day that Davidson brought their funds out from Lexington. The
interest rate in both instances was 12 percent.62

In the years just ahead, Sam and Nancy would follow quite different
courses in handling their savings. In the spring and fall of 1858, Nancy made
fairly systematic cash withdrawals of four to five dollars, and in 1859 she used
the remainder of her money for substantial purchases at Buffalo Forge and at
two neighboring country stores. On October 27, 1859, she closed out her ac-
count by spending $4.82 at Saunder’s Store. Sam, on the other hand, kept
exactly one hundred dollars on deposit throughout these years and into the
1860s. He withdrew the interest each year in either cash or goods but kept the
one hundred–dollar principal intact. Weaver regularly credited him with in-
terest on his one hundred dollars, figured after 1860 at 6 percent, and Sam just
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as regularly drew off his six dollars per year. (For some reason, two interest
payments were made in 1862, so Sam took out twelve dollars that year.) His
account was not finally closed out until after the Civil War.63

The picture that emerges from this story of two slaves with savings ac-
counts is by no means a simple one. On the surface, one might be tempted to
argue that their behavior indicated a placid acceptance of their status and con-
dition. They had to complete their required tasks before they could start earn-
ing money for themselves, so they obviously were turning out a considerable
amount of work for William Weaver, working like slaves, so to speak, and
taking the bait that the master offered to do a good deal more than they had to
do. Yet they clearly were doing a great deal for themselves as well, and for their
children. They were improving the material conditions under which all of them
could live, and they were protecting themselves against the fearful threat that
hung over them all—the breakup of the family through sale. Weaver would be
very reluctant indeed to part with workers like this man and woman, who meant
so much to the smooth running and success of his iron-making and farming
activities, or to sell their daughters. Through their overwork, Sam and Nancy
could help to shield and provide for each other and for their children. The
psychological importance of this to them, the added access it afforded Sam to
the traditional responsibilities of a husband and father, and Nancy to the role
of wife and mother, cannot be overemphasized.

Sam’s attitude toward his work need not be left totally to the imagina-
tion, however. Thanks to the arrival at Buffalo Forge of a new manager in
1857 and his meticulous record keeping, we can follow Sam at his forge and in
the fields for months on end. The insights to be gained from a close look at his
daily activities during the late 1850s and early 1860s are revealing.

By the mid-1850s, Weaver was no longer capable of supervising the com-
plex industrial and agricultural operations at Buffalo Forge by himself. He was
in his seventies, his health was uncertain, and just moving around the property
was becoming more and more difficult for him.64 As a result, he persuaded his
favorite niece and her husband, Emma and Daniel Brady, to move from Phila-
delphia and to take over the management of day-to-day affairs at the house,
the forge, and the farms. Weaver had no one in his immediate family to take
over for him; he had not married until 1830, when he was forty-nine, and his
wife, only four years younger, had died in 1850. They had had no children. 65

“I am old, all but 75,” Weaver wrote to Daniel Brady in 1855, and he was
worried about what would happen after his death. “The great object with me
is, that my servants shall remain where they are, and have humane masters,” he
went on. “This point is the only difficulty on my mind in relation to my Estate.
Giving them their freedom, I am satisfied, would not benefit them as much as
having good masters, and remain where they are.”66

Late in 1857, the Bradys closed up their affairs in Pennsylvania and moved
to Buffalo Forge, with their children, Anne Gertrude, nine, and Charles Patrick,
seven.67 Their arrival was an event of major significance in the lives of the
slaves at Buffalo Forge. It must have relieved much of the anxiety that would
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have been growing in the quarters as Weaver’s age advanced and as his health
deteriorated. Now there was a clear prospect that the Buffalo Forge slave com-
munity would remain intact after Weaver’s passing, that families would not be
broken and friends separated by a division of the master’s estate. Aside from
manumission, there was probably nothing more important to these black men
and women than the strong probability that they could all “remain where they
are,” as Weaver put it, after he was gone. The Bradys’ coming, and the fact
that they already had a son, seven-year-old Pat, who might also inherit the
place one day, would have been the cause for some quiet rejoicing in the slave
cabins that dotted the landscape around Buffalo Forge.

A historian seeking to reconstruct the lives of these slaves also has reason
to celebrate the arrival of the Bradys. Daniel Brady was a remarkably careful
and devoted keeper of records. Soon after his arrival, he began a regular daily
journal in which he wrote the work routine for each day: what the weather was
like, which slaves were doing what jobs, how much work they did, who was
sick, who was pretending to be sick. The result is a running description of slave
activities at Buffalo Forge that fills three neatly written volumes and covers a
span of more than seven years, from March 1858 to June 1865.68 These years,
perhaps the most critical in the entire history of the slave South, are those in
which we can follow the life of Sam Williams in the greatest and most elabo-
rate detail.

When Sam was putting in a routine day at his refinery forge, Brady sim-
ply noted, “Sam at work,” in his journal. And Sam was “at work” most of the
time. He and his underhand, a slave named Henry Towles, were the steadiest
pair in the forge, but they also had their own ideas about when they had worked
long enough and hard enough to deserve a break. The summer of 1860 was
such a time. Sam and Henry Towles manned their forge through some very
warm days at the beginning of July, but by the middle of the month they had
obviously had enough. Henry said he was too ill to work on Wednesday, July
18, and when he failed to show up the next day as well, “Henry Towles sick i.e.
loafing” was Brady’s assessment. Sam continued to work under very trying
conditions, and no one knew it better than he did. He and Jim Garland, a
replacement for Henry, finished out the week, however, with “Henry Towles
loafing” Friday and Saturday.69

On Monday, July 23, it was Sam’s turn, and he may not even have made
a pretense of being sick. Henry returned to work that day; he could handle
Sam’s job, with Jim Garland’s help. Sam was now “loafing,” according to Brady,
and he stayed out “loafing” the entire week. Brady realized that he had pushed
his hands about as far as he could in the oppressive heat, and he probably was
not surprised on Saturday when his two chaffery forgemen, Tooler and Harry
Hunt Jr., also took matters into their own hands. “Tooler & Harry drew a few
pounds and then broke down to loaf,” he wrote. He decided about the middle
of the day that there was no sense fighting it any longer: “All hands had a l/2
[day] holiday.”70 From Brady’s vantage point, Saturday, July 28, had been a
difficult day. The slaves undoubtedly took just the opposite view.
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Sam’s vacation was not over yet, though. He did not go back to work for
three more weeks. From Monday, July 30, to Saturday, August 18, Brady noted
with regularity that Sam was “loafing” each day.71 Even the appearance on
August 7 of J.E. Carson, a Rockbridge County slave trader, did not drive Sam
back to his post. If Sam were going to be intimidated into returning to work,
the slave dealer’s visit to Buffalo Forge should have done it. Carson was no idle
threat. In the spring of 1859, he had carried one of Weaver’s slaves, a man
named Lawson, to New Orleans and sold him, and Carson had purchased a
slave woman and her children from Weaver several months later. Lawson had
tried to run away; the woman had apparently disrupted the quarters by her
licentious behavior.72 Weaver, as was his custom, simply got rid of unruly slaves.
But Sam’s extended period of “loafing” was not enough to convince Weaver
that he should part with his most valuable forgeman. Carson did buy a slave
from Weaver on August 7, a runaway field hand, Bill Greenlee, whom he took
away in handcuffs.73 When Sam returned to his forge on Monday, August 20,
he had been off the job four full weeks.74 Sam returned to work as if nothing
had happened. Jim Garland went back into the fields, and Sam and Henry
Towles took up where they had left off a month or so earlier. Sam’s vacation, if
that word fits the occasion, seems to have been something he felt was due him.
He had worked hard that year up to his four weeks of “loafing.”

Sam had continued to earn overtime payments up until his August vaca-
tion. Soon after he returned, he began receiving cash payments from Weaver
again, ranging from $2.50 on September 24 to $5.00 on December 1, a strong
indication that he was working overtime after he rejoined Henry Towles at the
refinery forge.75 Perhaps most significant of all, his savings account, which
Weaver was holding, was not touched during or after his month-long absence
from his job.

What this fascinating incident suggests is that Sam was fully aware of the
power he possessed and the quite distinct limits of that power. He knew that
his skills were critically important to his master and that this gave him a con-
siderable amount of leverage in his dealings with Weaver and Brady. In his
view, he deserved some time off, and he chose the hot, muggy dog days of July
and August 1860 to take it. It was probably no accident that he did not leave
his forge until Henry Towles returned. This kept the situation from assuming
potentially dangerous and threatening dimensions. Because they were off one
at a time, Jim Garland could come in to spell each one of them temporarily,
and forge operations could continue. Iron-making would not grind to a com-
plete and costly stop because Henry was feigning illness and Sam was “loafing”
back at his cabin. Sam knew just how far he could go with his resistance, and he
was careful to keep the situation under control.

At the same time, he had enough pride in himself to insist, through his
actions, that there was a line beyond which he would not allow himself to be
pushed. Months of steady labor, followed by forge work in temperatures reach-
ing one hundred degrees, was one step over that line. By tolerating his month-
long absence, Weaver and Brady tacitly recognized that Sam had the power to
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force reasonable, limited, and temporary changes in his work regimen; they
also silently acknowledged that, in a certain sense, he was justified in what he
was doing. None of this fits the classic definition of what southern slavery was
supposed to be: total dominance by the white master and total subservience by
the black slave. But social institutions have a way of getting fuzzy around the
edges, especially when they are as complex as the institution of human bondage.

Sam Williams won this confrontation, probably because of who he was
and because his challenge to the system was guarded and oblique and had a
limited objective—rest from work. Bill Greenlee’s case was quite a different
matter. He was twenty-eight years old and a “prime field hand,” but he was,
from the perspective of Weaver’s labor needs, still only a field hand.76 Even
more important, his defiance of the slave regime was open and direct and had
an objective that no slaveholder could tolerate—freedom. Not surprisingly,
Weaver brought the full force of the system swiftly and brutally down on him.
The example of the unsuccessful runaway’s being taken off in chains was im-
mediately before the eyes of Sam Williams and every other slave at Buffalo
Forge, and that was undoubtedly the way Weaver wanted it. Even Sam’s status
as a master refiner probably would not have protected him if he had carried his
resistance as far as Bill Greenlee did his.

Bill’s attempt to escape and Sam’s much more limited protest raise one of
the ultimate questions about American slavery. What, in fact, was the better
part of valor for a slave? Should one fight, confront, resist openly, run away, do
everything one could to bring the system down? Or should one maneuver as
best one could within the system, stay with one’s family and try to help and
comfort them, and attempt to carve out the best possible life despite the physi-
cal and psychological confines of enslavement? These were questions that each
slave had to decide; they were not easily answered then, and they are not easily
answered now. But most, like Sam Williams, chose the latter course. To have
done otherwise would have placed almost everything he loved in jeopardy.
And Sam—husband of Nancy; father of Betty, Caroline, Ann, and Lydia; and
son of Sally and Sam Williams Sr.—had a great deal to lose.

The exact date when Sam and Nancy Williams’s oldest daughter married
was not entered in the Buffalo Forge records, but it was probably sometime in
1857. Betty was seventeen then, and she and a man named A. Coleman, who
apparently belonged to a neighboring slaveholder, became husband and wife.77

On February 18, 1858, she gave birth to her first child, a boy, and they named
him Alfred Elliott Coleman.78 Sam and Nancy were grandparents now, and
Sam had that much more reason to try to shelter his family from the worst
aspects of the slave regime.

Perhaps nothing was more indicative of the precariousness of their exist-
ence than the events of December 1859. Daniel Brady was away on a cattle
drive to Richmond during the first part of the month, but one of the clerks
took note of the events that were pressing in on the black men and women
there. On Friday, December 2, 1859, “John Brown of Ossawatiamie [sic]
Noteriety to [be] hung at Charlestown Va. today, for Insurrection,” he wrote
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in Brady’s journal.79 It was also the day before Caroline Williams and Andrew
Reid, a slave teamster who lived nearby, had chosen to be married. Caroline,
like her older sister Betty, was seventeen at the time of her marriage, and, like
her sister, had taken for her husband a man who was not one of Weaver’s slaves.
Another young slave woman at Buffalo Forge was also getting married at the
same time.80 A double wedding with both grooms coming from off the prop-
erty meant a large gathering of slaves; and the timing, the day after John Brown
was hanged, was undoubtedly why a distinctly unwelcome group of uninvited
guests turned up at Buffalo Forge that day. On Saturday, December 3, the
Rockbridge County slave patrol went calling.81

Something akin to panic had swept over much of the South in the wake
of John Brown’s October raid on Harpers Ferry, and the Valley of Virginia was
no exception. The only way to prevent slave rebellions, whites argued, was an
overwhelming show of force and the immediate suppression of the slightest
hint of insurrectionary activity.82 It was not work for the squeamish. We do not
know what, if anything, Weaver’s slaves said about John Brown, but one of
them apparently said or did something the patrol did not like. The hated
“paddyrollers,” as the blacks called them, left Buffalo Forge after the wedding
party broke up on Saturday, but they were back the next day.

Whatever the reason for their return visit might have been, it resulted in
an ugly incident that struck close to Sam Williams. The patrol singled out
Henry Towles, Sam’s helper at the refinery forge, for punishment; the twenty-
three-year-old forge hand was taken out, stripped, and whipped.83 Towles, whose
wife, Ann, and three young children lived with him at Buffalo Forge, did not
return to work until December 15.84 It had taken him ten days to recover from
the beating administered by the Rockbridge County patrol.

Two weeks later, a much happier event occurred at Buffalo Forge. At
eight o’clock in the morning on December 29, Betty Coleman gave birth to
her second child, this time a girl. Both mother and daughter were fine.85 Sam
and Nancy Williams now had a granddaughter as well as a grandson at Buffalo
Forge.

It had been a month of stark contradictions. The love and hope expressed
in the marriage of two young people, followed by the pain and despair brought
on by the brutal whipping of one of their own, had been followed by the joy
surrounding the birth of a healthy child. Those events spoke eloquently of the
pleasure and anguish that mingled together in the lives of these black men and
women at Buffalo Forge and throughout the South.

Much of the history of American slavery could also be said to reside in
the name of Betty Coleman’s new baby. She and her husband called their new-
born child Mary Caroline.86 Her middle name was almost certainly given her
in honor of her Aunt Caroline, who had celebrated her marriage just two weeks
earlier. The baby’s first name, Mary, went back much further in the history of
the family, back to little Mary’s great-great-grandmother. That Mary, mother
of Sally Williams, grandmother of Sam Williams, was the woman taken by
Thomas Mayburry when he and Weaver divided the “Wilson negroes” more
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than two decades earlier. Memories of her, it seems fair to say, were still alive
in the minds of her descendants, a family that in 1859 spanned four genera-
tions at Buffalo Forge.

John Brown’s raid was a prelude to the war that would free them all,
although many of them would not be there when emancipation came in 1865.
William Weaver also was not there. His final illness set in on a bleak day in
mid-March 1863, just over a week after he had celebrated his eighty-third
birthday. He died on March 25, 1863, and, true to his word, he left most of his
considerable fortune to Daniel and Emma Brady.87 “As I have kept the great
bulk of my estate together partly to provide for the comfort of my servants I
desire that they should be treated with kindness and humanity,” he had written
in his will.88 The Bradys, from all we can tell, honored his wishes. Only one of
his former slaves was put on the block after Weaver’s death. Bill Comiskey, a
woodchopper, came in from the coal piles with syphilis late in October 1863; a
month later he was sold.89 It was death, not the auctioneer’s hammer, that took
so many from Buffalo Forge before the day of freedom arrived.

The years of the Civil War were a time of mounting expectations among
slaves everywhere in the South, and we can be reasonably sure that such was
the case at Buffalo Forge. The Rockbridge Grays, a company in Stonewall
Jackson’s legendary brigade, had been recruited from the area right around the
forge and had drawn off most of the young white men from that section of the
county.90 Even the most isolated slave could see the significance of that fact.
Then the refugee families had come streaming past Weaver’s place, sometimes
spending the night in the big house, while their slaves took their rest in the
quarters and undoubtedly passed on the latest news to the black men and women
there.91 In Sam and Nancy Williams’s case, however, the joy and hope inspired
by the prospect of freedom must have been tempered by the grief and sorrow
they had to live with during these years.

By the fall of 1862, their family had grown significantly. Their daughter
Caroline had given birth to her first child, Mary Martha Reid (yet another
Mary in the Williams family tree), in October 1860, and Betty Coleman had
had her third baby, Julia, in November 1861. Less than a year later, in Septem-
ber 1862, Caroline had delivered another healthy child, a boy, William John
Reid. (One of Mary’s children taken by Mayburry in 1837 had been named
John.)92 But that September was also the month when death began to stalk the
Williams family at Buffalo Forge.

Nine days after the birth of Caroline’s son, Betty Coleman’s four-year-
old son, Alfred Elliott, complained of a sore throat. When Daniel Brady exam-
ined the boy, he saw unmistakable signs of impending disaster at Buffalo Forge.
Alfred had diphtheria. As immunization and effective treatment were not avail-
able, it was bound to spread quickly, and no one, black or white, would be safe
from its ravages. In rapid succession, Betty, Caroline, and Lydia, three of Sam
and Nancy Williams’s four daughters, came down with the disease.93

When death came to Betty Coleman, it must have been a relief from
terrible torment. The first signs of her diphtheria appeared on September 19,
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and it was clear from the large yellow streaks extending deep into her throat
that she had a severe case, much worse than her son’s. When a membrane
formed at the top of her throat, Brady cauterized it, and she vomited up large,
leathery pieces of tissue. She died late in the afternoon on Wednesday, Sep-
tember 24.94 She was twenty-two years old and the mother of three small chil-
dren, one of whom, Alfred, was fighting his own struggle against diphtheria.
Her father and his forge helper, Henry Towles, dug her grave in the slave
cemetery at Buffalo Forge the next morning, and that afternoon, under a clear,
cool autumn sky, she was buried. Brady gave all hands the afternoon off so that
they could be present at her funeral. Sam was not asked to return to his forge
until the following Monday.95

For over two months, diphtheria lingered at Buffalo Forge, and before it
ran its course, fifteen of Weaver’s slaves contracted the disease. Alfred Coleman,
Caroline Reid, and Lydia Williams gradually recovered, although the caustic
and turpentine with which their throats were treated must have caused them
enormous pain. Daniel Brady also was stricken. He was confined to his bed-
room for several weeks, but his case was not one of the fatal ones. Three more
slaves at Buffalo Forge did die of diphtheria following Betty’s fatal attack, how-
ever, and before October had ended, her son was also dead. Alfred Elliott
Coleman, perhaps weakened by his bout with diphtheria, died on October 31,
1862. Brady listed the cause of his death as an infestation of worms.96 In the
space of six weeks, Sam and Nancy Williams had lost their firstborn child and
their eldest grandchild.

More grief was in the offing. Sam Williams was at his forge on May 5,
1864, when news came that his mother was dead. Brady noted that she died of
“paralysis,” probably a stroke. Sam and a number of the older slaves were re-
leased from their duties on the morning following her death, and later that
day, Friday, May 6, a beautiful spring day in the Valley, she was buried in the
slave cemetery at Buffalo Forge. The cemetery, which stood in a grove of lo-
cust trees on a hill behind the mansion, commanded a magnificent view of the
Valley: the pale haze of the Blue Ridge, the dense green forests of oak, hickory,
walnut, and cedar, the rich fields of wheat, oats, and corn, the waters of Buffalo
Creek freshened by the spring thaw. There her wooden coffin was lowered
into the earth, and a plain, uncarved shaft of limestone was set up to mark her
grave.97 She had been among family and friends in the last days of her life, and
they were doubtless there for her funeral: Sam Williams Sr., in frail health but
still alive, her son Sam, her daughter-in-law Nancy, her grandchildren and
great-grandchildren, and her friends of many years’ standing. Not the least of
the comforts that came to the enslaved was represented by that gathering of
black men, women, and children on a hilltop overlooking Buffalo Forge in the
spring of 1864, the solace and strength that came from family and community
in times of trial and sadness.

Sam and Nancy Williams’s time of troubles was still not over. Tragedy
seemed to haunt them in late 1864 and early 1865 as the end of the war and the
moment of freedom drew closer and closer. In the fall of 1864, their twenty-
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year-old daughter Lydia, who was unmarried, contracted typhoid fever. On
October 7, 1864, as her condition worsened, her older sister, Caroline Reid,
gave birth to her third child, a girl, and named her Lydia Maydelene Reid in
honor of Caroline’s stricken sister. Two days later, on Sunday, October 9, Lydia
Williams died. Sam’s forge was idle on Monday as he spent the day with his
family. On Tuesday morning, the black families of Buffalo Forge once again
climbed the dirt road behind the big house to the locust grove on the hill.
There Sam and Nancy laid their youngest child to rest.98

It was not finished even then. By early 1865 it was clear that a third
Williams daughter was gravely ill. Caroline Williams Reid had “consumption,”
or tuberculosis, and there was no cure. She died on Thursday, January 12,
1865, twenty-three years old and the mother of three small children. Sam re-
mained at home that day, and he would have been sorely needed by Nancy, by
his one remaining daughter, Ann, and by his grandchildren. Betty Coleman
had left two young children behind when she died in 1862, and now there
were Caroline’s three, all under three years old.99 If ever there was a time when
a man and woman, slave or free, black or white, needed to be with each other
and with their own, this was surely such a time. Sam and Nancy Williams were
there, together.

They were also there when freedom came to Buffalo Forge in the spring
of 1865. Brady’s matter-of-fact entries for three days in late May tell the story:

Friday May 26, 1865 Declared free by order of military authorities.
Saturday May 27,1865 All hands quit work as they considered them-

selves free.
Monday May 29,1865 Commenced work on free labor.100

Sam and Nancy Williams were among those who signed three-month con-
tracts on May 29, Sam as master refiner at the forge and Nancy as head dairy-
maid.101 Sam continued refining until 1867, when outside competition finally
forced Brady to abandon iron-making at Buffalo Forge. Sam shifted to farm-
ing on Brady’s land in that year and, not surprisingly, became the most success-
ful sharecropper, black or white, on the place.102 And when he and Nancy finally
moved off the property in 1874, they went only a short distance away to an
adjoining farm, owned by one of Brady’s neighbors, where many of Sam’s friends
lived and where he found employment as an agricultural laborer.103

Space does not permit a full discussion here of Sam and Nancy Williams’s
life in freedom, but a few points that shed light on their experience in slavery
deserve at least a brief mention. Their marriage and their family, so critically
important to their survival in former times, were no less vital to them now. We
can catch a glimpse of this at two poignant moments. One occurred in 1866
when they entered the office of the Freedmen’s Bureau in Lexington. They
had come to register their marriage, to legalize that slave union that had taken
place twenty-six years before. “Samuel Williams and Nancy Jefferson as man
and wife since 1840,” the clerk recorded. Sam correctly listed his age as forty-



96 CHARLES B. DEW

six, Nancy as forty-nine; their only surviving child, their daughter Ann, was
twenty-four.104

Fourteen years later, in 1880, there is another revealing moment, this
one as the census taker was making his rounds in southern Rockbridge County.
He reported that Samuel Williams, farmhand, age sixty-one, and Nancy Wil-
liams, housewife, age sixty-three, lived in the same household in the Natural
Bridge section of the county. Checks placed in the appropriate boxes indicated
that neither could read or write. There was a third member of the family,
however. Living with them, the census taker noted, was Lydia Maydelene Reid,
their granddaughter. The baby who had been only three months old when her
mother had died in 1865 was now a girl of fifteen.105

How long Sam and Nancy Williams lived on after 1880 is unclear. Lydia
married in January 1882 and left the household to begin raising a family of her
own. Her husband was a young man named Charles Newman, and their first
child, a girl, was born in November 1882; they named her Mary Ann Newman.106

We do not know exactly when Sam and Nancy died—it was sometime before
1900—but we can be reasonably sure where they are buried.107 Shortly after
the Civil War, the black men and women at Buffalo Forge organized their own
church. For a nominal sum, Daniel Brady sold the church trustees a small tract
of land just a mile south of the forge. Among the trustees of the Buffalo Forge
Colored Baptist Church, soon renamed the Mount Lydia Church, was one
Samuel Williams.108 In 1871, the freedmen erected a wooden church and school-
house and laid out a cemetery on this land.109 The church building has long
since disappeared, and today the cemetery site is covered with trees and a heavy
growth of underbrush. But if one looks closely enough back among the trees
and under the dense carpet of honeysuckle, one can discern small, uncarved,
triangular-shaped pieces of limestone. Almost certainly, one of these simple
limestone markers stands over the grave of Sam Williams. It is equally certain
that a similar stone on the grave nearest his marks the final resting place of
Nancy, his wife. The points of all these stones face in the same direction—
toward the sky.
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“A SOURCE OF GREAT ECONOMY”?
The Railroad and Slavery’s Expansion

in Southwest Virginia, 1850–1860

KENNETH W. NOE

Although officially delineated by the state government only in 1860, south-
west Virginia’s status as a separate and distinct region within the common-
wealth was long-standing and widely recognized. First settled by peoples of
Old World descent in the 1740s, southwest Virginia grew steadily in popula-
tion after the American Revolution. Politically, economically, and socially, the
region’s residents during the first half of the nineteenth century usually straddled
the fence between the tobacco plantation counties east of the Blue Ridge Moun-
tains and the rugged and largely all-white area north of the Kanawha River,
northwest Virginia. Well into the 1840s, the two western regions, united by a
common desire for improved transportation, more equitable representation in
the General Assembly, and a more favorable basis of taxation, cooperated to
the degree that most observers spoke simply of “the West.”

A series of events in the 1840s and 1850s, however, drove a wedge be-
tween the two western regions and drew southwest Virginia closer to the east-
ern half of the state. Of those, the most dramatic was the construction of the
Virginia and Tennessee Railroad (V&T) from Lynchburg to the Tennessee
border. Begun in 1850 and completed six and a half years later, the railroad
served as the catalyst for dramatic changes in the southwest. Facilitated by
more convenient transportation to eastern and southern markets, many south-
west Virginia farmers embraced commercial pursuits. Tobacco production in
the southwestern counties jumped a remarkable 2020 percent from 1850 to
1860 and, from a handful of counties, spread throughout the region. At the
same time the wheat crop doubled. The greater importance of cash-crop agri-
culture increased land values and taxes, leading to greater economic
marginalization among southwest Virginia’s white population. Some turned to
industrial pursuits, notably the mining of iron, lead, and copper, traditional
activities given new impetus by the railroad. Towns grew along the rails, as did
a plethora of hot springs catering to well-heeled tourists. Southwest Virginia
was better connected with the eastern counties economically, and its political
leaders invariably drew closer to their former eastern antagonists as their goals
and concerns became more shared, especially after the new state constitution
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of 1851 alleviated many traditional western grievances that went unanswered
by a similar convention in 1830. Among those concerns that were growing
more important was the survival of the institution that provided much of the
labor force for southwest Virginia’s railroad-based commercialism, slavery.1

Not all of the southwest Virginia mountaineers affected by railroad-based
modernization were white. African Americans also have called southwest Vir-
ginia home since the beginnings of settlement. The 1790 census, the nation’s
first, found 1,787 slaves, about 6 percent of the total population, in southwest
Virginia’s then four counties. It also identified thirty-nine nonwhite “free per-
sons.” The numbers and percentages of slaves in the region grew steadily from
1790 until the Civil War. In 1830, the region’s slaveholders held 12,060 bonds-
men, 12.3 percent of the population. By 1850, the numbers were 16,442 and
10.6 percent respectively, hardly negligible. The lower percentage was due
more to the increase of white population than to any lessening of slavery’s
importance. Over the same period, in comparison, Virginia’s percentage of
slave population fell at an even faster rate, from 38.8 percent to 33.3 percent.2

Looking backward from 1851, the Richmond Enquirer not surprisingly found
“the relative increase of the slaves in the whole of Western Virginia . . .
remarkable.”3

Black southwest Virginians, though roughly one-tenth of the region’s
antebellum population, have usually been ignored. Contemporaries played
down the presence of slavery in the region for political reasons. In 1830, for
example, the eastern opponents of constitutional reform found it useful to de-
pict transmontane Virginia as largely all-white and nearly abolitionist in sym-
pathies. Slavery’s opponents, men such as Ossawatomie John Brown and James
W. Taylor, then picked up on the image. After the Civil War, influential writ-
ers enshrined the stereotype of nearly all-white, antislavery Appalachia.4

A few observers, of course, did recognize the “remarkable” presence and
importance of slavery in the region. In A Journey in the Back Country, Frederick
Law Olmsted’s negative preconceptions skewed his interpretations; often he
saw only what he wanted to see, which in this case was nonslaveholders’ resent-
ment of the master class and, occasionally, in East Tennessee, abolitionist ideas.
Yet even he had to admit that in southwest Virginia, slaves and slaveholders were
much more in evidence as he traveled through the valley subregion and, more-
over, that the southwest Virginia whites he met were never openly antislavery.5

An additional observer was a native southwest Virginian, George W.L.
Bickley. Through a mixture of fact and ideology, Bickley placed slavery even
closer to the heart of mountain life. Best remembered as the unstable founder
of the notorious Knights of the Golden Circle, a shadow organization dedi-
cated to the expansion of slavery throughout the western hemisphere, Bickley
was born in Russell County in 1819. He ran away from home as a youth only
to return to the region in the late 1840s to practice medicine in Jeffersonville,
Tazewell County. Before leaving again for Ohio in 1851, he registered a no-
table first, writing the pioneer history of his native region in collaboration
with a local historical society.6
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Considering Bickley’s later activities and obvious mental instability, his
History of the Settlement and Indian Wars of Tazewell County, Virginia remains
remarkably useful; it included voluminous information on the region’s geogra-
phy, climate, economy, educational facilities, and customs. The author’s real
goals in writing the book, however, were largely political and proslavery. De-
nouncing the eastern Virginia politicians who for most of the century had con-
trolled the state government, Bickley wanted to convince his fellow southwest
Virginians to separate politically from Virginia and to form a new state in con-
junction with the equally disgruntled mountain residents of eastern Kentucky,
western North Carolina, and eastern Tennessee, but not northwest Virginia.
Bickley pointedly excluded the heart of the future state of West Virginia from
his new state scheme. Because of slavery, he felt, the two regions were much
too different. Whereas the northwest increasingly was becoming free terri-
tory, slavery occupied a central place in southwestern society. Indeed, he made
a point of condemning contemporaries for the common practice of ignoring
southwest Virginia and equating “West” with the antislavery “Northwest.”7

That one of the most notorious advocates of slavery in Civil War–era
America was a southwest Virginia mountaineer should have dramatized the
differences between northwest and southwest Virginia and the importance of
the institution in Appalachia to later observers. Only recently, however, have
scholars reaffirmed the importance of slavery in mountain society. That un-
derstanding is crucial. If one is to understand why southwest Virginia em-
braced the Confederate cause in 1861, the centrality of slavery must be
acknowledged. With slavery already an important fact of mountain life in south-
west Virginia by 1850, the role of the railroad was to provide still greater op-
portunities for slave-based staple agriculture and, as a result, facilitate the
institution’s growth through the 1850s, a decade when the institution stag-
nated elsewhere in the state. Herein lies a seeming paradox, if one fails to
recognize the distinctive character of southern modernization or simplistically
equates modernization with “progress.” In southwest Virginia, as elsewhere in
the South, modernization and the expansion of an institution as “unmodern”
as chattel slavery went hand-in-hand.8

“There are more slaves here than I have seen before for several weeks,”
wrote Olmsted, outside of Abingdon, as he emerged from East Tennessee to
complete his journey in the highlands.9 It was true. While slaveholding in south-
west Virginia was not as extensive as it was in the nonmountain sections of the
South, of all sections of the southern mountain region, southwest Virginia was
among the leaders in the most slaves and the most slaveholders. Approximately
11.2 percent of sampled householders in 1850 were slave owners. To be sure,
most of those masters owned but a few slaves; the median sample holding was
three, although the situation varied from county to county. Moreover, there
were slave owners in areas such as Washington County who would have quali-
fied as planters anywhere in the South. Washington Countian Eliza White, for
example, owned sixty-five slaves in 1850, and her neighbor John Preston held
forty-six. Overall, slavery was most extensive in the valley subregion. Three
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hundred and fifty-two Washington Countians owned slaves, 67 owned ten or
more, and 15 owned twenty or more. In contrast, only 112 Floyd Countians
belonged to the slave-owning class, and only Joseph Howard owned more than
twenty slaves. The contrast was even greater in Raleigh County, where only
eight owned slaves in 1850. With six bondsmen, Archibald Walker was Raleigh’s
leading master.10 While many of the three counties’ leading masters fit
Olmsted’s description of mountain masters, “chiefly professional men, shop-
keepers, and men in office, who are also land owners,” most identified them-
selves as farmers.11

As valley subregion slaveholders owned more slaves, they also controlled
much more wealth than their peers did elsewhere in the region. Washington
County’s ten leading masters owned a mean of $28,175 of real property in a
county where the overall mean was $761 and the mean of all slave owners was
$2,753. In contrast, the mean of Raleigh County’s eight slave owners was $2,699.
While far above Raleigh’s overall mean holding, $453, the figure still was not
substantial; indeed, the landholdings of Raleigh’s elites were comparable in
worth to those of the average Washington County master. Moreover, the gap
between rich and poor in the plateau was not as significant. Slaveholding, then,
while it approximated the situation of the black-belt elite in the valley, grew
more egalitarian as it penetrated the mountains.12

This expansion continued numerically and geographically through the
1850s. Most basic was the simple growth of the region’s slave population from
1850 to 1860. In 1860, southwest Virginia as a whole contained 20,532 black
residents, of whom only 1,506 were free. This meant an increase of 2,584
slaves and 232 free blacks during the decade. Considered as percentages, that
translates into a 15.7 percent increase in the number of slaves. This figure does
not appear especially remarkable at first. Over the same ten years, for example,
Texas’s slave population increased 213.9 percent; Arkansas’s, 135.9 percent;
and Florida’s, 57.1 percent. When compared with older states such as Georgia
and Tennessee, however, as well as with the rest of Virginia, southwest Virginia’s
growing slave population takes on new significance. Statewide, slavery grew
from 1850 to 1860 at only a 3.5 percent rate. In the Tidewater, growth had
stagnated, and in the Valley and especially in the northwest, slavery had de-
clined. The rate of growth in the piedmont, while more substantial, was less
than half that of southwest Virginia. In short, although the real numbers were
comparatively smaller in southwest Virginia, the institution nonetheless evinced
a vitality noticeably absent in the rest of the commonwealth. If slavery had
peaked in Virginia and entered a period of decline, as William W. Freehling
recently implied, it nonetheless showed surprising vigor in the southwest.13

Slavery did not grow at a uniform rate across the region. In the Blue
Ridge subregion, Carroll County’s copper rush led to a sizable increase in the
county’s slave laborers, from 154 to 262, a 70.1 percent rate of growth. In
Floyd and Grayson Counties, however, increases in the white population far
outstripped slave population growth. In 1850, for example, 113 Floyd Countians
owned 444 slaves. Ten years later, the numbers of both groups had increased
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roughly by only thirty. The mean and median sample slaveholdings in Floyd
were exactly the same as those in 1850, 3.4 and 2.0, respectively. With twenty-
two slaves, Joseph Howard remained the county’s leading master and the only
owner of more than twenty slaves. Meanwhile, the white population had in-
creased by almost 30 percent. In Floyd, very little had changed.14

While slavery remained in stasis in the Blue Ridge subregion as a whole,
one indicator suggests that future growth was in the offing. The rates of natu-
ral increase among slaves, computed from the percentage of slaves under age
ten compared with the total slave population, were 35.6 percent and 33.4 per-
cent in Floyd and Grayson Counties, respectively, higher than the statewide
average of 30.5 percent. As John Inscoe has noted, a higher-than-average rate
of natural increase reflected confidence among slaveholders that slavery was a
safe and profitable investment for the future. In other words, the white tide
sweeping into Floyd and Grayson Counties did not deter those counties’
slaveholders from deepening their involvement in the peculiar institution.15

Nor did a lack of substantial growth mean widespread opposition to the
institution. Robley D. Evans, for example, a future officer in the Union navy,
was the son of one Floyd County master, a physician who owned a dozen slaves.
Most of the Evanses’ neighbors were nonslaveholders who “as a rule were
poor and did their own farm work.” Yet all of them carefully maintained the
sanctity of the institution in the county, at least according to Evans. “There
were two things one must not do,” he remembered, “steal horses or interfere
with his neighbors’ slaves.”16

A different situation existed in the Valley subregion counties, which to-
gether already held half of the entire region’s slaves. Two distinct trends may
be discerned. Two counties experienced major slave growth. Montgomery
County gained 748 slaves, a 50.9 percent increase that far outpaced the county’s
21 percent gain in white population. At the opposite end of the Valley subre-
gion, Washington County, southwest Virginia’s leading slave county in 1860,
added 418 slaves, a 19.5 percent increase. In Washington County, 390 slave
owners owned 2,547 slaves in 1860. While the mean sampled holding was 6.5
and the median 4.0, sixty residents of the county owned more than ten slaves,
and eighteen owned more than twenty. With seventy-two slaves, Wyndham
Robertson now reigned as the county’s leading planter. In the other three coun-
ties of the Valley subregion, however, slave populations experienced little dra-
matic change. Pulaski County gained 118 slaves, Smyth County lost 27, and
Wythe County lost 23. Again, however, the rates of natural increase in these
three counties were higher than Virginia’s overall rate.17

The counties of the Allegheny Plateau experienced the widest fluctua-
tions. One can simplify analysis somewhat by considering the subregion in
1860 as further subdivided into eastern and western halves, as Paul Salstrom
has done. In the more rugged western section of the plateau subregion, Russell
and Tazewell Counties’ slave populations underwent significant growth. Russell
gained 117 slaves in the decade, and Tazewell added 142. Notably, these two
counties were those best connected to the railroad through a road network
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that linked them to Abingdon. As one moved away from the railroad, however,
the importance of slavery declined noticeably. The entire remainder of the west-
ern plateau gained only 152 slaves in the decade. McDowell County was all-
white in 1860, and Buchanan, Wise, and Wyoming Counties were nearly so.18

Had the western plateau then become an impenetrable mountain wall
against slavery’s expansion? The region’s slaveholders felt much differently than
their neighbors did. Among these slaveholders, one found the highest rates of
natural increase among the slave population in all of southwest Virginia. Only
McDowell County, with no slaves, and Scott County, with a rate of 25.1 per-
cent, had averages smaller than the statewide average. Elsewhere, the rates
varied, from Logan County’s 35.8 percent to Buchanan County’s whopping
43.3 percent. Boone County’s rate of natural increase was 38.0 percent. In
those counties, in other words, slavery generated little enthusiasm among most
of the rapidly growing white population, many of whom had fled the develop-
ing commercial, slave-intensive nexus, but aroused strong faith in the system
among the subregion’s few slaveholders. More than most of the state’s masters,
the slave owners of Boone, Buchanan, Logan, and Wise Counties confidently
emphasized the breeding or purchase of slave children, human investments
whose dates of maturity, literally as well as figuratively, were several years in
the future. Clearly, they believed that slavery, not free white labor, would be
the wave of the future in the western plateau.19

A different situation developed in the eastern half of the Allegheny Pla-

Southwest Virginia, 1860, with the route of the Virginia & Tennessee Railroad. (Map
produced by University of Georgia Cartographic Services)
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teau subregion. Because of a somewhat gentler landscape, more reliable road
and river transportation, and a longer history of settlement and commercial
enterprise, some counties in this area already were involved substantially with
slave-based agriculture and commerce. In 1850, Greenbrier County held 1,317
slaves, making it the non-upper-valley county with the largest slave popula-
tion. Only Montgomery, Washington, and Wythe Counties possessed more
slaves in 1850. With 1,061 slaves, Monroe County followed close behind. To
their west, however, Fayette, Mercer, and Raleigh Counties lagged, together
holding only 356 slaves.20

By 1860, Greenbrier had added an additional 208 slaves, and Monroe,
53. The rates of slave population growth in these counties were moderate,
15.8 percent and 5.0 percent, respectively. The real story occurred just to the
west, where tobacco cultivation captured the economy. Just as in the Tidewa-
ter, tobacco meant slave labor. By 1860, Fayette County contained 115 addi-
tional slaves, a 73.7 percent rate of growth. Mercer County, with 185 new
slaves, exhibited a growth rate of 104.5 percent.21

Most interesting of all was Raleigh County. In 1850, only eight slave
owners and twenty-three slaves lived there. Ten years later, the number of
masters had almost tripled, and the slave population had increased to fifty-
seven, a 147.8 percent rate of growth. When calculated with real numbers as
small as these, percentages can distort as much as they reveal. Still, when con-
sidered along with Fayette’s and Mercer’s, Raleigh’s experience strongly sug-
gests that slavery had started to take a strong hold in the three plateau counties
along the New River. To be sure, Raleigh County’s twenty-one slave owners
had a long way to go to match a Wyndham Robertson. With nine slaves, doc-
tor-farmer John Manser was Raleigh’s leading slave owner in 1860. A further
indicator that slavery was only in its infancy in Raleigh County was the rela-
tively advanced ages of its slaves. In Floyd County, by way of comparison, the
mean slave age was eighteen. In contrast, the mean slave age in Raleigh County
was twenty-eight. Moreover, with one exception, Raleigh County’s rate of natu-
ral increase was the lowest in the region.22

All in all, the 1850 and 1860 censuses reveal that slavery in southwest
Virginia was spreading out of the counties where the institution had estab-
lished itself and into the more mountainous parts of the region. It grew at a
dramatic rate along the New River, in the line of counties just north of the
upper-valley subregion, in Montgomery County, and in Carroll County’s min-
ing camps. Ahead of the onrushing tide of piedmont-style, slave-based capital-
ism, whites unable or unwilling to take part in the new order removed to the
more rugged areas of the Blue Ridge and Allegheny Plateau subregions, swell-
ing those counties’ white populations. Even there, however, slavery and all
that accompanied the institution could not be escaped forever. The elites of
the Plateau subregion were increasing their investments in slavery with eyes
toward a future expansion of their own. Had civil war not destroyed slavery in
the 1860s, it certainly would have continued its march into the southwest Vir-
ginia mountains.
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If one is to fully comprehend slavery in southwest Virginia, one must do
more than count. What was mountain slavery like for the region’s expanding
slaves? How did the railroad modify the work and lives of slaves? In the ab-
sence of slave accounts, one is forced to depend on the biased records of white
southwest Virginians, accounts of outside observers, and secondary scholar-
ship. Opinions expressed in these sources vary. W.J. Cash maintained that white
mountaineers’ treatment of blacks was worse than their treatment in the wider
South. Some antebellum travelers, such as the English Quaker abolitionist
Joseph John Gurney, found little difference whatsoever in the South’s peculiar
institution as practiced in its mountain form. Noting slaves’ “miserable cloth-
ing” in cold weather, Gurney concluded that the institution was just as bad in
the springs area as elsewhere. Most observers, however, concluded that moun-
tain slavery was somewhat milder than in the lowlands. Despite his hatred of
the institution, Olmsted called mountain slavery “the mild and segregated form”
and wrote that mountain slaves’ “habits more resemble those of ordinary free
laborers, they exercise more responsibility, and both in soul and intellect they
are more elevated.”23

What was the true situation? Just as elsewhere in the South, evidence
suggests that the slave experience differed from owner to owner. Some mas-
ters seem to have accorded their slaves decent treatment and perhaps even
developed bonds of affection. One Lewisburg master asked his brother to pur-
chase “ten Sows big with Pig” in Charleston for his slaves.24 John Echols trusted
two slaves named Dick and George enough to allow them to deliver horses to
George Henry Caperton without any white supervision.25 Most striking of all
was the dispute over the treatment of slaves between U.S. Army officer
Alexander W. Reynolds and his sister, Sallie Patton. Stationed in Texas in the
late 1850s, Reynolds demanded that his sister forward to him his three slaves.
Citing his alleged inability to care for them, especially for the slave Jim, Patton
refused. Reynolds was furious. “I have never known you to take such heartfelt
interest in any thing,” he wrote, “as you appear to take in your dear darling
negroes. Your brother is but a secondary consideration in comparison to them.”26

Most slave owners were willing to go only so far, however. Ex-governor
David Campbell was known as a kind master who “allowed his servants un-
usual privileges,” including allowing them to sell wood and hogs. When a slave
named Page was caught stealing chickens and hogs from neighbors, however,
Campbell determined that the “reckless scoundrel” be “taken out of the coun-
try, as a matter of safety to the community.” Referring to Page’s mother, who
had helped hide the accused, Campbell added that “I would send old Hannah
off but she is too old to treat very harshly.” He also approved the whipping of
two other slaves who helped hide Page from the authorities.27 Page was not
alone. Three of John Barnes’s Tazewell County slaves were jailed for attacking
their young overseer as he whipped one of them. Escaping, the three fought
another white man and set dogs on others. Their fate too was to be sold to
buyers in the Deep South.28

The fate of Page and the Barnes slaves demonstrates that the threat of
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sale “down the river” could be as egregious a punishment as the lash. Such
sales would have been easy, as southwest Virginia was an important route in
the slave trade. Eastern Virginia and Maryland slaves generally passed through
the Valley subregion on the Valley Road on their way to the Deep South.
George Featherstonhaugh, traveling in southwest Virginia in the 1830s, en-
countered the “singular spectacle” of slave drivers shepherding three hundred
slaves across the New River from Montgomery to Pulaski County. The slaves
forded the river manacled and chained together in double files while being
forced to sing to banjo accompaniment. John Armfield, the slave trader, even-
tually sold the slaves in Natchez, Mississippi, and in Louisiana.29

One should note, however, that most sales must have taken place be-
tween southwest Virginians. As John Inscoe noted in his study of western North
Carolina, that region’s higher-than-average rate of natural increase, coupled
with a rate of increase in the slave population faster than the state’s as a whole,
strongly suggests that most regional masters were selling intraregionally. The
sale of slaves in these cases usually emanated from the death of the master.30

Many southwest Virginia slave owners, of course, expressed discomfort
with selling slaves and the resultant tragic effect on the black family. There is
little evidence, however, that the discomfort ultimately kept southwest Virginia’s
masters from breaking up families when it was in their best interests. The heirs
of William Preston, for example, coolly divided his eighty slaves among them-
selves and then swapped and sold to neighbors. Likewise, Monroe County
attorney and legislator Allen Caperton took the slaves from one estate across
the state to Richmond to sell just as the dead owner’s will stipulated.31 Refer-
ring to another estate, also to be disposed of in the state capital, one relative
asked Caperton, “Will you sell them to traders or try to sell them privately,
that is to persons who are not trading in Negroes?” He then proceeded to
suggest good sale prices.32

Indeed, price reigned uppermost. When the Panic of 1857 depressed
slave prices, the Abingdon Democrat reported as encouraging good news that a
young woman and her two children had sold in Russell County for $1,905,
“pretty well for hard times.”33 Overall, Olmsted reported that “slaves . . . were
‘unprofitable property’ in the mountains, except as they increase and improve
in salable value. Two men . . . spoke of the sale of negroes in the same sentence
with that of cattle and swine.”34

Slaves, of course, could prove profitable to owners in other ways than
direct sale. Masters sometimes used their human property as collateral to ob-
tain loans. Planter James P. Strother of Smyth County assured a potential lender
in a credit reference that the subject in question had “a tolerably good planta-
tion in Washington [County] & at least one negro man who is young and
valuable, perhaps he may have other negroes.”35

More common was the practice of loaning or hiring out slaves to others:
family members, fellow owners, industrialists, and nonmasters unable to amass
enough capital to enter the master class. “I believe your Pa hired a negro boy
at hillsville,” one Wythe Countian wrote in 1851, “gives 50 dollars a year and
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clothes him.”36 Wythe County slave owner Richard W. Sanders hired slaves
for planting and at the same time hired out two of his slaves to neighbors, in
one case to a mine operator. Hiring transactions generally occurred at a public
place such as a courthouse on the first day of the year. Owners usually agreed
to furnish clothing and pay doctor bills, although at times it was the hirer’s
responsibility. In order to maximize profits, some masters, like Caperton, took
their slaves across the state to Richmond to hire them out. Inscoe has noted,
however, that most mountain slave owners wanted to keep their property nearby,
where they could maintain some control.37

Whether working for the owner or hired out, slaves filled a wide variety
of roles in southwest Virginia. Like most slaves elsewhere in the South, they
toiled as agricultural laborers. On mountain farms, however, that meant a wider
array of tasks than on a Deep South cotton plantation. Slaves had to be versa-
tile; they generally tended several crops instead of one staple, herded livestock,
constructed buildings and fences, made bricks and shingles, and engaged in
various other handicrafts or household industries. Large farmers, such as the
Floyds of Tazewell County, used slaves as couriers, often trusted with cash and
items of value. Slaves also worked in mines and in industrial operations and
served as domestic servants in private homes and hotels. The hot springs, par-
ticularly, hired many slaves as cooks and domestics; many ill slaves were pro-
vided free of charge in exchange for an anticipated cure. As one southwest
Virginian told Olmsted, most whites believed that a white person willing to
work as a domestic servant probably was not worth hiring.38 “In fact,” Olmsted
added, “no girl hereabouts, whose character was good, would ever hire out to
do menial service.”39

The railroad provided more avenues for slave labor. Its construction pro-
vided a new market for slave owners wishing to rent out their human property.
Indeed, the completed railroad functioned as a silent monument to the abili-
ties and tenacity of the black laborers who performed most of the line’s con-
struction and maintenance. Hired slaves cut wood, graded, broke up stone for
ballast, laid track, and cleared snow from obstructed tracks. The skilled toiled
as blacksmiths, carpenters, and mechanics. Many also served on train crews as
freight hands and brakemen. The railroad generally paid owners two hundred
dollars per year for hired slaves, an estimated labor savings of 50 percent. By
1856, 435 of the railroad’s 643 workers were hired slaves. Though envisioned
by whites, it was black southwest Virginians who made the dream of a moun-
tain railroad a reality.40

The railroad hired so many slaves that other hirers had trouble obtaining
workers. Olmsted described a conversation with an overseer near Abingdon.
The overseer, stick in hand, supervised seven wheat cradlers, five black and
two white. He explained that the “niggers had all been hired by the railroad, at
$200 a year.” Olmsted also accused the railroad of driving its slave laborers
hard. Another one of his hosts, an East Tennessee farmer apparently living
near the Virginia line, described a railroad contractor “who had some sixty
hands which he had hired in Old Virginny. . . . Everybody who saw them at
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work, said he drove them till they could hardly stand, and did not give them
half what they ought to have to eat.”41

Chief Engineer Garnett found hired slaves “a source of great economy”
to the railroad but noted one glaring disadvantage. In 1853, he wrote, “It makes
it difficult to collect a force of white laborers on the same work, where a con-
siderable number of slaves are employed.”42 Many of the railroad’s hired whites,
often Irish immigrants, opposed working side by side with blacks. In cases
where the railroad had to choose due to cost or conflict, the white laborers
generally lost out. In March 1857, for example, the railroad determined to
drop one of its five gangs of freight train hands, as only four had proved neces-
sary. Four crews were black, and one was made up of whites. President and
Acting General Superintendent J. Robin McDaniel fired the whites.43

Slave laborers cost the railroad less, but they were not without financial
liabilities. The railroad, like all hirers, agreed to certain stipulations required
by owners. It agreed, for example, to furnish the slaves of a master named
Brown four pairs of shoes per slave each year. The railroad, often unwillingly,
also bore the responsibility in case of injury or death, frequent occurrences on
the line. In January 1857, for example, slaves hired to clear snow off tracks
contracted frostbite. Their angry owners required compensation, but the rail-
road refused to pay. The V&T successfully argued that the slaves themselves
were responsible by rushing to a warming fire too quickly.44

The Virginia and Tennessee Railroad impacted the state’s slave economy
in a second manner as well. As had other railroads in the state, it became a
carrier of choice in the slave trade. To encourage business among slave traders,
the railroad entered into an agreement with several other southern railways,
whereby it would carry small slave children free of charge. The railroads used
this policy as an incentive to capture the slave trade.45

Finally, beyond economics, there were political implications. Virginia
governor Henry A. Wise and his fellow nonregional railroad supporters envi-
sioned ideological as well as numerical gains for slavery when they threw their
support to southwest Virginia’s railroad. Slavery’s expansion was a means to a
united Virginia and, through that, a united South. With the V&T’s crucial link
completed, its boosters broadened their vistas. Legislator William M. Burwell,
for example, advocated “direct trade” via steamship through the port of Nor-
folk to Europe. “The supremacy of New York is . . . to be fought with the
capital and competition of England, France, and Germany,” he wrote. The
railroad, by linking Norfolk to the southern interior, had made such a vision
possible, Burwell affirmed.46

A second, related scheme advocated by Burwell and his friends was a
canal across Mexico’s Isthmus of Tehuantepec, linking southern ports with the
goods and gold of California, weakening New York merchants, and expanding
the potential area of slavery expansion, Bickley’s “golden circle.” Burwell again
credited the Virginia and Tennessee Railroad with making the Tehuantepec
canal a real possibility. The railroad embraced the two schemes, as it found
them good publicity. The names chosen for the line’s engines illustrate this.
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Most bore the names of regional locales such as Bristol, Holston, Montgom-
ery, Norfolk; of railroad officials; or of swift animals. However, the railroad
also gave locomotives names such as El Paso, Mazeppa, San Francisco, St.
Nazaire, and Tehuantepec. Thus, the locomotives racing past southwest Vir-
ginians constantly reminded them of their southern links and future glories.47

Those glories, not incidentally, were to be won as Virginians. While
Bickley and perhaps most other white southwest Virginians flirted in 1850
with the idea of state secession, a decade later they had made their peace with
the eastern part of the state. Political changes emanating from economic com-
mercialization and slavery expansion had firmly linked southwest Virginia to
Richmond by the secession winter of 1860–1861. If the V&T was the medium
for such a transformation, it was also southwest Virginia’s iron road to seces-
sion and civil war.
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7

PUT IN MASTER’S POCKET

Cotton Expansion and Interstate Slave
Trading in the Mountain South

WILMA A. DUNAWAY

Master White didn’t hesitate to sell any of his slaves, he said, “You
all belong to me and if you don’t like it, I’ll put you in my pocket,”
meaning of course that he would sell that slave and put the money
in his pocket.

—AMELIA JONES, EAST KENTUCKY SLAVE

Since 1600, forced labor migrations have accompanied the expansion of capi-
talism around the globe. In the New World, European colonists initially en-
slaved Native Americans, decimating the indigenous populations to one-tenth
of their original sizes. From about 1700 onward, the enslavement of African
peoples was the principal method by which European societies appropriated
foreign labor for their colonies. By the time that transatlantic trade ended,
most of these African slaves were deployed mainly in the Caribbean, Brazil,
and the U.S. Southeast. In the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, tobacco
production absorbed two-fifths of the slave laborers in the United States. By
the end of the American Revolution, however, the three major southern ex-
ports, tobacco, indigo, and rice, had declined in profitability on the world
market.1

Simultaneously, cotton was required to fuel expansion of the English
textiles industry, so world prices for that commodity underwent much less dis-
ruptive cyclical changes than those of other major southern exports. Between
1810 and 1840, U.S. cotton production increased nearly tenfold as plantations
pushed westward to become concentrated in a long belt stretching from South
Carolina through Texas. In almost every decade from 1810 to 1860, lower
South cotton production expanded three times faster than the agricultural out-
put of the upper South. “A continuation of rising demand for slaves in the
West, a new surge of demand in the eastern tobacco region, and a slowdown in
the rate of natural increase of the slave population all combined to double slave
prices between the mid 1840s and the Civil War.”2
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Between 1810 and 1860, slavery was abolished in most nations of the
western hemisphere. In the United States, however, world demand for cotton
triggered the largest internal forced migration of slave laborers that has ever
occurred in the history of the world. Lower South demand for slaves increased
by more than 1800 percent, more than twice the rate of increase in the U.S.
slave population. As a result, between 1790 and 1860, upper South slaveholders
exported nearly a million black laborers to the lower South. Legislators de-
scried the extent to which the border states generated their profits from slave
trading rather than from crop cultivation. In a fifty-year period, two-fifths of
the African Americans enslaved in the upper South were forced to migrate to
the cotton economy, primarily through interstate sales and secondarily though
interregional transfers with their masters. This forced labor migration nearly
quadrupled the slave population of the lower South, leaving in the upper South
only about three-fifths of the slaves who would have been there in 1860.3

SLAVE TRADING ROUTES

Southern Appalachia lay at the geographical heart of the forced migration of
slaves from the upper South to the lower South. This region was linked by
rivers and roads to the coastal trade centers of the Tidewater and the lower
South. Across those transportation linkages, southern planters frequented 138
mineral spas scattered throughout the Appalachians, making travel capitalism
an important segment of local economies. Furthermore, two major slave-trad-
ing networks cut directly through the southern mountains. Out of Baltimore
and upper Virginia, slave traders followed a route that cut across western Mary-
land, utilizing canal and river connections to Wheeling. Seated at the top of
the Ohio River, Wheeling grew into a major regional slave-trading hub, an
ironic economic role for a large Appalachian town that had so few resident
slaves. As western Maryland masters could easily ship their slaves by river,
Wheeling also served as a collection point for slaves to be hired or sold to the
salt industry. From Wheeling, traders could follow the Ohio River southward
to capitalize on major regional slave markets at Louisville, Memphis, Natchez,
and New Orleans.4

A second major route emanated from Tidewater Virginia, which was
served by slave-trading hubs at Alexandria, Danville, and Norfolk. Using river,
canal, and overland connections, traders moved southward through Richmond.
Virginia masters exported 441,684 slaves to other states across this route be-
tween 1810 and 1860. Out of Richmond, traders proceeded southwest through
Appalachian counties, triggering a small subregional trading nucleus. Abingdon
provided market access for eastern Kentucky, southwest Virginia, and upper
East Tennessee buyers and sellers. To attract slave trader business, the East
Tennessee and Virginia Railroad implemented a policy to carry small slave
children free of charge. Down the route southward through the Tennessee
Valley, speculators were served by an East Tennessee trading hub around Knox-
ville. Further south, near the triangular conjuncture of Tennessee, Georgia,
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National slave-trading routes. (From Fox, Harper’s Atlas of American History, p. 42)
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and Alabama, they could take advantage of major subregional markets in Chat-
tanooga, Tennessee, and Rome, Georgia.5

On the eastern boundary of southern Appalachia, a third significant trad-
ing route linked Norfolk inland to Richmond, then south through the North
Carolina piedmont via Salisbury. A Jackson, North Carolina, slave recalled
that local owners “took hands in droves 150 miles to Richmond to sell them.”
Because they had been considering “selling property of that description,” a
Burke County, North Carolinian informed his family that “Negro property
has taken a very considerable rise in Norfolk . . . in consequence of the number
of purchasers for the Louisiana market.” Thus, the counties of western North
Carolina were connected to a transportation network that transferred slaves
from the upper South through middle North Carolina, to terminate either at
Charleston or, via Montgomery, at Mobile or Natchez.6

On the western boundary of southern Appalachia, a fourth trading route
ran southward from Louisville via Lexington and Nashville to terminate in the
Vicksburg and Natchez markets. Because of their geographical proximity,
middle Tennessee and eastern Kentucky counties linked into this trading net-
work. When middle Tennessee slaves were not bought by itinerant specula-
tors, they were sent to the “slave yards” at Nashville or Memphis, where they
often waited two weeks or longer to be auctioned to Mississippi, Texas, or
Arkansas buyers. Secretly financed by prominent elites, Lexington slave deal-
ers circulated throughout the Kentucky mountains, buying up coffles of slaves
directly from owners or at local auction blocks. As a result, Kentuckians sold
more than six thousand slaves annually to southern markets, occasionally in
large lots, like one Lewis County sale of “3 Bucks Aged from 20 to 26, Strong,
Ablebodied, 1 Wench, Sallie, Aged 42, Excellent Cook, 1 Wench, Lize, Aged
23 with 6 mo. old Picinniny, One Buck Aged 52, good Kennel Man, 17 Bucks
Aged from twelve to twenty.” In 1829 a Menefee County, Kentucky, clergy-
man encountered “a company of slaves, some of them heavily loaded with
irons, singing as they passed along.” Because they were headed west to be
auctioned at Lexington, the traveler was informed by the speculators that the
slaves engaged in their march songs as “an effort to drown the suffering of
mind they were brought into, by leaving behind their wives, children, or other
near connexions and never likely to meet them again in this world.” An eastern
Kentucky slave remembered that Bluegrass dealers “made a business of buying
up Negroes at auction sales and shipping them down to New Orleans to be
sold to owners of cotton and sugar cane plantations. . . . They would ship
whole boat loads at a time, buying them up 2 or 3 here, 2 or 3 there, and
holding them in a jail until they had a boat load. This practice gave rise to the
expression ‘sold down the river.’”7

ITINERANT SPECULATORS

According to Appalachian slave narratives, two of every five of the region’s
sellers made transactions with slave traders engaged in interstate trafficking,
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many of whom made regular annual or biannual circuits throughout the upper
South. Traders tended in their buying “to be semi-itinerant and to rove over
one or two counties (and perhaps the fringes of others). They might have a
base at a particular town or village and might attend the public auctions at local
county-towns, but usually they directly sought out their clients in the country
districts. This practice, no doubt, stemmed from the advantages of developing
local knowledge and of offering sellers the least troublesome and hazardous way
of disposing of their slaves.” Itinerant traders also regularly purchased free
blacks from state and local governments when they had been sold into “abso-
lute slavery” for offenses “punishable by confinement in penitentiaries.”8

Winchester, Virginia, attracted several itinerant traders in the 1820s. One
newspaper announced that roving slave traders had for several days been wan-
dering the streets of that town “with labels on their hats exhibiting in con-
spicuous characters the words ‘Cash for Negroes.’” John Williamson offered

Advertisement of slaves to be sold from Lewis County, Kentucky. (From Coleman
Papers, University of Kentucky)
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to give cash “for fifteen or twenty likely negroes” to any local slaveholders who
sought him out at his base of operation, Bryarly’s Tavern. Similarly, Thomas
Dyson did business in McGuire’s Hotel, where he bought up twenty or thirty
Appalachian slaves. In the 1850s, the Baltimore-based Campbell firm employed
a regular agent in Winchester, one of the sites selected to keep a steady supply
of “large lots of the choicest Negroes” for export to New Orleans. Marshall
Mack reported that itinerant traders were a common sight in Bedford County,
Virginia; from there, coffles of slaves were “took to Lynchburg, Va. to the
block to be sold.” The Louisiana-based firm of Franklin and Armisted con-
tracted regularly with J.M. Saunders and Company of Fauquier, Virginia; with
George Kephart and Company of Frederick, Maryland; with Newton Boley of
Winchester, Virginia; with Thomas Hundley of Amherst, Virginia; and with
several smaller traders in western Maryland, southwest Virginia, and eastern
Tennessee. These local agents collected slaves for consignment to the distant
company that marketed them in New Orleans. Beginning in the early 1800s,
one such Warrenton, Virginia, speculator opened business to “purchase slaves
for the Southern market”; and he subsequently “made a large fortune” from
these activities until the Civil War.9

In the early antebellum period, Samuel Carey appeared regularly to buy
up slaves in small western Maryland towns. Between 1832 and 1860, an agent
for an Alexandria firm frequently sought out buyers by setting up operations at
taverns in small Maryland communities. In the 1830s, he offered “CASH IN
MARKET. I wish to purchase FIFTY LIKELY YOUNG NEGROES, of both
sexes, from ten to thirty years of age. Persons wishing to dispose of slaves,
would find it to their advantage to give me a call, as I feel disposed to pay the
highest market price.” Interested parties could leave messages for him at one
of three tavern locations, including the Union Tavern in Frederick County.10

Itinerant traders even situated themselves in counties with few slaves. In
the 1820s, speculators traveled regularly into the isolated mountains of the
Cherokee Nation. In the 1830s, Jeremiah Giddings advertised in Monongalia
County to “purchase FIFTY LIKELY YOUNG NEGROES from 12 to 28
years old.” Distant commission speculators also employed resident agents who
operated in many out-of-the-way Appalachian communities. In eastern Ken-
tucky, which had the region’s smallest slave population, “traders came into the
county to buy up slaves for the Southern plantations,” taking them by boat or
overland “down the river or over in Virginia and Carolina tobacco fields.”
Lexington-based slavers L.C. Robards and William F. Talbott employed local
representatives in several eastern Kentucky towns. Betty Cofer “saw some slaves
sold away from [her] Wilkes County, North Carolina plantation” to traders
who “sold ’em down to Mobile, Alabama.” In East Tennessee, local and itiner-
ant traders went from farm to farm buying slaves; the speculator paid a cash
deposit and signed a note to complete payment when he resold them to cotton
planters in Alabama or Mississippi. Itinerant traders “travel[led] around the
country” regularly in middle Tennessee, attaching their handbills to storefronts,
jails, courthouses, mills, and churches.11
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To arrange connections with itinerant traders, Appalachian slaveholders
often engaged lawyers in regional trade towns. For example, a Monroe, West
Virginia, master sent a slave to the Summers law firm in Charleston for export
down the Ohio River. The agent was advised to keep the slave “in jail for
greater Security” and not to tell him that he was being sold out-of-state as he
would “be disposed to run.” Appalachians also maximized their family linkages
with lower South and southwestern traders. For instance, the Walkers were
urged to rent their slaves in Missouri “at double the Virginia rates.” A South
Carolinian wrote to his Madison, Virginia, relatives that “the cholera has thinned
the Negroes much on the Coast and the South generally and they are then said
to be selling very high.” In early 1850, a Norfolk trader wrote his Appalachian
kin that prime male slaves were “selling in Georgia or Florida at $1,000 to
$1,200.” A Fauquier, Virginia, owner decided to sell a slave family west after
encouraging news from relatives there.12

Primarily rural in character, Appalachian slave trading was organized by
roving traders who made direct transactions with slave owners. According to
regional slave narratives, it was very common in the fall and spring for itiner-
ant traders to appear in the countryside. Penny Thompson of Coosa County,
Alabama, remembered that “de speculation waggin (negro traders) come by
often. Dey stops ‘cross de road f’om de Marster’s place an’ all de Marsters
come dere for to trade.” In Jackson County, Alabama, “de speckulaters was
white men dat sometimes comes around buyin’, sellin’ or tradin’ slaves jest lak
dey do cattle now. . . . Dem speckulaters would put de chilluns in a wagon usually
pulled by oxens and de older folks was chained or tied together sos dey could not
run off and dey would go from one plantation ter another all ovah de country.”13

To avoid any threat of runaways, Appalachian masters tried to disguise
their plans. When one Floyd County, Georgia, master decided to trade, a
twelve-year-old boy “was fooled out of [his] mammy’s house by dem specula-
tors wid an apple. When [he] went out, two or three white men grabbed [him].”
A Buncombe County, North Carolina, master sent all his slaves to their regu-
lar work in the fields. Then “Ole Marse he cum t’ru de field wif a man call de
specalater. Day walk round jes’ lookin’, jes’ lookin’. All de [slaves] know whut
dis mean. Dey didn’t dare look up, jes’ wok right on. Den de specalater he see
who he want. He talk to Ole Marse, den dey slaps de han’cuffs on him an’ tak
him away to de cotton country.” When the speculator was ready to leave with
his purchases, “effen dey [was] enny whut didn’ wanta go, he thrash em, den
tie em ’hind de waggin an’ mek um run till dey fall on de groun’, den he thrash
em till dey say dey go [wi]thout no trouble.”14

APPALACHIAN SLAVE TRADERS

Clearly, local Appalachian communities did not censor residents who sold slaves
out of state, for towns and counties did not regulate against such business ac-
tivities. Indeed, slave trading occurred often enough that Appalachian towns
passed ordinances authorizing their sheriffs, judges, and constables to collect
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fees for conducting auctions and for jailing slaves. In addition, most towns and
counties charged slave dealers a special business tax. Recognizing the amount
of revenue involved in the enterprise, Chattanooga taxed slave traders five
hundred dollars annually. Some Appalachian entrepreneurs engaged in the
practice of buying up local slaves for export to distant buyers. In reality, about
one of every 154 Appalachian households acquired part of its income from
slave-trading activities. Nearly half of these Appalachian slave traders were
landless, but they averaged $10,890 in household wealth, far above regional
averages. Ten percent of them averaged $79,333 in assets, and they reported
primary occupations like merchant, land speculator, farmer, or commercial
wagoner. Some of these slave traders were among the region’s most respected
economic elites, such as attorneys and judges who regularly handled slave trans-
actions for distant clients. As a routine service, country stores advanced to
bounty hunters the advertised rewards for runaways, then received larger com-
missions from the slave owners.15

Four respected community leaders acted as professional slave traders in
Loudoun County, Virginia, often representing large interstate traffickers lo-
cated in distant port cities. Between 1839 and 1841, William Holland Thomas
of western North Carolina bought and resold eight to twelve slaves every year.
A Coffee County, Tennessee, master worked on commission for his neighbors
to carry “a bunch of the field hands down in Louisiana” every year. Hamilton
Brown earned a commission for arranging interstate sales for his neighbors.
When prices were lower than he desired, he withheld the laborers for a better
profit. In one instance, he advised the owner, “I think the opportunity will be
much better for selling them in the fall. I have no doubt but I shall be able to
sell for a much better price then than at this time.” Over a ten-month period in
1835 and 1836, Floyd Whitehead of Nelson County, Virginia, exported to
Mississippi seventy-three slaves. Obviously, Whitehead’s slave trading was ex-
tensive and continual, for he formed a business partnership with a Lynchburg
agent. Moreover, he empowered a trusted slave to seek out, buy, and sell slaves
in the countryside. Still, Whitehead’s involvement in the “abominable trade”
did not prevent him from being elected to positions as county sheriff and rep-
resentative to the state legislature.16

In Wilkes County, North Carolina, the partnership of Gwyn and
Hickerson aggressively engaged in land and slave speculation from 1845 through
the Civil War. James Gwyn initiated the lucrative business when a Missouri
relative proposed a venture in which Hickerson would buy up military boun-
ties, resell the lands to new Missouri settlers, and then procure slaves for resale
to those new farms. Within a few months, Gwyn was buying up young male
field hands at bargain prices from neighbors who were burdened by debt. In
order to accumulate coffles for export, Gwyn and his agents frequented public
auctions throughout western North Carolina. Gwyn went so far as to use the
courts to have a local widow declared “a fit subject for the Asylum” when she
tried to prevent the sale of her slaves to speculators who would “scatter them.”
Friends testified that “if she had no nigrose, [the traders] would not care what
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became of her.” Still the court declared Gwyn “guardian,” giving him legal
right to dispose of her property. When they had accumulated enough for ex-
port to Missouri, Gwyn sent the slaves off in overland caravans. In one in-
stance, his driver notified him that “tonight we have pitched our tents within
ten miles of Knoxville. . . . The negroes all seem to do as well as they know
how.” In East Tennessee, Gwyn’s slaves were put on Tennessee River flatboats
for the second stage of their long journey westward.17

Slave coffle camped along the New River, Virginia. (From George Featherstonaugh,
Excursion, vol. 1)
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As the Staunton agent for the Lynchburg Hose and Fire Insurance Com-
pany, John McCue wrote policies on the lives of slaves and supervised the
required medical examinations. Using this insider information about his cli-
ents’ property, McCue acted as a commissioned middleman. In one instance,
he secretly evaluated the slaves of a client for a third party. He informed the
potential buyer that he “had Several Conversations with the parties,” but that
there could be “no Compromise” unless “all [would] be Strictly Confidential.”
McCue also reminded the secret buyer that he “could get a fare chance” for
him, for which assistance he expected to receive “a Small mite.”

Two western Virginia speculators regularly transported slaves, via Charles-
ton, down the Ohio River to Kentucky markets. One of their coffles of seven-
teen laborers landed at the Maysville steamboat wharf in the spring of 1849.
The local newspaper reported that citizens had spotted the cohort “being con-
ducted,” in handcuffs and chains, inland to Lexington. Another western Vir-
ginian offered to buy up local slaves for resale. He responded to an inquirer,
“Negroes always rise in the Spring. It is the time the traders are making out
their companies for the South. January and February are the months to make
purchase advantageously. . . . It would require some weeks to pick up such
negroes as you want at the county about. It would be better to authorize me to
purchase them for you.”18

In addition to Appalachians who dabbled in the business as a sideline,
there were many merchants who specialized in “the abominable traffic.” A
small trader in Knoxville, Tennessee, notified potential Bluegrass buyers that
he would “carry slaves on speculation” and that he “intend[ed] carrying on the
business extensively.” One East Tennessee merchant boasted that he had
“bought and sold in [his] day over 600.” In what was then the small town of
Chattanooga, two companies, F.A. Parham and A.H. Johnston, operated slave
exchanges on Market Street near the railroad depot. Frederick, Maryland,
slavers Kephart and Harbin invested in a ship to export slaves, and they main-
tained a marketing agency in New Orleans. Augusta Countian J.E. Carson
regularly bought up Shenandoah Valley slaves for export. One of Carson’s typical
newspaper advertisements declared that he would pay high cash prices for “500
likely YOUNG NEGROES of both sexes, for the Southern market.” In addi-
tion, Carson searched down runaways and then purchased them cheap from
their owners. A flourishing slave trade was centered in the Surry County, North
Carolina, area where the notorious slave driver Kit Robbins carried on his
operations in a six-county vicinity. Similarly, Tyre Glen was active in slave
buying in the counties west of him; he exported laborers to southern Georgia
and South Carolina. Calvin Cowles, a Wilkes County, North Carolina, mer-
chant, purchased and hired slaves from whom he earned profits by contracting
them out on annual hires. Frank White and William Beasley gathered coffles
of slaves from Wilkes County for the Charleston market. In White County,
Tennessee, Daniel Clark and W.H. Matlock bought and resold about 150 slaves
per year through their dealings in Tennessee, Virginia, North Carolina, Ala-
bama, and Mississippi.19
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Charlie Merrill, a regular trader in Franklin County, Tennessee, bought
up local slaves for export to Nashville and Memphis. North Georgian H.M.
Cobb regularly transported slaves from Virginia to auction at his firm in Rome,
Georgia. Even in eastern Kentucky local traders were active. Floyd County,
for example, had two speculators. County judge Houston and his son-in-law
“gathered up all the slaves that were unruly or that people wanted to trade and
housed them in an old barn until they had enough to take to New Orleans on
a boat.” Cherokee elites also accumulated part of their wealth from slave trad-
ing. Several Native American dealers, including planter James Vann, made
regular trips to New Orleans, Savannah, and Charleston to buy and sell slaves.
In addition, the federal agent for the Cherokees collected bounties from mas-
ters for slave runaways and arranged transactions between them and whites.20

Forty-five percent of the Appalachian slave traders headed middling
households, averaging $13,175 in assets. A land and slave speculator of Cass
County, Georgia; a Frederick County, Maryland, merchant; and traders of Giles
and Randolph counties, Virginia, were typical of this segment. For example,
Frank White and David McCoy of Page County, Virginia, engaged in inter-
mittent slave trading as a sideline to farming and livestock. McCoy purchased
Bethany Veney from a neighbor, “thinking he could make a speculation” on
her at Richmond. Between 1835 and 1845, two local traders, Britton Atkins
and William Manor, regularly transported overland coffles to the Mobile mar-
ket from the small towns of Blount County, Alabama.21

Surprisingly, another 45 percent of the region’s slave traders resided in
Appalachian households with much more limited assets. A sizable segment of
those who engaged in the human traffic averaged $244 or less in total wealth,
and 15 percent of them owned neither land nor any other personal assets.
How, then, could a poor Appalachian speculate in slave trading? First, such a
person may have had dreams of future fortunes, like the two “Negro traders”
in the sample from Franklin and Tyler Counties in Virginia who invested in
cheap slave children in order to earn significant profits when they reached
prime marketable age. Second, a landless laborer may have thought of himself as
a slave trader because he worked for a commercial speculator, helping to trans-
port coffles or acting as intermediary to buy up local slaves for export. In many
communities, Appalachian slaveholders maintained private jails separate from
the facilities that incarcerated white criminals. Poor laborers managed the jails
that housed runaways and slaves about to be hired or sold at nearby auctions.
Customarily, Appalachian slaveholders paid these jailers thirty cents to one dol-
lar per day for each slave housed. In addition, some poor whites were “slave
catchers” who trained and used bloodhounds to track and capture runaways.22

Poor Appalachians could engage in slave trading in a fourth way. When
slaveholders advertised runaways, poor whites acted as “bounty hunters” seek-
ing to profit from the capture of slaves. When they spotted blacks “working
about as free men” who fit the description of runaways, they contacted owners
and offered their assistance for reward plus expenses. After a Wilkes County,
North Carolina, master publicized a runaway, he was contacted by such a slave
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hunter. “I have noticed him closely since I have seen your reward,” he wrote.
“He is hired out by the month, and he has every opportunity of running away,
if he should suspect a discovery. The man who has him hired has agreed with
me to keep him in his employ until you can come and get him.” In another
instance, B.W. Brooks offered to assist an owner if he came “in the night” to
check the identity of a black who was “working about as a free man” who had
not “yet obtained any Certificate of freedom from the Court.” Brooks thought
“it most prudent not to take him up and commit him to jail as he would in that
event be certain to break jail and escape.” John P. Chester wrote to an owner
that “if there is no other hand I will kidnap them.” Fearing that someone else
would interfere and collect the reward, Chester added, “I am compelled to
keep this secret from the world.”23

Fifth, poorer Appalachians dabbled in the human export business by
“blackbirding.” Nearly 4 percent of the Appalachian slave narratives describe
incidents in which individuals were captured and sold illegally through slave
trafficking, and this activity occurred often enough for regional newspapers to
coin the term “blackbirding” when they reported such cases. In Wythe County,
Virginia, two poor whites in a buggy lay in wait on an isolated country road for
fourteen-year-old Benjamin Washington. “One jumped out and tied his hands
together,” and the pair sped off to sell him to an itinerant speculator who was
collecting a coffle for export to Mississippi. In McMinn County, Tennessee,
free blacks were kidnapped and sold at Chattanooga. In Grayson County, Vir-
ginia, “five white men undertook to take five negroes.” When the latter re-
sisted, “two white men and two or three negroes were killed.” Free Cherokees
were also kidnapped and sold into slavery. Near Lookout Mountain, Tennes-
see, Sarah Red Bird, “a pureblood Indian,” was sold to a Mississippi slaveholder
after her family was killed “in an uprising wid de whites” who were “trying to
drive dem out.” Free Cherokees of mixed-Negro heritage were sometimes
captured for profiteering, and free blacks could be kidnapped in the Cherokee
Nation and sold to traders. While driving a wagon to an isolated western Vir-
ginia field, the teenage Peter Wych “was overtaken by a ‘speculator’ and brought
to Georgia where he was sold.” Similarly, two middle Tennessee slave children
“wuz stole” and exported to Georgia and Mississippi. Because middle Tennes-
see children “were often stolen by speculators and later sold at auctions” in
Nashville, one Warren County master constructed “a tall lookout on the roof ”
of his mansion. From that vantage point, a “watchman” kept guard over “the
carefree children who played in the large yard of the nearby quarters.”24

At Lexington, Virginia, an eight-year-old boy “was taken from the lower
end of town by kidnappers, and carried off in a row boat.” In West Virginia,
blackbirders kidnapped slaves who had been hired out to the saltworks, then
sold them at Wheeling or Richmond. Promising their captives a march to
freedom, Floyd County, Kentucky, “slave rustlers” stole slaves at night and hid
them “in Campbell’s Cave.” When their trail had cooled, the kidnappers ex-
ported the black laborers to Clarksville, Tennessee, where they would “sell
them again on Mr. Dunk Moore’s slave market.” Lewis Robards, a Lexington
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slave dealer, used the services of “slave stealers” in rural eastern Kentucky.
Some blackbirders formed regional networks for their illicit traffic. In Ruther-
ford County, North Carolina, for example, William Robbins colluded with
poor whites to “rustle” slaves. In one instance, Robbins even convinced a free
black that, by “stealing slaves,” he could “make money much faster than he was
doing” as a blacksmith. In Surry County, North Carolina, “a number of col-
ored people” were “illegally held in bondage” after they were kidnapped and
sold by a group of blackbirders. One company of slave and horse rustlers com-
prised several men scattered through a four-county area along the East Ten-
nessee and northwest Georgia border. “They had stations in various parts of
the country, at convenient distances, and when a member of the club suc-
ceeded in stealing away a negro or pony, he would pass him on as quickly as he
could to the nearest station, from which point he would be forwarded to an-
other, and so on, till the negro or horse was quite safely disposed of.” By prom-
ising them freedom, another gang was able to attract slaves to leave with them
voluntarily. In northern Georgia, Buck Hurd “used frequently to come round
to [the] quarters of a night” to “try to entice” slaves away. This kidnapper
bragged in his community that he “had got slaves to run from one master, and
after selling them to another, would induce them to run from him, and then
sell them to a third.” In that way, “he had been known to sell the same [slave]
three or four times over.”25

OVERLAND SLAVE COFFLES

The traffic in Appalachian slaves was dominated by “coffles” lasting as long as
seven to eight weeks. Antebellum journalists observed that lower South firms
preferred overland transport because it was “attended with less expense.” More-
over, “by gradually advancing [slaves] into the climate, it in a measure
preclude[d] the effect which a sudden transition from one state to the other
might produce.” The son of a western Maryland slaveholder reported in the
1830s that he had “seen hundreds of colored men and women chained to-
gether, two by two, and driven to the South.” Western Virginians sent slave
coffles overland to the Ohio River for steamboat transport to New Orleans.
When a western Virginia master sent twenty-four slaves to the Richmond slave
mart, he cautioned his son to “be discreet . . . so as not to excite a runaway
slave.” Over a five-year period in the 1830s, Samuel Hall spotted twelve or
fifteen such coffles, averaging forty slaves each, passing along the road near his
home in Greenbrier County. Distant speculators like Franklin and Armisted
sent consigned slaves “overland but once a year—in midsummer.”26 One trav-
eler described the organization of such coffles leaving western Maryland for
the lower South: “A train of wagons, with the provisions, tents, and other nec-
essaries, accompanies the expedition, and at night they all encamp. . . . Not
more than three or four white men frequently have charge of a hundred and
fifty slaves. Upon their march, also, they are usually chained together in pairs,
to prevent their escape; and sometimes, when greater precaution is judged
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necessary, they are all attached to a long chain passing between them. Their
guards and conductors are, of course, well armed.”27

In 1830, a West Virginia newspaper documented the frequency with which
slave coffles were spotted in regional towns. “During the past year,” lamented the
Kanawha Register, “the roads passing through Charleston have been crowded with
travel of every sort. . . . The demon in human form, the dealer in bones and sinew,
driving hundreds . . . clanking the chains of their servitude, through the free air of
our valley, and destined to send back to us from the banks of the Mississippi the
sugar and the cotton of that soil moistened with sweat and blood.” Slave traders
traversed the same roads as livestock drives through southern Appalachia, and
hundreds of camping spots, like those near Bean Station or in Warren County,
Tennessee, became well known as intermediate stopping points for coffles.28

Such a camp was described by an 1834 traveler who encountered a trad-
ing caravan passing through southwest Virginia. Just as they reached New River
in the early morning, they came upon

a camp of negro slave-drivers, just packing up to start; they had
about three hundred slaves with them, who had bivouacked the
preceding night in chains in the woods; these they were conducting
to Natchez on the Mississippi River to work upon sugar planta-
tions in Louisiana. . . . they had a caravan of nine waggons and
single-horse carriages, for the purpose of conducting the white
people, and any of the blacks that should fall lame. . . . The female
slaves were, some of them, sitting on logs of wood, whilst others
were standing, and a great many little black children were warming
themselves at the fires of the bivouac. In front of them all, and
prepared for the march, stood in double files, about two hundred
male slaves, manacled and chained to each other.

[Once the caravan was packed and ready to move], a man on
horseback selected a shallow place in the ford for the male slaves;
then followed a waggon and four horses, attended by another man
on horseback. The other waggons contained the children and some
that were lame, whilst the scows, or flatboats, crossed the women
and some of the people belonging to the caravan. . . . The slave-
drivers . . . endeavor[ed] to mitigate their discontent by feeding
them well on the march, and by encouraging them to sing “Old
Virginia never tire,” to the banjo.

As the traveler proceeded southward by stage coach, he encountered a second
coffle encamped north of Knoxville, Tennessee. “Long after sunset,” he re-
ported, “we came to a place where numerous fires were gleaming through the
forest. . . . There were a great many blazing fires around, at which the female
slaves were warming themselves; the children were asleep in some tents; and
the males, in chains, were lying on the ground, in groups of about a dozen
each. The white men . . . were standing about with whips in their hands.”29
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CONCLUSION

Global demand for cotton spurred in the United States the largest internal
forced migration of slaves that has ever occurred in world history. For that
reason, slave trading was pervasive throughout the South. As part of the ex-
porting upper South, Appalachia lay at the hubs of the national slave trade
routes. Contrary to popular mythology and much scholarly romanticism, south-
ern Appalachia was neither isolated from nor culturally antagonistic toward
the interstate slave trade. From poor white to local sheriffs to wealthy elites,
numerous Appalachia households participated directly or indirectly in the in-
terstate trafficking. Only a small minority of Appalachians may have exported
black Appalachians directly, but local merchants and nonslaveholding farms
benefited from the economic spin-offs from that trade. Thus, every court-
house, even in those counties with tiny black populations, sported its own slave
auction block, and the movement of slave coffles and speculators is easy to
document in regional newspapers. As the introductory quote clues us, black
Appalachians were victimized by interstate trafficking frequently enough that
fears of export were a shaping force in their family lives. Jim Threat remem-
bered that those with whom he shared slave quarters in Talladega, Alabama,
“lived in constant fear that they would be sold away from their families.” Maggie
Pinkard of Coffee County, Tennessee, described the recurrent trauma most
poignantly: “When the slaves got a feeling there was going to be an auction,
they would pray. The night before the sale they would pray in their cabins. You
could hear the hum of voices in all the cabins down the row.”30
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A FREE BLACK SLAVE OWNER
IN EAST TENNESSEE

The Strange Case of Adam Waterford

MARIE TEDESCO

On May 4, 1830, the chancery court at Rogersville, Tennessee, transferred to
the United States Court for the Seventh Circuit and District of East Tennes-
see in Knoxville a transcript of a court record in the case of Adam Waterford,
complainant, and Isaac Baker, defendant.1 A year earlier, Waterford, a “free-
man of color and citizen of the county of Sullivan,” had filed a complaint in
Rogersville against Baker, a citizen of Washington County, Virginia. Waterford
sought and received an injunction against Baker to prevent him from evicting
Waterford and taking possession of his land in Sullivan County, Tennessee. In
November 1829, Baker successfully petitioned for the removal of the case to
federal court, as the dispute involved citizens from two states and property was
valued in excess of five hundred dollars.2

On its most elementary level the case revolved around debts owed by
Waterford to Baker, for which the sale of Waterford’s lands had become secu-
rity. A close reading of the case, however, reveals a tangle of trust deeds for
hundreds of acres of land owned by Waterford in Sullivan County and in Burkes
Garden in Tazewell County, Virginia. Moreover, it became apparent that promi-
nently involved in the case was a “slave Waterford,” owned first by white mas-
ters in Washington County and then by Adam Waterford. Also central to the
case were a number of propertied, white, slave-owning families of Washington
County, Virginia, and Sullivan County, Tennessee.

Many questions surround Adam Waterford, his family, and his circum-
stances. When and how he came to live in southwest Virginia is uncertain, as is
the process by which he came to be a landowner whose acreage should have
put him in the category of the elite. Highly unusual were Waterford’s legal
entanglements with wealthy, white landowners. Unusual, though not unheard
of, was Waterford’s status as a free black slave owner. Focusing on legal docu-
ments, foremost among them the Waterford v. Baker transcript, this essay ana-
lyzes Waterford’s place in the worlds of slavery and freedom in southern
Appalachia. Although his experiences as a free black were unusual because they
allowed him to enter a white commercial world usually forbidden to nonwhites,
it is possible that Adam’s life demonstrates that at least infrequently free blacks
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and whites interacted as equals in commerce and court.3 Further, Adam’s role
as slave owner not only put him in a position that was the very antithesis of his
own former enslaved status, but it also allowed him to develop a role prized by
many a white master—that of “shrewd businessman.” Adam Waterford’s date
and place of birth are unknown. It is possible that he somehow was related to,
was perhaps the grandson of, an Adam Waterford who was a cooper and land-
owner in later eighteenth-century Williamsburg. That Adam Waterford shows
up in tax records of the time: he paid taxes on a town lot from 1782 until 1789,
and his estate owed taxes from 1790 until 1803.4 Given that a 1787–1790 sched-
ule of delinquent taxpayers listed his estate as insolvent and its owner as de-
ceased, it is clear that he died in 1790.5 The Williamsburg Waterford had lived
in the area at least since 1769, when the Williamsburg-James City County Tax
Book recorded a debit against Adam Waterford for “2 tithes, 14 lb. tobacco.”
The next year, according to the accounts of the Botetourt estate, 1768–1771,
Lord Botetourt paid Waterford one pound for coopering work. Four years
later Waterford “made a bucket for the use of the Public Goal for which the
charge is five shillings.”6

A 1778 reference to Waterford found in the accounts of William Finnie,
deputy quartermaster general, calls the cooper “Negro Waterford,” not slave
Waterford.7 Adam the cooper evidently was a free person. Legal records later
refer to the younger Adam Waterford as an emancipated slave. If the Tazewell
Adam was the grandson of the Williamsburg Adam, he and his father had to be
offspring of a relationship with a slave woman, as in Virginia there appears to
be no exception to the rule that the status of the mother determined the slave
or free status of the child.8

A 1989 memo by Emma L. Powers of Colonial Williamsburg insisted
that there was no evidence that Waterford was married, “much less to the slave
woman cited in the [Colonial Williamsburg] Guidebook.”9 Yet, Powers’s refer-
ence to a slave woman introduces the possibility of a liaison between the two.
Such a liaison could have produced a son, the David Waterford referred to
later in Tennessee court records as the father of the younger Adam Waterford.
The younger Adam had a son whom he named David, probably after his fa-
ther. The pattern of naming sons (Adam-David-Adam-David) suggests pos-
sible blood relationships.

How and why the younger Adam Waterford—and perhaps his father as
well—came to live in Tazewell County as a slave is a mystery. By the latter part
of the eighteenth century, however, slavery and slave trading had become es-
tablished on the western frontier of Virginia. In 1750, James Patton, the land
broker for William Beverley, the Virginia burgess who held a substantial fron-
tier grant, noted the arrival of “several Negroes and Five Norwood horses and
meers” to Augusta County, the vast frontier county that then encompassed all
of western Virginia. While Patton’s statement does not indicate the status of
the blacks, the context of his statement indicates that these individuals were
probably slaves, who were to be sold in a fashion similar to that of the horses.
By 1754 it was clear that Patton himself had become a slave trader, buying and
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selling slaves for his own profit and for that of his relatives. More than likely,
he bought slaves from Beverley, who in 1739 had become involved in the Bar-
bados slave trade.10

It is difficult to determine how many persons of African heritage lived on
the Virginia frontier, but there is evidence of a free black and a slave presence
there. Augusta County court records of the 1740s identify black slaves, while
1750s records refer to free Negroes and mulattoes. In 1753 a Moravian mis-
sionary wrote in his diary of a free Negro blacksmith (later identified as Ed-
ward Tarr) who lived in Augusta. During the early 1760s, as hemp production
expanded in the county, Augusta registered a number of African children as
slaves: thirty-two in 1761 and fifteen in 1762. Estate settlements and wills for
the decades from the 1740s through the 1780s also testify to the value ac-
corded black slaves.11

Lists of tithes also provide evidence for a black presence on the frontier.
The 1755 list of 2,313 tithes for Augusta County, for instance, included 40
held by African Americans. Washington County tithable lists for the years
1784, 1785, 1786, covering an area later consisting of Russell, Lee, Wise,
Buchanan, Dickenson, and Washington Counties in southwest Virginia, showed
an increase in black tithes from 217 in 1784 to 314 in 1785 and 383 in 1786.
White tithes for these years were 710, 859, and 1,062, with estimated white
population at 3,767, 4,609, and 5,693.12 By the time of the first census of 1790,
Washington and Russell Counties, the two large southwest Virginia counties,
had total populations of 5,625, and 3,338, respectively. In Washington there
were 5,167 whites, 450 black slaves, and 8 free blacks. Russell County had
3,143 whites, 190 black slaves, and 5 free blacks.13

Although it is difficult to ascertain with any certainty when the younger
Adam came to live in Tazewell County, it is possible that he came with his
father or his mother as a child or an adolescent in the 1780s or 1790s, when the
Virginia frontier was developing commercially. If they traveled from the Tide-
water region to the western frontier as slaves, there are at least two commonly
used routes over which they could have traveled to the Tazewell region. They
could have traveled manacled in a slave coffle, trudging on the same roads used
earlier by Patton and his associate John Lewis as they led settlers from eastern
Virginia through the Blue Ridge Mountains to the region around Staunton.
By the 1790s, Staunton had become a lively redistribution center for trade
beyond the mountains. It is not unreasonable to assume that Staunton had a
slave market, especially considering that Patton’s Springhill plantation earlier
seemed to have served as a jumping-off point for slaves and indentured ser-
vants brought from the east. From Staunton, it would have been relatively easy
to move southwestward along the Great Wagon Road and its extensions.14

The other route the Waterfords may have taken was one commonly used
by white pioneers who settled in the Tazewell region. Many pioneers jour-
neyed from the New River to the Clinch Valley using Indian trails. Crossing
the New River, they followed creeks on to a divide six miles east of the present
town of Tazewell and then traveled one more mile to the headspring of the
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Clinch.15 If the Waterfords came via this route, it seems likely that they came
as slaves of a master who owned only a few bondspersons and who perhaps had
bought them on the Richmond market.16

In 1799, the Virginia legislature carved out Tazewell County from Russell
and Wythe Counties.17 Rural and lightly settled, Tazewell was a county of small
farms with a few towns. Slaves probably served a variety of functions, among
them household chores, planting and harvesting, and other outdoor work. As-
suming that Adam Waterford was a young slave in Tazewell in the late eigh-
teenth and early nineteenth centuries, he probably performed a variety of tasks
for his master, who perhaps also hired him out to neighboring farms.18

The first mention of Adam Waterford in Tazewell County records oc-
curred in 1811, when clerk John Perry registered his marriage to Betsy Day: “I
certify that on the 26th Day of May 1811 Adam Waterford and Betsy Day
people of Colour was bound together according to Law by me.”19 Betsy’s sta-
tus previous to that point is unknown. Although there were many white Days
in Tazewell, including early settlers of Burkes Garden, we don’t know whether
or not any of them owned her. Her surname alone is not sufficient evidence to
indicate prior ownership; emancipated slaves often had surnames taken from
very early masters or from other sources unconnected to white owners.20

Waterford last appeared as a taxpayer in Tazewell County in 1812, but in
1817 he went before the court asking for permission, as a free black, to remain
in the county. The court complied: “Adam Waterford, emancepated [sic] slave,
made satisfactory proof of his being a man of extraordinary merit [and] was
granted permission to reside in the Commonwealth and within this county.”21

The reference to Waterford as a “man of extraordinary merit” indicates that
he applied to the court under the provisions of an amended 1806 Virginia law
that allowed slaves freed after May 1, 1806, to remain in the state and in the
county of their residence, providing courts deemed such slaves to be persons
who were emancipated for extraordinary merit.22

The unamended statute passed by the General Assembly in January 1806
was part of a piece of legislation titled “An Act to amend several laws concerning
slaves,” section 10 of which stipulated that any slave who remained in Virginia
for more than twelve months after emancipation would forfeit freedom and could
“be sold by the overseer for the benefit of the poor.”23 The 1806 statute repre-
sented the culmination of political debates on slavery that stemmed from white
reactions to the aborted insurrections of Gabriel Prosser in Richmond and Pe-
tersburg in 1800 and the failed revolts of Sancho, a riverman who enlisted slaves
in Henrico, Charlotte, Nottaway, Amelia, and Dinwiddie Counties in 1801–
1802.24 These attempted revolts caused whites to strengthen controls over slaves
and to seek to make manumission illegal. A number of politicians in the General
Assembly sought to overturn the 1782 law that allowed manumission by will or
by other instrument of writing. Narrowly failing to overturn the 1782 law, which
many Virginians viewed as a prerogative of property ownership, opponents of
manumission turned their attention to restricting the increase of free blacks in
the state as a way of restricting the freeing of one’s slaves.25
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If Waterford received his freedom between May 1806 and 1811, when
he legally married Betsy Day, why did he wait so long to apply for permission
to remain in Virginia? In his book The Free Negro in Virginia, historian John
Russell noted that in the initial years after the statute’s passage, enforcement
was lax. Thus, there remained in Virginia many free blacks who by law should
have been forced to leave the state.26 Yet, land deeds reveal that shortly after
the granting of his application to remain in Tazewell County, Waterford left
Virginia and moved due south just across the state line into Sullivan County,
Tennessee.

Formed in October 1779, when the Tennessee country was still part of
North Carolina, Sullivan County, like its Tennessee neighbor to its south,
Washington County, in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries had
a relatively small black population, free or slave. For example, according to the
1791 census taken in the Southwest Territory, Sullivan County had a popula-
tion of 4,447 persons, including 297 black slaves and 107 free blacks. Five
years later the federal census taken just before Tennessee’s becoming a state
revealed that Sullivan County’s black population totaled 815 (777 slaves and
38 free), while the 1796 county tax list recorded 196 black polls.27 Waterford’s
land dealings began in April 1817, when he purchased two hundred acres of
land in the Reedy Creek watershed for $2,320 from Adam Miller of Sullivan
County. Three years later, Waterford purchased an additional six acres in the
Reedy Creek section from John Miller, perhaps a relative of Adam Miller’s.28

In early 1821 Waterford made two purchases of land from William P. Thomp-
son of Washington County, Virginia, one of 160 acres at a cost of $1,000, the
other, 480 acres that cost $760.29 How Waterford obtained the funds to pay for
all this land is not clear. There is no indication that he had a skilled trade or
that he pursued any occupation other than farming.

By January 1822 Waterford was short of cash, as on the eleventh of that
month he borrowed $400 (or $450) from John Baker, a resident of Washing-
ton County, Virginia.30 As security for the debt, Waterford “put into the pos-
session of the said John Baker as a pledge a Negro man a slave for life, named
Waterford.” The next day, January 12, Waterford purchased a slave named
Jefferson from Harrold Smith, also of Washington County, with the money
borrowed from Baker.31 Who were these two slaves, and how did Adam
Waterford become a slave owner?

The “Slave Waterford” who Adam mortgaged—or sold—to Isaac and
John Baker was his brother, Walter. On January 1, 1822, Adam agreed to pur-
chase Walter from William P. Thompson, who eight months earlier had bought
him from his brother, Evan S. Thompson.32 It is not clear from whom Evan
bought Walter, but legal records reveal that on August 16, 1819, Evan entered
into a trust deed with James Orr of Washington County, Virginia, in which
Thompson sold several slaves, among them one identified as “Waterford.”
The transaction was dependent on payment of a debt owed to William Byars,
also of Washington County. If the debt of $2,064 was not paid, then Orr was
authorized to sell the slaves to get the money to cover the debt. Apparently,
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Evan Thompson paid the debt, because William Thompson bought Waterford
from Evan.33

William P. Thompson, Walter’s new owner, was a habitual debtor.34 For
whatever reason, Thompson “had become involved in debt” and let Harrold
Smith “have several slaves and among them, one he called Jefferson.” Accord-
ing to John Baker, when Thompson executed the bill of sale to Adam Waterford
for Walter, Thompson “took a writing from the plaintiff declaring that bill of
sale to be void if [Waterford] did not procure the said Jefferson for [Thomp-
son].” To procure Jefferson, later described by Smith as a “negro boy slave 17
or 18 years old or thereabouts,” Waterford borrowed $450 from Baker in Janu-
ary 1822, and pledged Walter as security for the loan.35 The next day Waterford
purchased Jefferson from Smith. Waterford then went to Thompson and “ob-
tained a writing shewing that the bill of Sale which had been conditional, was
then good and valid and never to be revolked [sic].”36

A bill signed by Thompson attested to the foregoing. He stated that
Adam had executed to him “an instrument of writing” declaring that the sale
of Walter would be null and void if “Adam should fail in furnishing Jefferson
in ten days from the date of said writing.” But, according to this document
“said Adam hath this day furnished me with Jefferson agreeable to contract
and the Bill of Sale for Waterford is good and valid and never to be revoked.”37

Waterford thus entered into a triangular agreement with Thompson and
Baker, by which he furnished Jefferson to Thompson in order to purchase
Walter, whom he then pledged to Baker as security for the money he bor-
rowed. Jefferson, then, was simply the instrument through which Adam
Waterford purchased his brother. Jefferson then vanished from the legal record.
It should be noted, however, that in a May 1836 judgment on an act of detinue
brought by John Baker against George Rutledge charging that the latter ille-
gally held Walter, the judge referred to Jefferson as Adam’s son. In ruling against
Baker, the judge described the earlier transaction as one in which Adam pledged
Walter, his brother, to Baker in order to redeem from bondage his son
Jefferson.38 This assumption that Jefferson was Adam’s son was almost cer-
tainly in error, as there is no other evidence that suggests such a relationship
between the two.

Examination of Adam Waterford’s household as recorded in the 1830
census, together with the list of Waterford’s children provided by court docu-
ments, supports the contention that Jefferson was not Adam’s son. In 1830
there were thirteen persons in Waterford’s household, with four of them males
between ten and twenty-four years of age. Smith, in his 1839 deposition given
on behalf of John Baker in a federal case brought against him by David
Waterford, said that Jefferson was about seventeen or eighteen years old when
purchased from Thompson.39 Give or take a few years, then, Jefferson would
have been of the right age to be included among the males in Waterford’s
household. But, including David Waterford, later the executor of Adam’s es-
tate and referred to numerous times as his son, there were eleven children and
heirs of Adam Waterford listed in the case transcript. Jefferson was not one of
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them. It seems likely that if Waterford bought his son for the purpose of eman-
cipating him from slavery, then Jefferson would be in his household. Also odd
is that Harrold Smith never mentioned Jefferson’s being Adam’s son. Smith
said in the 1839 deposition only that Adam desired to buy Jefferson.40

Walter Waterford, pledged as security for Waterford’s loan from John
Baker, became the subject of disagreement between Adam Waterford and the
Bakers. According to the terms of Adam’s agreement with the Bakers, if he
paid back his loan by “February next” (presumably 1822), then possession of
Walter would pass back to Adam. But Adam did not repay the loan. Subse-
quently, in early 1823 James Orr of Washington County, Virginia, as assignee
of William P. Thompson, brought suit against Waterford for a debt of two
hundred dollars.41 On January 28, 1823, Waterford entered into a trust deed
with Andrew Russell of Washington County for the 206 acres of Sullivan County
land on which Adam lived. For one thousand dollars, Waterford sold the land
in trust to Russell. But, if Waterford secured the Bakers through “the undis-
turbed title and possession of a certain slave named Waterford,” and protected
them from “all costs and damages which they may sustain by any adverse claim
being set up to the said slave Waterford,” and indemnified them from court
costs, then the deed would be null and void. The Bakers claimed in their an-
swer to Waterford’s complaint that the jury decision against him in the Orr
case, together with court costs and other expenses, cost them seven hundred
dollars.42

Waterford continued to entangle himself in trust deeds and to obligate
himself to the Bakers. As June 1823 approached, he realized that he would not
be able to pay a $620 debt incurred to Francis Smith of Sullivan County.
Waterford had entered into a deed of trust on his Burkes Garden land, and
Smith was preparing to have the trust closed by sale of the land. Again, Adam
called on the Bakers, who agreed to take over the Smith obligation, which,
with interest accrued, in May 1823 totaled $704.83. Another deed was ex-
ecuted for the Burkes Garden and Sullivan County land. Waterford agreed to
pay the debt to the Bakers by November 12, 1824.43 Subsequently, Waterford
was unable to pay the Bakers, and trustee Campbell went ahead with the sale of
the lands in the spring of 1825. The Burkes Garden and Sullivan County prop-
erties were sold to Isaac Baker for $550. Because Tennessee law stipulated that
the complainant had two years to redeem land so sold, title was not transferred
to Baker until 1827.44

During the next two years Baker attempted to evict Waterford from his
Sullivan County land, but failed to do so. In 1829 Waterford successfully be-
seeched the chancery court for an injunction to prevent the Bakers from evict-
ing him from his land. This decision—characterized by Clarke as
“capricious”—left the Sullivan County lands in the hands of Waterford and his
heirs for the next eleven years as litigation moved from chancery to federal
court.45 Waterford claimed that no real sale of the lands ever took place be-
cause Baker had engaged in fraud when he had had the title of the land trans-
ferred. Furthermore, Waterford charged, Baker had no legal right to the Sullivan
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County lands because trustee Russell had no authority to transfer the title to
Campbell. Waterford also accused the Bakers of underselling forty head of
cattle that he had driven to the Bakers’ farm to help pay his debt to them. The
cattle were “sacrificed” for $15, when they actually were worth $350.46 In short,
Adam contended, the Bakers sought to prevent his meeting of his debt obliga-
tion so that they could acquire his land.

In his 1829 complaint Waterford also accused the Bakers of duping him
in regard to Walter. According to Adam, some time after the original 1823
trust deed was drawn up, James Orr pretended to have had a claim on Walter.
John Baker therefore asked Waterford to insert a clause in the original deed
stipulating that Baker “should not be disturbed in the possession of said slave
Waterford by reason of the claim of the said James Orr, until the said slave
should be redeemed by Your Orator [Waterford].” Waterford agreed to this.
But, Adam later claimed that he was “an illiterate person who, unfortunate for
himself, can neither read nor write,” and if the deed now says that he sold
Walter to the Bakers, then the deed “does not speak the language it was in-
tended to speak when your Orator consented that said addition should be made
to it, for Your Orator positively states that he never made any contract with . . .
Isaac Baker of any kind respecting said Negro slave nor did he ever sell said
slave to either of the Bakers, nor was it so understood between Your Orator
and either of the Bakers, nor was it understood on the part of Your Orator that
any thing should be added to said Deed of Trust respecting said slave except
that Baker should be indemnified from all claims to said slave while he should
continue as a pledge of . . . John Baker.”47

From Adam Waterford’s perspective the Bakers did not own Walter and
thus were not entitled to the $100-120 received annually for hiring him out.
On the contrary, Adam insisted that he was entitled to sums accumulated from
Walter’s hiring out in the years from 1822 until the time in 1834 when Walter
“went out of possession” of the Bakers and came into Adam’s.48

The case dragged on through the legal system, surviving Adam Waterford,
who died in the spring of 1835, and Isaac Baker, who died in the fall of 1830.
Waterford’s interests were looked after by his son and administrator, David,
while Isaac Baker’s son, John, continued the case on behalf of the estate of his
father. The eleven children of Adam Waterford became his heirs.

On October 23, 1840, judges John Catron and Morgan Brown handed
down their decision in the case of Adam Waterford v. Isaac Baker. They ruled
that at the time of the sale of the Sullivan County land by trustee Campbell
under the deed of trust executed on May 23, 1823, the legal title actually was
vested in Andrew Russell, to whom the land previously had been entrusted on
January 28, 1823. Thus no legal title passed by sale of the land from Campbell
to Isaac Baker, and the title to the land was “too much embarrassed because of
said outstanding deed to bring a fair and full price.” Furthermore, Russell’s
relinquishment of the deed to Baker in 1827 was not legal, as Russell had ex-
ceeded his authority as trustee. The judges ruled that the complainants were
entitled to redeem the land but that the defendants were entitled to $1,356
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from debts owed the Bakers by Waterford. If these debts were not paid within
three months, the county marshal would sell the lands at public auction and
give remaining proceeds after court costs to John Baker. Until further order,
title to the land remained with John Baker. The court did not rule on the status
of the Virginia lands but said only that the defendant was “left to his own
remedy” in regard to these lands.49 The court also declined to rule on the
status of Walter Waterford. Dissatisfied with the decision, David Waterford
requested an appeal to the U.S. Supreme Court for the term to be held Janu-
ary 1841, but there is no evidence that anything came of that effort.50

In March 1837, almost two years after Adam Waterford’s death, Walter
Waterford, then living with George Rutledge of Sullivan County, filed a case
in equity in chancery court against David Waterford, administrator for his
father Adam’s estate. Filing through Lewis Garner, a local free black man,
Walter claimed that he should be freed immediately because he fulfilled the
terms of an 1826 contract in which Adam agreed to emancipate his brother
once Walter reimbursed him for the purchase price. Walter first asked that
David Waterford “and any others” be restrained by an injunction from remov-
ing or in any way interfering with him. The court granted the injunction in
April 1837.51

Walter recounted to the court the arrangement under which William P.
Thompson, a citizen of Virginia, transferred “all right and title which he had
as master to your Orator to one Adam Waterford who was the brother of your
Orator, and also a man of colour,” for either $450 or $500.52 Walter further
testified that David Waterford “who was the father of the said Adam and also
on an express agreement with your Orator that as soon as said Adam should
have refunded to him the sum of money which he had expended on the pur-
chase,” he would emancipate Walter. Walter went on to say that in these ac-
tivities his brother was “prompted by love and natural affection as . . . by other
considerations herein after to be mentioned.”53 Apparently Walter knew noth-
ing of Jefferson, the slave used by Adam to purchase Walter from Thomp-
son. But Walter knew that Adam had borrowed money from the Bakers and
that “by some arrangement” with them Adam had placed him in the Bakers’
possession. Walter then testified that he remained with the Bakers for many
years.54

To support his claim of Adam’s intention to free him, Walter referred to
“an instrument of writing” dated March 28, 1826, and agreed to by Adam as
evidenced by his mark. In this document Adam said he had a bill of sale on “my
brother named Waterford, now living with Isaac Baker of Washington County
and State of Virginia,” and that he had from Walter two sums of money, eighty
dollars and sixty-four dollars. Walter, Adam said, had sued him over the dis-
position of these sums, and as a result Adam agreed to place these sums to-
ward Walter’s emancipation. A separate sum of thirty-five dollars, with interest
from 1822, also was to be placed in Walter’s emancipation fund. Adam fur-
ther agreed that all the wages earned by Walter were to be credited toward
his emancipation.55
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Although the document to which Walter referred was dated 1826, inter-
nal evidence from it indicates that he and Adam must have entered into this
contract in 1822. By 1826 Walter had had the opportunity, by hiring himself
out, to earn wages that he applied to his purchase price.56 It is highly unlikely
that Walter would have had the opportunity, in addition to the work he did for
the Bakers, to earn $144 in 1826 alone. Moreover, the $35 sum that the court
ordered Adam to credit to Walter’s emancipation carried with it interest from
1822. But Walter claimed that the amounts mentioned in the 1826 document
represented only a fraction of the money that he turned over to Adam and his
father, David. To support this assertion Walter presented a February 1826
document from Sullivan County that detailed the disagreements between Adam
and David over the amounts entitled to Walter. Adam and David submitted
their dispute to arbiters, who awarded the latter, as the agent for his son’s eman-
cipation, $659. This amount included separate sums of $80 and $64, which
Walter said he had turned over to Adam; $35, with interest accruing from
1822; and $480 for work performed by Walter. Walter charged in his April 18,
1837, request for an injunction that not only had Adam failed to “perform the
contract,” but also that David Waterford [the son] had failed to “perform the
contract.”57

In his answer to Walter’s complaint against him, David contended that
he knew little of the facts of the case. David admitted, however, that Walter
and Adam may have made an arrangement as stated in the complaint and,
moreover, that it may be true that the complainant “has paid or refunded to
said intestate the sum he was bound to do.” But David pleaded that he was only
a “young man who knew little of his father’s affairs.” David insisted that his
father had the “kindest feelings” toward the complainant and a “deep inter-
est in his freedom and any thing that concerned his interests.” His father,
David said, incurred great expense in counsels, loss of time, and great trouble
trying to save Walter from “those who would have doomed him to endless
servitude.”58

David Waterford claimed to know little of his father’s affairs, but his
response to Walter relied on more than a superficial knowledge of Adam’s
legal affairs, especially as they related to Walter. David noted that Adam had
two suits against the Bakers: one recently decided in Abingdon against Adam
and the other (the basis for much of this essay) pending in federal court in
Knoxville. David insisted that he and his father had incurred great expenses in
cases that involved Walter and that he [David] was entitled to court costs and
reimbursement for such trouble and services. Furthermore, David maintained
that “under these circumstances compl[ainan]t has not, and could not be en-
titled to emancipation, and Resp[ondan]t is informed that compl[ainan]t never
did apply to said intestate to be emancipated—nor did said intestate ever refuse
to comply with his agreement made with compl[ainan]t, but on the contrary
was always ready and willing to comply therewith, and in laboring to secure
the freedom of compl[ainan]t perhaps hastened his death.”59

Although David informed the court that the charge that Walter had over-
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paid Adam his purchase price was without foundation, he said he would abide
by the court’s decision if it freed Walter. In such a circumstance, David stated,
Walter should then be assessed court costs; he even added that, “if strict ac-
counting be made by the court of services and court costs, the court would find
that the complainant owed money to the respondent.”60

On November 6, 1838, the chancery court issued a decree in the case of
Waterford v. Waterford. It did not, however, settle the issues raised concerning
Walter’s freedom. Questions of law, the decree stipulated, were to be deferred
until the coming in of the clerk and master’s report, neither of which unfortu-
nately are included in the court record.61

Walter Waterford also sought and received an injunction in 1840 against
John Baker, Isaac’s son and executor, to prevent him from seizing Walter and
taking him to Virginia as a slave. The following year Walter initiated an action
against Baker and David Waterford to prevent them from securing his services
as a slave.62 Walter continued to seek his freedom in court actions against both
men through May 1844. In that year Walter’s appeal bond against Baker was
recorded in chancery court in Jonesborough, Tennessee.63

Although the chancery court apparently found for Baker in 1840, the
Tennessee Supreme Court must have granted Walter’s appeal and awarded
him his freedom sometime between 1844 and 1860, because the 1860 census
shows that Walter resided as a free man in Greene County, Tennessee, with his
wife and five children, the oldest of whom was twenty-three. In that year Walter
was seventy years old and possessed two hundred dollars worth of personal
property, but no real estate. No occupation was given for him, but his wife’s
occupation was washerwoman. Walter’s birthplace was given as Tennessee.64

The legal actions involving Walter and the question of his freedom re-
volved around two questions: first, whether or not Walter and Adam had a
contract entitling Walter to his freedom upon reimbursement of his purchase
price; and second, whether or not Walter had actually paid Adam or his father,
David, the stipulated amount. The cases were all equity cases in which Walter
sought his freedom on the grounds of fairness. In no instance was reference
ever made to Tennessee’s legal restrictions on emancipation and the status of
free blacks. Tennessee’s laws on emancipation and on rights accorded free blacks
in the state were quite lenient until December 1831, when in reaction to “abo-
litionist agitation” and the fears of insurrection occasioned by the Turner re-
volt, the General Assembly passed a law forbidding emancipation, except on
the express condition that any slave so freed be immediately removed from the
state.65 Two years later the assembly modified that law to exempt from its pro-
visions slaves who had made contracts for their freedom before passage of the
1831 statute.66 In so doing the Tennessee legislature reaffirmed the right of a
slave to make a contract for freedom. This right, as Helen Turner Catterall
pointed out in her 1926 history of judicial cases involving slavery, was one that
the Tennessee Supreme Court repeatedly upheld. Its decisions, she explained,
reflected development of the twofold nature of emancipation: the assent of the
master and of the state were required for a slave to obtain freedom. Thus, a
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person could be a “quasi-slave,” if the master had given permission for free-
dom but the state had withheld its assent in the matter.67

Before obtaining the state’s consent that he was a free person, evidence
suggests that Walter Waterford in essence existed as a quasi-free person. He
had a document indicating that his master, Adam Waterford, had consented to
his emancipation on condition that Walter fulfilled a particular bargain. Yet,
questions concerning Adam’s ownership of Walter, together with the equity
issues brought up in Walter’s and Adam’s court cases, obscure the issue of
Walter’s legal status before his becoming a free person.

What conclusions can we draw from this case and its participants? Were
the Bakers guilty, as Adam Waterford claimed, of “gross fraud” in their transac-
tions with him? Were they trying to cheat Waterford, and to deprive him of
his lands? Were the Bakers, as a historian of the Clark and Baker families con-
tends, initially motivated by an altruistic desire to help Adam?68 Did Adam
Waterford, as the Bakers charged, reveal himself as a “schrewd, unprincipled
man cloaking his cunning and artifice under the garb of ignorance and illiter-
ateness?”69 Why and how did Adam Waterford, a free black man, become so
entangled with affluent white slave owners?

Upon initial examination, it appears that Adam Waterford indeed was, as
the Tazewell County court said in 1817, “a man of extraordinary merit.” It
seems incredible that as an emancipated slave he was able, in a short period of
time, to accumulate enough wealth to purchase 846 acres of land, valued at
$4,080. J. Merton England, in his study of free blacks in antebellum Tennes-
see, found that in general most lived on the economic edge and did not earn
enough money to accumulate much property. Relying on the 1850 census,
England determined that 5,380 free blacks in forty-three counties, out of a
total of 6,422 free black persons, held real estate valued at $157,713. A general
rise in land prices over the next decade, one characterized by England as pros-
perous for free blacks and whites, resulted in the value of real estate owned
increasing to $450,732 for 5,874 free blacks out of a total of 7,300 in thirty-
nine counties.70

Waterford’s ownership of this land put him in an elite category of not
only free black owners of property but also of white property owners. In his
study of prosperous African Americans in the South, Loren Schweninger set
up a “wealth model,” to determine who was prosperous, with two thousand
dollars in real estate defining one as wealthy. In the upper South before 1840,
Schweninger found fewer than a hundred families who met this mark.71

Waterford’s acquisition of so much land thus made him extremely unusual in
East Tennessee and in southern Appalachia.

A significant number of whites in southern Appalachia and East Tennes-
see owned no property in the years from 1800 to 1840. In her study of capital-
istic development in southern Appalachia, Wilma Dunaway made a number of
distinctions concerning land-ownership and types of farm labor. She concluded
that, beginning with speculation in land, a small elite came to control the best
lands throughout the region. The majority of whites with connections to agri-
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culture were not owners but rather laborers, tenants, or croppers. East Ten-
nessee exhibited the same patterns and trends in regard to land-ownership and
labor systems.72

Adam Waterford’s land-ownership, then, becomes even more problem-
atic, especially considering that he was an illiterate man with no known skills.
Was he a “man of extraordinary merit” who managed to acquire thousands of
acres of land but who in his lifetime compromised that ownership through
debts and trust deeds? After his death an inventory of his estate listed only
$161 worth of property, excluding the disputed 206 acres of land.73 Yet others,
among them Isaac Baker and Catherine Thompson, William P. Thompson’s
mother, listed Waterford as a debtor in inventories of their estates.74

In addition to questions surrounding Waterford’s land deals, there are
questions concerning his legal friends and adversaries. As a free black, Waterford
frequently had court business with prosperous and influential whites in Sullivan
County, Tennessee, and Washington County, Virginia, including the Thompsons,
the Bakers, the Rutledges, James Orr, and William Byars.75 All of these indi-
viduals were slave owners who, it can be assumed, to some degree accepted
prevalent white attitudes of the social, legal, and intellectual inferiority of blacks
as compared with whites. Yet, these men had extensive dealings with a free
black person. Perhaps, motivated by malice and greed, these white persons set
aside their views on race.

Malice and greed may also have been motivating factors for Waterford
as well, especially with regard to his purchase of Walter. Historians typically
have categorized slave ownership by free blacks as either “benevolent” or “com-
mercial.” Carter Woodson, for example, characterized almost all slave owner-
ship by free blacks as benevolent—that is, free blacks bought family members
or friends to save them from sale or continued mistreatment.76 More recent
scholarship casts doubt on the universality of this assumption, as more and
more cases have come to light of free blacks who owned slaves, often many of
them, and profited by their labor and even their sale.77 Waterford, perhaps,
was a benevolent owner; after all, he did purchase his brother, and in so doing,
may have prevented Walter’s sale to the lower South. But then Adam entered
into an agreement with his brother to make him pay back his purchase price.
Although he never traded in slaves or owned a large number of bondspersons
from whose labor he profited, Adam nonetheless profited from Walter’s hiring
himself out to others. Moreover, Adam and his father apparently spent for
their own purposes money that Walter turned over to them to be put toward
his emancipation.

Adam’s benevolence is also called into question as a result of his legal
action against the estate of Burke, a free man of color in Washington County,
Virginia. Around 1833 Burke died and left a small estate for which John Clarke
became the administrator. For unknown reasons, Waterford brought suit against
Clarke for the Burke estate. By the time that Judge Benjamin Estill heard the
case in 1836, Adam had died and his son David had become party to the suit.
In his ruling, Estill noted that Burke had purchased his wife from his former
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master and that for many years she lived as a freewoman and “would have been
legally emancipated . . . had the said Burke known it was necessary to entitle
her to her freedom after his death.” Estill explained further that Burke’s wife
was “old and valueless as a slave” and that, in such a doubtful case as this one,
it would be “inhuman and against conscience” to deprive her of the “little
pittance of property in the hands of the administrator Clarke, which has been
acquired partly by her industry.” Adam Waterford, Estill ruled, “has wholly
failed in shewing right to said property.”78

Adam Waterford, as a free black master, and Walter Waterford, as a slave
owned by his brother, were participants in the slave system of southern Appa-
lachia. Mountain slavery has not received as much scholarly attention as has
slavery in the Deep South, but in recent years a few scholars have analyzed the
institution. In his path-breaking Mountain Masters, John Inscoe discussed the
nature of mountain slavery. In many regions of western North Carolina, he
wrote, slaves had freedoms and responsibilities not enjoyed by their counter-
parts elsewhere in the South. For instance, slaves often served as couriers for
their white masters and as guides for hunting parties.79 Writing on slavery in
Burkes Garden, Virginia, in the 1840s and 1850s, Ralph Mann agreed that
slaves there had freedom of movement, especially to go over the mountains to
Wytheville as couriers to buy and sell for their white masters.80

To recognize that some slaves had freedom of movement is not to con-
tend that slavery was “easy” in the mountains. Aside from the obvious disad-
vantage of being unfree, mountain slaves, like slaves elsewhere in the South,
lived in fear of being sold away from their families or of being hired away by
the master for extended periods of time. In the upper South, especially early in
the nineteenth century, when agricultural income from a number of crops de-
clined, selling slaves to planters in the new cotton lands of Alabama, Missis-
sippi, and Georgia and to the sugar plantations of Louisiana was common
practice for white masters. Tidewater planters, in particular, saw tobacco prof-
its decrease, so they replaced tobacco profits with income from sales of slaves
to the cotton and sugar lands. Mountain masters were not immune to the lure
of profit from sales of their “best” slaves, who brought the highest dollar value,
to agents of the interstate slave trade.81

Hiring out by masters, as opposed to self-hire by slaves, provided addi-
tional income for masters attempting to maximize their investments in slaves.
Often, masters hired out laborers who they considered “surplus” for as long as
a year at a time. While hiring out was beneficial to masters, for slaves it was
often a source of disruption and anguish for family members separated from
one another by the practice. It was not uncommon for spouses or parents and
children to see one another just once a year, perhaps at Christmas, only to be
separated again by renewal of the hiring-out contract.82

The story of Adam and Walter Waterford, brothers on the opposite sides
of freedom—one a free black slave master, the other a slave seeking his free-
dom—is unique to southern Appalachia and to East Tennessee. Their numer-
ous legal affairs and court battles help us to understand something about
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relationships among free and enslaved African Americans and slaveholding
whites. England contends that the free black “did not participate upon an equal
level with whites in any of the activities of the dominant group.”83 Yet the court
cases studied here document instances where free blacks and whites interacted
as equals in legal and financial undertakings. It is difficult to conclude that the
whites in any way took advantage of Waterford in the courtroom. And in terms
of their land transactions and their disputes over ownership of Walter Waterford,
the principal actors dealt with one another as equals, all pursuing the same
goals—profit and control over others.

That Walter’s owner was black and that he was his brother seemed not to
excite the least bit of concern or consternation. None of the whites, or blacks,
for that matter, involved in the Waterford cases indicated in the court pro-
ceedings that they thought it unusual for a free black person to own a slave,
especially one closely related to the owner. While ownership of slaves by free
blacks was relatively rare in antebellum Tennessee, and especially in East Ten-
nessee where there were far fewer slaveholders than in Middle and West Ten-
nessee, it did not elicit moral outrage from either whites or blacks.

The court record tells us much about Adam Waterford, emancipated
slave and slave owner, but it omits a crucial part of the human record because
it does not tell us why Adam bought his brother or why he failed to free him
(though Walter ultimately won his freedom). An illiterate man, Adam Waterford
left no diary or letters in which he recorded his innermost thoughts.84 Whether
he was a benevolent master or a shrewd, unprincipled man, Adam Waterford’s
motivations for his actions must remain a mystery.

NOTES

An earlier version of this essay, titled “The Opposite Sides of Freedom,” was published in Tennes-
see Historical Quarterly (spring 1996) and is printed here with the permission of the Tennessee
Historical Society.

1. The chancery court at Rogersville heard cases from Sullivan, Grainger, Hawkins, and
Claiborne Counties in East Tennessee. The Rogersville chancery was part of the eastern division,
as established by the Act of 1827 (Section 58). See John Haywood and Robert L. Cobbs, The
Statute Laws of the State of Tennessee of a Public and General Nature (Knoxville: F.S. Heiskell, 1831),
175–76. On the establishment of the seventh circuit, see U.S. Statutes at Large 2 (1807): 420.

2. Adam Waterford v. Isaac Baker Case Transcript, Archives of Appalachia, East Tennessee State
University, p. 1, typed transcript (hereafter cited as Waterford v. Baker). All page references are to the
typed transcription. The laws governing disputes between citizens of different states over property
valued at five hundred dollars or more can be found in U.S. Statutes at Large 1 (1789): 78.

3. Elizabeth Fortson Arroyo, in her article “Poor Whites, Slaves, and Free Blacks in Ten-
nessee, 1796–1861,” Tennessee Historical Quarterly 55 (spring 1996): 57–65, discusses the interac-
tion of free blacks with poor whites. She notes that although many of these interactions were
antagonistic (e.g., slave patrols made up largely of poor whites often preyed on free blacks), many
were not (e.g., liquor drinking, interracial sexual relations). See especially pp. 57, 59, 61–62.

4. Memo from Harold Gill to Earl Soles, Colonial Williamsburg Foundation, Feb. 26,
1969, Archives of Appalachia accession file, Waterford v. Baker. In materials sent Edward Speer,
Archives of Appalachia, from John E. Ingram, Curator of Special Collections, Colonial
Williamsburg, Dec. 1, 1992 (hereafter cited as Waterford v. Baker).

5. Clay, Robert, contributor, “Some Delinquent Taxpayers, 1787–1790,” Virginia Genealo-



148 MARIE TEDESCO

gist 22, no. 2 (April-June 1978): 130.There are no Waterfords in Debra L. Newman, comp., List of
Free Black Heads of Families in the First Census of the United States, 1790 (Washington, D.C.: Na-
tional Archives and Records Service, 1973). The list of free black heads of families compiled from
the 1830 census by Carter Woodson lists Adam Waterford of Sullivan County, Tennessee (p. 161),
as well as a number of Waterfords in the Philadelphia area (pp. 144, 149, 150). See Free Negro
Heads of Families in the United States in 1830, together with a Brief Treatment of the Free Negro
(Washington, D.C.: Association for the Study of Negro Life and History, 1925).

6. Two unsigned memos about Waterford, n.d., Waterford v. Baker.
7. Memo from Earl Soles to Harold B. Gill, Feb. 26, 1989, Waterford v. Baker.
8. The Virginia law of 1662 stipulated, “Whereas some doubts have arisen whether a

child got by an Englishman upon negro should be free or slave, be it therefore enacted . . . that all
children born in this country shall be bound or free according to the condition of the mother.”
See William Hening, Statutes at Large: Being a Compilation of All the Laws of Virginia from the First
Session of the Legislature in the Year 1619, vol. 2 (Richmond: George Cochran, 1823), 280. James
Hugo Johnston, in his 1937 doctoral dissertation, explained that in Maryland the situation was a
little different, at least for a number of years. A 1664 law said that if English women “forgetful of
their free condition do intermarry with Negro slaves . . . that all issue of such freeborn English
women shall be slaves as their fathers were.” This law remained in effect until its repeal in 1715.
Johnston, Race Relations in Virginia and Miscegenation in the South, 1776–1860 (Amherst: Univ. of
Massachusetts Press, 1970), 73–74.

9. Memo, Powers to George Dellengill, Feb. 28, 1989, in Johnston, Race Relations in
Virginia. John Russell, The Free Negro in Virginia, 1619–1865 (1913; reprint, New York: Negro
Univs. Press, 1969), 130–33, discusses marriage between free blacks and black slaves. Herbert G.
Gutman, The Black Family in Slavery and Freedom, 1750–1925 (New York: Vintage, 1977), focuses
almost exclusively on the slave family and marriage and only briefly touches on free blacks, espe-
cially as they practiced endogamous marriage. See p. 90.

10. Patricia Givens Johnson, James Patton and the Appalachian Colonists (Verona, Va.: McClure
Printing, 1973), 9, 22. South of the western frontier of Virginia, in the Cherokee country of
present-day Tennessee, North Carolina, and South Carolina, slavery and slave trading flourished
by the mid-eighteenth century. English traders, in violation of the law, brought black slaves into
Cherokee lands. The Cherokee also became involved in slavery by capturing runaway slaves and
by selling them back to the English and by enslaving runaways. On Cherokee participation in
slavery and the slave trade, consult R. Halliburton Jr., Red over Black: Black Slavery among the
Cherokee Indians (Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1977), 4–16; Kenneth Wiggins Porter,
“Negroes on the Southern Frontier, 1670–1763,” Journal of Negro History 33 (Jan. 1948): 70–71;
and Theda Perdue, Slavery and the Evolution of Cherokee Society, 1540–1866 (Knoxville: Univ. of
Tennessee Press, 1979), 36–42. Augusta County, officially established in 1738–1739, was one of
those huge tracts of land with undefined boundaries that stretched to the Mississippi River.
Beverley’s grant, called “Beverley Manor,” consisted of 118,491 acres, and Benjamin Borden’s
grant covered another 92,100 acres. See F.B. Kegley, Kegley’s Virginia Frontier, The Beginnings of
the Southwest: The Roanoke of Colonial Days (Roanoke, Va.: Southwest Virginia Historical Society,
1938), 40, 42, 47.

11. J. Susanne Schramm Simmons, “Augusta County’s Other Pioneers: The African-Ameri-
can Presence in Frontier Augusta County,” in Diversity and Accommodation: Essays on the Cultural
Composition of the Virginia Frontier, ed. Michael J. Puglisi (Knoxville: Univ. of Tennessee Press,
1997), 160–65. As Simmons notes, Nathaniel Turk McClesky, “Across the First Divide: Frontiers
of Settlement and Culture in Augusta County, Virginia, 1738–1770” (Ph.D. diss., College of
William and Mary, 1990), identifies the blacksmith of the Moravian diary as Edward Tarr.

12. Simmons, “Augusta County’s Other Pioneers,” 160, and Gordon Aronhime, “Slavery
on the Upper Holston,” Historical Society of Washington County, Va. Publication, 2d ser., no. 18 (May
1981): 3. Simmons uses a multiplier of two to arrive at eighty as the number of blacks living on the
Augusta frontier, while Aronhime uses a multiplier of five for population figures. Aronhime refers
to black tithes as slaves. So when he refers to the 1755 list he considers the forty black tithes as
slaves. Although most of the black tithes probably were slaves, a few, no doubt, were free.



FREE BLACK SLAVE OWNER IN EAST TENNESSEE 149

13. Aronhime, “Slavery on the Upper Holston,” 5.
14. Johnson, James Patton and the Appalachian Colonists, 55–56; and Wilma A. Dunaway,

The First American Frontier: Transition to Capitalism in Southern Appalachia, 1790–1860 (Chapel
Hill: Univ. of North Carolina Press, 1996), 202. Slave coffles were commonly used to transport
slaves within the interior. Dunaway discusses early nineteenth-century transportation of slaves by
overland coffles through southern Appalachia in “The Incorporation of Southern Appalachia into
the Capitalist World Economy, 1700–1860” (Ph.D. diss., University of Tennessee-Knoxville, 1994),
729–34; “Diaspora, Death, and Sexual Exploitation: Slave Families at Risk in the Mountain South,”
Appalachian Journal 26 (winter 1999): 132–37; and in her essay in this volume. Travelers described
seeing coffles. In 1844, for example, G.W. Featherstonhaugh, an Englishman traveling in the
South, saw a coffle of 300 slaves at the New River in western Virginia. Not long after, near Kingston,
Tennessee, he came upon a bivouac of slaves being led on a forced migration, perhaps to the slave
market at Louisville. See Excursion through the Slave States, 2 vols. (London: John Murray, 1844),
119–23, 168–70. Michael Tadman discusses coffles as they were used in the interstate slave trade
from the upper to lower South, 1830–1860, in Speculators and Slaves: Masters, Traders, and Slaves in
the Old South (Madison: Univ. of Wisconsin Press, 1989), 71–82. On the Great Road and its
extensions, see Parke Rouse Jr., The Great Wagon Road from Philadelphia to the South (New York:
McGraw Hill, 1973), 67–68; and Thomas Speed, The Wilderness Road (1886; reprint, New York:
Lenox Hill, 1971), 12–13, 26. William E. Myer, “Indian Trails of the Southeast,” Forty-Second
Annual Report, Bureau of American Ethnology, Smithsonian Institution (Washington, D.C.: Gov-
ernment Printing Office, 1928), 15–26, details the antecedent Indian trails used as the basis for
the Great Road and its extensions. The map included with Myer’s work is excellent.

15. Louise Leslie, Tazewell County (Radford, Va.: Commonwealth Press, 1982), 8.
16. On the Richmond market, see Tadman, Speculators and Slaves, 57–65. Slaves purchased,

for example, in Staunton would have traveled the Great Road and reached the Tazewell area from
the north.

17. Lewis Preston Summers, “Bickley’s History of Tazewell County, Virginia, 1856,” in
Annals of Southwest Virginia, 1769–1800, pt. 2 (1929; reprint, Baltimore: Genealogical Publish-
ing), 1433.

18. On renting-out practices in southern Appalachia, see Dunaway, “Diaspora, Death, and
Sexual Exploitation, 138. Brenda E. Stevenson discusses renting out in Loudoun County, Va.,
during the antebellum period in Life in Black and White: Family and Community in the Slave South
(New York: Oxford Univ. Press, 1996), 184–86, 191–92, 199.

19. Tazewell County Marriage Register, bk. 1, Tazewell County Courthouse, County Clerk’s
Office, Tazewell, Va., p. 20; and Netti Schreiner-Yantis, ed., Archives of the Pioneers of Tazewell
County, Virginia (Springfield, Va.: n.p., 1973), 203.

20. Schreiner-Yantis’s transcription of the 1820 Tazewell County census lists five Days.
None at the time were slave owners. See 1820 Census of Tazewell County, Virginia (Springfield, Va.:
n.p., 1971), 5. Pioneer Days are mentioned by Jim and Louise Hoge, “Burkes Garden,” in Leslie,
Tazewell County, 422. On surnames of slaves and emancipated blacks, see Herbert Gutman, “Some-
body Knew My Name,” chap. 6 in The Black Family in Slavery and Freedom, 1750–1925 (New
York: Vintage, 1977), 230–56.

21. John N. Harman Sr., Annals of Tazewell County, Virginia (Richmond: W.C. Hill Print-
ing, 1922), 191; and Schreiner-Yantis, Archives of Pioneers of Tazewell County, 236, 284.

22. Jane Purcell Guild, Black Laws of Virginia: A Summary of the Legislative Acts of Virginia
concerning Negroes from Earliest Times to the Present (1938; reprint, New York: Negro Univs. Press,
1969), 72; and Philip J. Schwarz, “Emancipators, Protectors, and Anomalies: Free Black Slave
Owners in Virginia,” Virginia Magazine of History and Biography 95 (July 1987): 321–22.

23. Guild, Black Laws of Virginia, 72; and Samuel Shepherd, The Statutes at Large of Virginia
from October Session, 1792, to December Session, 1806, Inclusive, vol. 3 (1835; reprint, New York:
AMS Press, 1970), 252.

24. On Gabriel’s and Sancho’s planned revolts, see Douglas R. Egerton, Gabriel’s Rebellion:
The Virginia Slave Conspiracies of 1800 and 1802 (Chapel Hill: Univ. of North Carolina Press,
1993); and Joseph Cephas Carroll, Slave Insurrections in the United States, 1800–1865 (1938; re-



150 MARIE TEDESCO

print, New York: Negro Univs. Press, 1968), 47–70. On Gabriel’s plot alone, see Herbert Aptheker,
American Negro Slave Revolts (New York: International Publishers, 1943), 219–28; and Jordon,
White over Black, 393–94.

25. On the 1782 law, see William W. Hening, Statutes at Large: Being a Collection of All the
Laws of Virginia, vol. 11 (Richmond: George Cochran, 1823), 39; and John Russell, The Free Negro
in Virginia, 1619–1865 (1913; reprint, New York: Negro Univs. Press, 1969), 59–60. Previous to
the 1782 law, manumission occurred by act of the Virginia General Assembly. As Schwarz notes,
such manumissions were rare. See “Emancipators, Protectors, and Anomalies,” 321. On the po-
litical debates during the years 1800–1805, see Egerton, Gabriel’s Rebellion, 147–62; and Russell,
Free Negro in Virginia, 66–72. The Gabriel and Sancho plots involved slaves, not free blacks.
Nonetheless, white Virginians somehow connected free blacks to the conspiracies. See Jordan’s
analysis of the debates and Virginians’ fear of free blacks, White over Black, 574–82.

The 1806 law probably prevented benevolent white and black masters from emancipating
their slaves for fear that the newly freed persons would be forced to leave family and friends in
Virginia. Whether, as Egerton claims, the free black community became a “closed society” at this
time is debatable. Russell found that the free black population increased by approximately ten
thousand from the 1800 census to the 1810 census. The real decrease came in the wake of the Nat
Turner revolt, in the decade from 1830 to 1840, when the increase was only twenty-five hundred.
(See Russell, Free Negro in Virginia, 61, 80.) The significance of the 1806 law was, as Jordan
claimed, that it marked the reversal of Revolutionary trends toward greater freedom. No longer
in Virginia would there be any hope of abolishing slavery. See Jordan, White over Black, 574–75.

26. Russell, Free Negro in Virginia, 156. Donald Sweig found that Fairfax County registers
of free blacks revealed that large numbers of slaves freed after passage of the 1806 law remained in
the county. Sweig, ed. and indexer, Free Negroes Commencing September Court 1822, registrations
of bk. 2, and Register of Free Blacks 1835, bk. 3 (Fairfax, Va.: History Section, Office of Compre-
hensive Planning, Fairfax County, Va., July 1977), 4.

27. On the formation of Sullivan County, see Oliver Taylor, Historic Sullivan: A History of
Sullivan County, Tennessee, with Brief Biographies of the Makers of History (Bristol, Tenn.: King Print-
ing, 1909), 90–91; and Pollyanna Creekmore, comp., “Early East Tennessee Taxpayers” [Sullivan
County], East Tennessee Historical Society’s Publications, no. 31 (1959), 112. For the 1791 cen-
sus figures, see Edward Michael McCormack, Slavery on the Tennessee Frontier (Nashville: Tennes-
see American Revolution Bicentennial Commission, 1977), 18; and the 1795 census figures, J.G.M.
Ramsey, Annals of Tennessee (1852; reprint, Kingsport: Kingsport Press, 1967), 648. Creekmore (p.
121) provides the number of black polls in 1796. By comparison, Washington County, Tennessee,
in 1791, had 5,872 persons, with 535 black slaves but only 12 free blacks (McCormack, Slavery on
the Tennessee Frontier, 18). Lucy Gump, in her 1989 master’s thesis, “Possessions and Patterns of
Living in Washington County: The Twenty Years before Tennessee Statehood, 1777–1796” (East
Tennessee State University), 137, notes that in 1791 there were 535 slaves in the county, and in
1795 that figure had increased to 978. Black polls in 1791 numbered 141, and in 1796, 222. The
age range for taxing slaves varied, but it usually was either ten-to-sixty or twelve-to-sixty. Consult
Gump, “Possessions and Patterns of Living,” 136–37; and Chase C. Mooney, Slavery in Tennessee
(Bloomington: Indiana Univ. Press, 1957), 25.

28. Sullivan County Deed Books, microfilm, bk. 7, 158–59; bk. 8, 72–73. Unlike other of
Virginia’s neighbors, most notably Kentucky and Maryland, Tennessee in 1817 had no laws re-
stricting the entry and settlement of free blacks. Later, in 1831, however, Tennessee joined the
ranks of those prohibiting the settlement of free blacks within its boundaries. See Jordan, White
over Black, 575; and William Imes, “The Legal Status of Free Negroes and Slaves in Tennessee,”
Journal of Negro History 4 (July 1919): 260.

29.Washington County, Virginia Deeds, Deed Book 4, Washington County Courthouse,
Abingdon, Va., 190–92. There were many Thompsons who lived in southwest Virginia, particu-
larly in the Tazewell area. The Thompsons who Waterford had dealings with were descendants of
James Patton, the colonizer, whose daughter Mary married William Thompson. Mary and Wil-
liam had a son, James, who probably fought in the Revolutionary War and who later moved to
Washington County, Virginia. James had a wife, Catharine, and two sons, William P. and Evan. It



FREE BLACK SLAVE OWNER IN EAST TENNESSEE 151

is this William Thompson from whom Waterford bought land. On the Thompsons, consult
Johnson, James Patton and the Appalachian Colonists, 20, 73–75, 213; Mary B. Kegley and F.B.
Kegley, Early Adventures on the Western Waters, vol. 1, The New River of Virginia in Pioneer Days,
1745–1800 (Orange, Va.: Green Publishers, 1980), 88, 144, 336, 338–40.

30. Isaac Baker Jr. was the son of Isaac Baker Sr., a Pennsylvania native who moved to
Maryland and then migrated to the Holston country in 1772 with Evan Shelby. Isaac Senior was
one of the purchasers of the Shelby Grove tract. Isaac Junior, one of five Baker sons, received full
title to the Sapling Grove tract and eight black slaves in Isaac Senior’s will of 1796. See Gerald H.
Clark, From Whence They Came: The Record of a Clark Family (privately published, 1981), 129, 132,
139; and the will of Isaac Baker Sr., Will Book 2, Washington County, Va., 68–69, typescript at
the Washington County, Virginia, Historical Society, Abingdon, Va.

Isaac Junior continued to be a slave owner. According to census records in 1810 he had one
slave; in 1820, eleven; and in 1830, eighteen slaves. His will of Feb. 3, 1831, however, included
only nine slaves. See Bureau of the Census, United States Census, 1810, 1820, 1830, Washington
County, Va.; Clark, From Whence They Came, 160; and Will Book 6, Washington County, Va.,
typescript at the Washington County, Virginia, Historical Society, 174.

31. Waterford v. Baker, 45, 54. Schwarz, in “Emancipators, Protectors, and Anomalies,”
328, notes that free Negroes regularly offered their slaves as security for loans.

32. Waterford v. Baker, 53–54. References to Walter as Adam’s brother are found on pp. 84,
90, 94, and 96 of the transcript. Exhibit no. 3, p. 59, in the case transcript consists of the bill of sale
for Walter Waterford from E.S. Thompson to William P. Thompson. Walter is described as a
“mulatto man.”

33. Washington County, Virginia Deeds, WCCH, Deed Book 7, 109. But Orr, in a later
case against Adam Waterford, made a claim to the “Slave Waterford” [Walter]. See Waterford v.
Baker, 7.

34. The court minutes of Washington County Court, Abingdon, Va., reveal that William
Thompson was in debt to many individuals. See especially Minute Book 2, pp. 200, 218, 274–76.
These debts were recorded in 1820.

35. Waterford v. Baker, 122.
36. Ibid., 54.
37. Ibid., 59–60.
38. Ibid., 94–95. [John] Baker v. [George] Rutledge, Law Order Book “A,” 1830–1841, Wash-

ington County, Va., 229. Baker filed the detinue action in October 1834, 144.
39. Waterford v. Baker, 122.
40. Bureau of the Census, Fifth Census of the United States, Population Schedules, Sullivan

County, Tenn., 334–35; and Waterford v. Baker, 94, 97–98, 122.
41. Waterford v. Baker, 20. How and why Orr was acting as Thompson’s assignee is not

known, but one scenario perhaps is that Thompson owed Orr two hundred dollars, which Orr had
difficulty collecting. Waterford owed Thompson two hundred dollars, and in order for Thompson
to satisfy his debt to Orr, he perhaps authorized Orr to collect the two hundred dollars from
Waterford.

42. Sullivan County Deeds, Deed Book 9, Jan. 23, 1823, 328–29; Waterford v. Baker, 6-7;
20–21. The Bakers claimed that it was said that William Byars had a claim against Walter Waterford.
Byars was the party involved in the trust deed executed by Evan Thompson with James Orr.

43. Sullivan County Deeds, Deed Book 9, May 12, 1823, 325–27; Waterford v. Baker, 22–
23; and Clarke, From Whence They Came, 165. The Bakers also became Waterford’s security in a
suit brought by Waterford against William Shoemaker. See the trust deed, p. 327.

44. Waterford v. Baker, 23–25, 39.
45. Ibid., 1–3, 6; and Clarke, From Whence They Came, 165.
46. Waterford v. Baker, 2–5.
47. Ibid., 43–44.
48. Ibid., 42–43, 48, 50, 97.
49. Ibid.,77–79.
50. Ibid., 79.



152 MARIE TEDESCO

51.Walter Waterford by next friend Lewis Garner v. David Waterford, administrator of Adam
Waterford, March 4, 1837, Washington County Court Records, Chancery Court, Alphabetical
Series, Box 205 (hereafter cited as Waterford v. Waterford). Garner is listed in Woodson, Free Negro
Heads of Families in the United States in 1830, 161. By the time Walter Waterford filed his case the
chancery setup had changed as a result of passage of the Act of 1835 (chap. 41). In the eastern
division (now one of three, not two, divisions in the state: eastern, middle, and western) chancery
cases for Carter, Sullivan, and Washington Counties were heard at Jonesborough in Washington
County. See R.L. Caruthers and A.O.P. Nicholson, A Compilation of the Statutes of Tennessee (Nash-
ville: James Smith, 1836), 225.

52. Waterford v. Waterford, April 1837.
53. Ibid.
54. Ibid.
55. Ibid.
56. According to Mooney, self-hire of slaves in Tennessee was common before 1823 but

thereafter was restricted by law. The laws must have been violated because, as Mooney states in
1839, the illegality of self-hire was reiterated and penalties for offenses made more severe. (Slavery in
Tennessee, 24). See also Imes, “The Legal Status of Free Negroes and Slaves in Tennessee,” 269. J.
Merton England, in his article “The Free Negro in Ante-Bellum Tennessee,” contends that self-
hire of slaves added a “considerable number” to the free black population: Journal of Southern
History 9 (Feb. 1943): 40.

57. Waterford v. Waterford, April 1837.
58. Ibid., answer of David Waterford, Sept. 18, 1837, to bill filed against him by Walter

Waterford, March 1837.
59. Ibid.
60. Ibid.
61. Ibid., decree, Nov. 6, 1838.
62. Walter Waterford v. John Baker, Nov. 7, 1840, Washington County Court Records,

Chancery Court, Alphabetical Series, Archives of Appalachia, East Tennessee State University
(hereafter cited as Walter Waterford v. Baker); Walter Waterford by next friend Lewis Garner v. John
Baker and David Waterford, 1841(hereafter cited as Waterford v. Baker and Waterford).

63. Walter Waterford v. Baker, appeal bond, May 10, 1844.
64. Bureau of the Census, Eighth Census of the United States. Population. Greene County,

Tenn., p. 76. I did not find a marriage record or a will for Walter.
65. Caleb Perry Patterson, The Negro in Tennessee, 1790–1865 (Austin: University of Texas,

Bulletin No. 2205, Feb. 1, 1922), 155; Mooney, Slavery in Tennessee, 20; and Caruthers and
Nicholson, comps., Compilation of the Statutes of Tennessee, 278. The 1801 law permitted any slave
to be freed by his/her owner provided that the court “should be of the opinion that acceding to
the same would be consistent with the interest and policy of the state,” and provided that the
petitioner gave bond for damages in case the freed person became a “charge” on the county. See
James Patton, “The Progress of Emancipation in Tennessee, 1796–1860,” Journal of Negro History
17 (Oct. 1932): 75. Consult also pp. 79–81 of the Patton article on 1829 emancipation law.

66. Caruthers and Nicolson, comps., Compilation of the Statutes of Tennessee, 278; and Patton,
“Progress of Emancipation in Tennessee,” 77.

67. Helen Turner Catterall, ed., Judicial Cases concerning American Slavery and the Negro
(1926; reprint, New York: Negro Univs. Press, 1968), 479.

68. Clark, From Whence They Came, 165.
69. Ibid., 53.
70. England, “Free Negro in Ante-Bellum Tennessee,” 52–53.
71. Loren Schweninger, “Prosperous Blacks in the South, 1790–1880,” American Historical

Review 95 (Feb. 1990): 33–34, 41. Lee Soltow, Men and Wealth in the United States, 1850–70 (New
Haven: Yale Univ. Press, 1975), only briefly comments on property holding among free blacks
before the Civil War. He does note, however, that the “probability of a free colored male’s owning
property was very small indeed, about one-fourth of that of all free men in 1850” (see p. 54). Also
consult Ira Berlin, Slaves without Masters (New York: Pantheon, 1974), 44–49. Luther Porter Jack-



FREE BLACK SLAVE OWNER IN EAST TENNESSEE 153

son wrote a classic 1942 study on property holding among free blacks in Virginia, Free Negro Labor
and Property Holding in Virginia, 1830–1860 (New York: D. Appleton, 1942).

72. Dunaway, First American Frontier, 66–121. See also her dissertation, “Incorporation of
Southern Appalachia,” 1048, 1051–52. Pages 1054–59, 1062–63, 1070, 1078 focus on land-own-
ership in 1860. Pages 988–1004 contain explanations of sources and methodology used to analyze
land-ownership patterns. (Page 995 concerns Tennessee.) In his study of farming in Tennessee,
Donald L. Winters concludes that although tenancy was a common form of land tenure in the
state, a majority of farmers owned their land in 1850 and 1860. See Tennessee Farming, Tennessee
Farmers: Antebellum Agriculture in the Upper South (Knoxville: Univ. of Tennessee Press, 1994), 99.

73. Will Book 2, Tazewell County Courthouse, 57.
74. See, for example, Adam Waterford v. Catherine Thompson, May 8, 1832, p. 6; Oct. 8,

1833, p. 27; May 18, 1837, p. 136; Oct. 25, 1837, p. 151, Chancery Order Book “A,” 1831–1847,
Washington County, Virginia, Courthouse.

75. Census records for 1830 and 1840 document the number of slaves held by the Bakers,
the Rutledges, James Orr, and William Byars, while the court actions cited in the Waterford v.
Baker transcript document the Thompsons’ slave ownership. Further information on the Rutledges
is available in Richard Rutledge Lewis, The Rutledges of Vance, Sullivan County, Tennessee (Knox-
ville: privately published, 1984); and Robert Thomas Case, “The Rutledges,” The Lookout, no. 8
(Aug. 4, 1928).

76. Woodson, Free Black Owners of Slaves in the United States in 1830 (1924; reprint, New
York: Negro Univs. Press, 1968), 1–6.

77. Larry Koger, Black Slaveowners: Free Black Slave Masters in South Carolina, 1790–1860
(Jefferson, N.C.: McFarland, 1985), 1–3, 80–82. See also R. Halliburton Jr., “Free Black Owners
of Slaves: A Reappraisal of the Woodson Thesis,” South Carolina Historical Magazine 76 (July
1976): 129–35.

78. Fee Book, 1823–39, Washington County, Va., 26, Washington County Courthouse,
Abingdon, Va.; Chancery Order Book “A,” 1831–47, Washington County, Va., 24–25, 59, 119,
Washington County Courthouse, Abingdon, Va. In 1833 Hannah Spriggs petitioned that she was
entitled to Burke’s estate; she dropped her claims in 1834. See Order Book “A,” 24–25, 42–43. In
1833 the Literary Fund of the Commonwealth of Virginia, an organization that collected half of
the proceeds of the sale of slaves illegally brought into Virginia in violation of the 1806 law or of
emancipated blacks who illegally remained in the state for twelve months after emancipation,
submitted a legal claim against Spriggs and Waterford to the Burke estate. The fund’s cause against
Waterford was heard with Clarke’s claim in 1836. See Fee Book, 1823–39, p. 36; and Order Book
“A,” p. 119. I do not know the fund’s interest in the Burke estate.

79. John Inscoe, Mountain Masters: Slavery and the Sectional Crisis in Western North Carolina
(Knoxville: Univ. of Tennessee Press, 1989), 89–90.

80. “Mountains, Land, and Kin Networks: Burkes Garden, Virginia, in the 1840s and
1850s,” Journal of Southern History 58 (Aug. 1992): 421.

81. Tadman, Speculators and Slaves, 5–8; Stevenson, Life in Black and White, 177–79; and
Dunaway, “Diaspora, Death, and Sexual Exploitation,” 132–33.

82. Dunaway, “Diaspora, Death, and Sexual Exploitation,” 132, 137; Stevenson, Life in
Black and White, 184–86; and Inscoe, Mountain Masters, 76–77.

83. England, “Free Negro in Ante-Bellum Tennessee,” 55.
84. One of the few—perhaps the only—collection of papers that centers on an illiterate

free black person who was an emancipated slave in the “Free Frank Papers,” a private collection of
documents on Frank McWorter, an emancipated slave born in Union County, S.C., and freed in
Lincoln County, Tenn. See the introduction and epilogue to Julia E.K. Walker, Free Frank: A
Black Pioneer on the Antebellum Frontier (Lexington: Univ. Press of Kentucky, 1983).



154 JOHN C. INSCOE

9

OLMSTED IN APPALACHIA

A Connecticut Yankee Encounters Slavery and
Racism in the Southern Highlands, 1854

JOHN C. INSCOE

Outside observers have provided among the richest primary sources for schol-
ars of the antebellum South. Despite the stereotypical assumptions, florid prose,
and regional and moral biases that characterized the majority of such travel
accounts, their detailed descriptions of the people and places encountered have
often been of great value to later chroniclers of slavery and the Old South.

Probably the most valuable of such accounts are three volumes of com-
mentary on slavery and southern society written by Frederick Law Olmsted.
These accounts are based on his fourteen months of travel throughout the
South from 1852 to 1854.1 Though it was his later career as a landscape archi-
tect, environmentalist, and urban planner for which Olmsted is most widely
remembered, his much briefer stint as a journalist and social critic during the
1850s is equally significant. Because his mission to observe and report objec-
tively on slavery and its effects on southern society was so precise, his route so
extensive, and his observations so voluminous, historians from James Rhodes
and U.B. Phillips to Kenneth Stampp and Eugene Genovese have made
Olmsted’s work the most cited and quoted of any contemporary source on the
“peculiar institution.” Yet relatively little attention has been paid to one of the
most distinctive and uniquely revealing segments of Olmsted’s southern tour:
the summer month in 1854 in which he journeyed through the southern
Appalachians.

Born in Hartford, Connecticut, in 1822, the product of a comfortable
New England upbringing and a Yale education, Olmsted seemed to have been
imbued with a sense of wanderlust throughout his youth. After an extensive
tour of Europe and the British Isles, which led to the 1852 publication of his
first book, Walks and Talks of an American Farmer in England, Olmsted was
commissioned by two New York newspapers to serve as a roving correspon-
dent in the American South. That assignment led to a series of letters that
appeared in the New York Daily Times and the New York Daily Tribune during
and after his trip; the letters were then compiled and expanded into three vol-
umes: A Journey in the Seaboard Slave States (1856), A Journey through Texas
(1857), and A Journey in the Back Country (1860).2
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Though Olmsted, like many of his fellow New Englanders, firmly op-
posed slavery, he was, early in the decade, almost as offended by the hyperbole
and pious posturing of what he felt were overwrought and ill-informed aboli-
tionists. He saw his southern assignment as an opportunity to provide a more
objective appraisal of slavery based entirely on his firsthand observations. “Very
little candid, truthful, and unprejudiced public discussion,” he wrote, “has yet
been had on the vexed subject of slavery.” He maintained that the true nature
of southern life, white and black, had thus far proved more impenetrable to
outsiders and thus subject to misconception than was true of most foreign
countries.3

Once his trip was under way, Olmsted’s concern was not so much the
black labor system’s cruelties and injustices to those enslaved. In fact, he found
the physical treatment and quality of the slaves’ lives to be somewhat better
than he had anticipated. Rather it was the economic and cultural detriments
that slavery inflicted on southern whites—slaveholders and nonslaveholders—
that made up his most stinging indictment of the system. As a labor force,
slavery proved grossly inefficient, due in part to too much indulgence on the
part of owners and taskmasters. Olmsted concluded that, because of their lack
of incentive and their inherent shortcomings as a race, slaves worked slowly
and poorly. Even worse, they lowered the expectations for white labor output
and locked southern agriculture into crude, backward methods that limited the
progress and the productivity that characterized American farming elsewhere.4

A far more serious defect in Olmsted’s eyes was the cultural and social
stagnation that the peculiar institution imposed upon the South. Slavery robbed
the region’s yeomen of any Calvinistic work ethic or of any incentive for self-
improvement, material or otherwise. But what made Olmsted’s commentary
most original was that his descriptions of nonslaveholders—“unambitious, in-
dolent, degraded and illiterate . . . a dead peasantry so far as they affect the
industrial position of the South”—he found almost equally applicable to the
ruling class.5 Its black property inhibited intellectual activity or interests and
perpetuated among the planter elite crude, primitive living conditions usually
indicative only of frontier society.6

In the summer of 1854, toward the end of his second tour, that covering
the “backcountry” or inland South, Olmsted moved into Appalachia. There he
found exceptions to the deplorable conditions of the plantation South and evi-
dence confirming his explanation for those conditions. From late June through
late July, the Connecticut correspondent traveled through the hills of north-
ern Alabama, passed briefly through Tennessee and Georgia, then moved
through western North Carolina across the northeastern tip of Tennessee, and
on into the Blue Ridge Mountains of Virginia. His itinerary included Chatta-
nooga and the nearby copper-mining region of Polk County; the westernmost
string of North Carolina county seats (Murphy, Waynesville, Asheville,
Burnsville, and Bakersville); Elizabethton, Tennessee; and finally Abingdon
and Lynchburg, Virginia.7

With the exception of the few substantial towns through which he passed,
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Olmsted’s mountain route took him through areas with among the fewest slaves
in the South. In 1850, the total slave population of the ten identifiable counties
through which he passed was a little over eight thousand—only 10 per cent of
the counties’ total populations. Excluding Hamilton, Buncombe, and Wash-
ington Counties, with their respective communities of Chattanooga, Asheville,
and Abingdon, whose populations were larger, more affluent, and included a
higher percentage of slaves, the remaining seven counties were home to a mere
2,446 slaves, who made up only 6.7 percent of the populace.8

While moving in and between these highland counties, Olmsted found
much to confirm his general conclusions formed after observing other parts of
the South. Though the impact of bondage on its black victims was a major
concern of Olmsted’s throughout his southern travels, he paid little attention
to slaves themselves once he moved into the mountains. While he occasionally
noted their presence in households or farms that he visited, he related only
one specific encounter with a highland slave, a woman he observed while en
route through a prosperous mountain valley. But neither her treatment nor

Frederick Law Olmsted. (Courtesy of the National Archives)
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her mental state interested him by then. In rounding up a herd of “uncom-
monly fine cattle,” she forced the animals to leap over a four-foot fence rail
rather than lower it and beat a pregnant heifer that failed to make the unrea-
sonable jump. Such behavior confirmed to Olmsted his theory that “slavery
breeds unfaithful, meritorious, inexact and non-persistent habits of working,”
habits that are inevitably passed on to white laborers as well, so that they be-
come “even more indifferent than negroes to the interests of their employ-
ers.”9 Even though he maintained that the highlanders he observed were much
more industrious than their lowland counterparts (no doubt due to the pres-
ence of far fewer slaves), this regrettable side effect of the system was never-
theless apparent in the mountains.

But Olmsted was also quick to note the much improved temperaments
of those in areas little touched by slavery, which he credited to the absence of
black bondsmen and their owners. “Compared with the slaveholders,” he gen-
eralized about the mountain residents he observed, “these people are more
cheerful, more amiable, more sociable, and more liberal. Compared with the
nonslaveholders of the slaveholding districts, they are also more hopeful, more
ambitious, more intelligent, more provident, and more comfortable” (293).
Even the material conditions of mountain life were, he claimed, an improve-
ment over those of plantation society.

Olmsted wasted no time in drawing these conclusions. As he moved north
into the Alabama hill country, he passed through a valley he described as hav-
ing “thin, sandy soil, thickly populated by poor farmers.” He added that “negroes
are rare, but occasionally neat, new houses, with other improvements, show
the increasing prosperity of the district” (220). The journalist would later go
to great lengths to reinforce his case for the degenerative effects of slavery on
the character and physical well-being of owners. He told of approaching a
substantial log house with cabins for blacks, only to be told by its owner that he
could afford to spare neither food nor fodder for Olmsted or his horse (233). A
lengthy sequence on his visit with a Tennessee “squire” slightly farther along
his route stressed the indolence and slovenly lifestyle exhibited by both his
host and hostess. The squire slept late and did not change his clothes, and his
wife spent most of her time smoking a pipe on the porch, leading their New
England guest to exclaim incredulously, “Yet every thing betokened an opu-
lent and prosperous farmer—rich land, extensive field crops, a number of
negroes, and considerable herds of cattle and horses. He also had capital in-
vested in mines and railroads, he told me” (236).

In his most clear-cut elaboration of this point, Olmsted described his
accommodations on two consecutive nights near Elizabethton, Tennessee. One
was the residence of a slaveholder; the other was not. Though similar in size
and furnishings—“both houses were of the best class common in the region”
(268)—and though the slaveholder was much the wealthier of the two, Olmsted
maintained that he lived in much less comfort. His house was dirty, disorderly,
and in need of repair; he and his wife were “very morose or sadly silent”; the
household’s white women were “very negligent and sluttish in their attire”;
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and the food was badly cooked and badly served by blacks (269). By contrast,
Olmsted’s next host, a nonslaveholder, lived in much neater, well-ordered, and
comfortable quarters. The women were clean and well dressed, and everyone
was “cheerful and kind.” The food served was abundant and wholesome (the
first Olmsted claimed to have had of that quality since Natchez, Mississippi,
months earlier), and all work was carried on far more smoothly and conscien-
tiously (269–70).

Though such convenient contrasts may strain credibility, the southern
highlands provided the Connecticut Yankee with interesting variations to his
theory that the negative effects of a slaveholding society extended well beyond
its black victims. But it is his interviews with the region’s inhabitants that serve
as the most revealing and valuable aspects of his work, for his account gave
voice to this ordinarily inarticulate and rarely quoted group. The testimony of
these generally inaccessible southerners elicited by their northern guest serves
as the most significant body of evidence regarding what has long been a baf-
fling array of opinion, expert and otherwise, on racism in the mountains.

On no other aspect of Appalachian culture has opinion been so divided
as on the question of how mountaineers regarded blacks. On the one hand are
those who concluded that the lack of contact meant a lack of prejudice as well.
Carter Woodson, an African American historian with West Virginia roots, was
the first and still one of the few scholars to have dealt seriously with the subject
of racial attitudes in the southern Appalachians. He maintained that greater
social harmony existed between the races there than elsewhere in the South.
“There was more prejudice against the slaveholder than against the Negro,”
he wrote, and “with so many sympathizers with the oppressed in the back
country, the South had much difficulty in holding the mountaineer in line to
force upon the whole nation their policies,” namely, the continuation of slav-
ery. John C. Campbell agreed, stating that “large sections of the Highland
South were in sympathy with the North on the Negro question.” Far more
recently, Loyal Jones, an Appalachian scholar and native western North Caro-
linian, asserted that the “Appalachians have not been saddled with the same
prejudices about black people that people of the deep South have.”10 Such
statements seem to credit mountain residents with a sort of moral superiority,
as if being somewhat removed from the harsher realities of the institution en-
abled them to view it more objectively and to see the slaves’ plight more sym-
pathetically.

Other scholars have drawn from the “rugged individualism” and fierce
independence associated with early mountain settlers the corollary that their
love of freedom led them to repudiate the concept of human property. Those
“true democrats” of Appalachia, according to one account, “cherish liberty as a
priceless heritage. They would never hold slaves and we may almost say they
will never be enslaved.” An even more general assessment proposed that bond-
age and high altitudes were incompatible: “Freedom has always loved the air
of mountains. Slavery, like malaria, desolated the alluvials of the globe. The
skypiercing peaks of the continents are bulwarks against oppression.”11
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In stark contrast stand those who have posited that the lack of black con-
tact by many white mountaineers resulted in an even more intense hostility
toward blacks than that felt by whites in areas with more substantial black
populations. This view owes much of its popularity to the oft quoted state-
ment of W.J. Cash in The Mind of the South: “The mountaineer has acquired a
hatred and contempt for the Negro even more virulent than that of the com-
mon white of the lowlands; a dislike so rabid that it was worth a black man’s life
to venture into many mountain sections.”12 Some of the more secluded pock-
ets of settlement in the southern highlands did have and continue to have repu-
tations for their vehement opposition to a local black presence. A resident
explaining the absence of blacks, free or slave, in the Rock Creek section of
North Carolina’s Mitchell County stated that “colored people have a well-
founded belief that if they venture up there they might not come back alive.”13

These extreme points of view suggest, at the very least, that the degree
of racism among antebellum mountain residents ran the full gamut of opinion.
But it should be noted that most of the statements quoted above come from
twentieth-century secondary sources and are largely conjectural as to how pre–
Civil War highlanders would view a race with whom they had little or no con-
tact. Thus Olmsted’s testimony is particularly significant, in that it addresses
these issues so directly.

Most of the mountain residents with whom Olmsted discussed the topic
of slavery seem to have had equal contempt for slaves, their masters, and the
system itself. Their objections toward the institution in their own area, how-
ever, were far fewer than was their hatred of it in the lowland South. One
Tennessee mountaineer summed up the viewpoint held to varying degrees by
almost all of those Olmsted interviewed. The journalist reported, “He’d al-
ways wished there had n’t been any niggers here but he would n’t think there
was any better way of getting along with them than that they had” (239). One
of Olmsted’s hosts near Burnsville, North Carolina, said, “Slavery is a great
cuss . . . the greatest there is in these United States.” But his explanation men-
tioned only the fact that it allowed eastern planters to dominate state govern-
ment at the expense of westerners (259). Others expressed very real regional
prejudices against the lowland society dominated by a slaveholding elite.
Olmsted must have reveled in the chance to quote one mountain resident,
whose objections to the system’s moral effects on slaveholders and
nonslaveholders alike echoed Olmsted’s own: “He was afraid that there was
many a man who had gone to the bad world, who wouldn’t have gone there if
he had n’t had any slaves. He had been down in the nigger counties a good
deal, and he had seen how it worked on the white people. It made the rich
people, who owned the niggers, passionate, and proud and ugly, and it made
the poor people mean” (263).

But despite their objections to the system, almost none of the highland-
ers that Olmsted encountered advocated abolition. The only exception was,
significantly, a resident of East Tennessee, virtually the only section of the
South with an ardent and well-developed antislavery movement.14 This “man
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of superior standing” was a merchant and farmer near Elizabethton, whose
home Olmsted described as “the pleasantest house I have yet seen in the
mountain[s]” (262). Such praise from Olmsted should make it obvious that
this man owned no slaves. Never missing an opportunity to belabor a point,
Olmsted later noted that the slaveholding neighbors of this nonslaveholder
had “houses and establishments . . . much poorer than his” (272).

This East Tennessean was far more outspoken than other highland
nonslaveholders about his disdain for the system and the blacks it embraced.
Slaves “were horrid things,” he said, insisting that he “would not take one to
keep if it should be given to him.” He maintained that it “would be a great deal
better for the country . . . if there was not a slave in it,” and advocated sending all
blacks to Liberia. Olmsted noted that this “colonizationist” even owned a copy
of Uncle Tom’s Cabin and said that he “thought well of its depiction of slavery and
its message” (263–64). In reply to Olmsted’s question as to whether most moun-
tain residents felt as he did, the Tennessean replied, “Well, there’s some thinks
one way and some another, but there’s hardly any one here that do n’t think
slavery’s a curse to our country, or who would n’t be glad to get rid of it” (264).

But Olmsted found no one else in the highlands with as firm a commit-
ment to ending the system. He was quick to dismiss similar antislavery rheto-
ric from three young men “of the poorest class” that he overtook on the road a
day later. “Let the reader not be deceived by these expressions,” he warned. “It
is not slavery they detest; it is simply negro competition, and the monopoly of
the opportunities to make money by negro owners, which they feel but dimly
comprehend” (265).

The relative absence of slaves in the region defused any concern over the
threat of black labor as competition. But the fear of a free black populace was
very apparent among southern highlanders and accounted for much of their
commitment to slavery. One mountain woman, on learning that Olmsted was
from New York and that blacks there were all free, said “with disgust and in-
dignation on her face” that “I would n’t want to live where niggers are free,
they are bad enough when they are slaves. . . . If they was to think themselves
equal to we, I do n’t think white folks could abide it—they’re such vile saucy
things” (237).

But even more often it was their belief in the rights of property owners
that led most mountaineers to stop their condemnation of the institution short
of advocating its abolition. To be deprived of one’s possessions, human or oth-
erwise, was an injustice with which they could and did identify. As one high-
land slave owner reminded his nonslaveholding neighbors, “If they can take
our niggers away from us they can take our cows or hosses, and everything else
we’ve got!”15 Whatever distaste they may have felt for slavery or slaveholders,
this argument was one in which most highland yeomen readily acquiesced.
Even the seemingly subversive sentiments of the Tennessee “colonizationist”
stopped short of infringing upon slaveholders’ rights. He admitted, though
reluctantly, that he “supposed it would not be right to take them away from
those who had acquired property in them, without any remuneration” (263).
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Like most other southerners, the peculiar institution remained considerably
less offensive to highlanders than did outside interference with either property
rights or any other aspect of their or any other southerners’ way of life.16

The backgrounds of the small mountain farmers who Olmsted met also
contributed to their attitudes toward black bondage. Some observers concluded
that the region’s poorer residents bore a strong grudge against slavery because
their inability to compete with it as free laborers had forced them from their
seaboard or piedmont homes up into the highlands. There, the argument fol-
lowed, they were insulated from the system but quickly found themselves shut
off as well from the economic opportunities that the outside world offered,
thus adding to their resentment. As an early twentieth-century missionary to
the mountains concluded, “The aristocratic slaveholder from his river-bottom
plantation looked with scorn on the slaveless dweller among the hills; while
the highlander repaid his scorn with high disdain and even hate.”17 Similarly,
another advocate of this thesis explained that southern highlanders “were penned
up in the mountains because slavery shut out white labor and left them no mar-
ket for their skill and strength. . . . It denied those that looked down from their
mountain crags upon the realm of King Cotton a chance to expand, circulate,
and mingle with the progressive elements at work elsewhere in the republic.”18

Whatever element of truth there was to those assumptions, Olmsted’s
interviews provide very real evidence that such displacement, whether actual
or imagined, was a source of Appalachians’ animosity toward the lowland planter
class. But as his narrative also makes quite apparent, an intense racism was far
more widespread and deeply rooted in the cultural baggage that mountain
settlers brought from the lowlands. That racism in turn carried with it a basic
belief in the institution of slavery, regardless of their feelings toward its most
prosperous beneficiaries, the slaveholding elite.”19

In light of the very slim body of evidence of such views from the nine-
teenth century, much less the antebellum period, the sheer volume of material
provided by Olmsted’s narrative regarding racial attitudes among mountain-
eers makes it significant. Equally admirable is the sensitivity with which he
conveyed the variety of sentiments toward slaves, slavery, and slaveholders that
he witnessed along that route. But one must be wary of accepting the com-
ments of those he interviewed as a thorough or accurate representation of
overall regional attitudes. One of the major attractions of the mountains to
Olmsted, as he neared completion of his second southern tour, was the con-
trast that they offered to the rest of the South. Mountain residents were, in
effect, a unique control group by which he could test his theories regarding
the impact of slavery on southern society; they made up virtually the only
group of southerners whose lives were relatively untouched by the institution.
Thus his depiction of highland society became far more selective than was his
itinerary in the region.

Olmsted visited several of the highlands’ more bustling commercial hubs
and population centers, such as Chattanooga, Asheville, and Abingdon. These
areas supported far larger populations, white and black, and maintained many
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more vital links with other parts of the South through trade and tourist networks
than did the more remote and primitive areas he also visited. The three counties
in which these towns were located were home to 5,683 slaves in 1850. Not only
did that make up an average of 13 percent of those counties’ total populations—
almost twice the average proportion of slaves in the seven other mountain coun-
ties that Olmsted visited—but these 5,600 slaves also accounted for over two-thirds
of the total slave populace in the ten-county area that Olmsted covered.20

The conclusions that Olmsted reached based on his observations of those
larger and more prosperous highland communities are among his most astute
and potentially significant. He noted, for example, that mountain masters were
“chiefly professional men, shop-keepers, and men in office, who are also land
owners” (226). He also concluded that “the direct moral evils of slavery are
less—even less proportionately to the number of slaves,” that the habits of
those slaves “more resemble those of ordinary free laborers,” and that they
“exercise more responsibility, and both in soul and intellect they are more
elevated” (226–27). The implications of such statements on the issue of mas-
ter-slave relations are, at the very least, intriguing; yet Olmsted never elabo-
rated on these generalizations or substantiated them with specific examples.
He included no interviews with the benevolent and affluent slaveholding busi-
nessmen to whom he referred, nor did he indulge in detailed descriptions of
their situations as he did so extensively for those more deprived and deeply
entrenched mountain residents.21

It would be another generation or more before the stereotypical image
of the southern mountaineer in all his ignorance, isolation, and crudity emerged,
so Olmsted could hardly be accused of giving in to such preconceived notions.
Yet by limiting the bulk of his treatment to those he met who did fit that
image, he certainly had much to do with laying the groundwork from which
those stereotypes grew.

He made much of the ignorance of his mountain hosts, for example,
particularly their misconceptions regarding slavery and the sectional crisis in
which it was already embroiled. He recorded a conversation with the Tennes-
see “squire” regarding Irish laborers in New York. His slaveholding host as-
sumed that they were imported from Ireland and purchased just as black labor
from Africa had been. He was amazed to learn not only that New York had no
slaves, but also that blacks there were free (236–37).

Slaves could become victims of their owners’ ignorance, as was the case
of a white couple with whom Olmsted spent a night. They thought that Vir-
ginia was a cotton-growing state to their south and had sold their three slaves
south, largely because of the slaves’ desire to be reunited with their mother in
Virginia (240). He cited other instances in which highlanders thought coffee
was grown in New York (262), confused the locations and proximity of Charles-
ton, Texas, and New York (249–50), wondered if the Mexican War was over
yet (266), and speculated about the nature of the “new country [of] Nebrasky,”
which one old woman “reckoned must be a powerful fine country, they’d taken
so much trouble to get possession of it” (235).
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But in recording mountaineers’ vague and often highly distorted ideas
about geography and politics, neither Olmsted’s purpose nor his tone was as
derogatory or as demeaning as those of later chroniclers of mountain life. His
purpose was to demonstrate that mountain residents’ statements regarding slav-
ery and slaveholders were rarely thought out and were usually based on little
beyond their own limited experience with blacks. Likewise, his descriptions of
their crude living conditions and bleak lifestyles served a specific function in
regard to his more general theories about slavery’s impact on southern society.
But there was an inherent contradiction in Olmsted’s use of the southern high-
lands in substantiating his arguments. Olmsted blamed the deprivations of
mountain life on the presence of slavery elsewhere and portrayed the high-
landers as tragic, and perhaps innocent, victims of the institution. Yet, at the
same time, a basic theme remained: mountain residents, free from so many of
the shackles imposed upon those southerners with investments in or mere prox-
imity to the system, were happier and better people than those less fortunate
lowlanders.

Yet despite discrepancies, inconsistencies, and major omissions in his
description and interpretation of racial and sectional attitudes among southern
highlanders, the seventy or so pages that Olmsted devoted to the region in his
Journey in the Back Country remain invaluable as a record of the most extended
and substantive foray into an area neglected not only by contemporary travel-
ers but also by historians of slavery and the antebellum era ever since. Much of
the strength of Olmsted’s overall commentary on the South lay in his determi-
nation to understand it at the grassroots level. The mere fact that he gave voice
to the southern highlanders, one of the most inscrutable and misrepresented
groups of antebellum Americans, is a remarkable indication of the extent to
which he succeeded.
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OF APPALACHIAN POVERTY

Clay County, Kentucky,
1850–1910

KATHLEEN M. BLEE AND DWIGHT B. BILLINGS

Much of what is known about how Appalachians cope with chronic poverty
is the result of the landmark Beech Creek studies, a series of investigations of
an impoverished, geographically isolated group of neighborhoods in eastern
Kentucky.1 In 1942, James Brown purposefully selected a remote, nonmining
area in rural Clay County, Kentucky, to document a way of life that was less
deeply affected by the penetration of commodity, labor, and consumer mar-
kets than were Appalachian coalfield communities at the time. Brown’s de-
tailed ethnographic observations of subsistence farming, social stratification,
and family and community life, together with subsequent studies of resi-
dents and out-migrants from Beech Creek, provide the best empirical record
of the strategies by which Appalachian persisters and migrants have coped
with chronic, intergenerational poverty.

By the time studies of Beech Creek began, a postbellum exodus of Af-
rican Americans from the Appalachian region had left Clay County’s popula-
tion virtually all white. Thus, the Beech Creek studies yield little information
on how African Americans coped with persistent poverty in Appalachia or
about the interpenetration of race and class factors in that region’s poverty.
To understand how race influenced the economic conditions and opportuni-
ties of Clay County’s populace, we examine longitudinal data on blacks and
whites in an earlier, more racially diverse period in Clay County.2 This com-
parison not only affords information on an understudied population, African
American Appalachians, but also makes it possible to understand the differ-
ent historical trajectories that led blacks and whites into poverty in Appala-
chia and the diverse strategies by which each coped with poverty and economic
marginality. Building on data gathered in prior studies of Beech Creek, we
used manuscript census, tax roll, and property records to examine racial dif-
ferences in migration and persistence, resource accumulation, and house-
hold and family structure in nineteenth- and early twentieth-century Clay
County.
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BACKGROUND

In the late nineteenth century, when local-interest fiction writers and social
reformers began to describe social life in the southern mountains, it became
commonplace to describe preindustrial Appalachia as an isolated folk culture.3

Although largely “mythical,”4 this treatment of the region contributed posi-
tively to a tradition of ethnographic studies of rural Appalachia, including the
Beech Creek studies on which we build here, that provides an indispensable
twentieth-century viewpoint on social change in the region.5 However, the
treatment of Appalachia as a folk culture also reinforced an image of Appala-
chians as a “people without history” that diverted scholarly attention from the
region’s actual history.

In the past twenty years Appalachian scholars have begun to respond to
this scholarly neglect, first by devoting attention to the social history of
postbellum industrialization.6 Only recently has attention turned to antebel-
lum Appalachia and to topics such as farming, commerce, and socio-economic
development before the modern era of coal and textile industrialization.7 Even
more neglected has been the experience of black Appalachians; and here, too,
what little has been published has focused primarily on blacks in the coalfields.8
The history of slaveholding in Appalachia has only recently begun to be ex-
plored,9 while the postbellum experiences of African Americans in areas of
rural Appalachia outside the zones of railroad building and coal extraction have
received almost no scholarly attention at all.

By choosing to build our analyses on the prior ethnographic and survey
research of James Brown and his associates on the farming community of Beech
Creek, we have acquired baseline data on the best-studied twentieth-century
white population in the entire region, as well as a vantage point on processes of
social stratification and rural impoverishment that are independent of the con-
founding effects of industrialization. Modern surface mining technology has
made coal mining economically important to the Beech Creek vicinity only
during the past two or three decades, but until then this section of the Ken-
tucky mountains was remarkably isolated. In 1920, Clay County was the last
county in the state to be reached by railroads.

It would be a mistake, however, simply to project Brown’s description of
Beech Creek twentieth-century social isolation and economic marginality back-
ward onto Clay County’s past; our research suggests that the county was more
closely incorporated into interregional trade networks and less geographically
isolated in the 1840s than were the Beech Creek neighborhoods when Brown
first observed them one hundred years later. In the early years, life in Clay
County revolved around two very different systems of production: subsistence-
oriented forest farming, based predominantly on family labor and practiced by
the vast majority of the population, and a smaller, slave-based manufacturing
and mercantile economy controlled by a few wealthy families. In 1850, the
county’s fifty-eight slave owners, representing only 7 percent of household
heads, owned 10 percent of the total population (515 slaves),10 but slave own-
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ership did not directly touch the lives of most farm households in Clay County.
The result was a highly stratified community.

Elsewhere we have shown that agricultural production in Clay County
and Beech Creek in 1860 was comparable to that of farm regions in the north-
ern United States. The next two decades, however, witnessed dramatic and
rapid agricultural decline. Whereas farms in the North, especially but not
only in the Midwest, increased the value, productivity, and efficiency of their
operations through improvements in transportation, mechanization, special-
ization, and the use of chemical fertilizers, Beech Creek and Clay County
farms decreased dramatically in size and productivity throughout the remain-
der of the nineteenth century as enormous population growth and family-
farm subdivision worsened the inherent limitations of subsistence farming.
In the context of these pressures on the farm population, migration and wage
labor become important phenomena here and throughout the Appalachian
region.11

METHODOLOGY

The data for this study consist of linked records from the manuscript decen-
nial U.S. censuses of agriculture (1850–1880), the decennial U.S. censuses of
population (1850–1880 and 1900–1910; the 1890 census was destroyed), county
deeds and county tax rolls (1871, 1879, 1892), and a one-in-four sample of
Clay County households from the 1860 U.S. Census of Population matched
to the 1860 U.S. Census of Agriculture. We examined two groups: (1) all
nonenslaved African Americans who lived in Clay County in 1850 and 1910;
(2) all whites who lived between 1850 and 1910 in the area that later served as
the site of the Beech Creek studies.12

As the census does not provide identifiable geographic boundaries for
rural areas, we demarcated the Beech Creek population in two steps. First,
drawing on James Brown’s extensive genealogical data on the ancestors of his
1942 Beech Creek study population, we established an inventory of names and
family relationships extending back into the nineteenth century. These genea-
logical data also allowed us to trace women through marital name changes; to
establish the lineage of brothers, uncles, and cousins; and to distinguish house-
hold members who were extended kin from farm laborers and other unrelated
individuals. Second, we located the Beech Creek area over time by identifying
ancestors of Brown’s study population and by coding all households on census
pages in which those ancestral households are clustered. Here, we used a method
developed by historians Steven Hahn, Robert Kenzer, and others that takes
advantage of consecutive enumeration in the census as an indicator of neigh-
borhood proximity.13 These methods produced data on blacks and whites over
time (see table 10.1). Our analysis of African Americans begins with free blacks,
as the federal censuses did not enumerate slaves by name. Any emancipated
slaves who remained in Clay County are added to our data files of subsequent
census years.
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MIGRATION AND PERSISTENCE

The late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries witnessed tremendous popu-
lation turnover in the southern Appalachian Mountains, as small-scale farm-
ing declined and employment opportunities in mining and lumbering areas
expanded. The population of African Americans in Appalachia declined dra-
matically in the decades after emancipation.14 In Clay County, African Ameri-
cans were 15 percent of the population in 1840, of whom 77 percent, or 503,
were enslaved. Fifty years later African Americans represented only 3 percent.
During these same years, Clay County’s once significant salt industry collapsed
and local subsistence farming declined in viability, beginning a descent into
poverty that would leave the county among the most persistently impover-
ished areas in the nation.15

By linking individual and family records over time from the manuscript
censuses of population and agriculture, we can examine racial differences in
migration and in the long-term economic conditions of those who remained
in Clay County.16 We compare rates of persistence of Clay County’s black house-
hold heads with those of whites in the Beech Creek neighborhood, and we
compare rates of persistence among landowners with total persistence rates at
each period and across race (see table 10.2).

Blacks and whites in Clay County had fairly low rates of persistence, mirroring
the pattern found in other southeastern areas.17 Only one decade, the 1860s,
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saw more than one-half of African American household heads in the county at
the beginning of the decade (1860) still there a decade later. Nearly half the
time, fewer than one-third of them could be found. Thus the stereotype of
early rural Appalachia as stable and isolated is wrong on both counts. Here,
as in much of the nation in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries,
communities and neighborhoods underwent frequent and substantial popu-
lation turnover.18

Surprisingly, the persistence rates of blacks and whites were similar, aver-
aging about 30 percent over this period, although the causes of persistence and
migration may have been different for them. A decade-by-decade examination
of the data hints at racially specific factors. With the exception of 1850–1860,
the rate of persistence of African American household heads was stable. White
household heads had more variable persistence rates, including a dramatically
low rate of 15 percent from 1880 to 1900. Such a racial difference may indicate
that whites were more likely than African Americans to respond to the pull of
economic opportunities elsewhere, such as the lumbering and mining booms
between 1880 and 1900. The decisions of black families may have reflected in-
stead the more constant push of economic instability and racial tension.19

Usually, but not always, land-ownership increased the chance that a fam-
ily would remain in Clay County over time. Among white household heads,
property owners were always more likely to persist than the landless. Among
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black household heads, however, property ownership was associated with higher
rates of persistence in only two of the four periods.20 Further, detailed exami-
nation of the census indicates that the occupations of persisters varied across
race. White household heads who remained over time were nearly all landown-
ing farmers, reflecting out-migration among white landless households. Black
household heads who remained, especially in the late nineteenth century, were
nearly as likely to be landless farm laborers as landowning farmers. For African
Americans at the end of the nineteenth century, more than for whites, prop-
erty may have provided the economic means for a family to emigrate from
Clay County.

In contrast to Orville Vernon Burton’s finding that African American
persisters in a lower South community tended to acquire significant amounts
of property,21 African Americans who persisted over time in Clay County be-
gan with, but did not continue to accumulate, substantially more property than
the average. The few black household heads who were present in 1850 and
1860 had an average real property value of $1,700 in 1850, more than twice
the average holdings of $775 for all black landowners in Clay County that
year. Ten years later, the economic advantages of persisters had greatly de-
clined. Property owners’ worth averaged only $900, just slightly higher than
the average of $880 for all African American property owners in Clay County.

Finally, the similar persistence rates across race suggest that it was racial
differences in rates of natural increase and of migration into (but not migration
out of) Clay County that led to the increasing racial disparity in population.22

Beginning in 1808, Kentucky enacted a series of laws that sought to restrict
the migration of free blacks into the state. The effect of these laws is evident in
census data on place of birth, which reveal that large numbers of whites con-
tinued to arrive until the 1880s, but only negligible numbers of nonenslaved
African Americans arrived after 1850. Virtually all free blacks who resided in
Clay County, especially after the Civil War, were born in Kentucky.

These patterns of persistence and migration suggest that Clay County
had little to offer and much to repel African Americans in search of economic
opportunity. Those with the financial means to do so left. Those who did not
have such resources were forced to remain in the county, where they faced
increasing economic hardship in a declining economy. If geographical stability
could brighten the fortunes of landholding whites, it often portended financial
downfall for African Americans.

RESOURCE ACCUMULATION

In the emerging market economy of nineteenth-century rural Appalachia,
wealth and the ability to accumulate it were based fundamentally on land-
ownership. By establishing a pattern of economic opportunity for some whites
and economic subordination for nearly all African Americans, disparities in
land-ownership etched racial contours of wealth and poverty that would en-
dure into the twentieth century.
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Property ownership was exceedingly uncommon among blacks in ante-
bellum Clay County (see table 10.3), as it was throughout the South.23 Only
ten African Americans in Clay County owned land in 1860 (only eight in 1850),
and seven of these came from just three families. This represented 24 percent
of free black-headed households in 1860 (22 percent in 1850), compared with
64 percent of white households in 1860 (54 percent in 1850). Together, all free
blacks in Clay County in 1850 owned only $6,200 in land (less than 2 percent
of the county total), or $35 per capita. By 1860 this had barely increased, to
$9,300, or $36 per capita. Whites in Beech Creek owned more than twice as
much per capita in 1850 ($82) and four times as much ($145) ten years later. If
the 515 slaves in 1850 or the 348 slaves in 1860 (none of whom owned land)
are included, the racial disparity in per capita antebellum land-ownership is
even more pronounced. There are also striking differences in the value of land
owned by whites and African Americans. In 1850 the average African Ameri-
can landowner in Clay County owned $775 of land, compared with $945, or
22 percent more, for Beech Creek whites. Ten years later, the disparity in-
creased significantly. Black landowners owned $880, while Beech Creek whites
owned $1,281, or 45 percent more.

African Americans gained little additional land in the postbellum period. In
1870, whites in Beech Creek still owned more than 400 percent of real prop-
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erty per capita than Clay County’s blacks. Although the percentage of black
households that owned land was slightly higher in Clay County than in the
upper South states on average (24 percent versus 19 percent), it was consider-
ably lower than the percentage of local white landowning households (64 per-
cent). The value of property held by Clay County’s postbellum African
Americans was low, even by the standards of southern states. In 1870 blacks in
the upper South averaged real-estate holdings of $74624; in the state of Ken-
tucky, $684; in Clay County, only $486.

As Jaqueline Jones found in the Deep South,25 racial differences in the
availability of credit accounted for the difference in land-ownership between
whites and African Americans. An analysis of Clay County’s deeds indicates that
blacks, far more than whites, purchased land with cash, especially in the antebel-
lum period. For example, Nicholas Cotton, one of Clay County’s largest African
American landowners, used cash for all his land purchases before 1860; only
during the Civil War years was he able to secure mortgages. His brother, Nelson,
secured a land mortgage in 1857, but only by pledging significant livestock hold-
ings in addition to the land. Whites, with better access to mortgages and other
forms of credit, were far better positioned to acquire land in Clay County.26

Almost all adult males in the antebellum Clay County census reported
themselves to be farmers. But the apparent racial similarity in occupations masked
significant differences. Perhaps three-fourths of free black farmers in 1850 were
landless tenants, compared with 44 percent of white farmers in Beech Creek.27

In 1860, sixteen African Americans listed themselves as farmers, seven owners
and nine tenants, and an additional thirty were farm laborers. Among Beech
Creek whites, there were seventy-four farmers, of whom only twenty were ten-
ants, plus fifty-three farm laborers. Thus, 85 percent of blacks working on farms,
compared with 57 percent of whites, worked as sharecroppers, tenant farmers,
or hired laborers in 1860. This racial difference is even more pronounced, how-
ever, because many white laborers and tenant farmers were sons of farm owners
and their status an artifact of life cycle rather than a permanent class position.

Agricultural life in postbellum Clay County remained rigidly defined by
race. Increasing proportions of white and black farmers owned the land they
farmed, but, just as Burton found in Edgefield, South Carolina, tenant farmers
and farm laborers in postbellum Clay County were disproportionately African
American. Of the sixty-four black household heads engaged in agriculture in
1870, only eighteen (28 percent) were owner operators; the rest were tenants
or farm laborers. Nine years later, only 22 percent were owner operators.28

Moreover, the farms of most postbellum African American owner operators
were tiny, typically yielding fewer than one hundred bushels of corn. Black-
owned farms in 1870 produced only slightly more than $200, compared with
nearly $400 for the farms of Beech Creek whites. By 1879, this racial disparity
widened even further. Black-owned farms generated only $172, compared with
$375 for Beech Creek white-owned farms.29

If the experience of land-ownership differed substantially for blacks and
whites, so, too, did the experience of tenancy. Especially in antebellum Clay
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County, white tenant farmers, although younger on average, owned more farm
equipment and machinery and had substantially more valuable livestock hold-
ings than did black tenants. In 1850, there was little racial difference in the
average value of farm equipment (twelve dollars for blacks and thirteen dollars
for whites), but only 57 percent of Clay County’s African American tenants,
compared with 79 percent of Beech Creek’s white tenants, owned any farm
implements at all (see table 10.4). By 1860, all tenants reported some farm
equipment, but its value averaged ten dollars for blacks and thirty-four dollars
for white tenants.

Livestock holdings showed a similar pattern. In 1850, blacks averaged $100 in
livestock, compared with $162 for whites. Ten years later African Americans
averaged $285 and whites $355. In 1850, 21 percent of black and white tenants
owned no horses, asses, or oxen, animals that were important in farming and
that also served as mortgage resources for tenants seeking to acquire land.30

Fully 50 percent of black tenants, but only another 38 percent of white ten-
ants, owned just one of these animals. By 1860 all tenants owned at least one
horse, ass, or ox, but 20 percent of black and 27 percent of white tenants owned
no more than one. Virtually all tenants of both races owned either milk cows
or cattle in antebellum Clay County.
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Postbellum racial differences in tenancy were less pervasive. Although
22 percent of black tenants owned no farm equipment in 1870, compared with
only 6 percent of white tenants, they averaged more of it ($14 versus $11) and
also more valuable livestock ($170 versus $153) than the younger white tenant
farmers. White tenants were more likely than black tenants to own no (26
percent versus 22 percent) or only a single (52 percent versus 44 percent) horse,
ass, or ox.

In a rural society, tenancy can represent either a lifelong agricultural class
position or a stage in the family life cycle as sons wait to inherit their father’s
land. With longitudinal data it is possible to distinguish these two forms of
tenancy by following tenants over time and linking records across generations.
These data show that in nineteenth-century Clay County, life prospects dif-
fered radically between black and white tenants. The latter tended to be those
awaiting inheritances. They were significantly younger than white owners and
more likely than black tenants to live near property-owning family members.31

Such inheritance, combined with out-migration of the landless, meant that
there were few white permanent tenants in Beech Creek. Between 1850 and
1870, only two whites remained as tenants in any two consecutive census years;
both owned livestock worth less than the average holdings of white tenants
and much less than the average holdings of white owners.32 In contrast, life-
long tenancy was common among African Americans; in fact, it was not con-
fined to the poorest farmers. Because of the difficulty that even African
Americans with substantial farm equipment faced obtaining credit for land
purchases, livestock and machinery holdings do not predict which farmers were
able to make the transition from tenant to owner. Black permanent tenants in
some years had livestock holdings that exceeded those of other black tenants,
and even some owners.33

In Clay County, personal property ownership was more widespread
among blacks and whites than was land-ownership. Farmers were the most
likely to possess property—livestock and farm equipment—but small amounts
of personal property were reported by men and women of both races in virtu-
ally every occupation, including servants, washerwomen, seamstresses, and field
hands. Unlike in the Deep South, where Jacqueline Jones has found that Afri-
can American landowners owned less personal property than did white ten-
ants,34 in Clay County there was little difference in the amounts that they owned.

Eventually, occupation and education began to supplant land-ownership
as the foundations of economic stratification in Clay County. But they, too,
were circumscribed by race. In antebellum Clay County, African Americans
were almost entirely restricted to service occupations: as servants, washerwomen,
seamstresses, and cooks.35 In contrast, many whites in rural Beech Creek es-
tablished themselves in retail trade (as grocers, merchants, millers), craft pro-
duction (blacksmiths, silversmiths, wool carders, well diggers) and
semiprofessions (e.g., clerks and preachers). Very few whites worked as ser-
vants. This pattern continued in postbellum decades. Blacks found work as
cooks, washerwomen, and laborers, while Beech Creek whites secured posi-
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tions as coopers, physicians, lumber dealers, salesmen, and teamsters, though
farming remained the principal occupation.

Educational opportunities for free blacks in Clay County initially were
highly restricted. Only two attended school in 1850. Later, as education was
opened to both races in postbellum Clay County, African American household
heads gained somewhat proportionately to white household heads, but fewer
than one-third of them, compared with one-half of white heads, could read by
1880. Further, literacy was possessed disproportionately by men during every
time period and for both races, although the gender gap was wider among
whites than among African Americans (see table 10.5). The unique advan-
tages, and perhaps the marketable value, of education for white men is evident
in the fact that less than one-half of white women, black women, or black men
could read or write before 1900, a threshold reached by white men by 1860.
Indeed, more than three-quarters of white women were illiterate before 1870,
and more than four-fifths of African American women could not read and write
before 1900. As expected, literacy and economic advantage were found together
in Clay County, although it is not clear whether literacy bestowed wealth or the
reverse. For blacks and whites, those who could read and write were much more
likely to own land than those who could not. The few African Americans in
professional occupations (e.g., clerks and teachers) were literate, but, surpris-
ingly, literacy among African Americans was not confined to particular occupa-
tions. Literate blacks worked as farmers, servants, laborers, cooks, and wagon
makers. The sole African American recorded as literate in the 1850 census, for
example, was a thirty-one-year-old tenant farmer. Ten years later, eighteen blacks
were listed as literate; of these, six were farm owner-operators, two were women
married to white husbands, one was a woman tenant farmer, and two were male
field hands. Four of the eighteen were members of the same family.

Finally, as Loren Schweninger found in his study of southern African Ameri-
can female property owners,36 barriers of race and gender reinforced each other
in Clay County, restricting the property and opportunities of white and black
women. White and black women differed not only in the likelihood that they
were employed for wages but in the occupations that they held and in the
family and household situations that had led them to seek paid work.

Women constituted only 20 percent of Beech Creek whites with occupa-
tions in 1860, and most of them were widowed women operating farms. But
contrary to stereotypes of Appalachian frontier widows, not all of these women
were owners in title only. In 1850, for example, twenty-seven-year-old Nancy
Andrews was married to a farmer and raising a young child. Ten years later she
appeared in the census as unmarried (presumably widowed, though possibly
deserted) and operating a one thousand–dollar farm with the help of her four-
teen-year-old daughter.37 By 1870, now nearly fifty, she had transferred her
land (which had increased in value by $800) to her daughter, who was operat-
ing the farm. Similarly, Sarah Johnson headed a farm household consisting of
several coresident daughters and granddaughters; the value of her farm had
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more than doubled (from $130 to $300) between 1850 and 1860. Tenant farm-
ing, less common among Beech Creek’s white women, mostly consisted of
unmarried women supporting minor children.

African American women were much more likely than white women to
report paid occupations. In 1860, 42 percent of employed African Americans
were women, who held a variety of service and farming occupations. There
were two black women farmers; like the white female farmers, both were un-
married (probably widowed) and had coresident minor children. Unlike the
white women, however, they were tenant farmers, and neither remained in
Clay County for more than a decade. But not all employed African American
women in 1860 were widows or household heads. Clay County’s three black
seamstresses included a nineteen-year-old woman married to a white man, a
forty-year-old mother living with her adult children, and a thirty-two-year-old
woman heading a household of four minor children. Female farm laborers
included three household heads supporting minor children and two young
adults living with white farm-owning families.

In postbellum Clay County, black women held a smaller range of occu-
pations than they did in earlier decades. In 1870, thirty-one of thirty-three
black women with identified occupations were servants, as were ten of sixteen
white women, a pattern that continued in 1880.38 Three black women (but no
white women) owned land and other property in 1870, although none of them
was listed in the census as a farmer. Two of these were widows (one a widow of
a white man), and both were supporting minor children at home. The other
was a forty-year-old single woman who did not appear in earlier censuses be-
cause she was either recently arrived or recently freed. The twentieth century
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saw some opening of occupations to African American women, but again, in
very race-segregated occupations: laborers, washerwomen, cooks, and servants.

Thus gender and race interacted to shape the opportunity structure for
white and black women in Clay County. African American women, who were
much more likely than white women to head their own households or to live in
households headed by impoverished male laborers or tenant farmers, relied on
wage employment for economic survival. Although black women were some-
what more likely than white women to work in agriculture, such pursuits rarely
translated into eventual economic security or opportunity, as they often did
for white men. Rather, agricultural work, like wage employment, represented
a survival mechanism for those severely dispossessed by race and gender.

In Clay County, propertied white men were able to transfer their finan-
cial advantages in the earlier, land-based economy into the skills and occupa-
tional positions that conferred privilege in a new market-based system. Landless
whites and blacks, with few resources in land, had little access to the educa-
tional and occupational opportunities of the commercial marketplace. They
either left the county or remained as its poor.

HOUSEHOLD AND FAMILY STRUCTURE

Studies of poor populations indicate that kinship networks and household ar-
rangements can either ameliorate or magnify financial hardships over time
and across generations. At times, household and family structures provide a
margin of security against financial disaster. But family obligations can also
deepen financial distress and make economic viability impossible.39

In Clay County, household and family structures varied by race, and blacks
and whites differed in how they drew upon kinship ties and household living
arrangements to cope with poverty.40 Antebellum African American–headed
households were far more likely to be female-headed than were households
headed by whites. Of the Clay County households in 1850 that had a free
black household head, fully 32 percent were headed by women, compared with
only 8 percent of the white-headed households. In 1860, the gap widened: 45
percent of free black households were female-headed, compared with only 6
percent of white households. But ten years later, with emancipation, the race
difference in female headship almost vanished: 19 percent of black and 13 per-
cent of white households were headed by women.

The situation of persons living in households headed by nonkin shows a
similar pattern but also reveals the extent to which family life was disrupted for
many free blacks in antebellum Clay County. Over 20 percent of all free blacks
there, but no more than 3 percent of Beech Creek whites, lived in households
headed by nonkin in every decade from 1850 to 1870. Thus African Ameri-
cans were eight times as likely as whites to live with nonrelatives. After 1870
the percentage of blacks who lived with nonkin fell sharply to fewer than 10
percent through 1910, but it remained higher than the very low rate for whites
(see table 10.6).
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These racial disparities in antebellum patterns may have resulted in part from
the manumission of some members of slave families, causing a prior overcount
of one-parent and female-headed households in the census of free persons,
rather than from more deeply rooted cultural differences in household and
family formation. But it is impossible to tell from the census data.

African American women living with nonkin were, on average, older than
white women in similar households (see table 10.7). Living in the household of
nonkin may have been a life course stage for white females who served as ser-
vants or governesses in the late teen and early adult years. For black women, in
contrast, living with white nonkin may have been an arrangement of servitude
or labor that continued well into adulthood. Among whites, men were more
likely to reside in a white nonkin household, primarily as farm laborers. Among
African Americans, however, women were more likely to do so, principally as
servants.41 Lifelong servitude in another’s household may have been more char-
acteristic of African American females than males. In almost every year, black
women living with white nonkin were significantly older, on average, than
men. For whites, the sex differences in age were more variable over time, due
largely to the smaller number of whites in this  situation.

The range of occupations and ages of those living with nonkin further under-
scores how different this experience was for whites and blacks. Almost all those
living with nonkin (except for young children) reported one of two occupa-
tions: servants, for women, and farm laborers, for men. Among whites in Beech
Creek, those who lived in a nonrelative’s household as a farm laborer were
typically in their early twenties. The African American farm laborers in that
situation were much older, from their late twenties to late thirties. Moreover,
white farm laborers living with nonkin were mostly of similar, young ages.
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African American farm laborers living with white nonkin ranged in age from
early teens to over sixty years old. The situation of female servants was similar.
African American servants living in a nonrelative’s home were much older than
comparable white servants, who were in their late twenties to early forties.
The few white female servants residing with nonkin tended to be much younger,
generally in their early twenties.

A close examination of the living situations of Clay County’s most de-
pendent populations, the elderly and children, underlines the extent to which
race shaped one’s chances of living with family or with nonkin.42 For elderly
persons, racial differences in living arrangements were associated with differ-
ential access to land. Property ownership greatly increased one’s chances of
continuing to head a household in old age.43 Thus, elderly whites, who were
much more likely than elderly African Americans to own property and to
own more valuable property, also were more likely to head households in
most years. Overall, the majority of white and black elderly persons (except
blacks in 1870) lived in their own households as heads or spouses of heads
(see table 10.8).

The living situations of older persons who did not head households are also
revealing. Daniel Scott Smith and his colleagues found that in the late nine-
teenth-century South, “co-residence of older southern blacks with their chil-
dren was less influenced by the motives of production and inheritance” than
by concerns of family welfare.44 This pattern was even more pronounced in
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Clay County in the mid-nineteenth century. Before 1880, elderly African
Americans who did not head their own households were much more likely to
be employed as servants or laborers in the households of nonrelatives than to
live with children or other relatives. Indeed, substantial numbers of elderly
blacks, as many as 53 percent in 1870, avoided dependency on their children
by living in households headed by white nonkin. In contrast, elderly whites
were often economically dependent upon family members. Few white elderly
persons in any year lived in nonkin-headed households. This racial difference
reflected the extreme economic marginality of most households headed by
free blacks and their consequent inability to absorb additional dependents, as
well as perhaps their desire to accept or avoid economic dependence on oth-
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ers.45 Before 1880 not a single elderly African American was living in a house-
hold headed by a relative, while significant numbers of elderly whites did.

Elderly women, none of whom owned property in their own names, found
living situations that differed greatly by race (see table 10.9). In every decade,
all white elderly women lived in their own homes as household heads or wives
of heads, with their adult children, or, in one case, with a sister. Elderly black
women who did not live in their own homes as heads or wives of heads lived as
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servants, boarders, or lodgers or with grown children or other relatives. Across
the entire South, one-third of African American and one-quarter of white eld-
erly unmarried (single, divorced, widowed) women headed their own house-
holds in 1880; but, perhaps due to the scarcity of employment opportunities
for elderly women, this was not true in Clay County. In 1880, all unmarried
white women lived with adult children. Among unmarried black women, 73
percent lived with their adult children; the other 27 percent lived as boarders,
as household heads, or in the homes of white nonkin. Except in 1870, there
were substantial race differences in the chances that an elderly woman lived
with a spouse. In every census year except 1870, more than half of all white
elderly women lived with husbands. For elderly African American women,
however, no more than half, and in most years a third or fewer, lived with a
spouse.46

If the lives of Clay County’s adult population differed radically by race, the
lives of children did not. In nineteenth-century America, as in early modern
Europe, childhood was, for many whites as well as blacks, a period of servitude
and labor.47 There was little consistent racial difference in the percentages of
Clay County’s children who reported paid employment, which ranged from
26 percent of black and 20 percent of white children in 1870 to 5 percent of
black and 11 percent of white children ten years later. One major racial differ-
ence stemmed from an 1825 Kentucky state law that allowed for the arbitrary
seizure and forced apprenticeship of free African American children, espe-
cially those from poor families. Work conditions for these children sometimes
differed little from slavery, and economically marginal African American fami-
lies were deprived of their children’s potential contributions to household pro-
duction.48 Children worked as farm laborers and as servants. For whites, the
labor experiences of childhood constituted a rite of passage to adulthood that
often preceded the acquisition of a home and land. For many African Ameri-
cans, however, labor in the employ and household of another extended through-
out a lifetime.

The living arrangements of Clay County’s children did differ by race,
especially in the early years (see table 10.10). Virtually all white children lived
with at least one parent between 1850 and 1870, but nearly one-fourth of the
black children lived with someone else, usually as a servant or laborer in a
white nonkin household. From 1880 to 1910, though, there was a racial con-
vergence in the living arrangements. The percentage of white children living
with at least one parent declined to a low of 84 percent in 1900, while the per-
centage of African American children living with a parent increased to a high of
93 percent in 1910. The percentage of black children living with nonkin dropped
sharply, approaching the negligible level of whites, while the number of black
and white children who lived with family members other than parents increased.

These patterns suggest that the common scholarly practice of viewing house-
holds and families as universal strategic resources for the poor is problematic.
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Among the very poor—Clay County’s landless blacks, for example—the com-
bined assets of households or families were simply too meager to sustain addi-
tional dependent members. Many, especially dependent elderly and children,
were forced to make living arrangements as servants or laborers at their places
of employment. Such strategic use of kinship networks required financial sta-
bility that was simply inaccessible to African Americans in early Clay County.

CONCLUSION

The comparison of black and white citizens of Clay County in the nineteenth
century suggests several conclusions about the relationship between race and
poverty, or its reverse, economic opportunity. First, there are racial differences
in the relationship between persistent poverty and out-migration. In most re-
search, out-migration has been understood as an individual or family response
to chronic regional poverty.49 Further, large-scale out-migration typically is
viewed as heightening overall poverty in the region of origin, as it is typically
the very old, the very young, and the unemployable who persist in a poverty
region during periods of economic opportunity elsewhere. A comparison of
whites and blacks in Clay County, however, suggests a more complex relation-
ship between regional poverty and migration. In the nineteenth century, pos-
sessing the means of economic security (i.e., land-ownership) increased the
likelihood of persisting in the county among whites but increased the likeli-
hood of leaving during some periods for African Americans. White persisters,
often property owners, increased their property accumulation over time, while
African American persisters, without an initial base of property, tended to sink
more deeply into poverty. Thus the incidence of poverty among whites ini-
tially decreased in the nineteenth century due to the out-migration of landless
whites. Among African Americans, in contrast, the poorest remained in Clay
County, creating a base for significant impoverishment in this group. Eco-
nomic opportunity outside Clay County, in the coal and timber industries of
Appalachia or the emerging industrial centers of midwestern cities, did not
operate in the same way across race and thus shaped racially distinct trajecto-
ries for those who remained in the county.

Second, resource accumulation in nineteenth-century Clay County was
in part a function of age and life cycle stage for whites but not for blacks. For
many young white men, a lack of resources, particularly land, was a character-
istic of young adulthood as they awaited land inheritance from their fathers.
Among blacks, however, age did not often lead to ownership; being without
land was likely to be a lifelong condition. Moreover, while whites typically
accumulated greater amounts of property over time (often by using small
amounts of land to purchase additional land), African Americans typically did
not. The ability of an economically marginal household to maintain or in-
crease its financial base was a function not only of its initial holdings but also of
racial factors.

Third, as rural Clay County changed from a subsistence-farming economy
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to an economy based increasingly on commerce and industry, white men were
better positioned than African American men or than women to take advan-
tage of new economic, educational, and occupational opportunities. Rather
than reducing the economic disparities between whites and blacks (and be-
tween men and women) that had been built up in a system of household-based
agricultural production, commercialization and industrialization exacerbated
inequalities and heightened the advantages of whites and men.

Finally, the ability to expand or contract households provided a means of
survival for economically marginal rural whites but not for blacks in nine-
teenth-century Clay County. Among white Beech Creekers, marginal and be-
low-subsistence farming households were sustained during economic crises by
family and kinship networks. Beech Creek farming households producing above
subsistence levels shared surplus kin and absorbed additional household mem-
bers from economically troubled kin households.50 But such household-based
strategies were only possible among kinship groups in which at least some
households were economically secure. Among African Americans, kinship ties
linked households of similar economic precariousness. In times of economic
crisis, therefore, surplus members in African American households (typically
the elderly and the young) were forced to live in nonkin, and typically white-
headed, households as domestic or agricultural laborers. Household situations
adopted only during hard times by whites more often became permanent, im-
poverishing situations for African Americans.

When James Brown entered Beech Creek on horseback on the eve of
World War II, Clay County had become, as it has remained, severely poor.
Economic decline throughout Appalachia impoverished nearly all who remained
in the region. But the common financial destination of whites and blacks there
should not obscure the racially specific historical paths that each group fol-
lowed into chronic poverty.
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SLAVERY’S END IN
EAST TENNESSEE

JOHN CIMPRICH

Say the words “southern slavery,” and most people imagine blacks picking cot-
ton on a large Deep South plantation. One does not ordinarily think of slavery
on the small, diversified farms of upland East Tennessee. Yet 9 percent of the
region’s population in 1860 consisted of slaves. The subsequent war years
changed their lives as much as it changed the lives of those in the Cotton Belt.
Slavery ended in East Tennessee in a manner very similar to that in other
Federally occupied parts of the Confederacy, unraveling from within. Its nor-
mal operation was disrupted by war, and by 1863 Union forces actively en-
couraged the institution’s deterioration.1

Two factors had a distinct effect on this process in East Tennessee. First,
slaves were owned mostly in units of nine or fewer, contrary to the lower South’s
general pattern in which most slaves lived in larger plantation communities. A
mere 3 percent of all East Tennessee masters held twenty or more slaves; only
one owned more than two hundred. The dominant pattern of small slave hold-
ings made personal master/slave relationships likely, something that was not
necessarily to a slave’s benefit. While it might lead to an intimate, warm rela-
tionship, it could also result in suffocating, constrictive supervision and cruel
treatment. Slave disloyalty during the war aroused much white hostility partly
because masters felt rejected in a personal way. Yet, at the same time, the small
slave population limited the black dissidents’ economic and political power.
The other distinguishing factor in the death of East Tennessee slavery was the
region’s reluctance to support the Confederacy. Unionists originally wanted to
preserve slavery and the Union, but the Federal government’s gradual shift to
an emancipation policy forced most of its southern allies to follow suit. So,
slavery’s end in East Tennessee involved a very personalized struggle within
the institution and the reluctant conversion of most voters to emancipation.2

Shortly after the war began, East Tennessee’s obvious Unionism led to a
two-year period of Confederate military occupation. The small number of slaves
in the region did not motivate the rebel regime to make extraordinary efforts
to keep them under control. Chattanooga’s municipal government, for example,
simply set a stricter evening curfew for blacks, and a Confederate commander
in Washington County ordered rigid compliance with the existing pass system
for slaves. The army decided to open a central depot in Knoxville for the re-
turn of recaptured fugitive slaves, but probably never implemented the plan.
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In 1863, retreating troops moved such a depot from middle Tennessee to Chat-
tanooga for a short time before withdrawing into Georgia.3

Although no unusual problems in maintaining slave discipline occurred
before Federal occupation, the situation did frighten some civilians. In 1861,
fears of an insurrection in Hawkins County caused more intense patrolling
than usual, and two blacks were sentenced to hang. No uprising occurred; East
Tennessee slaves in all probability understood the foolhardiness of violent re-
sistance in a society dominated by whites. Insurrection was also impractical,
for, even though masters fleeing the Federal advance brought more slaves into
the region, the slave population remained small and scattered. A few individu-
als murdered their masters in isolated acts of personal revenge, but the bold
ones generally preferred to escape to Federal lines.4

During the fall of 1863, as Federal invaders took all of East Tennessee
except its northeasternmost corner, slavery began to break down. Some flee-
ing secessionists abandoned their bondsmen. Many slaves ran away from se-
cessionist and Unionist masters in search of freedom. One master’s inhumanity
pushed a slave named Richard into flight from Jonesboro during the depths of
winter. The effort ended tragically with severe frostbite, surrender, and the
eventual amputation of his feet. Martha, of Loudon County, asked her owner
to start paying her the relatively low sum of fifty dollars a year. When he re-
fused, she left to work for someone else who would provide compensation.
Jourdan, a runaway from Big Spring, renounced servitude not only because he
had received nothing in return for his labor, but also because his masters had
forced his daughters into having sexual intercourse with them.5 Thus desires
to escape cruel treatment, to gain new opportunities, or to accomplish both
goals motivated slaves to flee.

In their efforts to retain control over slaves, masters resorted to several
tactics. Ebenezer Johnson of Loudon County called in his slave Henry for a
very emotional meeting in which both men reaffirmed their obligations to
each other under the institution’s paternalistic ideals: Johnson promised to
provide subsistence and protection while Henry vowed to serve faithfully in
return. This personalized approach succeeded with Henry but not with his
wife, who deserted her master and her husband after several bitter arguments.
Some slaveholders used force, although not always with success. One of
Johnson’s neighbors recaptured several runaway women and children only to
find himself confronted by angry male fugitives, who released the recaptured
slaves and severely beat their captor. The only sure method for keeping blacks
in bondage was to move them behind Confederate lines. One slave, taken deep
into rebel territory in the state’s mountainous northeast corner, was completely
removed from the war until its end.6

Successful runaways, called contrabands by the Federals, concentrated
in Knoxville, Chattanooga, and other occupied towns. A white resident of
Chattanooga wrote, “The town is so crowded with them we have but a slim
showing. . . . It is so diffrant [sic] from what it used to be.” Military officials
allowed some contrabands into quarters established for white Unionist refu-



SLAVERY’S END IN EAST TENNESSEE 191

gees, but most had to live in tents, abandoned buildings, or shanties of their
own construction. In late 1864 the army built a large camp for refugees of both
colors, but a few months later authorities segregated blacks into a camp across
the Tennessee River from Chattanooga. A lumber shortage forced many of the
blacks to build and live in sod huts. Federal authorities began construction of a
similar camp across the river from Knoxville but abandoned the project. Most
black refugees there remained in a shantytown on the western side of the city,
although they cultivated a large communal garden at the site of the unfinished
camp. In Knoxville and Chattanooga, the wartime influx of fugitive slaves signifi-
cantly increased black urban populations.7

Town life created new religious, educational, and economic opportuni-
ties for runaways. A Chattanooga contraband told a northern reformer that
what he wanted most and had obtained from town life was the ability to attend
black religious meetings without white regulation or supervision. Northern
freedmen’s aid societies and several Knoxville blacks opened schools. Alfred
Anderson, a free black preacher, compensated for his inadequate education
with hard work: “I fealt that this pepel must be traind for I knew tha wair
humans. I sacrafised my bisness [to teach].” Besides a chance for personal de-
velopment, towns offered job opportunities with private employers and the
Federal government.8

From the perspective of their changing status, the most important con-
traband occupation was soldiering. Motivated by military expediency and anti-
slavery feelings, Union officials opened recruiting stations at Pikeville and
Chattanooga in December 1863. Almost as soon as a runaway arrived in those
towns a recruiter tried to talk him into enlistment. A Knoxville station opened
a month later with a different strategy: conscription of slaves and contrabands.
The practice later spread throughout Federally occupied East Tennessee.9
Slaveholders stiffly opposed voluntary and involuntary enlistment of their chat-
tel. The pro-Confederate Ebenezer Johnson promised to do everything pos-
sible to keep his slave Henry out of the army, while another secessionist
unsuccessfully tried to bribe an enlisted runaway into deserting. East Tennes-
see Unionists, many of whom were opposed to emancipation and black sol-
diering, used their political power to limit the amount of recruiting in the
Knoxville area. Unionist and secessionist masters knew that arming former
slaves marked a big step from bondage to freedom and raised the possibility of
a higher social status for blacks.10

Enlistment made a difference in a contraband’s life. He could now bear
arms without obtaining the permit required by the slave code. The Union
army built up the recruit’s pride in his military appearance and performance.
As a member of occupation forces, he held a certain amount of power, unlike a
slave. A black sergeant from Jefferson County chose to prevent his men from
sacking his former owner’s plantation. Another soldier took his former mis-
tress to bid her sister farewell at the Knoxville train station, a place that civil-
ians could enter only with a military escort. Blacks benefited from the service
in other ways as well. Many had an opportunity to build up small savings in



192 JOHN CIMPRICH

company banks or to acquire some education in schools taught by chaplains
and officers.11

Despite some improvement in status, black troops had great difficulty
winning respect. White soldiers frequently insulted or attacked them. One
white officer removed two of his men from a post jail because black sentries
guarded it. Until June 1864, the army paid blacks less than it did whites. Dur-
ing the first half of the year, a black brigade at Chattanooga protested by refus-
ing to accept any pay. Nevertheless, it continued to carry out the duties assigned
to it. The unit built fortifications and hauled supplies because Maj. Gen. George
H. Thomas, commander of the Department of the Cumberland, believed that
blacks lacked the courage necessary to fight in battle. Col. Thomas J. Morgan,
the brigade’s commander, filed an official complaint about the denial of field
service, but General Thomas refused to budge and even threatened Morgan
with dismissal if he continued to protest. Thomas Cole, a private in the unit,
perceived the matter in personalized terms: “When dey wents to battle I was
always left in camp ter helps take care of de supplies. General Thomas calls me
a coward.”12

Events during the second half of 1864 brought black troops into field
service, although they rarely clashed with Confederate troops. The Fourteenth
U.S. Colored Infantry from Morgan’s brigade fruitlessly pursued Maj. Gen.
Joseph Wheeler’s Confederate raiders through East Tennessee. The rest of
the brigade fought in northern Georgia or middle Tennessee against Maj. Gen.
John B. Hood’s Confederate offensive. Fearing that Hood would attack Chat-
tanooga, Federal officials mustered all able-bodied men from both races into
active militia duty. As the southerners bypassed the town, the militia did noth-
ing more than hold drills.13

The amount of damage done to slavery in the region by Federal recruit-
ment, employment, and protection of runaways cannot be precisely determined,
but by the end of the war the institution probably suffered some damage ev-
erywhere. Only after slavery had deteriorated did some Unionist politicians
seriously begin to consider emancipation. The matter lay in their hands be-
cause they had convinced President Abraham Lincoln to exempt Tennessee
from his famous Emancipation Proclamation. During 1863 continuing pres-
sure from Lincoln moved the state’s two leading Unionists, military governor
Andrew Johnson and Knoxville Whig and Rebel Ventilator editor William G.
Brownlow, to call for the institution’s end. Rev. William B. Carter of
Elizabethton led the unequivocally proslavery portion of East Tennessee Union-
ists. Hamilton County’s Col. Daniel C. Trewhitt briefly spearheaded a com-
promise movement, advocating gradual and compensated emancipation for
the slaves of Unionists and pardoned secessionists, but he soon switched to
Johnson’s side. During 1864, Trewhitt, Johnson, and Brownlow became lead-
ers in the state’s Union (later Republican) party, while Carter figured promi-
nently in the Conservative (later Democratic) party.14

In April 1864, a convention of Unionist leaders, who had met twice in
1861, reconvened in Knoxville. Proslavery men tried to pack the meeting, and
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Carter succeeded in getting a majority of the business committee to propose
resolutions against emancipation. A bitter debate over the subject deadlocked
the convention until it decided to adjourn without passing any resolutions. To
save face, Johnson and Brownlow two days later engineered a mass meeting in
Knoxville that endorsed their position.15

Emancipation also received support from the only Unionist newspapers
in East Tennessee, Brownlow’s Knoxville Whig and Rebel Ventilator and James
Hood’s Chattanooga Gazette. Both held that slavery had broken down beyond
repair, that slaveholders had caused secession, and that slave owners had mali-
ciously lorded it over poor whites. Proslavery Unionists replied that the insti-
tution benefited both races and that its abolition would “turn loose millions of
ignorant negroes to riot over their freedom and to devour the land.”16

The issue deeply divided Unionists, but support for emancipation slowly
grew. An observer at one of Johnson’s antislavery speeches reported that “the
citizens concurred most enthusiastically with him.” A Bradley County resident
recorded that many of his neighbors believed “slavery has played out and they
would rather have the American Republic than all the negroes in Africa.” In a
state constitutional referendum on February 22, 1865, East Tennesseans cast

William G. “Parson” Brownlow. (From Brownlow, Sketches of the Rise, Progress, and
Decline of Secession [1862])
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almost half the ballots and voted 12,962 to 31 for emancipation, a wider mar-
gin than in the rest of the state. Restriction of the franchise to Unionists, who
swore support for all of Lincoln’s war policies, predetermined the outcome.17

The referendum resulted in slavery’s legal end in Tennessee, although
compliance followed very slowly in remote areas. The institution survived past
the war’s end and at least through the summer in some eastern counties. The
Unionist majority had not turned antislavery because of egalitarianism, and
now antiblack sentiment swelled in East Tennessee. Slave disloyalty, viewed in
deeply personal terms as impudence and ingratitude, had greatly offended
masters. Also, because blacks did not make up a major part of East Tennessee’s
labor force, class antagonism worked more fiercely against them. As one critic
observed, “If Mr. A had no negroes to hire at half price he would let us have
some of his good land to work, then we could soon begin to thrive.” For these
reasons some East Tennesseans demanded the forced colonization of freed-
men abroad. One of the region’s delegates tried to commit the legislature to
the idea but failed because parts of middle and west Tennessee suffered from a
labor shortage.18

To deal with several postwar problems, including the transition from
slavery, a new Federal agency, the Freedmen’s Bureau, opened a district office
in Knoxville during the summer of 1865. By the fall, subordinate agents had
started work in Hamilton and Washington Counties.19 The freedmen’s eco-
nomic problems required immediate attention, for job opportunities with the
Federal army sharply declined as it demobilized. Night riders terrorized blacks
who rented land appropriated by the Federal government from Confederate
owners. In addition, Knoxville and Chattanooga enforced prewar laws prohib-
iting blacks from selling groceries or dry goods. Increasingly freedmen had
only one economic option—private employment with whites. The unwilling-
ness of some former masters to treat black laborers fairly caused many head-
aches for the Freedmen’s Bureau. Capt. David Boyd, the bureau’s agent at
Knoxville, repeatedly offered to settle labor disputes by creating arbitration
boards. He tried to stop farmers from driving off laborers without pay by threat-
ening to confiscate their farms. Actually he had no such power, and, because
few of his efforts succeeded, Boyd soon viewed his task as impossible.20

Freedmen also had much trouble with the legal system. With the bless-
ing of the local Freedmen’s Bureau agent, Chattanooga municipal officials en-
forced a prewar law against the sale of liquor to blacks. When, however,
Knoxville began to enforce an old ordinance against black possession of fire-
arms, the bureau and the army halted the town’s action. The most serious
problem throughout the region, according to a Madisonville lawyer, was that
“free persons of color cannot get what I call a fair and impartial trial.” The
bureau had authorized its agents to assume judicial jurisdiction over cases in-
volving East Tennessee blacks, but during 1865, for unknown reasons, they
did so only in the black village across the river from Chattanooga.21

The Freedmen’s Bureau generally sought to aid the black community’s
development. Although it could offer neither funding nor protection at first, it
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did encourage the establishment of more schools for freedmen. In 1865 new
ones appeared in Chattanooga, Cleveland, Athens, Clinton, Knoxville,
Greeneville, Jonesboro, and other towns, although local whites closed a school
in each of the last three places through threats or arson.22 Freedmen organized
several schools and churches completely through their own efforts. They sought
to reunify families separated during slavery or the war by sending messages
throughout the network of bureau offices in the South.23

The freedmen’s major effort to extend and defend their freedom took
the form of political action. In April 1865, East Tennessee black men sent the
state legislature a petition for full civil and political rights, especially stressing
that “without our political rights, our condition is very little better than it was
before.” Explaining that they sought legal not social equality, the document
also urged the legislature to make it impossible to repeal the existing law against
interracial marriage. The Knoxville black community, which probably origi-
nated the petition, sent Alfred Anderson and William Scott to Nashville to
work for their rights. Anderson served as a lobbyist at the capitol, while Scott
edited the state’s first black newspaper, the Colored Tennessean. In August 1865,
Scott helped organize the state’s first black convention, which included East
Tennessee delegates from Hamilton, Bradley, McMinn, Meigs, Knox, Blount,
Washington, and Hawkins Counties. Like the East Tennessee petition, the
convention called for full civil and political equality. However, 1865 ended
without the passage of any significant legislation to clarify or expand the
freedmen’s rights.24

Whenever freedmen demanded better status, friction resulted. Brownlow
wrote an angry editorial after being bumped into a gutter by blacks who re-
fused to follow traditional racial etiquette and get off the sidewalk in the pres-
ence of whites. In a Knoxville restaurant a customer hailed a black waiter with
“Here, boy!” Much to the patron’s ire, the waiter replied, “My name is Dick.”25

The worst conflicts occurred between black and white soldiers. One
Confederate parolee, on seeing his first black troops at Greeneville, commented
that they “looked exceedingly black, tall, and war-like.” Another reported that
they “taunted us with our loss of ‘Southern rights, etc.,’ and several bloody
collisions were narrowly averted.” At the same time, Captain Boyd of the
Freedmen’s Bureau observed that discharged white Federals were “armed to
the teeth and in a state of intoxication, breathing violence alike against rebel
and negroe [sic].” When a black soldier at Athens urged freedmen to stop the
deferential practice of raising their hats to whites, a white Union veteran killed
him for it. Just as in the rest of the state, rising racial antagonism led to mur-
ders of black soldiers by whites and vice versa.26

Post-emancipation tensions came to a high point throughout the South
with the insurrection scare of Christmas 1865. The Federal commander at
Chattanooga reported, “There is a bad disposition exhibited toward the negroes
at this place[;] the whites affect to believe that an insurrection is intended[;]
there is no truth in it.” The town’s civil officials petitioned for the removal of
all black troops, but the army agreed only to disarm and confine unemployed
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civilian freedmen until jobs could be found for them. The holidays ended qui-
etly, and East Tennessee entered 1866 with much still left to settle about the
freedmen’s future.27

The Civil War had made it possible for many slaves to throw off their
servitude, but without help they could do little else to change their status.
White Unionists, the dominant group in East Tennessee, had turned against
slavery mostly for political reasons, and they made little effort to assist freed-
men in their struggle for postwar change. Despite slavery’s limited significance
in East Tennessee, its legacy of racial, class, and personal conflict did not die
easily or quietly.
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SOUTHERN MOUNTAIN
REPUBLICANS AND THE NEGRO,

1865–1900
GORDON B. MCKINNEY

The mountain Republicans of the upper South have been a riddle to southerners
for more than a century. Located primarily in eastern Kentucky and Tennes-
see, northwestern West Virginia, southwestern Virginia, and western North
Carolina, they are the only part of the white population of the South that has
consistently supported the party associated with Reconstruction. During the
period between the end of the Civil War and the beginning of disfranchise-
ment of black voters around 1900, the coalition of blacks and mountain whites
in the Republican party was a powerful political force in these five states.1 The
resulting conflicts and accommodations between the two racial groups reveal
much about politics and race in the South during the Gilded Age. Two factors
shaped their relationship: the relative lack of racial hostility between mountain
whites and blacks and the dependence of the Republican party of the upper
South on black votes. This biracial alliance proved to be more pragmatic than
idealistic. Although mountain Republican leaders could proclaim, “We want
no white man’s party or colored man’s party, but a party of principle; a party on
whose banner is inscribed Liberty, Union and Equality before the law; a party
that proposes to elevate mankind of all races and colors,” the presence of a
racially conscious lowland white population made this goal unattainable.2 The
Republican strategy became one of offering their black following just enough
to ensure their continued support while emphasizing issues that would attract
greater numbers of white voters.

The mountain Republican parties of the upper South were created dur-
ing the turmoil of Reconstruction. A few Republican votes were recorded in
eastern Kentucky and northwestern Virginia in 1860, but the party did not
really emerge as a potent force in the mountain regions until the end of the
Civil War.3 In West Virginia and Tennessee the mountain politicians found
themselves in control of the state government, and several of their leaders
were elected governors and congressmen. North Carolina and Kentucky moun-
tain Republicans had a voice in determining policy in their state organizations
but were unable to dominate them to any extent. The mountain leaders in
these two states were strong enough, however, to ensure that they controlled
the party in their regions. Only in Virginia did the mountaineers fail to play a
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significant role in the Reconstruction party.4 There were so few Republican
voters in the area that the party leaders from counties and cities with large
black populations dictated party policy.

The bitterness left by the war encouraged many mountain Republican
politicians to support Congressional Reconstruction. The war had left the
mountains devastated, and many mountaineers had opposed the Confederacy
and wanted revenge on the lowland populations of their states for causing the
war.5 They enthusiastically supported measures that disfranchised former Con-
federates in order to ensure continued Republican control.6 It soon became
obvious that these measures alone would not be sufficient and that a new source
of support was needed. The only available alternative was the Negro.

The decision to accept blacks as political allies was an agonizing one for
mountain Republicans. Blacks were regarded as inherently inferior, and this
attitude had been formed and accepted long before the Reconstruction pe-
riod.7 John Brown’s raid on Harpers Ferry had had a great impact on the moun-
taineers, indicating that many of them shared the South’s fear of servile revolt.8
In politics most mountain whites undoubtedly agreed with future Tennessee
Republican leader William G. Brownlow when he stated in 1861 that “if we
were once convinced in the border Slave States that the Administration at
Washington . . . contemplated . . . the abolishing of slavery, there would not be
a Union man among us in twenty-four hours.”9 Although mountaineers may
have disliked slavery as an economic system, they accepted and supported it as
a means of social control.10

Despite their racial prejudice, mountain Republicans soon found that
they had to deal with black voters. Negro suffrage was introduced into Vir-
ginia and North Carolina by the Reconstruction Acts of 1867, and by 1869
Kentucky and West Virginia mountain Republicans were forced to accept blacks
as voters. Only in Tennessee did the Republicans enfranchise blacks voluntar-
ily despite the protest of many East Tennessee Republicans, including future
governor DeWitt Clinton Senter.11 Mountaineers in other states were also
upset by Negro suffrage, and some were angry enough to start the Civil War
again.12

These sentiments changed significantly as the first elections were held in
the upper South under the new suffrage arrangements. The black voter proved
to be a staunch Republican, allowing the party to win state elections in Ten-
nessee, West Virginia, and North Carolina. Though blacks did not help the
Republicans gain control in Kentucky or Virginia, they at least made the party
competitive and gave it hope for the future. In addition, there was little indica-
tion that blacks would challenge the white leadership of the party. This was
particularly true in the mountain counties. One group of western North Caro-
lina blacks told a Republican leader, “We . . . wish to express to you our grate-
ful thanks for the gratifying and praiseworthy way in which you spoke to us.
Having so lately escaped from slavery, we know that our state and condition
are backward, yet we are not so far back as to be ungrateful for kindness. We
hope that ’ere long we may rise upward and testify to the friends of the colored
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man we are and have improved sufficiently to merit their praise. We venture to
promise, that should you be nominated for Congress, we will not only give
you our own humble support, but also that we shall make strenuous efforts to
secure that of every other colored man in the County.”13 This passive type of
Negro Republican voter was an acceptable junior partner for most mountain
Republicans.

Despite the general satisfaction with the Negro as a voter, his presence
caused a major split within the mountain Republican parties. In West Virginia,
Tennessee, and Virginia, black suffrage came at a time when many ex-Confed-
erates still could not vote. To the mountain Republicans this was unthinkable,
and they started movements for complete manhood suffrage in their states.14

Mountain Republicans in many cases could not justify denying the ballots to
whites, even to their political enemies, while blacks voted. There was editorial
support for the movement in a black paper, indicating that some black politi-
cians had joined the universal-suffrage movement.15

Though each of the state parties had somewhat different experiences
with this movement, the result was always the same. In Virginia the Republi-
can party split into radical and liberal wings, and each ran a candidate for gov-
ernor. The liberal, or universal suffrage, wing ran Gilbert C. Walker in 1869
with the backing of the Conservative-Democratic party and some railroad in-

Freedmen registering to vote in Asheville, North Carolina. (From Harper’s Weekly,
September 28, 1867)
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terests. The mountaineers of southwestern Virginia, including the Republi-
cans, were enthusiastic supporters of Walker, and he carried the region with
over 70 percent of the vote.16 Essentially the same thing happened in Tennes-
see. DeWitt Senter, interim governor, supported and implemented universal
suffrage in the gubernatorial election of 1869 to help him defeat another Re-
publican candidate, William B. Stokes. Once again the universal suffrage can-
didate carried the mountain counties.17 In West Virginia the universal suffrage
men seized control of the party and allowed all white males to vote.18

The mountain Republicans of North Carolina and Kentucky faced a dif-
ferent set of circumstances. In North Carolina the local Republicans had not
disfranchised any of the former Confederates, and less than 10 percent of the
white voters were prevented from registering by the Reconstruction laws passed
in March 1867. Thus, it was dissatisfaction with Gov. William Woods Holden’s
administration, rather than the question of suffrage, that led many mountain
Republicans to support Democrats for the state legislature in 1870. The re-
sulting Democratic victory brought the impeachment of Holden and the el-
evation of conservative mountain Republican Tod R. Caldwell to take Holden’s
place. North Carolina Republicans now adopted a more conciliatory attitude
toward the opposition and welcomed the Amnesty Act of May 1872 that re-
stored full rights to most North Carolina Confederates.19 As Kentucky had not
been reconstructed, universal suffrage already prevailed in that state. There
was, however, a noticeable shift in party tactics in 1870 and 1871 that resulted
in a virtual repudiation of Congressional Reconstruction. Avoiding race-re-
lated issues, Kentucky Republicans began to campaign on a platform of im-
proved education and internal improvements. The response of mountain
Republicans to the change was very favorable.20

The reaction against Reconstruction proved to be a political disaster for
the mountain Republican parties. In each of the five states, the Democrats
were now in control of the state governments. It was equally important that
the Republican party in these mountain areas split badly into competing fac-
tions.21 By 1874 the Republicans were so disorganized that they failed to win a
majority of the votes in any of the mountain regions, including formerly safe
East Tennessee. Only the unexpected victory of John Daugherty White in a
Kentucky mountain congressional district seemed to offer any hope for the
future.22

At this point the mountain Republicans in each of five states seemed to
reassess their situations and to make dramatic changes in the party. Abandon-
ing all issues, the mountain Republicans began to concentrate on organiza-
tional structure to save the party. The structure drew on the extensive Civil
War experience of the mountaineers and resulted in a party organized much
like the Union and Confederate armies. Each member of the party was as-
signed a military rank, from private for the ordinary voter to general for lead-
ers like Nathan B. Goff and William Mahone.23 The voters were then organized
into squads of ten with a captain to direct their voting on election day. The
Houk machine in East Tennessee, for example, was so well organized that it
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had personal information on every voter in the Second Congressional District
and could place two thousand squad leaders in the field to ensure that every
Republican voted.24 Clear lines of authority were established; there was a care-
ful structuring of personnel within the party; and power was centralized, usu-
ally in the hands of one man for the entire region.25 These organizations, often
resembling big-city machines, proved to be quite effective, and by 1880 the
mountain Republican parties were ready to win campaigns again. They did
not do so immediately, but there was no chance that the mountain Republican
parties would disappear.

One reason for their failure to be more successful in the late 1870s was a
major shift in the national Republican party’s southern policy. Starting with
President Rutherford B. Hayes in 1877, the national party searched for a for-
mula to win more southern white support.26 Hayes attempted to attract former
Whigs by appointing them to office, and this action deprived mountain Re-
publicans of a large part of the federal patronage they expected to be theirs.
West Virginia politician George W. Atkinson complained that this would “kill”
the party in the southern mountains.27 The situation did not improve much
when Chester A. Arthur became president in September 1881. He supported
Independent Democratic movements such as the Readjusters in Virginia and
the liberal antiprohibitionists in North Carolina, and like Hayes, gave mem-
bers of these groups federal positions that the mountain Republicans expected
to control.28 All of this forced the mountain Republican politicians to depend
on the resources that the party had in the immediate area.

The most significant of these local resources was the black Republican.
As Leonidas Houk, an East Tennessee Republican leader, observed, “The more
I have studied the matter, the more convinced I have become, that it would not
only be good politics, but good Civil Service, and equitable Republicanism to
distribute the appointments among all classes [of] Americans, Germans, Irish,
and Colored people.”29 In the lowland regions of every state except West Vir-
ginia blacks formed the major portion of the party’s voters. This meant that
even if the mountain Republicans had wanted to ignore the blacks they could
not have done so. Electoral failures, party reorganization, and political necessity
required that the white mountain Republicans work with black Republicans.

Much to their dismay, mountain Republican politicians found that they
were no longer dealing with a docile black voting population. Knoxville black
Henry Casper spoke for the new black political leaders when he announced,
“We not only want to be nominated, but we want some assurance, that those
who help nominate us are sincere and intend voting for us at the polls. We will
not suffer that trick any longer. There are enough colored voters in Knox
County to demand one or two good county offices every year if the Republi-
can Party would but give us what our numbers entitle us to.”30 Not only did
the black Republicans make demands, but they did something about the dis-
crimination that they felt. William Yardley, an East Tennessee black leader,
shocked the party in his state by running as a gubernatorial candidate in 1876.31

Although he concentrated his campaign in west and middle Tennessee, with
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their large black populations, white East Tennessee Republicans were quite
upset by his audacity. In the 1880s, black protest meetings in Tennessee, Ken-
tucky, and North Carolina demanded more equal treatment from the party
leaders.32

Two incidents involving blacks and mountain Republicans during this
period illustrate the problems that the more aggressive black leadership cre-
ated for white Republicans in the mountains. One problem was that blacks
could act as the balance of power between competing white factions of the
party. In 1882 in Tennessee’s Second District a power struggle between Con-
gressman Leonidas Houk and newspaper editor William Rule resulted in des-
perate bargaining for black votes by both men. In 1881 Houk had induced
blacks to protest Rule’s appointment as postmaster of Knoxville.33 This protest
proved successful, and Rule was replaced with a Houk man. Rule was incensed
by this action and announced that he was going to unseat Houk in 1882. His
campaign was based in part upon an attempt to control the black vote.34 Houk
reacted to this quickly by making an alliance with black leader William Yardley.
Later a campaign worker reported to Houk, “Yardley and Sam Anderson got
all the colored people together at night and with locked doors, they passed
resolutions endorsing you.”35 The response of the Rule forces was that “Yardley
. . . is a notoriously cheap piece of marketable material in every election.”36

The bitterness of the last remark clearly indicated that Rule had not been able
to win the black vote and would be easily defeated by Houk. The significant
point was that blacks were acting independent of white control in the moun-
tain Republican party in East Tennessee.

West Virginia Republicans also encountered much dissatisfaction among
black voters. Many black supporters seemed willing to leave the party in 1888
because they did not feel that they were receiving fair treatment. The Colored
Independent party made its appearance in July of that year. At that time one
spokesman observed that there was increasing dissatisfaction with the Repub-
lican party among blacks.37 Republican papers demonstrated a close connec-
tion between the new party and the Democrats, and this apparently negated
most of its appeal.38 Nevertheless, blacks had once more shown themselves
willing to break from a mountain Republican organization, and they thereby
forced the mountaineers to make adjustments.

The increasing black demands were being made on a group of men who
still retained strong racial feelings. The editor of a West Virginia Republican
paper probably expressed most mountain Republican sentiment in the asser-
tion that “they are just emerging from a purely animal existence and have their
future to make out of very indifferent raw material.”39 Mountaineers expressed
their prejudice in more than words. Throughout the late nineteenth century,
mountain men, like other southern whites, found lynching to be a suitable
means of social control.40 One East Tennessee Republican even justified the
practice: “However deplorable lynch law may be I say that negroes lynched in
the South for assaulting white women are not lynched because they are negroes
but because of the crime they have committed. . . . I say it is the unwritten law
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of the South to lynch a brute who assaults a woman without regard to his race
or color. If more negroes are lynched for this crime than white men it is not
because they are negroes but because in the South more negroes commit the
crime than whites in the North.”41

This would seem to raise the question of how the mountain whites could
work with the more aggressive black politicians. One answer appears to be
demographic. There were few blacks living in the mountain counties, appar-
ently freeing the mountain whites of the fear of “Negro domination.” The
percentage of blacks in 1870 in the mountain regions ranged from a high of 14
percent in southwestern Virginia and western North Carolina to a low of less
than 3 percent in northwestern West Virginia.42 The average for the mountain
counties in all five states was less than 9 percent. A more detailed statistical
study of the relationship between white Republican voting in 1876 and the pro-
portion of blacks in the population produced a correlation coefficient of -70.43

The negative correlation indicates an inverse relationship between the vari-
ables. As the percentage of blacks in the population rises, the percentage of
whites voting Republican decreases; as the proportion of blacks in the popula-
tion drops, the Republican share of the white vote increases. Thus the small
black population in the mountain counties made it easier for mountain Repub-
licans to overlook their prejudice and work with blacks politically.

Despite the rapid increase in mining in the Appalachians in the upper
South after 1880 and the increased presence of black miners, Republicans not
only retained but increased their support among mountain whites. Table 12.1
helps to explain why this does not represent a conflict with the previous analy-
sis. Although the number of blacks living in the mountain counties was in-
creasing rapidly during this period, they actually were declining in proportion
to the rest of the population. In only 33 of the 147 mountain counties did the
percentage of blacks increase faster than that of the total population.44 Even
this figure is misleading because the number of blacks involved was so small.
For example, the percentage increase in Clay County, West Virginia, between
1870 and 1900 was 450 percent, but in actual numbers the change was from
four blacks in 1870 to a total of eighteen in a population of 8,248 in 1900.45

In those few counties where there was a substantial increase in percentage
and numbers, like Hamilton County (Chattanooga), Tennessee, there was a
noticeable decrease in Republican voting among whites.46 Thus, this demo-
graphic variable was constant throughout the period. There were few blacks
in the mountain counties, and this fact apparently allowed the mountaineers
enough freedom to ignore racist appeals and to work successfully with blacks
in politics.

Another persuasive reason why white Republicans in the mountains were will-
ing to work with blacks was that the arrangement was becoming increasingly
successful. The southwestern Virginia Republican party, in fact, more than
doubled its vote after Reconstruction. In the mid-1870s the Republican vote
had nearly disappeared. Then in 1879 mountain Republicans, black Republi-
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cans, and poor Democratic farmers combined in a political coalition and formed
the Readjuster party. Led by former Confederate general and railroad pro-
moter William Mahone, the new party attacked the inequitable Virginia tax
system. The issue was a popular one, and the Readjusters won at the state
level and in the mountain counties in the elections of 1879, 1881, and 1882.47

Happy to be winning elections at last and to be sharing in the federal patron-
age that Mahone distributed, the Virginia mountain Republicans worked ef-
fectively with black Republicans. Their willingness was undoubtedly increased
by Mahone’s policy of placing black politicians in an obviously subordinate
position.48

The 1883 local elections in Virginia provided a clear test of the moun-
tain Republican’s loyalty to his black allies. The revitalized Virginia Demo-
crats ran a heavily racist campaign directed particularly at mountain
Republicans.49 Three days before the voting a widely publicized race riot took
place in the city of Danville, and increased pressure was placed on white voters
in the mountains.50 The result was an increase in the Readjuster total in the
mountain counties of more than five thousand votes over the party’s returns in
1882.51 The reason for this somewhat unexpected result was, as one mountain
politician reported, “The Republicans, I am proud to say, stood to their guns
like men never saw them more determined, or united.”52 After surviving this
experience, the mountain Republicans of southwestern Virginia were a potent
political force.

Republicans in the other four mountain regions also enjoyed substantial
successes as the party-army provided them with strengthened organizations.
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Not only were Republicans winning in the mountains, in 1888 eight mountain
Republican congressmen were elected, and they were threatening Democratic
hegemony at the state level as well. In North Carolina in 1886 Republicans
and Independent Democrats won control of the lower house of the legisla-
ture.53 This victory was a profound shock to the Democrats and led to the
extension of outside aid from the Republican National Committee to North
Carolina Republicans two years later.54 Although the party failed to carry the
state for presidential candidate Benjamin Harrison, three Republican congress-
men were elected. This represented the party’s best showing since Reconstruc-
tion. Kentucky Republican leader William O. Bradley was the party’s
gubernatorial candidate in 1887, and his energetic campaign reduced the nor-
mal forty-thousand-vote Democratic majority to seventeen thousand. The next
year these gains resulted in the election of three Republican congressmen from
Kentucky. Tennessee mountain Republicans were cheered by the fact that busi-
nessman Henry Clay Evans carried the state’s Third Congressional District
for the Republicans, the party’s first victory in that district in two decades.55

West Virginia Republicans in 1888 were even more successful, electing
half of the state’s four congressmen and a governor. Popular Republican con-
gressman Nathan Goff had been persuaded to be the gubernatorial candidate,
and he proved to be such an effective campaigner that the Democratic candi-
date refused to debate him.56 When the returns were counted Goff had won by
the slim margin of 110 votes. There were immediate protests of fraud, and an
election contest conducted by a Democratic legislature eventually deprived
Goff of his victory.57 Still, West Virginia Republicans believed that they were
on the verge of a great breakthrough.

Virginia mountain Republicans continued to enjoy success under
Mahone’s leadership. In 1886 the Republicans won six of Virginia’s ten con-
gressional seats, and in 1888 Harrison lost by only fifteen hundred votes out of
more than three hundred thousand cast in the state.58 The Republican party in
the upper South was doing well, then, and was looking for some way to win
control of their states.

Because the major barrier to Republican success had been Democratic
control of the election machinery, most mountain Republicans eagerly sup-
ported the idea of a federal election law.59 They were significant leaders in
trying to secure this legislation. Most mountain Republicans were positive that
a federal election law would ensure party success in their states, as it would
guarantee black voting as well as accuracy in the counting of votes.60 Veteran
mountain Republican congressman Leonidas Houk of Tennessee was the chief
spokesman for the region in favor of the measure. During his first month in
Congress in 1879, Houk endorsed the idea of federal control of elections, and
he introduced a piece of legislation to do this in November 1889.61 Although
his own bill was dropped in favor of one proposed by Henry Cabot Lodge,
Houk continued to support the idea. His position is stated clearly in a speech
delivered in 1890: “In conclusion he urged that the colored people of the South
should be given a fair chance. If the white people of the South would not take
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their hand off the Government must take it off. Let no man hold a seat on this
floor who was returned by means of Winchester rifles, clubs and fraudulent
ballot boxes.”62 In the floor debate on the Lodge bill, Houk continued his
enthusiastic support of the concept of federal intervention.63

Although Houk was probably the leading spokesman for a federal elec-
tion law, there were many other mountain Republicans who supported Lodge’s
ideas. Congressman George W. Atkinson of West Virginia proposed that crimi-
nal penalties be enforced if anyone interfered with federal elections.64 Along
the same lines, East Tennessee Republican congressman Alfred Taylor thought
that the final version of Lodge’s bill should be strengthened to ensure compli-
ance with the law.65 Kentucky mountain Republican congressman Hugh Finley
was quite satisfied, saying, “I most cheerfully endorse the bill as the best elec-
tion bill that has ever been offered to any Congress in this country.”66 Repub-
lican voters in the mountain regions also seemed to accept the measure
according to Republican newspapers and meetings endorsing the Lodge pro-
posal.67 When the vote was taken in the House, seven of the eight mountain
Republicans supported it and thereby allowed the measure to pass by a narrow
margin.68

There was, however, another opinion of the legislation among mountain
Republicans, and the leader of this point of view was Congressman Hamilton
C. Ewart of North Carolina. Ewart maintained that “this election bill is as
damnable, illogical, inequitable, and vicious a piece of legislation as was ever
attempted to be placed upon the statute-books of this Republic.”69 He went on
to explain his stand in the following terms: “Every year the Republican party
in the States of Tennessee, North Carolina, and the two Virginias is becoming
stronger and more aggressive. It is not acquiring this strength by making mor-
bid appeals to the negro and by exciting their passions and prejudices, but by
appealing to the sober judgement of the white voters of the South on the great
issue of protection.”70 Nor was Ewart alone in this feeling. The Republican
gubernatorial candidate in Tennessee opposed the bill, and Republican con-
gressional candidates in North Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia also attacked
the Lodge proposal.71

When the Lodge bill did not pass in the U.S. Senate, mountain Repub-
licans found themselves in a difficult position. The legislation had alienated
many white voters in their districts, and since it had failed, blacks had no more
protection than before. As a result the congressional elections of 1890 were a
real setback for mountain Republicans. In the elections they lost five of the
eight seats that they had held.72 It is difficult to assess exactly how significant
the election-law issue was in defeating the party. The Republicans were badly
defeated everywhere in 1890, and it seems clear that mountain voters, like
other voters across the nation, reacted to issues other than the Lodge bill. The
election in the First Congressional District of Tennessee offers the best illus-
tration of mountain Republicans’ reactions to the Lodge bill. There, Alfred
Taylor, a strong backer of the bill, was opposed by former congressman Roderick
Butler for the Republican nomination. After a hotly contested primary cam-
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paign both men claimed to be the regular party nominee.73 The Democrats in
this strongly Republican district decided not to run a candidate and to allow
the two men to split their own party. In September Butler, in an obvious politi-
cal maneuver, attacked the Lodge bill and federal control of elections.74 Thus,
the Republican voters of the district had a choice of candidates from their own
party who took opposite positions on the issue. The election returns gave Tay-
lor a narrow victory and indicated that he had won about 80 percent of the
Republican vote.75 It would be safe to conclude, then, that although there was
substantial opposition to the Lodge bill among the mountaineers, it was backed
by a majority of mountain Republicans.

The failures of the 1890 campaign and further defeats in the 1892 elec-
tion prompted a serious reevaluation of the party’s position.76 The Lodge bill
was proving to be a serious political liability, and more and more mountain
Republicans began to reject federal intervention in southern elections as a vi-
able means of adding voters to the party.77 The disenchantment with this ap-
proach to winning voters coincided with dissatisfaction with the bosses who
had directed the party in the mountains during the 1880s. Between 1890 and
1894 all the old leaders were replaced by politicians who brought a new per-
spective to the party.

In each state the power struggle between the old and new leaders was
relatively brief. John D. White, the eastern Kentucky mountain boss, was de-
feated by David Colson in an attempt to win a congressional seat in 1894.
Although the party was divided after Colson’s election, White’s reign was over.78

In East Tennessee the powerful Houk machine disintegrated quickly after the
death of Leonidas Houk in 1891, and by 1894 H. Clay Evans had become the
dominant Republican.79 The Mahone machine simply lost control of the Re-
publicans in southwestern Virginia. Mahone ordered the party not to run can-
didates in the elections of the early 1890s, but the mountain Republicans
disobeyed, and twice-elected congressman James A. Walker became the new
leader of the party in the region.80 Probably the quietest and least bitter change
came in West Virginia. Machine leader Nathan Goff was being pressed by
wealthy businessman Stephen B. Elkins for control of the organization. In
1891 Elkins arranged to have President Benjamin Harrison offer Goff a fed-
eral judgeship, giving him a face-saving way to leave politics.81 Elkins quickly
took advantage of Goff’s withdrawal and by 1892 had consolidated his hold on
the party in West Virginia.

The same process occurred in North Carolina, but there were two sepa-
rate stages to it. In 1889 and 1890 the boss, John J. Mott, lost control of federal
patronage to John Baxter Eaves, who used his position as collector of internal
revenue in the mountain region to take control of the party.82 Eaves main-
tained this position until 1894, when he resisted attempts to fuse the Republi-
cans and the Populists for electoral purposes.83 At the state convention of that
year Eaves was deposed, and a new group of Republican leaders emerged, led
by mountain Republican Jeter C. Pritchard.84 The immediate success of fusion
at the polls and the election of Pritchard to the Senate ensured that the change



210 GORDON B. MCKINNEY

in leadership would be permanent. Despite strenuous racist opposition from
the Democrats in 1896 the fusion arrangement worked again, and the Popu-
lists and Republicans continued to control North Carolina.

The new leaders shared a common goal of bringing more white voters
into the Republican party. They believed that the strategy of relying exclu-
sively on blacks and former Unionists, as the bosses had done, could never
make their party into the majority party in the upper South. The emphasis
now would be exclusively on economic issues.85 The advent of the “Demo-
cratic” depression of the 1890s made this a most fortuitous decision. In 1894
and 1896 the Republicans elected most of the congressmen from the moun-
tain districts, they elected governors in four of the five upper South states in
the same period, and for the first time since the Readjuster period in Virginia,
four Republican senators represented the upper South in Washington, D.C.86

This successful new mountain Republican leadership tended to ignore
the older groups in the party, particularly the blacks. Another significant factor
was pushing the Republican leadership in the same direction: the rise of south-
ern Negrophobia as a conscious intellectual and social movement.87 Lynching
continued at an ever-increasing rate, and rigid segregation became the goal of
many white southerners. Ominously for the Republican party, the program of
the southern racial purists demanded an end to Negro suffrage. The mountain
Republican politicians thus were caught between their need to retain black
votes and the need to appeal to white, racist Democrats. The Democrats of-
fered blacks so little that Republican politicians for the most part believed it
safe to ignore the blacks.

Mountain Republican leaders now thought that they had to convince
whites that “the Republican party is not the negro party.”88 The result was an
effort to construct a “lily-white” movement. Mountain politicians tended to
avoid blacks in their campaign appearances and to deny them federal patron-
age, but their statements and campaign strategies contradict the idea that they
wanted to end Negro suffrage. Black voters, despite their occasional challenges
to the party leadership, were too valuable as allies to be disfranchised.

The new mountain leaders tried to ensure that black Republican voters
had only a minimal voice in the party organization while they also sought to
preserve the black right to vote. All white Republicans in the mountains seemed
to agree that federal patronage should be distributed to whites only. One North
Carolina black politician accurately observed that “the Republicans themselves
don’t think it wise for colored citizens to . . . fill state [or] federal positions.”89

Still, blacks were appointed or promised appointments by mountain politi-
cians when it was deemed necessary. The Elkins machine in West Virginia
delayed giving patronage to black applicants in some cases to test their loyalty
to the organization.90 These tactics were quite successful in ending a revolt by
blacks in West Virginia against Elkins in 1900.91

Even if a black did manage to secure a political job from mountain Re-
publicans, he still had to contend with Republicans who thought he should not
have the position. In March 1892 many white Republican Internal Revenue
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Service employees in the mountain counties in North Carolina refused to work
with a recently appointed black worker and seriously disrupted the agency’s
operations.92 A black deputy marshal in eastern Kentucky also found he had
great difficulty performing his job because of the hostility of the mountain-
eers.93 The dilemma faced by black appointees is well explained in the follow-
ing letter from Charles M. Cansler, future educator and civil rights leader in
East Tennessee: “I have recently been appointed to a position as substitute in
the Railroad Mail Service for the line centering in Chattanooga Tenn. from
the Civil Service examination of last August. Because of the existing prejudice
on the part of the white clerks on these lines I have been unable to get such
work as will enable me to secure a livelihood from this position.”94 It appears
that for some mountain Republicans the assignment of even one office to a
black Republican was too many.

Blacks were increasingly passed over as potential candidates for public
office and were even discouraged from attending party conventions. The Ken-
tucky Republican gubernatorial candidate in 1895, William O’Connell Brad-
ley, was apparently willing to make patronage commitments to blacks before
he was nominated to ensure that blacks would not demand a spot on the state
ticket.95 Blacks were excluded from Republican state conventions as early as
1888, and by 1900 North Carolina Republicans could boast that their state
meeting “was a convention not only dominated by white men, but composed
of white men.”96 Moving increasingly toward segregation within the party,
mountain Republicans became enthusiastic supporters of social segregation in
churches, schools, public facilities, and on public transportation.97

Mountain Republicans used other means to give the appearance of elimi-
nating the black man from politics while still striving to preserve his right to
vote. One of the more effective ways to accomplish this was to gerrymander
black voters to prevent their candidates from winning in local elections. In
Knoxville, Tennessee, for example, black voters made up 35 percent of the
electorate, but they made up a majority of only one of the city’s nine wards.
The contrast between Wards 4 and 7 is particularly instructive. In the former
only 165 white voters formed a majority, while in the latter 678 blacks were in
the minority.

Another trick resorted to by mountain Republicans in an effort to mini-
mize black participation in campaigns was to run candidates that seemed hos-
tile to black interests. Southwestern Virginia mountain Republicans ran James
A. Walker for Congress four times in the 1890s, although his record as a Con-
federate general and former Democrat made him unappealing to blacks.98 North
Carolina mountain Republicans, reacting to the increasing racism of the op-
position, supported Daniel L. Russell for governor in 1896. He was quoted as
saying that “the negroes of the South are largely savages.”99 The strategy be-
hind Russell’s nomination was explained by the candidate himself: “The Demo-
crats will try the old dodge of trying the ‘Color line’ but it worries them to
discover just how to do it. They have been preaching . . . that Russell is dead
against the negroes, that he favors white supremacy and that he is opposed to
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even the mildest form of negro government. Now they will proceed to prove
that he is in favor of compelling every white woman to marry a negro, and that
he himself is a mulatto. This is a rather heavy job for them, but not too big for
them to attempt.”100 North Carolina black Republicans were so outraged by
Russell’s nomination that they called a convention to protest and to demand a
new candidate.101

Two other techniques were used to deemphasize the presence of blacks
in the Republican party. Kentucky Republicans in the gubernatorial and state
campaign of 1895 simply refused to acknowledge the existence of black Re-
publicans. The party’s campaign committee would not work with blacks and
forbade candidates to mention racial matters.102 The advice seems to have been
generally followed. Harvey S. Irwin, a candidate for state railroad commis-
sioner, was asked in an open letter if he would vote to repeal the separate-but-
equal railway coach law. Irwin refused to answer and continued his campaign
as if the question had never been asked.103 Gubernatorial candidate William O.
Bradley withdrew from a series of joint debates with his Democratic opponent
when racial issues began to dominate the discussions.104 Blacks, angered by
these snubs, formed the Kentucky Colored Democrat Club to force a change
in the Republican campaign. Tennessee mountain Republicans developed the
novel idea of voluntary black disfranchisement. In 1894 H. Clay Evans, the
gubernatorial candidate, and his campaign manager, Newell Sanders, persuaded
many blacks not to vote, in the expectation that this strategy would reduce the
racial excitement and fraud perpetrated by the Democrats.105 All of these elabo-
rate strategies were aimed at convincing white voters that the Republican party
was a white man’s party while at the same time preserving the Negro’s right to
vote.

White mountain Republicans seemed willing to accept this solution to
the racial situation within the party. The 1898 election in North Carolina of-
fered the greater test of the willingness of white mountain Republicans to be
identified with blacks as political allies. In this campaign the Democrats made
a special effort to convince mountain voters of the evil results of black political
advances made under the fusion government in that state.106 Democratic state
chairman Furnifold M. Simmons and Raleigh News and Observer editor Josephus
Daniels directed the attack against black officeholders who had been elected
since 1894. The two men launched a racist cartoon campaign in western North
Carolina newspapers to ensure that even the illiterate would receive the mes-
sage.107 The climax of the bitter attack on fusion was a white man’s convention
at Goldsboro attended by more than eight thousand voters.108 The mountain
Republicans launched an equally racist counterattack that stopped short of
demanding an end to black voting.109 The percentages in table 12.2 indicate
that mountain Republican voters accepted their leaders’ position. Although
the Republican percentage of the vote did decline in western North Carolina
in 1898, the decrease was relatively small and followed the general four-year
pattern of the entire mountain region. North Carolina mountain Republicans
simply refused to be frightened by continued Negro participation in politics.
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Despite the efforts by mountain Republicans to conceal their dependence on
black voters, Democratic attempts to disfranchise Negroes were successful in
North Carolina and Virginia. The North Carolina legislature had framed a
suffrage amendment to the state constitution in 1899 that would effectively
eliminate most black voters. When the proposal was submitted to the voters in
August 1900 the mountain Republican leaders vigorously opposed its ap-
proval.110 Senator Pritchard and others concentrated their attack on the fact
that despite the “grandfather clause” many poor whites would lose the right to
vote.111 So effective was this approach that the Democrats had to call the legis-
lature into special session a few weeks before the voting and modify the amend-
ment to answer Republican criticism.112 Nor did the mountain Republicans
abandon the black voter. The leading Republican newspaper in the western
part of the state printed an article written by black editor Timothy Thomas
Fortune opposing the amendment.113 Mountain Republicans were willing to
allow Democrats the right to prevent blacks from holding office, thereby end-
ing the chance of “Negro domination,” but were unwilling to lose their Negro
support at the polls.114 This position apparently satisfied white Republicans in
the mountains, who voted overwhelmingly against the suffrage changes.115 Vir-
ginia Democrats saved themselves the trouble of a public debate and vote by
having a constitutional convention declare that a new suffrage amendment was
valid without popular ratification.

In the other three states of the upper South, blacks remained as voters,
and the working relationship between mountain Republicans and blacks con-
tinued. In West Virginia the Republican party maintained control of the state
until the depression of the 1930s, with the black voter remaining a relatively
loyal member of the party. Although the Republicans as a whole were in the
minority in Kentucky and Tennessee, mountain Republicans prospered in the
years after 1900. Consistently winning congressional races in both mountain
regions, mountain Republicans, blacks, and Progressive Democrats combined
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to elect Progressive Republicans Benjamin W. Hooper of Tennessee and
Augustus E. Willson of Kentucky governors of their respective states. Even in
the now lily-white electorate of southwestern Virginia, Republicans enjoyed
some success. Campbell Slemp and his son, Campbell Bascom Slemp, con-
structed a Republican machine in the Virginia mountains that controlled the
Ninth Congressional District for nearly two decades. In Virginia and North
Carolina, however, the old relationship between black and white Republi-
cans was destroyed. With blacks no longer voters and still competitors for
federal patronage, mountain Republicans in both states read them out of the
party.

The general position of white mountain Republicans on race relations
within the party in the last third of the nineteenth century was determined by
the power of the black man as a voter. The relationship that developed in each
state was deeply influenced by two factors that remained relatively constant
throughout this period. In comparison to other white southerners,  mountain
whites did not live with a large black population, and this geographic and de-
mographic fact made it possible for them to determine political affiliation on
the basis of issues other than race. In addition, Negro voters proved to be
extremely loyal to the Republican party and were too valuable as political allies
to abandon. This did not mean that mountain Republicans viewed blacks as
equals or that blacks necessarily had the right to run for and be appointed to
office. But mountain Republicans did maintain that blacks had the basic right
to vote Republican. The men who had proposed to “elevate mankind of all
races and colors” clearly had forsaken that goal and had turned instead to the
elevation of their own political ambitions.
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13

NEGOTIATING THE
TERMS OF FREEDOM

The Quest for Education
in an African American Community
in Reconstruction North Georgia

JENNIFER LUND SMITH

When the long anticipated “Day of Jubilo” arrived in Lumpkin County, Geor-
gia, fewer than five hundred African Americans were living in the area. Be-
cause of their small numbers, freedmen and freedwomen in Lumpkin County
were not fawned over by the bevy of missionary groups that headed south after
the war, nor were they the intense focus of Reconstruction politicians. Unlike
freed people in Georgia’s cities, like Atlanta and Savannah, or its low country,
where slaves had been numerous, African Americans in Lumpkin County could
not rally in large numbers to attempt to force change. They could not even
boast an established antebellum elite; in 1860 the free black population con-
sisted of thirty-seven illiterate farmers who owned almost no land and little
personal property.1

Despite their small numbers and lack of experience, the freed people in
this small mountain community used the resources available to them and skill-
fully negotiated with Lumpkin County’s leading white citizens as they sought
to define their freedom. Rather than challenging the social and economic struc-
ture of their time and place, they used the paternalistic ethos of the white elite
to their advantage.

Located at the southern end of the Blue Ridge Mountains, the area that
became Lumpkin County had become famous for its gold deposits in the early
1830s. To facilitate and ensure the success of the nascent mining industry in
the area, the federal government mounted a massive and lethally effective cam-
paign to remove the Cherokees from the land in the 1820s and 1830s. The
effort enabled wealthy speculators and starry-eyed hopefuls alike to tear into
the mountains to extract its precious metals.

Gold was Lumpkin County’s raison d’être. Its discovery in 1828 and an
elaborate land lottery designed to redistribute Cherokee lands attracted a popu-
lation of independent miners, land speculators, and large-scale investors. Mines
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such as the Calhoun Mine, the Findley Mine, and the Free Jim Mine forever
changed the landscape of the mountains. Enough settlers had flooded into the
area by 1832 that the state legislature formally recognized the organization of
Lumpkin County. The terrain of the new county encompassed mountainous
peaks and valleys covered with dense foliage, as well as more hospitable and
fertile areas in the lower elevations. Soon after Georgians embraced Lumpkin
County as an official sector of the state, Dahlonega was designated the county
seat. The village exemplified the “boomtown” atmosphere of so many mining
towns. In this remote area, inhabitants found entertainment in courting “fancy
ladies,” inebriation, and the saloons that catered to both. Three years later
Congress named Dahlonega the site of a branch mint.2

In 1875 an old miner fondly recalled the atmosphere of the county’s min-
ing heyday. He reminisced, “Scarcely a stream in the whole country but what
was thronged with miners, delving after the precious metal, while the hills and
valley were made to reverberate with the busy rattle of machinery, and clink-
ing of the pick and shovel.”3

African Americans arrived in Lumpkin County, then Cherokee lands,
along with other hopefuls of the 1829 gold rush who swarmed into the area
with fantasies to rival that of Hernando Cortés’s “El Dorado.” Contemporar-
ies included African Americans in their descriptions of these “twenty-niners,”
descriptions that also included adjectives like “drunken” and “malicious” and
nouns like “thieves, gamblers and murderers.”4 Certainly, some free black people
did join this “lawless, ungovernable community” to try their luck at mining,
but most African Americans who came to the area were brought as slaves.5

Mining could be profitable, but it was grueling work. The job entailed
digging with picks and shovels through “five to ten feet to the gravel, which
was about one foot thick.” The gravel and dirt was then “shoveled into a trough
. . . with holes in it” that was “rocked like a cradle, under a stream of water, till
only the black sand and gold were separated from the gravel and dirt.” Only
then could the gold be “panned out.”6

To perform the more arduous labor-intensive tasks that mining required,
many operators turned to slaves. John Calhoun, the U.S. senator from South
Carolina and erstwhile vice president of the Union, who owned one of the
most productive mines in the area, transported his own slaves from South Caro-
lina to work in his mines during the plantation’s off-season.7 Other miners
likewise came to the area, bringing with them varying numbers of slaves. Mine
owners were soon placing announcements in the newspapers for “negro men”
to work in the mines; one newspaper ran an advertisement offering ten dollars
a month for “strong negro men.” These offers enticed many slave owners from
the cotton belt to rent their slaves to the mines when they were not needed at
home.8

The labor needs of the mines created a relatively transitory slave popula-
tion in Lumpkin County until the 1840s, when the use of slaves declined. By
then, slave owners began to realize that sending their slaves into the dangerous
conditions in the mines for profit led to diminishing returns. Poor treatment
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by mine owners who had no vested interest in their workforce and the dangers
of collapsing tunnels caused an increasingly high death rate for leased slaves.
Additionally, David Williams, author of The Georgia Gold Rush, notes that “lo-
cal residents were uncomfortable with the presence of a large slave population
in the vicinity, and mine operators usually preferred free labor.”9

A small number of free black people lived in Lumpkin County during
the antebellum period. A few worked in the mines during the 1840s and 1850s.
One exceptional free black man, James Bosclair, prospered and became fairly
wealthy during this period. He had come to Dahlonega from Augusta and had
opened a modest cake and fruit shop, but by 1845, “Free Jim,” as he was called,
owned one thousand dollars in bank stock and eight hundred dollars in town
property. He had discovered a vein on some property in town, and through his
guardian, J.J. Singleton, a politician, fellow miner, and the first superintendent
of the U.S. Mint in Dahlonega, Bosclair purchased the land and, later, several
other lots as well. In addition to mining, Bosclair owned a general store, an
icehouse, and a saloon. Despite his relative wealth for a black man in Georgia,
California, with its tales of gold veins and its new status as a “free” state, lured
him away in 1850.10

Of the thirty-seven free black people living in Lumpkin County in 1860,
only three of the men owned any land. The heads of household all farmed.
Farming was an exhausting profession anywhere, but the mountain soil that
yielded a crop only reluctantly made it an even more difficult occupation in
Lumpkin County. In addition to subsistence farming these men may have grown
some cotton, but primarily for household use. Certainly less common in the
mountains was rice cultivation, although 219 pounds of rice were produced in
Lumpkin County in 1860. One Lumpkin woman whose parents had been slaves
recalled that in the postwar era she and her family continued to “raise rice” in
a “swampy area” near their home. Whatever crops these farmers planted, they
probably panned a bit of gold or spent time in the mines as well, as did many
farmers in the gold region. The few free black women in Lumpkin County
“kept house,” as the census recorded, working on behalf of their own families
in their homes.11

As elsewhere in Georgia, the majority of black people who lived in
Lumpkin County were slaves. In 1860 the slave population in the county was
431. The majority of the residents of the mountain county owned no slaves at
all. Among those who did, most possessed fewer than six slaves, although four
individuals claimed more than twenty slaves and hence could officially be con-
sidered “planters.”12

Despite their small numbers, black residents of Lumpkin County devel-
oped a sense of community. As with many slave “communities,” their commu-
nity centered on the church. Before the Civil War, slaves and free black people
in Lumpkin County attended church in the gallery of the white Dahlonega
Baptist Church. James Bosclair was one of its members, as were Hannah Bosclair
and Hannah Grant. Bosclair lost his membership for a time for “selling goods
and liquor” at his saloon on Sundays, but he was invited back into the fold
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about a year later.13 On Sunday afternoons, after the morning service, slaves
and free people observed the Sabbath in their own fashion, led by a black min-
ister. The law required that a white person be present during this ceremony,
which no doubt tempered the proceedings, but the service was still quite dis-
tinct from the morning ritual. The black preachers were men like Nicholas
Chubb, a freeman and a blacksmith by trade, who was ordained in the Baptist
church in 1847.14 A white observer recorded that in these ceremonies the black
ministers exhibited their “own way and style” and indicated that the black Bap-
tists responded with a great deal more “singing and shouting” than did their
white counterparts.15

In 1852, the members of the Baptist African Church received a rather
unusual endowment. That year, Alexander Duncan, a white carpenter residing
in Dahlonega, deeded in trust a piece of land to the “members of the Baptist
African Church,” provided they build a church on the property, which they
did.16 While possession of their own church building offered the members of
the Baptist African Church a significant amount of autonomy, restrictions placed
on them provided a constant reminder that white men retained ultimate con-
trol. To keep the church land they had to comply with the stipulations of the
trust, set by Alexander Duncan, that a white person monitor their service and
that church memberships remain with the white-controlled Dahlonega Bap-
tist Church.17

It is not surprising then that following emancipation, African Americans
chose to separate themselves from the Dahlonega Baptist Church to form the
Baptist African Church. This decision created friction among the African
American Baptists and between the white and black parishioners. The white
Baptists were reluctant to relinquish their supervision of the Baptist African
Church and refused to surrender the letters of membership that would signify
complete separation. In reaction, the members of the Baptist African Church
split on how to proceed with creating an independent church. One faction, led
by Rev. Sam Burt, appealed to Gen. F. Prince Salm in Atlanta to intervene on
their behalf. Salm, a Prussian-born professional soldier who had offered his
services to the Union army during the Civil War and who was later stationed
in Atlanta as an agent of the Freedmen’s Bureau, agreed to use his authority
to order the Dahlonega Baptist Church to release its African American mem-
bers. But upon returning to Dahlonega with Salm’s order, Burt met with
some skepticism.18

Daniel Keith was one of the church members concerned with Burt’s ac-
tions. Offering an alternative to Burt’s antagonistic approach, Keith emerged
as one of the leaders of the African American community in Dahlonega. Be-
fore emancipation, Keith had been the slave of Harrison W. Riley, one of the
wealthiest men in the region.19 After the war, Keith, a mulatto, served the
community as a minister, in addition to supporting his large family as a farm
laborer. In 1870 Keith owned no land, but his personal property amounted to
$200, making him one of the wealthier black men in Lumpkin County. By
1878 he had acquired forty acres of land worth $250.20 In many ways Keith fit
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the profile of African American leaders during the Reconstruction era: though
illiterate, he was a minister, and he was a man of relative means and light
skin.

Keith took a copy of Salm’s order to Dahlonega native William P. Price,
a white lawyer and a member of the Dahlonega Baptist Church. In the years
after the war Price served in the Georgia state House and Senate, and in 1870
north Georgians sent him to the U.S. Congress.21 On the issue pertaining to
the church, Price counseled restraint and arranged for those who were “wor-
thy” to receive their letter of transfer. He also persuaded a “presbytery of white
preachers and deacons” to “constitute them into a separate body.” The bulk of
the congregation agreed to follow Keith and Price’s plan of conciliation.22

In the matter of establishing an independent church, freed people in
Lumpkin County set a precedent for how they would achieve their collective
goals. They wisely chose a course that did not alienate their white neighbors.
By including William Price in the process, they soothed the anxieties of white
Baptists who felt uneasy about an independent African American church. Keith
and his faction indulged the white men’s paternalistic posturing, and in return
they not only realized their objective but also received the blessing of influen-
tial white citizens in the county. By intuition or by design, Keith and his adher-
ents realized the value in allowing the existing white elite a voice in their former

A black prayer service in Clarkesville, Georgia, 1870. (From Edward King, The South-
ern States of North America, vol. 3 [1875])



NEGOTIATING THE TERMS OF FREEDOM 225

slaves’ actions; this fostered a perception of participation that made the white
elite less likely to resist the changes initiated by emancipation. And occasion-
ally it flattered them into assisting the African American community to achieve
its aims.

While the freed people fought for control of the spiritual body of the
church, they were simultaneously involved in a struggle for the physical “body”
of the church and the land on which it stood. Following the war, Alexander
Duncan decided that he wanted his land back. He based his postbellum right
to the land on the fact that the congregation had abandoned the church “as a
house of worship” during the war, and hence they had defaulted on the terms
of the trust. He took possession of the church building and refused the mem-
bers entry. Not willing to accept his claim, the members of the church used the
courts to challenge Duncan’s title to the land. The struggle to keep the land
engaged the freed people in a costly (for them) court battle, and the efforts
they underwent to retain the land demonstrate how important it was to them.

Duncan left no explanation for why he deeded the land to slaves, but his
reasons may have stemmed from his close relationship with Hannah Grant, a
free black woman and a member of the Baptist African Church. One contem-
porary referred to her as his cook, but he allowed that the relationship was
more intimate than that, and it seems that two children resulted from their
union. Hannah Grant was also James Bosclair’s sister, and in the 1870s her
daughter Mary Ann is referred to as Bosclair’s heir in the deed books. What is
clear is that although Duncan’s generosity extended to the black people in the
county while they were slaves, he was not as sanguine about allowing them to
own the property as freed people.23

To represent them, the freed people once again turned to William Price,
who agreed to take the case for a fee of fifty dollars. Ultimately, the Superior
Court of Lumpkin County awarded the land to the freed people.24 Before
making its decision, the jury was treated to the judge’s enigmatic observation
that “the negro had lost nothing by his emancipation; that he not only kept
whatever rights had been given him during his enslavement, but reaped the
benefit of everything that came to him by emancipation.” Judge Harrell then
demanded that the jury make its decision right in the jury box, without the
benefit of further discussion.25 To secure their church land, the freed people
had exploited accessible resources: in this case, William Price and the court
system. To be sure, they took the case to court after Congressional Recon-
struction was in motion, which increased the likelihood that they would win.
Although they had won their case, their inability to pay the solicitor’s fee would
once again put their claim to the land in jeopardy.

The church and the land surrounding it represented a potent manifesta-
tion of freedom not only in regard to land-ownership and autonomy, but also
as a symbol of education. Soon after the war ended, the church building began
to serve as a schoolhouse. The impetus to establish a school arose from freed-
men who were employed by the mining companies. Recognizing that few, if
any, African Americans in the county had the expertise to organize a school
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and teach in it, a group of miners approached Amory Dexter, a superintendent
for the Dahlonega Mining Company at the time, to request formal schooling
for their children. Dexter, a Massachusetts-born ex-Confederate, took up their
cause.26 Acting on the appeal of the mine laborers, Dexter turned to W.J.
Wooten, a white Baptist minister in his late twenties who had already estab-
lished Sabbath schools for the freed people in Dahlonega. Encouraged by
Dexter’s confidence that they would be able to solicit outside assistance, Wooten
opened a day school, offering morning classes for children and evening classes
for adults. By the summer of 1867 he claimed that eighty students filled his
school.27

Dexter and Wooten pushed hard to establish the school in Dahlonega
and to procure funding. Dexter appealed to some “Friends at the North” for
donations apparently with some, if limited, success. They sent a box of books
and, eventually, three hundred dollars. Dexter and Wooten hoped to maintain
the school free of charge for their students, but by the summer of 1867 they
had expended their funds. In an attempt to keep the school afloat, Wooten
began to charge adult students; he asked one dollar a month from males and
fifty cents from females. He noted wryly that they were “very eager to register
but slow in paying.”28 Dexter confirmed the students’ inability to pay tuition,
explaining “the times are dull + their wages low.” 29

After Dexter and Wooten had exhausted the three hundred dollars from
Dexter’s northern connections, they turned to the Freedmen’s Bureau. When
Congress divided the South into military districts in the spring of 1867, Gen.
John D. Pope, head of the Third District, comprising Georgia, Alabama, and
Florida, chose six cities in Georgia as important bases; Dahlonega was one of
these. He stationed troops at the U.S. Mint building there. In August Federal
troops began to appoint civil officers in Lumpkin county. Though they chose
local persons for the posts, the presence of the troops caused tension. But it
may also have been the proximity of the troops that emboldened African Ameri-
cans in the mines to consider asking for a school and that prompted Amory
Dexter to ask for the Freedmen’s Bureau’s support.30

In a letter to G.L. Eberhart, the Freedmen’s Bureau’s state superinten-
dent of education until the summer of 1867, Dexter explained that the African
Americans required only forty to forty-five dollars a month to pay a teacher,
rent a schoolhouse, and provide lights for the night school. He asked the
Freedmen’s Bureau to provide aid to pay a teacher and to eventually build an
inexpensive schoolhouse. The building in which African American children in
Dahlonega received their education was less than optimal. It was a twenty-
five-by-thirty-foot edifice with no windows. In August 1868, fifty-seven stu-
dents attended the school.31 Ultimately, Dexter hoped to build a school on
some land in town where the abandoned U.S. Mint stood. In the fall he began
laying plans to petition the government for a half-acre of U.S. Mint lands on
which to build the school.32

Dexter also attempted to engage the support of the local population. In
September 1867, after receiving notice that the Freedmen’s Bureau could not
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lend any aid that year, he attempted to create a board of education in the county,
apparently on the advice of E.A. Ware, Georgia’s state superintendent of edu-
cation. Whether or not Dexter included the freed people in this endeavor he
did not specify, but he noted that “these things have to be arranged slowly +
cautiously up here, as in this section the whites are far the most numerous.”33

He claimed that his goal was to “see a large public school here for all colors.”
Shortly thereafter, however, he abandoned the project and left Dahlonega to
follow a “new branch of business,” taking his organizational and fund-raising
expertise with him.34

Sustaining the school was a time-consuming affair, and after Dexter’s
departure, Wooten undertook the responsibility on behalf of his students, who
lacked the skills and the time. They relied on Wooten to plead their case on
paper to the Freedmen’s Bureau, and while they struggled to feed their fami-
lies, Wooten contended with the difficulties involved in the upkeep of the school:
insufficient funding, meager supplies, sporadic attendance, an inadequate build-
ing, and the lack of a permanent location.

Wooten seems to have taken a genuine interest in the freed people. John
D. Wilkens wrote to E.A. Ware on Wooten’s behalf, describing him as a “cler-
gyman zealous in his work for the colored people,” and he added that Wooten
had been “ostracised [sic] by his former friends for such zeal.”35 To be sure,
Wooten earned his livelihood from his position as a teacher, but it was not a
particularly secure one. In 1867 he began writing numerous letters to the
Freedmen’s Bureau asking for assistance; much of the text describes his inabil-
ity to support his family on the money he was able to collect from his stu-
dents.36 In August 1867 he was able to raise only sixteen dollars, a far cry from
the forty dollars that Dexter had estimated as their costs. By February of the
next year his pupils were collectively two hundred dollars in arrears, and Wooten
and his wife had just added another child to their family. Yet he persevered in
his work; at the beginning of 1869 he reported to the Freedmen’s Bureau that
he would be starting the winter term despite the lack of financial support.37

Wooten claimed to be more than just a temporal guide for the ex-slaves.
He reported that at the war’s end he began “acting as spiritual leader” of the
freed people of Lumpkin County. M.R. Archer, the Freedmen’s Bureau agent
in Dahlonega, reported that Wooten preached to the freed people every Sun-
day.38 It seems doubtful, however, that after taking the pains to separate from
the white Baptist church the freed people considered Wooten their spiritual
leader; it may be that he perceived himself as a sort of adviser to the nascent
Baptist African Church. And while he may have been ostracized by some white
Dahlonegans, he was elected minister of the Dahlonega Baptist Church in
1867, at which time he was “knee deep” in actively promoting education for
the freed people.39

The dilapidation of the school building and its maintenance costs were
constant themes in Wooten’s letters to the Freedmen’s Bureau. Before the courts
had settled the dispute involving the church land, Wooten had rented the church
building from Alexander Duncan for nine dollars a month. The building, which
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had been stripped during the war, was drafty, and as winter approached Wooten
informed the Freedmen’s Bureau that he would have to close the school unless
“other arrangement about a school room” could be made.40

The court’s ruling on the church land, while a legal victory, had been
materially hollow; a lawyer’s lien had been placed on the land to ensure pay-
ment.41 In an attempt to keep the land the freed people concentrated their
economic attention on paying off that lien and “exerted themselves very much
to raise the money to pay off the Lawyers claim on the house.” Their best
efforts yielded only five dollars. Their focus on retaining the land rather than
on paying for schools suggests how important that church and owning the
piece of land were to them. Their inability to raise more than five dollars illus-
trates the extent of their poverty.42

In 1868 M.R. Archer turned his attention to establishing more schools
in Lumpkin County, as well as in contiguous Dawson and White Counties.
The poverty that he encountered among black and white people astonished
him. He asked his superiors to send books, because none of his prospective
pupils either owned or could afford any. He remarked, “I was not aware of the
extent of this destitution until the effort was made to organize schools.”43

In Lumpkin County the freed people’s economic situation continued to
worsen. In 1868 and 1869 a number of mining ventures failed, leaving many
freed people jobless and even less able to pay for education. Wooten explained
to the Freedmen’s Bureau that the freed people had “a mind to [pay] but they
are not able the most of them even to get a living. This is owing to the failure
of the mines throwing a great many of them out of employment.”44 By the fall
of 1869 Wooten reported that “most of the heads of families have had to go to
the RR for work,” probably in Gainesville, an entire day’s journey from
Dahlonega at the time.45 The next year, he asked the Freedmen’s Bureau if
there were not any benevolent societies that could help the African American
families “in and around this place suffering for bread,” adding, “It is alarming
to see them in this condition.”46

While focusing their assets on the church land, the freed people gambled
that the Freedmen’s Bureau would offer assistance for their education. And in
1868 the Bureau did begin to aid the school in Dahlonega. It contributed twenty-
five dollars to Wooten’s salary, which was also subsidized by a charitable orga-
nization in Pittsburgh. William Price had also contacted the Freedmen’s Bureau
on the freed people’s behalf. He described their financial plight and asked the
bureau to pay off the lien on the school to avoid the “judicial sale of [the]
property.” The bureau seems not to have acquiesced, but it did contribute five
dollars a month to rent school space from William Price, money that Wooten
felt could be better used to subsidize tuition.47

Wooten’s school was not the only school available to African Americans
in the county. Following the war, at least one school existed outside of the
town limits. In 1949 Amanda Green recalled that, when she was ten years old,
the war ended and she began to attend a school at Cavender’s Creek, on the
eastern side of the county. An older white man, who Amanda claimed “didn’t
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know so much,” taught classes in an “old log house with a big fireplace in it.”48

Her reminiscence also alludes to the existence of other schools.
In addition, by 1868 three Sabbath schools existed in the county, encom-

passing twenty-four teachers and 225 students. No information about these
Sabbath schools exists, which is unfortunate; judging by their large student
bodies, they reached and influenced many more people than did Wooten. The
records are also frustratingly silent on the identities of the teachers. As reports
to the Freedmen’s Bureau indicated that white sentiment about education for
African Americans ranged from indifference to hostility, it must be assumed
that they were written by African Americans.49

By the beginning of 1869 attendance at Wooten’s school had dwindled
to thirty students, and by the spring he was asking J.R. Lewis, then head of the
Freedmen’s Bureau in Georgia, if he knew “any other field where the colored
people need a School and would Support a teacher?”50 Just when it seemed he
would have to close his school forever, Wooten found the perfect school build-
ing, the old U.S. Mint. The bulk of the Federal troops had abandoned the post
in the spring of 1869, leaving the building vacant for a school.51 Unfortunately,
Wooten’s students enjoyed their new location for a brief time only. The mint
was slated for auction at the beginning of 1870. The lack of a reasonable bid
granted Wooten and his scholars a temporary stay, but Wooten began to search
for other options.52

The Freedmen’s Bureau had offered to help build a schoolhouse if Wooten
and his students could obtain land. Once again it was William Price who inter-
vened. In February 1870, Price offered a piece of land for the school in an area
east of town known as Crane’s Hill. Excitedly, Wooten informed the Freedmen’s
Bureau that he planned to deed the land to the American Baptist Missionary
Society, with which he had recently aligned himself.53 Instead, Price deeded it
to three African American trustees whom he charged to use the land “for the
education of freedmen, and children irrespective of race or color,” by which he
meant it was to be a school for black children.54 The arrangement suited Price,
who was by this time a member of the U.S. Congress and aspiring to establish
a college on the grounds of the former mint.55

Price named Daniel Keith as one of the trustees, as he also did Henry
Castleberry. Like Keith, Castleberry was a mulatto, a property owner, and one
of the wealthier African Americans in the county. By 1878 he, too, owned forty
acres of land, contiguous to Keith’s, on the western edge of the county. The
other trustee was Thomas Samuels. Considerably less information exists about
Samuels, but he was not a wealthy man, and he owned no land. While only
Wooten’s correspondence with the Freedmen’s Bureau survives, surely these
three gentlemen, who had an established relationship with Price, and whose
names appear on the deed, played a large role in the negotiations regarding
the property transfer.56

Price’s offer did not come free: it cost the freed people fifty dollars and
the promise that they would “never make any claim to, or seek to enter any
colored pupils, in the event the mint” became the college of Price’s vision. The
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trustees accepted these terms in order to obtain the much needed school building
for African American children.57

With the land secured, the Freedmen’s Bureau approved nine hundred
dollars for the erection of the school building, which doubled as the First Bap-
tist Church.58 Wooten arranged for the contractors and monitored the building’s
progress. He had hoped to secure an African American reported to be a “splen-
did carpenter” to build the school for six hundred dollars, but the Freedmen’s
Bureau’s requirement of a “bond and security &c.” precluded the employment
of any black carpenter. Instead, Gilbert Parker erected the school at a cost of
$825.59

Wooten was probably the first person to teach in the building, but by
1875 he had left the field and was working as a colporteur for the American
Tract Society.60 Amanda Green remembered that when she started attending
the school in town a white woman was employed as the teacher. But Cora
Harris probably only taught because she was desperate. She had married a
northerner who had withheld from her the information that he was already
married. Green commented that when “he went back North and left her with
a little girl . . . she had to do something for a living.”61

Between 1870 and 1886, the number of schools in Lumpkin County
vacillated between one and four, then stayed at four until after the turn of the
century. During the same period, the number of schools available to white
students was between twenty-nine and thirty-seven.62 In 1875, 1,620 white
children and 148 African American children attended school in Lumpkin
County. But the number of illiterate white people between the ages of ten and
eighteen was 224; it was 35 for black children of the same age. Roughly 14
percent of white, school-aged children were illiterate; the corresponding num-
ber for African American children was about 24 percent.63 But, in Lumpkin
County, these figures may exaggerate the difference between education for
black and white children. In fact, in Lumpkin County, the parity in education
may actually have been greater than in other places in Georgia.

Because of the general poverty in the mountain area, schools for black as
well as white children suffered. In Lumpkin County, the collapse of the min-
ing industry further depressed the economy. In 1874 William Price made a
tour of several northeastern counties, including Lumpkin, to assess why illit-
eracy was so high in the region. While he returned from that tour optimistic,
he found himself making, for the same reasons, a similar study of Lumpkin
County at the turn of the century. He found in 1902 that most schools for
white children were taught in poorly located churches or “wretched-looking
shacks or barns” with leaky roofs that were unfit for “school purposes.” More-
over, he also encountered many white people who had had to defer their edu-
cation to work on the farm or to take care of sick family members and then
were too embarrassed to return to school as older students. Several of those he
interviewed replied that “they knew several men elected to office in Lumpkin
County who could not read and write,” and hence they reasoned that educa-
tion was unnecessary.64
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Illiterate white men may have been elected to office in Lumpkin County,
but no black man, regardless of his education, was elected to office during the
nineteenth century. African Americans simply did not have the numbers to
influence elections. For example, in 1878 forty-eight black men paid the poll
tax that, theoretically, enabled them to vote. Obviously these men felt that
voting was an important act despite their impotence at the polls. And the ac-
tions of African Americans in the county suggest that they were well aware of
the political climate around them. Before elections in 1874, African Americans
held meetings in their church; one reportedly lasted two days. Many were
members of, or at least receptive to the message promoted by, the Union League.
The local newspaper reported in May 1874 that African Americans had been
“carrying on a Union meeting at this place. Several colored preachers from a
distance officiated, while a large crowd was in attendance.”65

The white men who controlled politics and the social order in Lumpkin
County did not appear threatened by the Union League meeting attended by
a “large crowd” of recently emancipated slaves. In fact, in 1874 the local news-
paper confidently announced, “We have an orderly, law abiding colored popu-
lation. The threatened war between the races will not effect [sic] us here.”66

Not all the African Americans in Lumpkin County were law abiding, and the
newspaper printed the infractions of those who were not, but these cases were
infrequent. The local African American population was just too small to con-
cern those in power. Generally, the Mountain Signal printed stories that either
ridiculed the efforts of local African Americans or displayed a paternalistic
attitude toward those it referred to as “our colored populace.” Some African
Americans were singled out for their “industry” and “honesty.” In his obituary
in 1873 Nelson Singleton, a carpenter, was lauded for these qualities. Two
others who didn’t have to die before winning the praises of the Mountain Signal’s
editors were Henry Castleberry and Daniel Keith, two of the trustees of the
land that William Price had donated for the school.67

This appreciation of Henry Castleberry and Daniel Keith, two men in-
volved in promoting education for African Americans, by the white elite sug-
gests that white people in Lumpkin County came to terms with education for
black children in their county. During the last quarter of the nineteenth cen-
tury, three schools were established in three African American “settlements”
outside of town. Hickory School held classes in a Methodist church in the
southeastern part of the county, Lowry School was located a little more than
three miles northeast of Dahlonega, and Keith School, named after Daniel
Keith, was situated four miles outside of town in the southwestern part of the
county. The county board of education paid the teachers in these schools and
“such school appliances as [it] could supply.”68 In 1883, the only year for which
there is an extant list of teachers, three black men taught in these schools.69

The school in Dahlonega, which also served as the First Baptist Church, fell
under the domain of the city board of education and continued to operate until
the middle of the twentieth century. In 1945 the original building burned.70

To achieve their aims during Reconstruction, African Americans in
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Lumpkin County negotiated with and used the resources of their white neigh-
bors, such as Amory Dexter, W.J. Wooten, and William Price. To be sure, the
freed people did not negotiate on equal terms with the white men in this Blue
Ridge community. Nevertheless, they did accomplish a great deal: they cre-
ated an independent church, won a court decision that awarded them a piece
of town property—albeit only a partial victory—and arranged to preserve edu-
cational opportunities for their children. By appealing to their white neigh-
bors’ sense of paternalism, they achieved all this without inciting the racial
tension and violence that accompanied such actions in many other areas of
Georgia during this period.
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White Missionaries, Black School
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The academic focus on multiculturalism in the late twentieth century gives the
impression that society was homogeneous until very recently. In particular,
and despite the efforts of numerous scholars, the myth persists that the Appa-
lachian region is a static and uniform society made up of poor white mountain-
eers. But the social and cultural makeup of the region is much more complicated
than some are willing to admit, and its history is replete with examples of
multicultural encounters and incidences of cooperation.1

One of the most ecumenical and complex of those was undertaken by the
nineteenth-century religious and social reformers who established the Salem
School and Orphanage in Elk Park, North Carolina. In this relatively isolated
mountain community, Presbyterian, Congregationalist, and Mennonite mis-
sionaries identified and attempted to address the needs of an African American
community.

The Salem School and Orphanage was an anomaly in the mountain re-
form movements of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. Mission
work on behalf of blacks in Appalachia was rare because of entrenched racism
and because of the relatively low percentage of African Americans in the re-
gion but, more important, because of a general perception that the greater
need was to uplift poverty-stricken mountain whites. James Klotter has argued
that the poverty among white mountaineers “allowed some reformers to turn
with clear conscience away from blacks” to aid an Appalachia that was charac-
terized by its “whiteness.”2

Klotter’s thesis does not account for the Salem School and Orphanage.
Its story is all but forgotten and provides a counterpoint to those dominant
white-oriented missionary trends. The story of the Salem School can best be
understood in the context of the broader missionary educational reform move-
ments of the late nineteenth century and the unique contribution of the Men-
nonite Brethren Church.3

In the late nineteenth century, many Protestant churches sent workers
into the Appalachian mission field to establish churches and schools and more
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generally to work for the betterment of mountaineers through the establish-
ment of church schools and institutions of religious education. Helping moun-
taineers to realize “a more abundant life” describes the mission of a 1924
Lutheran Training School in Virginia and sums up the goal of religious educa-
tion in southern Appalachia.4 For the most part, this movement began with
northern Protestant churches wanting to educate Appalachia’s poor white
mountaineers and followed other paternalistic attitudes that grew out of the
history of religious education in the South.

Although education had been a part of the religious enterprise since co-
lonial America, the religious education movement that most affected southern
Appalachia is a product of nineteenth-century revivalism. During the 1790s
and the early part of the nineteenth century revivals swept the country, includ-
ing the southern highlands, and spawned what is commonly referred to as the
Second Great Awakening. This revivalist era produced many changes in Ameri-
can religion, including an evangelistic interest in transforming society and
Christianizing culture.5

Toward the end of the eighteenth century, Samuel Hopkins wrote that
sin “consists in self love,” while “holiness consists in disinterested benevo-
lence.”6 Hopkins reasoned that Christians have a duty to work for the happi-
ness and self-fulfillment of others and that this selflessness would result in
good works directed toward one’s neighbors and toward society in general.7
From this philosophical stance issued a proliferation of religious reform, mis-
sion, and educational societies. Some of these, such as the American Educa-
tion Society of 1816, were interdenominational, while others, such as the
Presbyterian United Domestic Missionary Society of 1826, had a vested de-
nominational interest. Nevertheless, these societies sought to provide educa-
tional opportunities where none existed, and during the nineteenth century,
they made great strides in providing such opportunities in the West and South.8

Of course, in practice this benevolent outreach was not as disinterested as it
was in theory; however, the educational thrust did at least begin with the idea
of providing a service where a need existed.

Organized education on a large scale was nonexistent in Appalachia in
the early nineteenth century. Although by mid-century there were state-sup-
ported schools for white children, public funds came late to the mountains,
and most early efforts at education were the products of missionary enter-
prises.9 Following the Civil War, some reform, which had originally focused
on the problem of slavery,10 began to turn attention toward the problem of
education in the Appalachian high country.11 Specifically, reform-minded so-
cieties recognized the absence or scarcity of public funds for education in the
mountain regions and turned their sights toward providing educational oppor-
tunities. Naturally, denominations viewed the mountains as a needy place and
as a foothold for the expansion of their churches. By 1880, the practice of
founding church-related mission schools had begun in earnest; by 1920 seven-
teen separate denominational mission schools existed in southern Appalachia.12

Following the general theme of reform, these mission schools for the
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most part were dominated by their own paternalistic attitudes. Their goal was
to educate and to “save” the mountain children from illiteracy and ignorance.
For example, the Konnarock Training School of Virginia was a 1920s project
of the Woman’s Missionary Society of the United Lutheran Church. The school
was organized to throw “light upon [the] great problem of rural education”
and to help untutored mountain girls overcome their impoverished back-
grounds.13 This same emphasis is clearly illustrated in a set of 1912 photo-
graphs taken at the Oneida Institute, an early twentieth-century Baptist mission
school in Kentucky. The first photograph pictures five young girls as “they
enter school” poorly dressed, disheveled, and completely lacking in refine-
ment. The second picture shows seven young ladies “after about a year at
Oneida”; they are well dressed, properly groomed, and more refined.14 The
implication is obvious. The mission schools were seeking to civilize what their
founders perceived to be untutored natives of a backwoods area.

This civilizing process always meant Christianization, for the missionar-
ies who came to the mountains to found schools and churches viewed the area
as brutal and heathenish, a place ripe for “God’s work.”15 For “disinterested
benevolence” to succeed, Christianity had to be considered the solution to
social ills, so the job of educating children never completely superseded the
job of winning souls. In fact, missionaries saw the two tasks as mutually depen-
dent; educating children and pursuing other reform projects were merely the
results of evangelism. This attitude was summed up by James Anderson Burns,
the cofounder and president of the Oneida Institute: “Religious education solves
our mountain problems as nothing else can do. As teachers we do not preach
less than missionary pastors. We preach every Sunday and our teaching all the
week is to the same effect . . . our mission schools are missionary enterprises
[and] are training schools for our churches and communities.”16

Against this backdrop, the work of Emily Prudden in Elk Park might
seem to fit this model of mission school development. After all, Prudden was a
woman from the Northeast, the product of a liberal Protestant tradition who
moved to the South to improve life or, at the very least, in David Whisnant’s
terms, to intervene culturally in a seemingly alien society.17

Prudden was the daughter of a reform-minded family from Connecticut.
She was nearly deaf for most of her adult life. As she approached her fiftieth
birthday, she was left without family and was evidently growing restless. In
1882 an old friend asked her to help with educational mission work at the
Brainard Institute in Chester, South Carolina. Brainard was established by the
New School Presbyterian Church to educate former slaves. Prudden’s experi-
ence at Brainard echoes the predominant paternalism that Whisnant described,
yet Prudden’s own assessment of her work lacks the hard edge found in the
memories of some religious educators of that day: “The girls in this home
were taught in the public school . . . so for six hours daily I was free to visit the
poor cabins, both colored and white. . . . [The children were] without advan-
tage, no school, no church, no society. . . . I thought of my own school days,
still a joy to remember and would say to myself, You could build a home in
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some lovely place where every influence is pure and uplifting and take fifteen
girls and train them as your own, and send them out to live useful lives.”18

Even though much of Prudden’s experience resembles Whisnant’s de-
scription of white liberal paternalism in Appalachia, her work differs from that
pattern. Of the fifteen schools that Prudden established in rural North and
South Carolina, seven were for African American children at a time when schools
were segregated by law and when most other missionary reformers, almost
always white themselves, worked with white people, especially in southern
Appalachia, and built white institutions. And the subsequent evolution of
Prudden’s work at the Salem School under the influence of the Mennonites
departed even further from the traditional pattern of paternalistic cultural in-
tervention. The Mennonite Brethren made the Salem School a forum for cul-
tural interaction, bringing the mountain African American community,
described as a “neglected minority within a neglected minority,” into contact
with Kansas missionaries who were Russian émigrés and who had memories of
religious persecution.19

In the late nineteenth century, Elk Park, nestled deep in the Blue Ridge
Mountains just a mile from the Tennessee border, was a very small rural settle-
ment. Most families lived on small farms and hunted and fished in the sur-
rounding mountains. There were no schools, newspapers, or central governing
body. Public schools were plagued by inadequate facilities; ludicrous classroom
conditions, such as a single teacher responsible for forty pupils ranging in age
from six to twenty-one; makeshift curricula that covered little more than the
three Rs, plus history and geography; teachers who were paid little and who
were often hired on the basis of family and political connections rather than
competence; and the absence of mandatory attendance laws.20 Under such con-
ditions the coming of the mission schools and educators like Emily Prudden
seemed a godsend.

But around 1890, before the arrival of Emily Prudden, Rev. Robert Payne
Pell, a white Presbyterian minister, arrived in Elk Park.21 Pell was the first link
in the chain of events that would lead to the founding of the Salem School and
Orphanage, and his first task was to build a Presbyterian church. Given the
dismal condition of education there, Pell and many of his new congregation
soon decided to sponsor and build a school, following the typical settlement-
school pattern of the time.22 Familiar with the work of Emily Prudden, Pell
asked her to come to Elk Park to help with a school for white children. She
agreed, and soon more than three hundred white children were attending the
Elk Park Academy, funded through the cooperative efforts of the Presbyterian
and Congregational missionary movements.

Prudden was soon joined by five missionary workers from Cleveland,
Ohio, all of whom worked diligently at the school and among the residents
around Elk Park. For example, teachers held “Mothers’ Meetings” to teach
basic concepts of nutrition, child rearing, and sanitation; they began a reli-
gious youth group, offering activities and fellowship to local teenagers; and
they passed out or sold clothing and household items donated by northern
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supporters. Prudden wrote that these activities alone were enough to keep five
teachers busy. However, something else continued to nag at Prudden. She felt
the need to heed the Bible’s call to “do for the least of these,” and she inter-
preted this call to mean help for the children of the small African American
community around Elk Park.23

This decision was predictable given Prudden’s exposure to Reconstruc-
tion experiments such as the Brainard Institute and her own efforts at estab-
lishing African American schools such as the Lincoln Academy near Gastonia
in 1886 and her possible exposure to African American education at Berea
College in 1878.24 Nevertheless, her decision to educate mountain blacks is
remarkable for its Appalachian setting because it marks a departure from the
normal settlement-school pattern within the region, to provide “a more abun-
dant life” for poor white mountaineers only. In fact, given the times and the
context, Prudden’s experiment seems no less than phenomenal.25

In 1894, Prudden bought four acres of land and built a school in Elk
Park for the African American children of the surrounding area, which in-
cluded Avery, Mitchell, and Watauga Counties. Only one of the Cleveland
missionaries who had been working with white mountain children chose to
teach in the new school, and local attitudes soon made it difficult to attract
teachers, as explained by the later writings of Mennonite missionaries: “When
she [Prudden] bought the piece of land for the school for the colored people,
no one knew for what purpose it was intended. Therefore she was able to
select a lovely hillside which overlooked the whole town of Elk Park. The fine
building and location for the colored people caused so much hatred and jeal-
ousy among the white people that they succeeded in frightening away the early
occupants and Miss Prudden could no longer get teachers for the school.”26

There is no record of the abuses suffered by the early teachers. Prudden,
in her autobiographical sketch, glosses over this period, saying that the suffer-
ing and distress in their work would appear in their “tear book,” if it were ever
written. Deeds recorded at the Mitchell County courthouse indicate that in
1897 Prudden gave the land and the school building to the American Mission-
ary Association (AMA), the home mission branch of the Congregational Church,
and that the AMA deeded it back to Prudden in 1900.27 Presumably, the local
resistance to educating African American children was so strong that the AMA
could not recruit teachers (or chose not to). Committed to providing school-
ing for the African American children around Elk Park, Prudden “sent a call
westward” for Christian teachers who could be financially supported by their
home churches to come and teach in her school.

Peter Wiebe, a Russian-born Mennonite missionary working in Flat Lick,
Kentucky, heard about Prudden’s plight and informed the Krimmer Menno-
nite leadership of the need for teachers in Elk Park. The Krimmer Mennonite
Conference decided to expand their missionary program in the southern Ap-
palachians and asked for a married couple to teach and preach in the North
Carolina mountains.28 Peter Wiebe’s son, Henry, and his wife, Elizabeth Wiebe,
both also born in Russia and both recent émigrés to the Mennonite commu-
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nity in Kansas, had met and married there in 1898. They answered the call to
work in the North Carolina mountains, and they set out for Elk Park in the
spring of 1900. Unfortunately, by the time they arrived, the schoolhouse had
been rented to a white family, and Prudden had to arrange for the Wiebes to
teach summer school near Hudson in Caldwell County, about forty miles to
the east.29

A former student at the Elk Park African American school, Rev. Rhonda
(Rondo) Horton, who died in 1986, remembered the Wiebes:

They came first to a place near Hudson. . . . I don’t remember how
long they were there, but not very long. . . . They started a mission
and they opened this little school down there. They opened the school
and the [Mennonites], they never segregated black people. . . . And
then they went over to [Elk Park] and started a school over there.
There was a lady that had a school, a church school. I forgot her
name. And the Krimmer Mennonites bought her school and started
a school there for white and black children. And [white people]
told them they couldn’t run it, that it was against the law. The law
wouldn’t allow them to run the school that way, that they would
have to take one group; they couldn’t mix them. And they felt that
the black children needed school worse and they took the black
children and started this school.30

Teachers and pupils at Salem Orphanage at Elm Park, North Carolina. (Courtesy of
the Center for Mennonite Brethren Studies, Tabor College, Hillsboro, Kansas)
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The Wiebes returned to Elk Park in the fall of 1900, ready to start a new
school term with the African American children from the surrounding com-
munity. On the second morning of school a note was attached to Wiebe’s door:
“We the citizens of Elk Park will not allow for a white man to stoop so low as
to teach the niggars, they have enough of their own color to teach them. Your
time is up! After this day.”31 The Wiebes and their students persisted even as
tension built; however, no serious episodes of violence occurred. After that
first year of operation, the Wiebes returned to Kansas, planning to seek a new
mission field. When a petition arrived from African American citizens in Elk
Park asking them to return and to reopen the school, the Wiebes consented.
The Krimmer Mennonites bought the schoolhouse and eight acres of land;
the Wiebes and their students built outbuildings, including a chicken house,
granary, and barns. Together, the Wiebes and their students started to farm, in
addition to doing school work.32

During the second year of the school, the Kansas missionaries faced a
new challenge. Mrs. Wiebe recalled, “After we had been back for a few days a
colored boy, twelve years of age came to our place and begged to stay with us.
He was sick, poorly clad and homeless. We didn’t know just what to do, but
we couldn’t turn him away, for judging from appearances he had not long to
live. . . . Before long another homeless child arrived. . . . The homeless chil-
dren kept coming.”33

After conferring with the mission board, the Wiebes started an orphan-
age that could care for twenty children. The Kansas Mennonites supported
the work with food, grain, clothing, and household items, and the school and
orphanage expanded during that year. This expansion probably increased local
hostility to the institution, for Mrs. Wiebe reported that during the second
year, “there still were some people who tried to scare us out by bombarding
the place with giant firecrackers at night.”34 Still the missionaries and the chil-
dren persisted.

The third year brought more challenges to the Salem Mission when an-
other Kansas Mennonite family, Rev. Jacob Tschetter and his wife and chil-
dren, joined the Wiebes in Elk Park. A large addition was made to the house to
accommodate the Tschetters and the growing number of homeless children; a
chapel was constructed; and two local African American women, Alice Garnett
and Gertrude Sapp, began teaching at the school. Despite the missionaries’
work in improving relations with the local community, acceptance was rare.
Mrs. Wiebe remembered, “During the third year one evening Brother Wiebe
was asked to come outdoors, as there was someone to see him. We knew who
he was and from his reputation we judged that he had no good intentions. I
persuaded Brother Wiebe to stay in the house and felt that it had been the
right thing, when in the morning we found the lower front steps loaded with
fist size rocks. This was the place where the man stood and waited for Brother
Wiebe the night before.”35

Sentiment ran high against Tschetter as well, as evidenced in the musings
of a white Mitchell County citizen: “We boys would often decide that we would
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run him [Tschetter] out of town, but you can’t hurt a man who prayed like he
did.”36

The Wiebes left Elk Park in 1908, though the Tschetters stayed until
around 1912. Nevertheless, the remote location and enduring local hostility
took their toll, and the Salem Mission closed in 1912. After this closing, the
Krimmer Mennonite Conference maintained a presence in the area but changed
its focus to establishing Mennonite churches throughout the region.37 Eventu-
ally several African American Mennonite churches were established in west-
ern North Carolina. Alice Garnett and Gertrude Sapp continued to teach the
Salem children in a segregated public school. The old school grounds, consist-
ing of eight acres and several buildings, were sold to a white family and later
became the first hospital in Elk Park. Today one original building in very poor
repair remains standing on the site, and there are no African American citizens
in Elk Park.38

The story of the Salem Mission inspires sadness. The links between a
North Carolina Presbyterian minister, a Connecticut Congregationalist, and
Russian immigrant Mennonites demonstrate a unique experiment in
multicultural interaction and ecumenical cooperation. “Courage” and “devo-
tion” describe not only Emily Prudden, the Wiebes, and the Tschetters, but
also the children who attended the Salem School or who lived at the orphan-
age. In the end, racism played a role in ending the Salem Mission, but its short
life demonstrates an important departure from the norm that we have come to
expect of missionary-inspired education efforts in the Appalachian mountains.
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“WHAT DOES AMERICA NEED
SO MUCH AS AMERICANS?”
Race and Northern Reconciliation with

Southern Appalachia, 1870–1900

NINA SILBER

Sometime in the late nineteenth century, middle-class and upper-class
northerners “discovered” the people and culture of southern Appalachia. North-
ern magazines filled their pages with descriptive and fictional accounts of the
mountain people, missionaries and educators showed a new concern for uplift-
ing the southern Appalachians out of their degradation and poverty, theatergoers
attended plays in which the mountaineers feuded and “moonshined” their way
toward a romantic ending, and readers readily bought the novels of writers
such as John Fox Jr., who made the little mountain boy a classic hero of fin de
siècle fiction.1

To some extent, this “discovery” demanded that northerners reckon with
a seemingly unusual and regionally distinctive population within their national
borders. Consequently, northern audiences in the late nineteenth century
learned to identify Appalachian otherness and to spot the features and charac-
teristics that made the people of this locale different and unique. But the new
awareness of Appalachia was only partly the product of late nineteenth-cen-
tury local coloring. It also came amidst a process of cultural reconciliation and
especially a growing tendency in northern culture to promote the cause of
sectional healing, particularly with southern whites, in the post–Civil War era.
Thus, by the end of the nineteenth century, northerners had begun to mini-
mize the strangeness of the southern mountain region, celebrating this area
and its inhabitants for supposedly “American” characteristics. Through the
stories they told, most drawn more from myths than from reality, Yankees
found new reasons to shake hands across the bloody chasm. And while they did
not necessarily embrace white Appalachians as their brothers, they did wel-
come them as a distant (albeit slightly backward) branch of the national family.

This new Yankee appreciation for the white mountaineers is part of a
larger story of northerners’ reassessment of poor southern whites. By the 1880s,
northerners had begun to reevaluate this group, long described as the most
degraded people of southern society, in somewhat more complimentary terms.
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Encouraged by the optimistic forecasts of the New South movement, north-
ern enthusiasts often suggested that the poor white may have risen above his
prewar degradation and become a chief beneficiary of economic growth in the
South. Writing as early as 1875, northern journalist Charles Nordhoff found
that the daughters of poor whites “make excellent factory operatives” and that
the Georgia factories, filled with “cracker” employees, exuded an “air of com-
fort and contentment.” By the turn of the century, some believed that indus-
trial progress and the New South movement had transformed the poor whites
into a middle class. “The grandsons and granddaughters of the Crackers of
antebellum days,” explained a writer for Arena magazine in regard to southern
industry’s civilizing influence, “form the mass of what might be called the
‘middle class’ of the South to-day.”2

One feature that northern observers stressed repeatedly in their new as-
sessments of the poor southern whites was the native and indigenously Ameri-
can qualities of these people. “The third estate of the South,” explained Rev.
A.D. Mayo, in a reference to southern crackers, “is chiefly of good original
stock.” In the eyes of observers such as Reverend Mayo, while immigrants
from strange European and Asian countries overran the North and made the
laboring class there almost completely foreign, the southern white population,
including the poor, remained free of any foreign tainting. “I think I can claim,
without egotism,” explained travel writer Stephen Powers in the 1870s, “that I
sought out the poor whites in their homes more faithfully than most travellers
in the South have done.” Powers painfully recounted the “saddening igno-
rance and apathy of that class,” yet still rejoiced “that these were Americans all,
and not foreigners.” And Charles Dudley Warner agreed that the South’s ra-
cial purity and isolation from immigration made it “more homogeneous than
the North, and perhaps more distinctly American in its characteristics.” Be-
hind this classification of American stood the vague and generally ill-conceived
racial assessments of the era that not only defined Americans in terms of En-
glish descent but also tied this racial lineage to the rise of more “advanced”
civilizations. In the misused language of the era, most southern whites quali-
fied as bona fide “Anglo-Saxons.”3

The Anglo-Saxonism of the southern white people, including the poor
whites, gave added significance to northerners’ conciliatory efforts at the turn
of the century. As many writers explained, northerners could no longer reject
the South, steeped in its proud racial heritage, while opening the gates to the
strange and alien immigrants who flooded into northern cities and supposedly
diluted American traditions. Joshua Caldwell expounded on this theme in an
article explicitly titled “The South Is American,” written for Arena magazine
in 1893. “The war ended twenty-eight years ago,” Caldwell wrote, “but it is
still the habit of the North to think of the people of the states which attempted
to secede as enemies of the Union and of the Constitution.” After tabulating
the percentage of foreign-born in the total populations of various southern
states, Caldwell found that it would be difficult to find a population more
American than in the South. Moreover, the principles of freedom and union
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could safely be trusted with the people of such a noble stock, certainly more so
than with those who descended from alien cultures. For the Anglo-Saxons of
the South, Caldwell explained, “no life but one of freedom is possible, and I
can never believe that the hybrid population of Russians, Poles, Italians, Hun-
garians, which fills so many Northern cities and states, has the same love for
our country, the same love of liberty, as have the Anglo-Saxon southerners,
whose fathers have always been free.” Others implicitly agreed with Caldwell’s
contention that the racial purity of the white South, including the poor whites,
undercut the region’s earlier rebellion against the Union, making the move
toward conciliation more critical than ever before.4

In keeping with the conciliatory trend of uniting the whites and isolating
the blacks, northern culture celebrated the southern poor white precisely be-
cause he was not black. Northern reformers, often with the encouragement of
southern whites, consciously cultivated an interest in the crackers as a way to
replace earlier philanthropic efforts for the freedmen. Even when discussing
the South’s “Negro problem,” northerners often paid more attention to south-
ern whites. At the Lake Mohonk Conference on the Negro Question, held in
June 1890, Roeliff Brinkerhoff, an Ohio banker and a former Union general,
revealed the new northern preoccupation with southern white people. “I want
this Conference and these Northern people,” explained Brinkerhoff, “to look
at this question from the standpoint of the white men of the South.” Implicitly
comparing the native American qualities of southern white people with the
foreign strain of the North, he continued, “Let us remember that the white
people of the South are a noble people, that there is nowhere in the United
States a purer strain of American blood than in the Old South.” Northern
humanitarians, missionaries, and educators also discovered in the poor whites
a new impoverished and degraded group in the South especially deserving of
attention because they were white and native-born. In an 1880 editorial, the
Nation urged Republicans to switch from the black to “The White Side of the
Southern Question”: “Hitherto the Southern question has been treated by the
organs of the party . . . as if it were simply and solely a Black question, whereas
it is a combination of two questions, one black and the other white. The whites
are more numerous than the blacks, and more energetic and able, and are far
more potent for good and evil.” For northerners seeking to uplift the South,
southern blacks had become the “undeserving” poor, doomed to political and
moral degradation for years to come. But poor southern whites, who came
from a more “respectable” stock, had become the region’s “deserving” poor.
Missionary worker Ellen Myers thus advocated a redirection in the racial focus
of the American Missionary Association. “‘Our brother in black’ has been held
up to the view of two continents for the last fifty years,” Myers explained. But,
she noted in an implicit reference to the white people of the Tennessee and
Kentucky mountains, “there is an unnoticed class of people dwelling almost in
the very centre of the settled portion of the United States . . . another class as
needy perhaps as any.”5

If the crackers had become the South’s deserving poor, then, as Ellen
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Myers implied, one group among the poor whites became the region’s most
deserving of all. The white people of the southern mountains, especially in
what came to be known as “Appalachian America,” became northern culture’s
cause célèbre in the late nineteenth century. Northerners discovered this seg-
ment of southern white society in the writings of northerners who had visited
the region as well as in those of southerners who wrote largely for a Yankee
audience. Initially stressing the strange and alien qualities of this isolated popu-
lation, northerners, by the 1890s, wrote of, read about, and helped to cultivate
the truly American qualities of the southern mountain people. To a great ex-
tent, they helped to initiate and foster a pervasive mythology of southern Ap-
palachia in which unadulterated Unionism, pure and upstanding patriotism,
and undiluted racial purity became the hallmarks of the region’s inhabitants.
At the same time, these myths of southern mountain life opened a new path
for northern humanitarianism that was far removed from the disturbing racial
and social conflicts that held the South in its grip during this troubling period
of economic and political turmoil.6

To a great extent, northerners remained virtually ignorant of the people
of Appalachia until the 1880s. Unaware of the various and subtle social distinc-
tions that lay between the poor white and the planter aristocrat, most
northerners showed little understanding of the unique characteristics that dis-
tinguished the mountain white from the generic poor white designation used
for every white person in the South who had never owned a grand plantation
and hundreds of slaves. As late as 1898, William G. Frost, the northern-born
president of Berea College in Kentucky, found it necessary to remind the read-
ers of Outlook that the mountain white and poor white should not be confused.
The mountaineers’ “homespun garb, often in tatters, rude speech, and shuf-
fling gait,” Frost warned, “might lead us to classify them with the ‘poor white
trash.’ But there could be no greater mistake.” Aided by the advice of Frost
and other writers and observers, northerners gradually learned to distinguish
the unique characteristics of the southern mountain people and to identify the
common set of characteristics that united the inhabitants of the mountainous
regions of several different states. To some extent, they did so by pointing to
the “primitive” traditions of Appalachia, including the traditions of feuding
and “moonshining.” But, gradually, they also learned to identify the noble quali-
ties of racial vigor and patriotism that set the mountaineers apart.7

Northerners first met the inhabitants of southern Appalachia through
the work of the writers of the local color movement whose ever-widening lit-
erary sweep had drawn in the quaint and peculiar peoples from regions through-
out the United States. For the most part, the early local colorists of the southern
mountains stressed the strange and alien qualities that set the mountain people
apart from all others. Kentucky writer James Lane Allen thus found his home
state divided into “two Kentuckys”—the mountain region and the bluegrass
region—so different from each other that they comprised two distinct identi-
ties. Tennessee writer Mary Murfree, initially writing under the pseudonym
Charles Egbert Craddock, described the lives of the mountain people of her
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state in numerous tales of romantic fiction during the 1870s and 1880s. Like
Allen, she impressed upon northern readers a sense of Appalachian strange-
ness. “I was early familiar with their primitive customs, dialect, and peculiar
views of life,” Murfree explained to Atlantic editor Thomas Aldrich regarding
her descriptions of the mountaineers, and she undertook to show her readers
just how peculiar the people of Appalachia were.8

While local colorists were discovering the “peculiar” qualities of Appala-
chia, northern capitalists and investors had begun to make their own discover-
ies in this region at precisely the same time. Initially, the railroad opened up
Appalachia to investment, bringing in tourist promoters, who set up the new
mountain spas and resorts, and speculators interested in the mining and tim-
ber capabilities of the region. The New South movement came to Appalachia
in the late nineteenth century with a vengeance, prompting observers to exude
over the economic potential for the region and its inhabitants. “This mountain
region alone,” one railroad publication noted, “can furnish permanent em-
ployment, when fully developed, for a population twice as great as that of the
United States today.” In the 1890s, many were still marveling at the economic
potential of the region, a point that the promoters of the 1895 Atlanta Exposi-
tion hoped to exploit. “The store of wealth that lies buried in the hillsides and
mountains of the Southern states,” noted an article in the exposition’s newslet-
ter, “will be a revelation to the Northern and Western miners and capitalists.”
Closely aligned with the region’s industrial growth, according to the economic
promoters and investors, was the development of the region’s population into
a class of capable employees. “What the Piedmont district and the Cumberland
plateau may be capable of doing,” remarked northern capitalist Edward
Atkinson, “can only be developed when there is a sufficient density of popula-
tion possessing modern aptitudes to prove by experience their potential. That
mountain, valley and plateau section of the great Appalachian chain may hereaf-
ter become the richest part of the country, measuring riches by its potential.”9

The advent of the New South in Appalachia encouraged observers to
reassess the qualities of the peculiar mountain people, highlighting their eco-
nomic potential as sturdy contributors to a capable middle class. Although
observers still found much that was odd, peculiar, and even degraded about the
mountaineers, they also stressed the positive features that made this group
deserving of northern assistance. The mountaineers may have possessed many
“primitive” characteristics, northerners believed, but they also possessed quali-
ties that made them capable of uplift and improvement. Hence, the literature
on Appalachia that appeared between the 1880s and the turn of the century
turned away from its initial bewilderment over the strange and unusual quali-
ties of the mountain people to a celebration of their strong, vigorous, patriotic,
and racially pure characteristics. In this spirit, the economic promoters at the
1901 South Carolina Exposition commended the transformation of the moun-
tain people into a capable industrial workforce. “Many of the mill people,” the
exposition advocates observed, “are drawn from the mountains of North Caro-
lina, where the principal occupation is hunting and moonshine. . . . The people
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have come from the fields, the farms and the mountains to work in the cotton
mills and are doing well. They are frugal and industrious, and above all have
the native instinct of fidelity which is essential to the successful operation of a
cotton mill.” And William Frost could barely contain his excitement regarding
the economic and racial potential of the mountaineers. They “are a glorious
national asset,” he wrote. “They are the unspoiled and vigorous reserve forces.
They will offset the undesirable foreign elements, and give the South what it
has always lacked, a sturdy middle class.”10

As these and other observers suggested, the mountaineers, despite some
primitive tendencies, had the potential for uplift and improvement. In particu-
lar, the mountain whites’ alleged racial purity gave northern observers cause
for optimism. In the last years of the nineteenth century it was this feature
more than any other that northern and southern whites cherished about
Appalachia’s inhabitants. And, in the search for American Anglo-Saxonism in
the late nineteenth century, many believed that they had found the purest and
most concentrated expression of this racial strain in the remote southern moun-
tains. Once the racial wholesomeness of the southern mountaineers had been
established, northern whites could embrace them, no longer excluding them
as strange and alien but instead bringing them into their national heritage at
precisely the same moment when northern culture had begun to cast southern
black people aside. Northerners never embraced the mountain folk as their
equals; but, by stressing their perception of racial purity in Appalachia, they
established a bond through which the mountaineers became worthy of north-
ern attention and assistance. “Nowhere will be found purer Anglo-Saxon blood,”
claimed William Brewer, writing in the pages of the northern magazine Cos-
mopolitan about the mountain people in Georgia. Other writers agreed that
the southern mountaineers epitomized racial purity, largely because the moun-
tains had kept these people isolated from the waves of immigration that had
polluted the racial stock, and thus the civilized tendencies, of the rest of the
nation. The mountaineers, in effect, embodied the same racial makeup of the
early settlers in America and the hardy frontier people who had pushed their
way up the mountain range two hundred years earlier. Writing about the Ap-
palachian people of the early twentieth century, one author for another north-
ern periodical, World’s Work, explained in 1902 that “these people have not
changed in any essential respect since the days of the pioneer.”11

Impressed by the racial purity of Appalachia, observers, travelers, and
folklorists in the 1890s and early 1900s reevaluated many of the same charac-
teristics that had formerly been a sign of the mountaineers’ barbarity. The
American Folklore Society, for example, established in 1889, became enthralled
with the study of the Appalachian people, finding in the mountains a guide to
the traditions and values of the American past. In time, educators, missionar-
ies, and travelers also turned with a new interest to the southern mountains.
And, in this regard, although many agreed that the feuding and moonshining
in the mountains pointed to the region’s primitive nature, they found that even
this primitiveness contained distinctively American and Anglo-Saxon quali-
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ties. In effect, because they were “backward” and “primitive,” the mountain-
eers demanded uplift; but, because their primitiveness revealed Anglo-Saxon
roots, they would likely benefit more than others—and also benefit a reunified
nation from whatever assistance they received. “The mountaineer is to be re-
garded as a survival,” explained William Frost in his attempt to establish tenu-
ous and questionable racial links. “In his speech you will soon detect the flavor
of Chaucer. . . . His very homicides are an honest survival of Saxon temper.”
Folklorists rhapsodized over the American roots of the mountain people’s “pe-
culiar” musical traditions. “The music of the Southern mountaineer is not
only peculiar,” wrote one mountain scholar, “but, like himself, peculiarly Ameri-
can.” Even what seemed to be inbreeding among mountain families could be
construed as a sign of the Appalachian people’s rich racial and historical legacy.
“The men and women of this region,” commented travel writer Leon
Vandevort, “unlike those of the Adirondacks, are a community so old that its
various branches interweave until the whole family is firmly united. . . . The
root of the family tree is invariably in Virginia or the fertile sections of Eastern
North Carolina. Here in the mountains are many of the names that stand for
all that men consider honorable and distinguished in those old lands.”12

It was this spirit of celebrating the primitive but truly American qualities
of the mountain people that guided the work of William Goodell Frost during
his tenure as president of Berea College from 1892 until his retirement in
1920. After leaving his post at Oberlin, Frost came as an outsider to Appala-
chia, determined to prove to the rest of the world the worthiness of the Appa-
lachian cause. The college’s efforts in the mountain district extended back to
the antebellum period, but Frost gave a new emphasis and direction to the
school’s work. Most notably, Frost redirected the institution away from bira-
cial education and undertook a focused campaign of white recruitment, espe-
cially among mountain residents. During the 1890s and early twentieth century,
Frost became the leading interpreter of the white mountaineers and their cul-
ture, writing scores of articles for northern magazines and delivering countless
speeches in his efforts to elicit humanitarian funds for his project to educate
the people of this mountain district. In his eagerness to uplift and improve
mountain life, Frost noted those “primitive” and “backward” characteristics of
the people that required the civilizing tools of the outside society. Yet, unlike
earlier observers, Frost did not assume that this Appalachian primitiveness
demanded the isolation and ostracism of the region. Rather, Frost sounded the
theme, which others echoed, of lauding the mountaineers’ ancient, albeit un-
tamed, traits as primitive indicators of the true American spirit. “We will not
teach them to despise the log-cabin,” Frost wrote of his educational efforts,
“but to adorn it. And . . . we respect their sturdy independence and endeavor
only to help them to help themselves.” The mountaineers combined all of the
sturdy and commendable characteristics of the original settlers and of the pio-
neers, possessing the same strength and independence as America’s ances-
tors, traits that needed only to be updated to present conditions. In this sense,
Frost identified the Appalachians as a “simple, primitive people, showing the
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strong traits of their race—independence, respect for religion, family affec-
tion, patriotism.”13

Moreover, Frost also assumed that among the Anglo-Saxon people of
the mountains lay the key to civilizing and uplifting the entire South. As Frost
saw it, once the Appalachians had been uplifted, their influence could extend
to other impoverished populations in the region. It is important to consider,
Frost explained, the mountaineers’ “central location in the heart of the South.
When once enlightened this highland stock may reinforce the whole circle of
Southern states.” In this way, Frost helped to broadcast the concerns of the
southern mountains throughout the United States, identifying the unique po-
sition of Appalachia as a critical component in the reinvigoration of the entire
South. And, in this way, he also made it clear that the uplifting of Appalachia
could contribute to the broader process of sectional reunion. By developing
this nucleus of Anglo-Saxon strength in the heartland of Dixie, Frost sug-
gested that the Anglo-Saxon bonds of the entire nation, of North and South,
would also be strengthened.14

Frost believed that the people of Appalachia represented the best hope
of the South because, as he and others never tired of explaining, not only did
the mountaineers embody a pure racial heritage, they had also proved repeat-
edly their patriotic attachment to the American nation. “What does America
need so much as Americans?” Frost queried. “And here they are—vigorous,
unjaded of nerve, prolific, patriotic— full of the blood and spirit of Seventy-
six.” Indeed, in the realm of patriotism, mountain whites apparently excelled
where other southern whites had failed, or so claimed the unfolding myth of
the region. While recent scholarship on the Civil War paints a much more
complicated picture of divided and even changing loyalties in various parts of
the southern mountains, journalists and novelists in the 1880s and 1890s re-
peatedly emphasized Appalachians’ overwhelming attachment to the Union
and identified this as a signpost that set the Appalachians apart from the rest of
the white South. As early as the Reconstruction period, northerners had tried
to establish the unqualified Unionism of the mountain region. “It is certain
that the majority of the able-bodied men of the mountains,” wrote Union of-
ficer John DeForest during his postwar stint in South Carolina, “were eventu-
ally bullied or dragged by main force into the Confederate army. They sought
to remain loyal.” During the 1880s and 1890s, other publicists and missionaries
expanded this theme of the patriotic and therefore deserving mountain people
in scores of fictional and nonfictional accounts of Appalachia. Some hesitated to
generalize about the Unionist sentiments of all the southern mountain people,
although they accepted the argument that the mountain region was, for the most
part, an enclave of Union support. According to some, the mountain feuds re-
ceived a new stimulus from the divisions of the Civil War, suggesting that while
some feuding families supported the North, others fought for the Confederacy.
During the war, William Frost explained, “the mountain people were divided.”
Still, as Frost maintained, the patriotic spirit prevailed as “the greater part [of
the mountain population] were steadfast in loyalty to the old flag.”15
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Crucial to the mountaineers’ pro-Union stance was their assumed igno-
rance of the system of slavery. The mountaineers, wrote missionary writer
Mrs. S.M. Davis, “would have no complicity with slavery, and hence the
slaveocracy would have nothing to do with them.” According to the historical
accounts, the slave system left many poor whites with little choice but to es-
cape the control and domination of the slaveholders’ economy by retreating to
the isolated mountain regions. In the “mountain valleys of the Blue Ridge and
the Alleghenies,” explained Harvard geology professor Nathaniel Shaler, the
poor whites “formed independent and singularly isolated communities, in which
no negroes were ever seen.” The mountain white’s distance from the degrada-
tions and sectionalism engendered by the slave system made him unreceptive
to the Confederate cause and thus more inclined to support the boys in blue.16

But this separation from slavery implied much more than the mountain-
eers’ immunity to sectionalism; perhaps more significant, it also revealed their
racial isolation, even racial “innocence,” with respect to slavery and the slaves
themselves. Northern observers, missionaries, and educators, actively looking
for “the white side” of southern race relations, needed to look no further than
this racially pure and definitively nonblack population. Here, amazingly, was a
group of southern white people who, it could be argued, had virtually no con-
tact with the unwholesome influences of slavery—the devaluation of free la-
bor, the extremes of wealth and impoverishment within the white population,
and the racial hostility that beset many poor whites, not to mention familiarity
with the degraded characteristics of southern blacks. Indeed, what began as an
explanation of the mountaineers’ isolation from the sectional politics of slav-
ery and the slaveholder became a tribute to the Appalachian people’s detach-
ment from African Americans. “The landless, luckless ‘poor white,’” argued
William Frost, “degraded by actual competition with slave labor, is far removed
in spirit from the narrow-horizoned but proud owner of a mountain ‘bound-
ary.’ The ‘poor white’ is actually degraded; the mountain man is a person not
yet graded up.” Suddenly, the Appalachians had become a people defined by
their distance from southern blacks, a point of considerable significance in a
period when many suspected that the lowland poor whites did much to exacer-
bate the region’s racial turmoil. Unlike other poor whites, the mountain whites
would seem to have no cause to lynch southern blacks, as many had never even
seen them. “Men and women would ride twenty miles to see the black men
and stare them out of countenance,” explained Nathaniel Shaler, thereby sug-
gesting that the mountaineers, although curious about African Americans,
lacked the racial anxiety that supposedly preoccupied the poor white people of
the lowlands.17

Likewise, in contrast to earlier writers who had described the mountain-
eers as suffering from depravities similar to those of southern blacks, turn-of-
the-century observers commented on the noteworthy absence of African
American peculiarities, something which other poor whites did not possess.
“These mountaineers,” explained one writer for a New England publication,
“are by no means as superstitious as the people of the southern lowlands who
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have been brought up surrounded by a negro population.” In the same spirit,
this author also criticized Mary Murfree’s renditions of mountain dialect claim-
ing that “the speech of the better class of mountaineers contains far fewer
noticeable peculiarities than that of the uneducated people of the southern
lowlands,” a characteristic that he attributed in part “to the absence of the
black population in the mountains.” In many ways, then, the southern moun-
tain whites captured the imagination of northern observers in the late nine-
teenth and early twentieth centuries for their remoteness from the region’s
racial turmoil. Their culture embodied distance and separation from southern
blacks and from poor whites’ racial hysteria. And perhaps to a certain extent,
the mountaineers’ distance from southern blacks allowed northerners to es-
tablish and enhance their own detachment from this troublesome race. By
aiding and celebrating the white, and racially innocent, people of the southern
mountains, northerners decisively retreated from their earlier intrusions into
the “negro question.”18

And, in this regard, the mountain whites had again proven themselves
superior to other poor southern whites. According to the then-prevalent view
of race relations in the South, as discussed by northerners and southerners at
the turn of the century, racial antagonism was most acute between southern
blacks and whites from the lower classes. Believing southern gentlemen to be
refined and civilized and possessed of an intuitive grace in handling the region’s
racial dilemmas, northern whites believed that the worst violations of the South’s
racial code occurred in the interactions between poor whites and African Ameri-
cans. As early as 1885, Carl Schurz found that outrages were committed against
blacks “partly because there is still a larger class of whites in the South who feel
so little confident, and therefore so restless, concerning their superiority over
the negro.” Other northerners explicitly condemned southern crackers for fo-
menting the disfranchisement and lynching movement against southern blacks.
“The movement to disfranchise the negro has not been engineered by the
high-bred whites,” wrote an author for Arena magazine. “They, as a class, are
the most friendly to the negro, as they feel their dependency on them; but with
the cracker class it is different.” In contrast, the mountain whites lacked this
racial animosity because they apparently had had little contact with southern
blacks. In this way, they again proved themselves worthy of northern concern
because of their isolation from not only the degrading influences of the black
population but also from the disturbing pattern of racial violence that con-
cerned northern whites in the late nineteenth century.19

Turn-of-the-century fiction writers championed the proud and patriotic
mountain people without dwelling on the oddities of mountain culture as ear-
lier local colorists had done. Perhaps no work better captured the new celebra-
tion of Anglo-Saxonism, patriotism, and racial isolation in Appalachia than
John Fox’s The Little Shepherd of Kingdom Come (1903). Fox, as a Kentucky
native, had taken up the literary tradition of James Lane Allen in his tales of
bluegrass and mountain society. But Fox moved beyond an examination of
Allen’s “two Kentuckies,” exploring the unique and specific characteristics of
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the people of the Cumberland Mountains. Although Fox was not a product of
that society, he was aware of a growing cultural preoccupation with poor south-
ern white people, and mountain people in particular. As a southerner, Fox
responded to northerners’ interest in this subject by producing several novels
and short stories, many of which appeared in a variety of northern magazines.
None, however, achieved the success of The Little Shepherd, a work that quickly
became a best-seller after its publication in 1903 and remained extremely popu-
lar during the first half of the twentieth century.20

The Little Shepherd of Kingdom Come chronicled the adventures of a Ken-
tucky mountain boy, Chad Buford, who, at the outset, was left without a home
and family when cholera killed his aunt and uncle. In the midst of this initial
tragedy, Fox described Chad’s noble American heritage. Resolving to depart
from his forlorn surroundings, Chad was moved by that “restless spirit that
had led his unknown ancestor into those mountain wilds after the Revolu-
tion.” Chad left his isolated, mountain home for the somewhat more civilized
valley where he met the Turner family, who promised to nurture and care for
the orphaned boy. But, as he approached the settlement in the valley, Chad
also met two black slaves, a strange and unusual sight for the naïve mountain-
eer. Chad’s newfound companions from the valley expressed amusement at his
racial ignorance. “Lot’s o’ folks from yo’ side o’ the mountains nuver have seed
a nigger,” explained one of Chad’s new friends, apparently as much for the
reader’s understanding as for Chad’s. “Sometimes,” the friend said, “hit skeers
’em.” Chad, however, lacked any clear-cut racial code or philosophy and re-
plied, “Hit don’t skeer me.” Like many other mountaineers, Chad was a blank
slate when faced with questions of race relations.21

Eventually, Chad traveled with the Turners to the aristocratic bluegrass
region where he met old Maj. Calvin Buford, who saw in Chad “shades of
Dan’l Boone.” The major also saw in Chad a potential relation, the descendant
of a long-lost great uncle. Thus, Fox explained that Chad not only sprang
from sturdy American stock, but might also have descended from a noble aris-
tocracy as well. The major invited Chad to live with him, and Chad agreed.
The mountain boy slowly won the respect and friendship of his new bluegrass
friends and family, even the black servants who were at first bemused by his
appearance but gradually came to revere him. Acting in part out of his own
unfamiliarity with racial etiquette and his unswerving commitment to justice,
Chad even defended a helpless black “pickaninny” who had been tormented
by his young master.22

Predictably, Chad’s personal turning point coincided with the turning
point for the nation. Resisting the Confederate sympathies of the Turners and
of Major Buford, Chad enlisted in the Civil War on the side of the Union. In
doing so, Chad responded to the sentiments and traditions that he had learned
or, more precisely, that he had remained ignorant of in the mountains. In the
Kentucky hills, John Fox explained, “unionism was free from prejudice as no-
where else on the continent save elsewhere throughout the southern moun-
tains. Those southern Yankees knew nothing about the valley aristocrat, nothing
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about his slaves, and cared as little for one as for the other.” This much Fox
had drawn from long-standing tales of southern mountain Unionism. But Fox
also added a new twist to the story. Explaining the mountaineers’ stand in the
Civil War, Fox noted that Chad’s ignorance of slavery made his commitment
to the Union cause noble and pure, untainted by seemingly extraneous causes
and issues. Fox implicitly compared Chad’s Unionism to that of the abolition-
ist, who was fired and presumably sidetracked by a vision of racial cruelty and
oppression. Chad, however, who saw the slaves as “sleek, well-fed, well-housed,”
remained untouched by “the appeal of the slave.” He was moved by the cause
of nationalism itself, making him and his mountain compatriots “the embodi-
ment of pure Americanism.” Fox’s book thus stood on the side of the Union
while adopting the southern white and, increasingly, the northern white view
of the kindly conditions of slavery. And, as Fox suggested, the isolation from
slavery not only made the mountaineers dedicated Unionists, it also made their
Union spirit more lofty and noble than that of the abolitionist who, appar-
ently, had been dragged down by his more mundane concern for the slaves.
Finally, Fox showed that Chad, who remained untainted by any feelings of
sectionalism, was able to respect the North and the South, even paying tribute
to the latter by naming his horse “Dixie.” In this way, Chadwick Buford, the
Anglo-Saxon mountain boy who rejected the extremism of slaveholder and
abolitionist and who embraced the Union cause without condemning south-
ern slavery, became the human embodiment of reconciliation and the national
spirit.23

By creating racial and political myths of the Anglo-Saxonism and un-
qualified patriotism of Appalachia, northerners learned to view the white people
of the southern mountains as unique among the mass of poor whites through-
out the South. True, even the lowland population had begun to attract the
attention of northerners for their sturdy racial heritage. Yet, to a great extent,
the stereotype of the lazy and untidy cracker clung to the poor white during
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. And, unlike the mountain
people, the company that the poor white kept and the political sympathies that
he professed during the Civil War made him suspect to most northerners.

In contrast, southern highlanders, who were isolated from southern black
people and from the strange, foreign breeds invading northern cities, seemed
to be a unique refuge for white Anglo-Saxonism. Here, in Appalachia, isola-
tion had bred patriotism, a continuation of pioneer traditions, and a sturdy and
vigorous nature. The mountaineers exuded a potential for uplift and industry,
especially in light of their purer racial heritage and their minimal exposure to
the degradations of slaves and the slave system. And, in the age of reunion,
when reconciliation rested on a reunification of white people from all the sec-
tions, northerners found in Appalachia a people worthy of their humanitarian
and conciliatory gestures.
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16

AFRICAN AMERICAN CONVICTS
IN THE COAL MINES OF
SOUTHERN APPALACHIA

RONALD L. LEWIS

The industrial transition that gripped many sections of southern Appalachia
during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries triggered a dramatic
population growth in the region’s coalfields. Local farmers, black southerners,
white northerners, and newly arrived foreigners all converged in the single-
industry coal mining towns and centers that seemed to sprout overnight in this
mountainous rural countryside. Scholars now recognize the diversity of the
Appalachian economy and its labor force; they also recognize that the region
probably never was as uniformly isolated and homogeneous as it is in the popular
imagination. Considerable scholarship has documented the development of
this heterogeneous workforce in the Appalachian coalfields, but the important
role played by tens of thousands of convicts leased to private mining compa-
nies has remained unexplored within Appalachian studies. Although the anal-
ogy is easily strained, the model for convict labor in the New South was slave
labor in the Old South. Under the convict-leasing system, a white power struc-
ture benefited financially from forcing black prisoners against their will to la-
bor under physical and psychological conditions that were all too reminiscent
of slavery.

Emancipation terminated slave labor in the southern Appalachian coal
industry as it did throughout the South, but some of the economic benefits
derived from forced labor were preserved, at least for a few mine operators, in
the new bondage of convict leasing. Although leasing convicts to private con-
tractors was common in the South, it became prevalent in the coalfields of
Georgia, Tennessee, and Alabama. Other southern states with significant coal
reserves did not use prison labor in mining. The manifold rewards derived
from convict leasing prompted charges that the system was merely an attempt
to reinstate slavery in new form, but the motives underlying its development
were far more complex. During the period of economic and political instabil-
ity immediately after the war, neither capitalists nor political officials had a
comprehensive awareness of the economic potential in convict leasing. Once
instituted, however, the system rapidly developed into a hydra-headed mon-
ster that corrupted politics and business and undermined public morality in
the New South.
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Before the Civil War, most black lawbreakers were slaves who were dis-
ciplined by their masters. Impoverished state governments were not eager to
take on the responsibility and the expense of providing prisons for thousands
of black criminals after the war. A few state prisons were damaged during the
war, but most simply suffered the ravages of neglect. Convict leasing was ini-
tially seen as a way to shift one of the many financial burdens to private entre-
preneurs. Provisional military governments began leasing convicts as a
temporary expedient, and the practice was continued with the Radical Repub-
licans and then institutionalized by the Redeemer Democrats.

Projecting themselves as the protectors of individual property owners,
the Democrats regained political power by attacking the Republicans for ex-
travagance, corruption, and excessive taxation. Consequently, “cheapness,
even niggardliness, under this tutelage became widely accepted as the crite-
rion of good government,” as C. Vann Woodward has observed.1 The convict-
leasing system was remarkably adaptable to the retrenchment policies of the

Coalfields in southern Appalachia. (Map produced by University of Georgia Carto-
graphic Services)
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Democrats. With the prisoners leased to the private sector, the necessity for
additional taxes to expand and maintain prison facilities was eliminated. More-
over, the revenues generated from leasing could be substantial, and they helped
to reduce financial pressures on the heavily indebted state treasuries. In 1880,
Enoch Cobb Wines, the father of the prison reform movement, stated that
about one-half of the expenses of operating prisons in non-convict-leasing states
came from income derived from the labor of inmates. By comparison, the U.S.
commissioner of labor reported in 1886 that where leasing was practiced the
average revenues constituted 372 percent of the costs for operating those
prisons.2

The convict-leasing system also suited the new criminal codes of the
Redeemer administrations, which were designed to protect property owners
from petty crimes that had also been controlled by local planters before the
war. Stiff sentences for petty offenses were leveled primarily at freedmen at the
same time that their protection in court was being weakened. With prisoners
leased to the private sector, additional convictions meant additional revenues
for the empty state treasuries.3 George Washington Cable, an arch opponent
of the system and the leading convict-lease reformer of the day, denounced the
system for its banal economic motivations: “Without regard to moral or mor-
tal consequences, the penitentiary whose annual report shows the largest case
balance paid into the State’s treasury is the best penitentiary.” In effect, there
was no “human right that the State is bound to be at any expense to protect.” It
was this characteristic that led governors to congratulate their legislatures for
making convicts “into a shameful and disastrous source of revenue” from les-
sees whose only motive was to make money.4

Cable’s critique of convict leasing was a modified version of the antislav-
ery argument and demonstrates a continuity in the mentality that informed
the opposition to forced labor before and after emancipation. Indeed, the con-
tinuities between slavery and convict leasing also were striking. Leasing, which
evolved out of the heritage of slavery as an adaptation to the needs of a nascent
industrial capitalism in its aggressively exploitative stage, may have sprung from
habits of thought and attitudes rooted in agricultural slavery, but it took nour-
ishment and flourished in the New South’s most dangerous labor-intensive
industries, especially mining. Slaves had, after all, worked in the region’s coal
mines, so it was an easy progression to send convicts into them after the war.
Just as slave owners desired a cheap and tractable labor force, so did industrial-
ists.5 For decades, therefore, the most powerful coal operators of Georgia,
Tennessee, and Alabama exerted political influence and their considerable fi-
nancial resources to secure convict labor.

The desire for the steady labor that convicts offered mine operators was
intensified by an inadequate supply of free industrial labor. T.J. Hill, who worked
convicts in Alabama and Tennessee mines, informed delegates at the 1897 con-
vention of the National Prison Association that in the 1870s a strong effort
was made to develop the iron and coal resources of the southern states, but it
was “a practical impossibility to get our native free people, either white or
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black, their training having been principally of an agricultural tendency, to
work in the mines.” The acquisition of convicts, however, made possible the
rapid development of the coal reserves in Alabama and Tennessee and “gave an
impetus to the manufacturing interests of the entire South, which could not
otherwise have been possible, for at least many years.”6

Convict leasing was, however, more than a means by which state govern-
ments alleviated financial pressures on their depleted treasuries or industrial-
ists secured cheap, tractable labor. Leasing also was an important pillar of the
South’s racial hierarchy.7 Whites who were afraid that the hierarchy of the Old
South was beginning to crumble took aggressive action to reinforce the edifice
of white supremacy through the now familiar mechanisms of segregation. Al-
though the black codes were disallowed by the federal government, the use of
vaguely worded laws relating to vagrancy and loitering remained on the books
for a century and allowed white authorities to arrest blacks for any behavior
that they deemed inappropriate and then sentence offenders to excessive jail
terms. Consequently, the prison population became overwhelmingly black, and
disproportionately, blacks were leased to do the hard, dirty, and dangerous
work of mining coal.8

Critics such as George Washington Cable insisted that the racism that
permeated southern society lay behind the disproportionate impact that the

Banner Mine prison buildings that housed black convicts. (Courtesy of the Birming-
ham Public Library, Birmingham, Ala.)
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system exerted on African Americans. Blacks served longer sentences for lesser
crimes against property at an alarmingly disproportionate rate.9 In this con-
text, the brutality that became characteristic of convict leasing may be under-
stood as part of a more comprehensive system of racial intimidation and
subjugation. The flagrant racial injustice of the lease system, one scholar ob-
served, presents “incontrovertible evidence of the New South’s moral failure.”10

With the system generating revenues for the state treasury, taxpayers expressed
their gratitude at the polls, and the coal companies extracted as much labor for
as little expense as they could get away with. The cruelty that resulted from
this unholy alliance between government and capital was a labor system with a
mortality rate three times higher than the rate in northern prisons, and at
certain mines ten times higher.11 As one lessee observed in 1883, “Before the
war we owned the negroes. If a man had a good nigger, he could afford to take
care of him.” Convicts were better than slaves, however, because “we don’t
own ’em. One dies, get another.”12

Georgia was one of the first states to establish the convict-lease system
after the Civil War. Confronted with an empty treasury and an increasing num-
ber of convicts for a prison that had been destroyed during the war, the Gen-
eral Assembly instituted leasing in 1866 as a practical expedient.13 In 1876 the
legislature enacted a comprehensive convict-lease plan that remained in force
for the next three decades. Under this plan, the state entered twenty-year con-
tracts with three private companies for a total of $500,000. The vast majority
of the convicts were leased to industrial establishments, such as brick factories,
sawmills, railroads, and especially coal mines.14 From its inception Georgia’s
convict-lease system was deeply enmeshed in political corruption. Between
1868 and 1908, when the system was abolished, dozens of well-connected public
officials supped at the convict-lease trough. Until an act in 1874 extended the
leases to five years, the system was relatively honest; the state received forty
thousand dollars annually between 1868 and 1874 from leasing. A decade later,
however, the number of convicts had doubled, but the state received less than
sixteen thousand dollars per year because public officials flagrantly ignored the
law requiring that convicts be let to the highest bidder.15

No politician was as adroit as Joseph E. Brown in manipulating the system
to his own advantage. So adept was he, in fact, that Brown was known as Georgia’s
“convict king.” After serving as a Democratic governor during the Civil War, he
became a Republican and advocated acceptance of Radical Reconstruction. As a
reward he was appointed chief justice of the state supreme court by Radical gov-
ernor Rufus Bullock. Following redemption he returned to the Democratic party
and, proving that principle was not a prerequisite for high office, served as U.S.
senator from 1880 to 1890.16 Brown was the leading coal mine operator in Geor-
gia and the principal contractor of convict labor for his own company, Dade
Coal Company, and for the Walker Coal and Iron Company, both located in the
mountainous northwestern corner of the state. Even though coal never became
a major industry in Georgia, Brown was financially successful because each con-
vict leased to mine his coal cost him only seven cents a day.17



264 RONALD L. LEWIS

The former governor used his political influence to ensure cheap and
ready access to all the convicts he needed. Sometimes such access meant shar-
ing the spoils. When Governor Bullock demanded a share in Brown’s inter-
ests, for example, the lessee replied that he was perfectly willing that Bullock
“be employed by our company in the capacity you mention at a reasonable
compensation” and privately advised his partner that the arrangement was “not
a matter that would do to write about.”18 It was this kind of political chicanery
that enabled Brown to retain his lease in 1876 when other convict companies
bid as high as 400 percent more than the former governor. Similarly, when a
joint committee of the Georgia legislature inspected Brown’s convict mine in
1881, he held an elaborate banquet in their honor. Subsequently, the commit-
tee reported favorably on conditions at the senator’s prison, even though a
minority report charged that the prisoners worked in sixty-degree tempera-
tures with cold water dripping on them and then slept in the same wet, dirty
clothing. No feast could eradicate that fact, the minority report declared, but
apparently it did quell any hunger for reform among the committee’s majority.19

In 1887, Rebecca Latimer Felton, the wife of a prominent Georgia con-
gressman and a pioneer in the movement to abolish leasing, charged that the
system was allowed to continue despite serious abuses because of this kind of
collusion between politicians and contractors. She claimed that most of the
convict revenues went to “a gang of supernumerary officials, who are generally
‘go-betweens’” involved in the business of selling the poor and powerless to
the highest bidder. Himself a contractor, Gov. James M. Smith lent credence
to Mrs. Felton’s charge by publicly declaring that “of the convicts in the peni-
tentiary, five to one are colored persons, most, if not all of whom, by reason of
their ignorance and former habits of life, can never be profitably employed
in any of the mechanical arts.” It was this aspect of leasing, not the inad-
equate food and cruel treatment, that reflected the most deplorable side of
the system.20

Felton’s criticisms, which were published in a widely circulated national
magazine, sparked a major public controversy in Georgia. Just as the storm
broke over the Felton article, a young prisoner still in his teens was beaten to
death by former Governor Brown’s whipping boss. The public outcry precipi-
tated by these two events forced the governor to call on Brown to show cause
why his lease should not be annulled. On October 2, 1887, Brown personally
defended his conduct as a lessee and presented an elaborate justification of the
system. This position paper was printed as a pamphlet and widely circulated at
Brown’s expense in an attempt to stem the rising tide of public sentiment against
convict leasing.21

Brown’s defense relied on the notion that the labor of prisoners should
be expropriated to generate funds for the treasury. He claimed that if the leased
men were returned to the walls, approximately $500,000 would be required to
construct a new prison, the old one having been burned during the war by
General Sherman. Then money would have to be raised in taxes from “honest
laboring people” for the support of dishonest felons, who, under the current
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lease system, earned their own keep. The fifteen hundred convicts that would
have to be housed in the penitentiary in 1887 would cost the taxpayers at least
$4 million if the system were abolished, Brown argued. Under the lease sys-
tem, however, the lessees paid into the treasury over a quarter of a million
dollars between 1872 and 1886, and the state incurred no maintenance costs.
In an argument reminiscent of the defense of slavery, Brown asserted that “the
lessees would be fools” to maltreat their prisoners, for “every man of sense
knows that the greatest aggregate of labor, during the year, may always be
obtained from a man who is well fed and well clothed, and kindly treated, and
his health carefully preserved.”22

Brown’s disclaimers about harsh treatment notwithstanding, conditions
of life and work at Dade Coal mines earned the company its rank as one of the
worst mine prisons in the southern Appalachian coalfields. Part of the reason
was that Brown, like other contractors, complied with regulations only when it
was expedient, as is amply demonstrated by the prison inspectors’ reports. The
report for 1886, for example, called attention to the wretched sanitary condi-
tions at Brown’s mines.23 That same year, the U.S. commissioner of labor re-
leased a special report denouncing the conditions in Georgia as “very bad.” All
the convicts, including the miners, were “worked to the utmost and barba-
rously treated, from every point of view, moral, physical, and sanitary,” result-
ing in a death rate described as “very high.”24 Similarly, a committee of the
legislature reported in 1890 that at Dade mines the barracks, bedding, and
clothing were filthy. Inside the mines the men worked “in such places as ren-
dered it necessary for them to lie on their stomachs while at work, often in
mud and water with bad ventilation, in order to get out the daily amount of
coal that would save them from the punishment to be inflicted by the whip-
ping boss.”25 On several subsequent occasions the Dade County grand jury
committee on prisons reported on these same conditions. The committee noted
that “the bed clothing was very filthy and infested with body lice. Window
glass was broken, the barracks roof leaked, and the floor was too loose to keep
an offensive odor from rising up through it.” Moreover, the prisoners com-
plained bitterly that the physician in charge was incompetent to judge whether
the convicts were able to work.26

Physician incompetence was a potentially serious problem for convict
miners. The act of 1876 stipulated that only able-bodied men were permitted
to labor in the coal mines, and the state sent doctors to certify the health of
workers. In 1883 the state-appointed physician, Dr. Thomas Raines, arrived at
the Dade mines intoxicated. He remained in that condition for his entire stay
and mistakenly certified twelve sick convicts as able-bodied men even though
they could only be moved on stretchers. Such dereliction of duty was not suf-
ficient to have Dr. Raines dismissed, however, for Acting Governor James S.
Boynton reappointed him to another term the following year.27

Certainly, Dr. Raines did not protect the life of Lancaster LeConte. In
his defense of the system in 1887 Governor Brown argued that the mortality
rate was high at his prison because the jails sent “a class of aged and decrepit
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persons” to the mine who did not belong there, men “completely broken down
in health, who linger in the hospital for months or possibly years, and die
without ever doing a day’s work.”28 Even as Brown spoke, however, seventy-
five-year-old LeConte was sentenced to three years of hard labor at Dade mines
for receiving stolen goods. Dr. Raines must have declared him an able-bodied
man, for like the other three hundred convicts leased to the Dade Coal Com-
pany, LeConte was forced to work ten to twelve hours a day crawling in mud
and water to dig Brown’s coal. He wrote to his former master, the eminent
scientist Dr. Joseph LeConte, for money to hire a lawyer, but his plea appar-
ently was ignored. It was not long before Lancaster LeConte entered the prison
hospital, ailing with “chronic rheumatism,” and died there early in 1889.29

The dangers confronted by convicts in Georgia’s coal mines are clearly
revealed in the hospital records of the Dade Coal Company. During the twelve
months from October 1888 to September 1889, twenty-six convicts were killed
or injured. Two were killed by slate fall, and another died under the wheels of
a railroad car. Of the remaining twenty-three whose injuries were identified,
rock falls disabled seven, railroad cars injured seven more, explosions injured
two, and a mule kick fractured one man’s jaw. Twelve other men were injured
at the hands of fellow convicts, their wounds variously described as “cut and
carved all to pieces fighting,” “abdomen ripped open with coal pick,” and “eye
knocked out fighting.”30 Such conditions undoubtedly reduced some men to a
reliance on their most basic instincts for survival. Andrew Hargrove, for ex-
ample, whose misbehavior verged on self-destructiveness, received eight vi-
cious whippings between January 1885 and September 1886 for “rebel-
liousness.”31 Hargrove’s case was exceptional, but in 1886, twenty-two other
prisoners were flogged for “rebelliousness.”32 During the years 1888–1889,
twelve others received the same punishment for the same charge, and two men
were shot while attempting to escape from Brown’s coal mines.33

Corruption and the cruel abuse of convicts did not go without public
protest. A small but growing movement to abolish the system finally succeeded
in swinging public opinion to its point of view by the turn of the century.
During the summer of 1908, the Atlanta Georgian and News, along with such
middle-class reformers as Rebecca Felton and the Atlanta clergyman John E.
White, had exposed the many injustices of the system and had galvanized pub-
lic opinion against leasing. Their strategy was to concentrate on atrocity sto-
ries involving white convicts (although more than 90 percent of the prisoners
were black) in the belief that the populace would be less incensed by news of
brutality against blacks. Mass meetings were staged throughout the state that
summer, and the legislature, inundated with memorials and protests, was forced
to act.34 Against this background, the newly elected reform governor, Hoke Smith,
seized the initiative and called a special session of the legislature to convene in
late August 1908. Governor Smith recommended terminating the leasing sys-
tem and assigning the prisoners to labor on the public highways. Confronted
with an escalating spiral of popular indignation and a determined governor, the
Georgia General Assembly abolished convict leasing in September 1908.35
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In Tennessee, public officials also found it expedient to expropriate the
labor of convicts by leasing them to private contractors in order to generate
revenues for a war-depleted state treasury. And as in Georgia, the number of
blacks in the prison population grew dramatically during the post–Civil War
period. In October 1865, blacks accounted for 66 of the 200 convicts in the
penitentiary (about 33 percent), but by November 1867, that proportion had
increased to 283 of 551 (about 64 percent). Thereafter, the figure remained
around 60 percent until the system was abolished in 1896. The percentage of
black convicts in Tennessee coal mines, as we shall see, was much higher.36

A plan to lease the prisoners to coal mine operators received widespread
public support on the grounds that such employment would reduce taxation,
lower the cost of fuel, make the penitentiary self-sufficient, and alleviate con-
vict competition with free labor.37 These were the chief arguments of the state’s
New South proponents as well, who were in full accord with the plan. The
foundations of economic expansion in Tennessee were the basic industries of
coal and iron, and many of the state’s Redeemer oligarchy had direct business
ties with these industries.38

Tennessee’s first Democratic governor was John C. Brown, former Whig
and brother of the antebellum Whig governor Neill S. Brown. He became
president of the Bon Air Coal Company and chief executive in the Tennessee
Coal, Iron, and Railroad Company (TCI). Democrat James D. Porter, who
succeeded Brown in the governorship, left that office and also became a TCI
director. Albert S. Marks, who succeeded Porter, was a relative and former law
partner of Col. Arthur S. Colyar, another mine owner and the undisputed leader
of the industrial wing of the state Democratic party.39

Colyar lost a campaign for the Democratic gubernatorial nomination in
1870, but a major plank in his platform for industrial development was leasing
convict labor to the coal mines in the eastern section of the state.40 Though he
subsequently derived considerable personal wealth from leasing, he genuinely
regarded the system as wise public policy. “The greatest work of my life,” he
told a convention of mechanics, “has been in turning convict labor from me-
chanical pursuits, and putting it where it helps the mechanic by furnishing
him cheap coal.”41 With the support of groups such as the Nashville Mechan-
ics’ and Manufacturers’ Association, he was able to apply sufficient political
leverage to win a contract in December 1870. For one dollar a day per man,
with the state providing all necessities except the prison facility, Colyar leased
102 black convicts for his Tennessee Coal Company mines at Tracy City, about
forty miles west of Chattanooga.42

Labor difficulties arose almost immediately. The free men promptly went
out on strike demanding removal of the prisoners and tried unsuccessfully to
attack the convicts. The prisoners then refused to work, but a sound flogging
persuaded them to return to their picks. After two weeks of unproductive dem-
onstrations, the free miners also grudgingly returned to their workplaces.43

These events were portents of the serious labor problems in the future.
From the beginning, conditions of life and work were just as deplorable
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in Tennessee convict mines as they were in Georgia. Even state officials found
plenty to criticize. Dr. P.D. Sims, chairman of the state board of health’s Com-
mittee on Prisons, reported excessively high mortality rates (95.2 convicts per
1,000 per year) at Tracy City, figures at which “humanity stands aghast and our
boasted civilization must hide her face in shame.”44 George Washington Cable
denounced the death rates in Tennessee as “startlingly larger” when compared
with those of prison systems that did not lease convicts. The causes were not
difficult to comprehend, Cable asserted: overwork, overcrowding, poor food,
poor sanitation, and violent behavior on the part of prisoners and guards all
shortened the life expectancy of convict miners. Moreover, living quarters were
so cramped that prisoners slept in a space that approximated a “good sized
grave,” and medical facilities were “too revolting for popular reading.” No
wonder escapes from the mine camps were so high, he wrote. In northern state
prisons containing 18,400 convicts, there were only sixty-three escapes in 1881.
That same year, 49 Tennessee prisoners escaped from a leased population of
only 630.45

Conditions did not improve over the next decade either.46 One coura-
geous prisoner testified in 1891 that conditions still had not changed signifi-
cantly: “There is lots of water and sometimes I have to roll up my pants to
wade through. The air is bad and while at work it hurts me in the chest, to
sleep in it. We are only allowed one shirt, one pair of pants, and are not al-
lowed any socks.”47 Neither the state nor the company were sufficiently stirred
by these exposés to alter the lucrative arrangement, and TCI experienced no
difficulty in securing another six-year lease in 1889.48

Convict-mined coal might have provided mechanics with an economic
advantage, as Colyar had suggested, but free miners certainly were not in-
cluded in his calculations. Tennessee Coal and Iron Company paid free miners
daily wages of $2.50, but convicts cost the company only $0.24 a day. The
company forthrightly admitted that its purpose in leasing convicts was to counter
the “high cost of regular miners.”49 Just as important, TCI found that convict
labor was extremely effective in defeating unionism, as convicts acted as strike-
breakers. In fact, Colyar openly declared in 1883 that “one of the chief reasons
which first induced the company to take up the system was the great chance it
seemed to present for overcoming strikes.”50 TCI exploited another cost ad-
vantage when it worked convicts in the most productive sections of the mines,
whereas free miners, who worked on a tonnage basis, were assigned to sections
that required considerable “dead work” before they could begin producing coal.51

Free miners were not ignorant of the effects of convict leasing, and they
complained bitterly. The United Mine Workers Journal (UMWJ) is filled with
angry charges from correspondents that the Tennessee legislature and TCI
were in collusion to enrich a few oligarchies at the expense of the free miners.
No wonder TCI put up such a fierce struggle to retain the system, the United
Mine Workers of America (UMWA) charged, when each convict miner earned
the corporation a net profit of $9.80 a day, and 1,029 convicts produced a
profit of more than $10,000 a day. At this rate, one work year of three hundred
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days yielded the company a bonus of $3 million. Meanwhile, the UMWJ noted,
the four thousand white miners in the district were “compelled to compete
with the East Tennessee Company miners on equal terms.”52

TCI’s use of convicts to cut labor costs and to curtail unionization pre-
cipitated a conflict of legendary proportion with the free miners in the early
nineties. Labor militancy escalated dramatically during the winter of 1890–
1891 as remnants of the Knights of Labor and locals of the newly founded
UMWA began challenging the company’s policies. On April 1, 1891, TCI
closed down its Briceville operation, ostensibly for repairs, but when the mine
reopened two months later the free miners were required to sign “iron-clad”
oaths repudiating the union in order to regain their jobs. Those who refused
were evicted from company houses, and a convict stockade for 150 additional
convicts was erected. In retrospect, the rebellious protest that erupted into the
“convict wars” seems to have been inevitable, a natural consequence of the
company’s systematic suppression of lawful, moderate opposition. The rebel-
lion signaled, as C. Vann Woodward has suggested, that not all southern labor
would accept the “Old-South labor philosophy of the New-South leaders.”53

More than three hundred convicts, the overwhelming majority of them
blacks, were imported into Anderson County mines along Coal Creek during
the first two weeks of July 1891. Local public officials bitterly denounced the
state and the company for shipping in “undesirables” to displace native citi-
zens.54 On July 14, a mass meeting of miners and their supporters met to con-
demn the Coal Creek importation. Early the next morning three hundred armed
miners captured the convicts at Briceville and herded them onto a train bound
for Knoxville, thirty miles away. When the miners appealed to Gov. John P.
Buchanan to halt the influx, he responded by ordering out three more compa-
nies of state militia. H.H. Schwartz, a representative of the Chattanooga Fed-
eration of Trades, reported from the scene that the miners were outraged and
that “whites and Negroes are standing shoulder to shoulder.” He counted 840
rifles and a multitude of “pistol-toters” among one group of miners who
marched through town that night.55 The following week approximately fifteen
hundred armed miners once again commandeered the prisoners who had re-
placed the earlier convicts at Briceville and put them aboard a train for Knox-
ville. In a nearby camp another 125 convicts, “only five being white,” were
captured and shipped to the same destination.56

In an attempt to avoid further turmoil, Governor Buchanan dispatched
an emissary to negotiate a sixty-day truce while he called a special session of
the state legislature to consider the future of the leasing system. Reluctantly,
the miners accepted his proposal.57 Meanwhile, the state commissioner of la-
bor, George W. Ford, and the entire Board of Penitentiary Inspectors held a
surprise on-site investigation of conditions at the mines that revealed multiple
health and safety violations. Their reports became fuel for a heated debate
over abolition of the system when the special session convened on August 31.
Whatever hope that the antileasing forces held for the outcome of the session
faded, however, before TCI’s arguments that no adequate prison facility ex-
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isted and that the state would lose considerable revenues if the system were
abolished. Reluctant to raise taxes, the legislators saw the kind of wisdom they
understood in TCI’s position and voted to retain the leasing system.58

Upon hearing this news, the miners immediately resumed their attacks
against the stockades, freeing the “zebras” and entraining them for Knoxville
and Nashville. Fellow miners from Kentucky and Virginia supported the up-
rising, and the entire countryside seemed to have fallen to the forces of anar-
chy as armies of black and white miners challenged authorities and assaulted
the convict stockades. Outraged public opinion in the rest of the state forced
the governor to send in the National Guard armed with the latest weapons.
Hundreds of Coal Creek miners were incarcerated by troops operating under
orders to give no quarter to those who resisted. In one incident, soldiers riddled
the body of Jake Whitson, a free black miner, with twelve bullets on the claim
that he had resisted, but the several thousand miners who attended his funeral
were convinced that Whitsen was murdered because of his leadership role in
the revolt.59 It was months before the state militia crushed the rebellion and
returned the convicts to the mines. The free miners were forced to sign the
detested iron-clad oath before returning to their old jobs, and those who re-
fused were summarily fired and blacklisted as troublemakers. As for the con-
victs themselves, of the approximately 458 set free, two-thirds were recaptured,
but 165 made good their escape.60

Despite the magnitude of the miners’ protest, the convict wars of 1891–
1892 were only indirectly responsible for the abolition of convict leasing. The
arrangement between the state and TCI had been founded on mutual eco-
nomic advantage, but heavy financial burdens incurred during the disturbances
altered that relationship. The August 1891 outbreak alone cost the state over
$125,000. With neither the government nor TCI willing to bear these ex-
penses, it became impossible for politicians to support continuation of convict
leasing in Tennessee.61

In January 1893, lame duck Governor Buchanan’s farewell address rec-
ommended that the lease system be abolished and that the state purchase its
own coal mine in which to employ the prisoners, as did newly elected Gov.
Peter Turney in his inaugural speech. Negative reports presented by the su-
perintendent of prisons, the prison doctor, and the chief warden reinforced
the growing sense that the system must be abandoned. But the legislators were
cautious and formed still another committee to investigate the mines. The
investigation found that little had changed over the years; it finally concluded
that all of the suffering had resulted from “petty meanness” and that the sys-
tem itself was morally flawed for encouraging lessees “to make the last possible
cent out of the flesh and blood bought with our money.”62 These remarks
carried strong lineaments of wrath, but many inspections over the years had
inoculated legislators against any potential shock induced by such unsavory
details. The real difference was that the system was now costing the state money
rather than making it. The legislature passed a bill in April 1893, therefore,
abolishing the system when the lease with TCI expired on January 1, 1896.63
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Some Tennessee convicts continued to mine coal after 1896, but only at
the state-owned Brushy Mountain mine. That Tennessee prison officials still
considered coal mining particularly suited for blacks is made clear by the fact
that 85 percent of the Brushy Mountain convicts in 1898 were African Ameri-
cans, and twelve years later they still constituted 82 percent of the 747 convict
miners in the state.64

Convict leasing achieved its fullest development in Alabama, where eco-
nomics, politics, and racist ideology converged in full support of the system.
Alabama confronted financial exigencies similar to those of Georgia and Ten-
nessee following Reconstruction. Saddled with a heavy bonded indebtedness
and blaming Republicans for fiscal responsibility, Redeemers regained control
of state government in 1874 and made frugality the hallmark of government in
Alabama, reducing a $25 million debt to approximately $9 million by 1882.65

One new source of revenue was convict leasing, which brought into the
treasury a modest $14,000 in 1877 and increased to $109,000 by 1890. This
income placed Alabama first among all of the states in revenue earned from
convict labor and next to the bottom in per capita taxation.66 Convict labor
came to play a more integral role in the political economy of Alabama than in
Georgia or Tennessee. Between 1880 and 1904, Alabama’s profits exceeded
$2.3 million, an average of about $95,000 per year, or about 10 percent of the
state’s annual budget.67

The system was profitable for public officials also. Bulging jails and au-
tomatic convictions were to the financial advantage of nearly every public offi-
cial in the criminal justice network. Paying sheriffs and the clerks of court out
of fees, rather than a fixed salary, practically guaranteed a bountiful supply of
convict labor. The Jefferson County sheriff, for example, received fees ranging
from twenty-five cents to ninety dollars each for more than forty services. The
sheriff’s annual income in 1912, therefore, reportedly was between fifty thou-
sand and eighty thousand dollars, and clerkships paid approximately twenty-
five thousand dollars per year.68

Alabama’s convict lease system also functioned as an agency for racial
control and supervision. Certain broadly drawn statutes gave employers a
mechanism for keeping workers on the job. For example, the vagrancy law
empowered the police to arrest “any person wandering or strolling about in
idleness, who is able to work, and has no property to support him; or any
person leading an idle, immoral, profligate life, having no property to support
him.”69 The public concern with idle blacks that lay behind such measures is
evident in the press. A 1906 editorial in the Birmingham News, for example,
remarked that “anyone visiting a Southern city or town must be impressed at
witnessing the large number of loafing Negroes. . . . They can get work, but
they don’t want to work. The result is that they sooner or later get into mis-
chief or commit crime.”70

That racial control was an essential element in the lease system is amply
demonstrated in the composition of the prison population itself. An Alabama
prison official aptly observed that, judging from the prisoners, white men ap-
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parently “do not commit crime, or else they are safely insulated from the peni-
tentiary by greenbacks or other penal non-conductors.”71 Although few blacks
were detained in the state prison until after the Civil War, throughout more
than half a century of leasing in postwar Alabama the prison population re-
mained overwhelmingly black. In 1871, 78 percent of the 182 state convicts
were African Americans. Between 1874 and 1877 the penitentiary population
nearly trebled to 655, of which blacks made up 88 percent in 1874 and 91
percent in 1877. That percentage leveled off at about 90 percent throughout
the 1880s and 1890s even as the total population doubled. Thereafter, the
proportion of black convicts declined to 83 percent, where it remained until
the leasing system was abolished in 1927. County prisons, over which the state
exercised little control, roughly paralleled the pattern of the state prison.72

During Reconstruction, most of the state convicts were consigned to
railroad construction crews. When J.G. Bass was appointed warden in 1875,
he quickly earned the praise of the new Democratic administration by turning
the penitentiary into a profitable institution. Nevertheless, the next governor,
Rufus Cobb (1878–1882), expressed his dissatisfaction with Bass, who he felt
could have negotiated better terms for the state than he had.73 He was replaced
in 1881 by a new warden, John H. Bankhead. Immediately after his appoint-
ment, Bankhead negotiated an agreement under which lessees paid twelve
dollars per month for first-class hands sent to the mines, as opposed to eight
dollars under Bass.

As revenues escalated, convict conditions deteriorated. Conditions at the
mines in the Birmingham district, particularly at Coketon (which became Pratt
Mines) and New Castle, were alarming when Bankhead took charge of the
prison. Dr. John B. Gaston, president of the Alabama Medical Association,
and Dr. Jerome Cochran, the state health officer, conducted an inspection of
convicts working in the coal mines that year. Their report left little to the
imagination, condemning the unsanitary conditions as “filthy and disgusting”
and the treatment of prisoners as unnecessarily cruel. Blacks and whites were
segregated into cramped and filthy quarters. The cells for blacks were slightly
smaller than those for whites. They contained the same five-foot-seven-inch-
by-three-foot bunks with straw mattresses, but three men were assigned to
each, instead of the two in white cells, thus affording one foot of sleeping space
for each occupant. The recommended space for prison cells without ventila-
tion fans was four hundred to six hundred cubic feet per person, but whites had
less than half that amount, and blacks less than one-third. Moreover, the mat-
tresses were infested with bedbugs, and the blankets were caked with a mixture
of coal dust, human sweat, and grease. The prisoners all worked with shackles
on their ankles and were marched to and from the mines chained together.
After a full shift, they were marched directly to the dining hall to eat the evening
meal without even washing their hands. The main meal, usually consisting of
fat bacon, peas, cornbread, and coffee, was often served cold in tin containers
without utensils, forcing the men to eat with their fingers.74

The report sparked a bitter public controversy between Dr. Gaston and



AFRICAN AMERICAN CONVICTS IN THE COAL MINES 273

John T. Milner, owner of the mine at New Castle. Milner published a rebuttal
vehemently denying the charges, but Dr. Gaston, the inspectors, and Warden
Bankhead uniformly persisted in their denunciation of these conditions.75 In
1883, this controversy prompted a major legislative reform of the system. The
reform created a board of inspectors and concentrated two-thirds of the con-
victs with the companies Comer & McCurdy and Pratt Coal. These two com-
panies leased two hundred convicts and jointly operated the group of
Birmingham District pits called Pratt Mines.76 The legislature initiated an-
other major reorganization in 1885 when it abolished the office of warden and
reassigned his duties to the new board of inspectors.77 R.H. Dawson, who was
appointed president of the new board, favored a plan for concentrating all of
the convicts at Pratt Mines, which had been taken over by the Tennessee Coal
and Iron Company in 1886. When the previous contracts expired in 1888,
therefore, a new ten-year lease was awarded to TCI, under which the company
agreed to accept all able-bodied male convicts for between $9.00 and $18.50
per month, depending on their classification. The Pratt Mines division of TCI
operated ten coal mines in 1895, with convicts concentrated at Shaft No. 1 and
Slope No. 2, and free labor at the other eight. Together, numbers 1 and 2
contained nine hundred convicts, over 80 percent of them blacks, who worked
313 days that year producing over 1.5 million tons of coal.78

TCI’s bid had not been the highest, but the company had agreed to take
responsibility for all the prisoners. It never accepted more than three-quarters
of the state’s more than one thousand convicts, however, because of the eco-
nomics of convict classification. For example, in 1889 first-class men (the most
able-bodied) cost contractors $18.50 per month; second-class men, $13.50;
third-class men, $9.00; fourth-class men, the cost of their maintenance. First-
class convicts were tasked to cut and load four tons of coal per day; second-
class, three tons; third-class, two tons; fourth-class, one ton. At fifty cents per
ton for a twenty-seven-day month, a first-class convict earned the contractor
$54.00; a second-class miner, $40.50. But the difference in the price paid per
month between the two classes was $5.00, while the difference in earnings was
$13.50 per month. Contractors, therefore, made $8.50 more per month on
first-class men simply because of their classification.79 Consequently, it was in
the economic interest of TCI to accept only men of the soundest physical
ability and to leave the less able behind walls.

One reason that the state permitted the contract to remain in force even
though TCI had failed to comply with the lease was the company’s promise to
construct new prison facilities at Pratt Mines. TCI fulfilled this promise, and
according to the board of inspectors, Pratt had the best facilities “ever erected
by any convict contractor in the South.” The facilities at Shaft No. 1 had ac-
commodations for 420 inmates with six hundred cubic feet of space for each,
and a similar prison was erected at Slope No. 2.80 A local newspaperman toured
the mines in 1889 and reported that prison compartments were spacious, well-
ventilated, and scrupulously clean. However, there was a “marked difference
between the treatment of the convicts here and at Coalburg,” the reporter
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observed. “While they are dying at the latter place like sheep with the rot,”
Pratt had only three of its five hundred inmates on the sick list.81

Conditions at nearby Coalburg were indeed poorer. Unable to obtain
state convicts, independent producers, such as the company that operated
Coalburg Mines, pooled the available county prisoners. Because these prison-
ers were sentenced to short terms, they cost operators much less, about eight
dollars per month, but they were less disciplined and seldom became skilled
miners. With little control from state penitentiary inspectors, county convicts
generally toiled under the severest of conditions. Such was the case at Coalburg,
which John Milner sold to the Sloss Iron and Steel Company in 1889. The
state health officer, Dr. Jerome Cochran, that year charged Sloss officials with
criminal negligence and cruelty. The doctor found the prison to be “dark, damp
and loathsome” and so dirty as to be “offensive to the sight and smell.” Punish-
ments were excessive as well. During the first two weeks of June, 137 whip-
pings were administered for failure to complete the required tasks, even though
most of the men had been seriously weakened by a six-month epidemic.82

Conditions did not improve at Coalburg over the next several years. Dr.
Thomas D. Parke, the health officer for Jefferson County, filed another dis-
turbing report in 1895 on the high rates of sickness and mortality at the prison
mine. During the previous two years, 105 men had died at the Sloss Company
mine, the major causes being tuberculosis and the life-threatening infection
erysipelas (“sore leg”). Parke concluded that the high incidence of tuberculosis
was the natural result of too much time spent underground and prescribed
more sunlight as the cure. But the company was concerned with production
more than with the health of its convicts; consequently the death rate at
Coalburg for 1893 and 1894 was an alarming ninety per thousand. To under-
score his point, he compared Coalburg prison’s annual death rate with the rate
of nine per thousand for penitentiaries in Ohio and Pennsylvania. Even in
other southern convict-lease systems rates were lower. Mississippi’s deplorable
death rate of forty per thousand was still dramatically better than Coalburg’s.83

As late as 1908 the Sloss Company mines still had serious problems in the
proper handling of prisoners, even by the standards of southern white prison
officials.84

The incredible inhumanity displayed by some mine operators gave new
meaning to the old phrase “slave driving,” and a sentence in the mines quite
properly instilled fear in even hardened criminals. In fact, 90 percent of all the
crippling accidents and nearly all deaths among Alabama convicts occurred in
the coal mines.85 The injury and death rate was so high that Dr. Shirley Bragg,
president of the Alabama Convict Bureau, voiced grave doubts in 1907 about
consigning convicts to labor in the mines at all. If the state wished to extermi-
nate its convicts, he contended, it should do so directly, not through a third
party.86 Even a casual perusal of the local press discloses innumerable accidents
involving convicts.87 The most devastating accident to take the lives of Ala-
bama convicts occurred on April 8, 1911, when an explosion at Pratt
Consolidated’s Banner Mine left 128 convicts dead, all but 5 of them black; 72
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of the convicts were from Jefferson County jails, and 30 percent of them had
been sentenced to twenty days or fewer for such misdemeanors as gambling,
vagrancy, or illegal drinking. It was into the most hazardous occupation in
America that these and one-half of the Alabama state and county prisoners
were sentenced in 1911. The disaster dramatically focused public attention on
the system of working convicts in the mines.88

Unsurprisingly, many convicts reasoned that the disparity between the
threat to life and limb from working and the physical dangers inherent in at-
tempting to escape was greatly diminished by such conditions. The longer the
sentence, the greater the probability that a prisoner would be maimed or killed.
Yet those who became fugitives, however temporarily, were likely to receive
the severest punishment when their pursuers caught them. For example, one
of two black escapees from the Pratt Mines was overtaken by bloodhounds,
and when his pursuers arrived the hounds were mauling him. “He begged
pitiably to have the dogs taken off him,” but they were permitted to continue
tearing the man’s flesh for a short time while the party chased the other es-
capee. Failing to overtake him, they returned to interrogate the captured man.
Wetting a strap and applying it to the escapee’s naked back, one of the men
whipped the fugitive until he begged for death. Afterward, it was reported,
“they took the negro on the back of a mule and carried him about 3 or 4 miles.
Finding he could go no further, they left him in a negro cabin, where . . . he
died within a few hours.”89

The practice of sending public prisoners into the privately owned mines
of Alabama was more resistant to change than it was in Georgia and Tennessee
only partly because the treasury had become so dependent upon the system as
a source of revenue. This was more or less the case in the other two states as
well. In Alabama, however, despite the periodic outcries against the most bar-
barous aspects of the system, leasing endured because it constituted the quid
pro quo in a compromise between the two major wings within the state Demo-
cratic party: the conservative planters of the black belt and the “progressive”
industrial promoters of the Birmingham mineral district. The party was domi-
nated by the black-belt planters, who succeeded in turning out the Republi-
cans in 1874 by campaigning against their financial extravagance in promoting
industrial growth through railroad construction. Once in power, therefore,
the conservatives were obliged to avoid the appearance of fostering industrial
growth and yet accommodate the industrial wing of the party. This important
schism within the party required vigilant management in order to prevent an
outright rupture. In the interests of unity, the conservatives granted major
concessions to the proponents of industry, and Democratic policy on convict
leasing represented an important political concession with direct economic
rewards for mine owners.90

In fact, mine owners believed that “they could not work at a profit with-
out the lowering effect on wages of convict-labor competition,” reported the
U.S. commissioner of labor in 1886. One of the largest of all southern mine
operators, Henry DeBardeleben, explained to an Alabama legislative commit-
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tee that “convict labor competing with free labor is advantageous to the mine
owner. If all were free miners they could combine and strike, and thereby put
up the price of coal, but where convict labor exists the mine owner can sell coal
cheaper.”91 Convict-mined coal benefited all mine operators in the region, even
those who did not lease convicts, by depressing the wages of free miners. Coal
could not be loaded into cars for less than $2 per ton with free miners, but that
same coal cost only 80 cents with convicts. The average daily cost for the six
hundred prisoners at Pratt Mines in 1888–1890, including maintenance,
amounted to not more than 87.5 cents. Free miners received 50 cents per ton
and, at five tons per day, cost the employer $2.50. At the lowest average whole-
sale price of $2.50 per ton, therefore, each convict earned the company an
additional $1.625 per day.92

Another important, although immeasurable, cost advantage derived from
forced labor was its regularity and predictability. The mostly black farmers
who were induced to enter coal mining lacked the proper socialization for the
routines of industrial labor traditionally found among many northern or im-
migrant miners. J.S. Sloss, president of Sloss Iron and Steel, testified before a
U.S. Senate committee that “as to the character of the labor employed by this
company, . . . I will state that as a general thing they are mostly negroes, and in
the main unreliable.” Few of these workers were “disposed to settle down to
regular, systematic work,” and they labored an average of only fourteen days
per month instead of the usual twenty-seven. Explaining the unreliability of
free black labor, another employer claimed that “a colored boy growing up is
apt to feel that if he is controlled by his employer he is a slave.” A Pratt Mines
executive informed investigators that a great number of black workers floated
from job to job. “On our roll we have an average of one hundred and thirty-six
that make only ten days’ time a month.”93 Against the background of a rapidly
expanding industry, the predictability of convict labor took on added signifi-
cance. A reporter testified before a U.S. House committee in 1912 that, while
in Birmingham, mine operators informed him time and again that the reason
that they preferred convict labor was its regularity. “Three hundred men go to
work in the morning, for 310 days a year. There are no picnics, no general
laying off to attend funerals of fellow workers, no excursions. Practically a
constant number of men are certain to be on duty every day.”94

The inevitable progression of this reasoning led some operators to con-
clude that a sentence in the mines was beneficial for blacks, an argument remi-
niscent of that made for slavery. Warden T.J. Hill believed that prison discipline
helped the “ignorant negro” adapt to the status of free man. Indeed, “a term in
the penitentiary was without question the best lesson he could obtain in citi-
zenship, as it brought him to a realization of the fact that the blessing of citi-
zenship also had its responsibilities.” A survey conducted by the U.S.
commissioner of labor confirmed that most southern mine managers held simi-
lar convictions.95

Alabama mine operators argued, with greater merit, that the system func-
tioned as a sort of vocational school for retraining redundant black farm labor-
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ers for a trade that was in high demand. As evidence they cited the fact that
over 50 percent of the black coal miners in the Birmingham mineral district
learned their trade as convicts.96 This view was found in all quarters of the
Alabama mining community, although not everyone regarded this develop-
ment favorably. J.R. Tankersly, a white miner at Pratt Mines, testified to a
congressional committee that convicts generally remained in the mines after
they were released. In the vicinity of Coketon, he observed, “there are about
250 ex-convicts. They have got their families there and seem to be at home.”
Upon completion of their sentences, the company provided each of the men
with a good suit of clothing, eight to twenty dollars in cash, tools, and a month’s
rations to get them started. The state warden confirmed Tankersly’s comments
when he testified that the former convicts at Pratt Mines “who have been dis-
charged from here with a good record for good conduct, nearly all have staid
in the mine; hardly any of them have gone away.” After all, a man who knew
nothing but farming could earn only eight or ten dollars a month on a planta-
tion, the warden asserted, but after learning the miner’s trade that same man
could earn two or three dollars a day by staying in the pits.97

Forced labor also provided coal companies with a powerful weapon against
labor unions, for convicts could be compelled to keep the mines open when
free miners went on strike.98 This was a particularly obnoxious point for free
miners, who found it difficult to earn a living in the face of convict competi-
tion. An editorial in the Birmingham Labor Advocate by free miner Bo Jerkins
expressed the frustration that emanated from bargaining with operators who
used prison labor. If miners demanded a wage increase, he said, the companies
“tell us they can work the convicts longer hours, and obtain all the coal they
want.” But if the companies demanded a reduction in miners’ wages, they would
“sing the old song again” about removing the prisoners from the pits.99 An-
other free miner sarcastically editorialized that it meant “something to be an
American citizen” after all: “If you don’t like common labor or farming you
can go to the State warden of the prison and get a suit of striped clothes and be
appointed a coal miner, provided the judge and grand jury are favorable.”100

For their part, the operators could not have been more forthright in
declaring their intention to use convicts to prevent unionization. As one op-
erator declared in 1894, prison labor might appear detrimental to free work-
ers, but actually it was “beneficial to free labor, as it prevents strikes, keeps the
free miners employed and insures the running of the industries of the State
that use coal.”101 James Bowron, a TCI official in Birmingham, rejected the
free workers’ demand that convicts be eliminated from the mines because he
considered it “not right” that the coal industry of Alabama “be placed under
the control of arbitrary and inconsiderate union leaders.”102

Alabama continued to send its convicts into the coal mines, nevertheless,
and operators such as T.G.I. president G.G. Crawford continued to seek their
labor because the system was so advantageous for both parties. Economic im-
peratives continued to triumph over considerations of social justice. It would
take a dramatic turn of events, a public storm so furious that political survival
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would require politicians to correct their course, before the system could be
abolished. Just such a storm arose in 1926 with the death of James Knox, an
African American from Ravenswood, West Virginia, who was imprisoned in
1924 for forging a thirty-dollar check. On August 14, 1924, less than a week
after his transfer to Flat Top coal mine, Knox was dead, allegedly from swal-
lowing bichloride of mercury. The true cause of his death did not come to
light until a prominent professor of medicine and a score of witnesses testified
to the actual cause of death more than a year afterward.

Knox was an unusually heavy man for his five-foot-five-inch frame, and
his weight made it impossible for him to meet the ten-ton task required at Flat
Top. Consequently, he was whipped every day. Weakened from the beatings,
he collapsed on August 14. In this state, Knox was virtually dragged out of the
mine by his heels and dumped into a laundry vat, where hot and cold water
were turned on him alternately until he died from shock. After this story be-
came public, a special grand jury indicted the warden and several of his assis-
tants for murder, but they were summarily acquitted. Nevertheless, the scandal
stirred the citizens of Alabama to such a pitch that in 1927 the legislature bowed
before their wrath and passed a bill abolishing the system on June 30, 1928.
Several days before the deadline, all the white prisoners were removed from
Flat Top. Then on July 1, 1928, more than a half-century after the Emancipa-
tion Proclamation and the end of the Civil War, 499 black convicts turned in
their lamps and picks, singing “Swing Low, Sweet Chariot,” and “All My
Troubles Are Over.” One convict exclaimed, “Boss, I’m no longer in slavery.”103
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17

THE FORMATION OF BLACK
COMMUNITY IN SOUTHERN

WEST VIRGINIA COALFIELDS

JOE WILLIAM TROTTER JR.

The rise and expansion of the bituminous coal industry stimulated the emer-
gence of a black proletariat in southern West Virginia. Blacks were largely
excluded from the northern industrial labor force between 1880 and World
War I. But the coal companies of Central Appalachia actively recruited blacks,
along with “native whites” and European immigrants, to make up the labor
force for their rapidly emerging industry.1 The rise of the black coal-mining
proletariat was nonetheless a complex process; it was rooted in the social im-
peratives of black life in the rural South as well as in the dynamics of industrial
capitalism. In their efforts to recruit and control black labor, coal operators
employed a blend of legal and extralegal measures reinforced by the racist
attitudes and practices of white workers and the state. However, black work-
ers, using their network of family and friends, organized their own migration
to the region. In this way, they facilitated their own transition to the industrial
labor force and paved the way for the rise of a new black middle class that
helped to gradually transform the contours of African American community
life in coal-mining towns.

Under the impact of the coal industry’s rapid expansion, southern West
Virginia underwent a dramatic transformation during the late nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries. While the entire state produced only five million
tons of coal in 1887, coal production in its southern region alone increased to
nearly forty million tons in 1910, which made up 70 percent of the state’s total
output that year. The region’s population increased just as dramatically, grow-
ing from about eighty thousand in 1880 to nearly three hundred thousand in
1910.2 Immigrants from southern, central, and eastern Europe grew from only
fourteen hundred in 1880 to eighteen thousand (6 percent of the total) in 1910.
The black population’s growth was even greater, moving from forty-eight hun-
dred in 1880 to over forty thousand in 1910. With 6 percent of the total in
1880, by 1910 African Americans made up 14 percent of the populace thirty
years later, over twice the proportion of immigrants in the southern part of the
state.3 West Virginia’s concentration of African Americans shifted southward
as well. Only about 21 percent of the state’s blacks lived in the southern coun-
ties in 1880; by 1910, that figure had climbed to 63 percent. In order to cut
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costs and keep wages down, some coal operators preferred a mixed labor force
of immigrants, blacks, and American-born whites.4

Coal mining transformed African American life and labor. As rural black
men entered the coal mines in growing numbers, their seasonal rhythms of
planting, cultivating, and harvesting gradually gave way to the new demands of
industrial labor. The techniques of dynamiting coal, a variety of mine safety
procedures, and the mental and physical requirements of hand-loading tons of
coal all increasingly supplanted black workers’ agricultural skills and work habits.
Because coal mining evolved in semirural settings, the transformation was not
as radical as it might have been; black coal miners regularly shifted back and
forth between farming and work in the coal mines.5

At the same time that these transitions were taking place, black miners
and their families also contributed to the formation of black community in
southern West Virginia. Black religious, fraternal, and political organizations
dramatically expanded. African American institution-building activities reflected
growing participation in the coal economy, rapid population growth, and the
effects of racial discrimination; they also reflected and stimulated the rise of a
vigorous black leadership. As elsewhere, however, although the black commu-
nity developed a high level of racial solidarity in the process, it failed to fully
surmount internal conflict along class lines. Black congregations, fraternal or-
ders, and state and local politics offer the most sensitive barometers of change
in these areas within the black coal-mining community.

The independent African American churches in southern West Virginia
had their roots in the early emancipation era. Until the Civil War, blacks had
worshipped in the same congregations as whites, but on a segregated basis.
Following the Civil War, as elsewhere in the South, African Americans in-
creasingly separated from white religious institutions. Under the leadership
of Rev. Lewis Rice, for example, the African Zion Baptist Church at Tinkerville
(Malden) in Kanawha County spearheaded the independent black Baptist move-
ment in the region. A member of the Providence Association of Ohio, formed
in 1868, the African Zion Baptist Church stimulated the rise of new “arms of
the African Zion Church” in West Virginia. By 1873, as a result of the church’s
vigorous organizing activities, West Virginia’s black Baptists seceded from the
Ohio conference and formed the Mt. Olivet Baptist Association. Until he left
the region in 1880, Booker T. Washington was a member, a Sunday school
teacher, and a clerk of the “mother church” at Malden.6

As the processes of black migration, proletarianization, and institutional
racism converged during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries,
black religious institutions dramatically expanded. Black membership in West
Virginia churches more than doubled, from over seven thousand in 1890 to
nearly fifteen thousand in 1906. Although blacks developed a thriving Presby-
terian church in McDowell County, and although the number of African Meth-
odist Episcopal churches increased to more than thirty-five at the turn of the
century, Baptists dominated the region’s black religious life. In 1906 the U.S.
Census of Religious Bodies reported 148 black Baptist churches in the Moun-
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tain State. New congregations were initiated and new associations rapidly
emerged in McDowell, Mercer, Raleigh, Fayette, Mingo, and Logan Coun-
ties. The Mt. Olivet Baptist Association was soon followed by the New River
Baptist Association in 1884, the Flat Top Baptist Association in 1896, and the
Guyan Valley Association in 1913. The Flat Top Baptist Association, located
in the Pocahontas Field, became the largest and richest in West Virginia.7

Black religious life mirrored and stimulated the growth of an energetic
black ministry. The number of black ministers increased from 93 in 1900 and
to 150 a decade later. Black ministers played a major role in harnessing work-
ing-class financial resources to pay church debts, although some preached for
months without pay. Sometimes their fund-raising efforts were quite success-
ful. In May 1913, for example, under the pastorate of Rev. R.H. McKoy, the
Bluestone Baptist Church at Bramwell, Mercer County, “closed one of the
most successful [financial] rallies in its history,” raising $330 over a two-week
period. Under the pastorate of Rev. R.V. Barksdale, in July 1913 the First Baptist
Church of Anawalt, McDowell County, raised $400 in a special rally.8 When a
fire destroyed the St. James Baptist Church in Welch, Rev. W.R. Pittard and his
congregation launched a spirited rebuilding campaign. Within six months, they
had raised nearly $500.9 Coal companies often gave financial support to black
and white churches, but their assistance was not enough to sustain black churches.
Only the persistence of black coal miners, their families, and their ministers in
contributing to the churches fully explains the churches’ success in the coalfields.

If the resources of black coal miners underlay the material well-being of
the church, their spiritual and cultural needs shaped patterns of church wor-
ship and participation. Rooted deeply in the religious experience of southern
blacks, the black church in southern West Virginia helped to sustain and rein-
force the black workers’ spiritual and communal beliefs and practices through
sermons, revival meetings, baptismal ceremonies, and funeral rites. At a May
1914 revival meeting, Rev. C.H. Rollins of the Slab Fork Baptist Church
“preached two able sermons to an appreciative audience.” Taking his texts from
Matthew 7:7 and Zechariah 13:1, he “preached so powerful that we were made
to say within ourselves as one of the apostles of old, ‘Did not our hearts burn
within us as he talked by the way.’”10 At the Wingfield Baptist Church in
Eckman, McDowell County, a huge crowd gathered at the river’s edge to wit-
ness “the ‘plunging under’ or the ‘Burial in Baptism’” of the new converts.
“People from all over the county hearing of the occasion . . . came on every
train, both east and west. A densely packed crowd of men and women, boys
and girls . . . were there.”11 In mid-1913 a funeral for a black miner who died in
a slate fall was conducted at the Mt. Ebenezer Baptist Church near Gilliam,
McDowell County, where he was a member in good standing. Rev. L.A. Watkins
preached the funeral sermon to a host of “friends and relatives,” selecting his
text from John 19:30, “When Jesus therefore had received the vinegar, he said,
It is finished: and he bowed his head, and gave up the ghost.” The choir sang
the deceased miner’s favorite hymn, “Will the Waters Be Chilly?”12 Moreover,
besides attending funerals and other local church functions, through frequent
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visits to their old southern homes, black workers renewed their ties with the
established religious customs of their past.13

As blacks entered the southern West Virginia coalfields in greater num-
bers, although they retained important cultural links with their rural past, their
religious beliefs and practices underwent gradual transformation. Although
the evidence is quite sparse, an educated black ministry gradually emerged in
the prewar years. Under its leadership, emotional services increasingly gave
way to ones featuring rational and logical sermons often concerned with im-
proving temporal, social, economic, and political conditions, and above all,
with the proper attitude and behavior for racial progress in the new industrial
age.14 These emphases undoubtedly had antecedents in the southern black re-
ligious experience, but they emerged clearly within the socioeconomic, politi-
cal, and cultural environment of southern West Virginia.

The growing pool of educated black preachers included schoolteachers
who doubled as ministers, such as Rev. J.W. Robinson, principal of the Tide-
water Grade School. In November 1913, Reverend Robinson was installed as
pastor of the First Baptist Church of Kimball. “He is one of the best known
and ablest men in the state, an advocator of note and a preacher of great abil-
ity,” the McDowell Times reported. But perhaps the best example of the rising
educated black ministry was Rev. Mordecai W. Johnson, who took the pastor-
ate of the First Baptist Church of Charleston, West Virginia, in 1913. Born in
1890 in Paris, Henry County, Tennessee, Johnson received a bachelor of arts
degree from Morehouse College in Atlanta in 1911, where he taught econom-
ics and history for a while, and another from the University of Chicago in
1913. In the postwar years he left the First Baptist Church for a position at
Howard University, where, in 1926, he became its first black president. Before
leaving, though, Johnson played an important role not only in the religious life
of the community, but also in the civil rights struggle.15

Some influential ministers in southern West Virginia were self-taught.
The pastor of several black churches in Kanawha County, Rev. Nelson Barnett
of Huntington, Cabell County, was perhaps the most gifted. Born a slave in
Buckingham County, Virginia, in 1842, Barnett migrated to West Virginia in
1873 and eventually became the pastor of churches in St. Albans, Longacre,
and Raymond City. Upon his death in 1909, the Huntington Dispatch wrote:
“He lacked the learning of the schools because he was born a slave. But he was
of a studious turn of mind, gifted in speech, could expound the scriptures with
an insight truly remarkable, and his preaching was wonderfully effective in
bringing men to Christ.”16 The funeral sermon for Barnett, preached by the
educated black minister Rev. I.V. Bryant of Huntington, was even more elo-
quent. “If by education we mean the drawing out of the latent powers and
spreading them in glowing characters upon the canvas of the mind, if by educa-
tion we mean the proper cultivation of all the faculties, the symmetrical develop-
ment of the head, the heart, and the hand, together with those combined elements
that make the entire man, I positively deny that he was uneducated. . . . He was
taught by the Great God.”17
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Formally and informally educated black ministers helped to transform
black workers’ religious beliefs and practices. By appealing to the intellect rather
than merely to the emotions of their congregants, they helped to rationalize
black religious services. Reverend Barnett, his eulogizer stated, “preached in-
dustry as well as religion, and had accumulated considerable property, owning
two or three houses and lots in the city. He was active in all interests for the
betterment of his race, and took particular interest in the education of young
people who regard him as a father.”18 In his sermon before the Seventeenth
Annual Meeting of the Flat Top Baptist Association, Rev. G.W. Woody stressed
“the fact that men must work for this world’s goods.” “In conclusion, Rev.
Woody grew more forceful and urged upon the brethren to be patient in the
small details of their life’s work.” Before World War I, Rev. J.H. Hammond of
Jenkinjones became an agent of the McDowell Times and received praise for
helping with the “educational uplift of his race.” And in late 1914, the Baptist
minister Rev. J.W. Crockett was elected to the Northfork District School Board
of McDowell County.19

As black ministers broadened their interest in the here and now, their
sermons before their coal-mining congregations underwent a gradual change.
In two sermons at Giatto, a black Baptist minister was “forceful and practical.”
At the First Baptist Church of Kimball, Rev. R.D.W. Meadows “preached one
of the most profound and scholarly sermons.” Another sermon “showed much
thought in preparation” and delivery. Still another Baptist minister “preached
a strong and scholarly sermon.” At a meeting of the Winding Gulf Ministerial
and Deacons Union, Rev. T.J. Brandon “gave a high class lecture to preachers
and congregation on how they should act in church.” On the same occasion,
another minister delivered an “able” and “instructive” sermon on the subject
“Behave.” When the “spirit” threatened to overcome him, another Baptist
minister took “pains as to control his voice.” Yet however rational and con-
trolled their sermons may have become, black ministers worked to retain con-
tact with the traditional black culture and consciousness of black workers. At
the Baptist church in Keystone, Reverend Brown of Kimball preached “quite a
deep sermon,” but he nonetheless emphasized, “It matters not how much learn-
ing one may have, unless they have the Spirit of God they cannot have power
to do the best work of life.”20

The Methodist Episcopal and the African Methodist Episcopal churches
were more hierarchical in their administrative structures than were the Baptist
churches. Their hierarchies exercised greater control over ministers and con-
gregations in particular, controlling the mandatory movement of ministers from
one church to another, and vigorously promoted an educated black ministry.
These two churches were nonetheless deeply enmeshed within the spiritual
traditions of southern blacks. Utilizing Baptist ministers, for example, the
Methodists often conducted revivals and engaged in spirited meetings similar
to those of the Baptists. In April 1914 the Northfork Methodist Episcopal
Church conducted a revival that resulted in fifty-one accessions, twenty-six
new converts, and twenty-five more converts by letter. Under the pastorate of
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Rev. W.R. Burger, the McDowell Times suggested, the Methodists, like the Bap-
tists, understood how “to shout, sing, preach and pray.”21 Yet over time, black
Methodists and Presbyterians in southern West Virginia, as elsewhere, shed
the spiritual and emotional aspects of their religious traditions more rapidly
than did the Baptists. Within three years of Rev. James Gipson’s transfer from
the AME Kentucky Conference to Williamson, West Virginia, Gipson devel-
oped a reputation as “a hard worker, constructive in mind and progressive in
spirit.” Under his leadership, the congregation grew from eight members to
forty members and moved from an inadequate public hall near the railroad
tracks to a new brick building in a previously all-white area. The church’s as-
sets grew from a mere forty-four cents to over eight hundred dollars, the
minister’s salary not included; and, starting with no church auxiliaries, a “flour-
ishing” array of them was begun.22

Under the pastorate of Rev. R.P. Johnson, the small Presbyterian church
of Kimball developed a more energetic social orientation. In December 1913,
the church held a sacred concert. The program featured a variety of guest
speakers who addressed a broad range of religious, political, and social issues.
In his speech, attorney H.J. Capehart, the Times reported, emphasized the
need to make “services so varied and instructive that they will appeal to all
classes. He spoke of the gymnasium, the swimming pool, reading room, sew-
ing circle and settlement work as examples of the work being done by adher[e]nts
of the new school of thought in religious worship.”23 In an address titled “My
Dream of the Future Church,” attorney T.E. Hill looked forward to a church
that practiced the principles of social justice and equality. “In this institution
there will be no color line, the brotherhood of man will be a fact instead of a
catch phrase and it will seek to save the bodies as well as the souls of mankind.”
In another example of the black church’s growing social bent, the pastor Rev.
R.P. Johnson developed a vigorous ministry among black convicts on the road
crews of McDowell County and also a Sunday school relief department, which
was designed to aid the working-class “poor of our town, especially children
whose parents are not able to keep them in school and Sunday school.”24

In addition to joining churches, black coal miners participated in an ex-
panding network of fraternal organizations and mutual benefit societies. By
World War I black fraternal orders included the Elks, the Knights of Pythias,
the Odd Fellows, the Independent Order of St. Luke, and the Golden Rule
Beneficial and Endowment Association.25 The Golden Rule Association
emerged as one of the most energetic of the prewar black fraternal orders.
Formed in 1903 under the leadership of Rev. R.H. McKoy, the order estab-
lished headquarters at Bramwell, Mercer County, and served blacks in south-
ern West Virginia and parts of Kentucky and Virginia. Within one decade the
organization proudly celebrated its success: fifty-four subordinate lodges,
twenty-six nurseries serving young people aged three to sixteen, more than
5,280 members, and more than thirteen thousand dollars paid out in death and
sick claims. In numerous churches in the coalfields, Reverend McKoy and of-
ficers of the Golden Rule Association publicly paid benefits in ceremonies re-
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plete with speeches, indeed, sermons, on the value of the order. In July 1913,
for example, the organization paid the endowment of one member “before an
overflowing congregation.”26 With God’s help, McKoy said, “The continued
progress of the Golden Rule Association means the actual progress of the race
in a tangible form.”27

Within the framework of black religious culture, the fraternal orders of-
fered black coal miners an opportunity to protect their material interests. The
obituary for John Panell, who lost his life in a slate fall at Gilliam, McDowell
County, noted Panell’s membership in the Grand United Order of Odd Fel-
lows. Samuel Blackwell, who died of injuries sustained in a slate fall, belonged
to the Shining Light Association of the Golden Rule Beneficial and Endow-
ment Association. The 1913 obituary of A.H. Hudle described him as “a con-
sistent Christian, a member of the A.M.E. Church . . . [and] a member of the
Grand United Order of Odd Fellows and also a Knight of Pythias.”28 All these
black fraternal orders offered mutual aid and insurance plans to their members
that promised to cushion them and their families against hard times.

At the same time as fraternal orders addressed the material welfare of
black workers, they repeatedly reinforced the communal and spiritual aspects
of their culture. In company and noncompany towns, the fraternal parade,
replete with marching band in full regalia, and the annual thanksgiving ser-
mon emerged as prominent features of African American life in the coalfields.
In May 1913, for example, at Keystone and Eckman, McDowell County, the
Grand United Order of Odd Fellows held their Thirteenth Annual Thanks-
giving Parade and Services. Led by Lord’s Cornet Band, the order assembled
at Lord’s Opera House, in Keystone, marched up Main Street, and wound its
way to Eckman, where the Odd Fellows then assembled at the Wingfield Bap-
tist Church. There Rev. L.E. Johnson called the service to order, Rev. William
Manns read the scripture, and Reverend Dabney “preached one of the most
forceful sermons ever heard here.” Taking his text from the 133rd Psalm, Rev-
erend Dabney exclaimed, “Behold how good and how pleasant it is for breth-
ren to dwell together in unity.” More than one thousand people witnessed the
parade and services.29

If the fraternal orders helped to reinforce the religious culture of black
workers, they also helped to link black miners to the larger African American
political and civil rights campaign. The fraternal orders invited major political
figures to speak at the annual thanksgiving services and parades.30 In 1913 the
Keystone and Eckman Odd Fellows secured Republican governor H.D.
Hatfield as their guest speaker. Similarly, at the Twenty-First Annual Meeting
of the West Virginia Knights of Pythias, held at Charleston’s First Baptist
Church, Mayor J.F. Bedell addressed the gathering.31 In this manner, blacks
used the fraternal orders to subtly and not so subtly advance their political
aims.

More important, unlike most of their counterparts in other southern
states, African Americans in West Virginia received the franchise in 1870 and
retained it throughout the period between Reconstruction and World War I.



THE FORMATION OF BLACK COMMUNITY 291

During the 1890s and early 1900s, at a time when other southern blacks were
being disfranchised, black coal miners in southern West Virginia exercised a
growing impact on state and local politics. West Virginia blacks developed a
highly militant brand of racial solidarity, marked by persistent demands for full
equality, albeit on a segregated basis.32 African American unity across class lines
was most evident in protests against racial violence. When whites lynched a
black man at Hemphill, McDowell County, in 1896, an aroused black commu-
nity, workers and elite members alike, confronted local authorities with de-
mands for justice and protection. Under the leadership of prominent
middle-class blacks, an estimated five to eight hundred blacks held a mass
meeting in the company town of Elkhorn, McDowell County. The group pe-
titioned county and company officials and demanded an investigation. Although
the guilty parties were never brought to justice, the blacks involved did secure
public announcements from government and company officials promising an
investigation to determine the guilty parties.33

Black coal miners and their elite allies supplemented their protest activi-
ties with electoral politics. As early as 1873, Charleston appointed its first black
public official, Ernest Porterfield, who served as a regular policeman. In 1877
the former coal miner Booker T. Washington began his public speaking career
as a Kanawha County Republican. According to biographer Louis R. Harlan,
Washington played a major role in mobilizing the black vote in the successful
campaign to relocate the state capital from Wheeling to Charleston. Washing-
ton not only supported the relocation of the capital, a change backed by pow-
erful white Republicans in the state, but also joined other blacks in tying the
capital campaign to the issue of equity for blacks within the party and the state.
“Washington began his speeches for the capital on June 27, at a rally in Charles-
ton of ‘the colored citizens of Kanawha.’ . . . A resolution of the meeting claimed
‘the right to a fair portion of the public institutions’ in their part of the state.”
Although Washington later abandoned this vigorous political tradition, most
blacks in southern West Virginia did not. Even so, the state’s powerful Demo-
cratic party, which called itself the “white man’s party,” reinforced by the Ku
Klux Klan in the early post–Civil War years, kept black Republican influence
at bay.”34

For the next two decades Democrats controlled West Virginia’s political
machinery. The party’s constituency included voters in counties that were pre-
dominantly agricultural, workers in the industrial centers of northern West
Virginia, and, increasingly, the state’s powerful industrialists. By the early 1890s
the Democrats not only regularly returned their candidate to the governor’s
mansion, but also returned majorities to the state legislature.35 The increasing
migration of blacks into the region, however, set the stage for the resurgence
of the Republican party during the late 1890s. By 1910 blacks made up over 17
percent of the state’s voting-age (male) population. Immigrants made up 13
percent, but their voting potential was actually much lower, for only 11.5 per-
cent of voting-age immigrants were naturalized and eligible to vote. Thus, the
rise of the black coal-mining proletariat gave African Americans the decisive
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balance of power in Mountain State politics. As early as the gubernatorial elec-
tion of 1888, for example, the Republican candidate defeated his Democratic
opponent by a narrow margin of 110 votes. Democrats contested the vote,
arguing that several hundred black migrants in Mercer and McDowell Coun-
ties “had voted without the required period of residence and that many of
them were, in fact, migratory or transitory workers with no fixed abode.” More
than a year later, a special session of the legislature awarded the office to the
Democratic candidate by a margin of 237 votes. In the gubernatorial election
of 1896, however, the Republican candidate, George W. Atkinson, courted
black voters and won the governorship by more than twelve thousand votes.
Although the Democratic party continued to control the legislature, Republi-
cans made increasing inroads there as well.36

Despite the increasing role of black voters in Republican victories, blacks
fought an uphill battle for recognition within the party. As one state historian
has noted, in addition to courting the black vote, Republicans appealed to
mountain whites for vital support by rejecting “unpopular national issues, es-
pecially federal intervention in racial matters.” Thus they were able to “over-

A young Booker T. Washington (ca. 1873). (Courtesy of the Library of Congress)
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come identification with the black population and hated Reconstruction poli-
cies,” which included the enfranchisement of blacks. For example, even as G.W.
Atkinson campaigned for black votes, he loudly proclaimed his belief in white
supremacy. In a letter to the New York World, Governor Atkinson affirmed his
southern roots and racial beliefs: “I am a Virginian, and am therefore ‘to the
manor born.’ . . . Southern people will not submit to negro rule. ‘They will die
first.’ This is an old Southern expression, and they mean it when they say it.”
Within this racist framework, however, Atkinson and similar Republicans made
room for an alliance with West Virginia blacks around the issue of education.
Atkinson delivered a scathing attack on Mississippi senator James K. Vardaman,
who sought to deprive blacks of the right to an education: “When he says it is
folly to attempt to advance the negro race by education, and in any way qualify
them for responsibility and power . . . because by so doing we spoil corn-field
hands and make ‘shyster’ professional men, he simply loses sight of good judg-
ment and fair dealing, and seeks to vent his narrowness, prejudice and spleen
against his ‘brother in black.’”37

In order to push for greater influence in the Republican party, forty-nine
black delegates met in Charleston in 1888. They attacked the Republicans for
“absolutely” refusing to give blacks “the recognition” to which they were “en-
titled, notwithstanding the fact that there are eleven thousand colored voters
in the state, nearly all of whom are Republicans.” These black voters were not
merely Republicans; more fundamentally, they were coal miners. They added
substance to the African American protests against racial injustice within the
party of their allies. It was the black coal miners’ vote that enabled middle-
class black politicians to gain increasing access to public office in southern
West Virginia.

Over the next decade the expanding proletarian electorate fueled the
African American campaign for elective and appointive office. In 1896 Repub-
licans elected Christopher Payne, the first African American, to the state legis-
lature. Born in Monroe County, West Virginia, Payne was, in turn, a teacher,
preacher, and attorney. Allied with Nehemiah Daniels, a powerful white Re-
publican and county sheriff, Payne entered the statehouse from Fayette County,
signaling the gradual rise of black power in southern West Virginia. Payne’s
election also inaugurated a long tradition of black Republican legislators in
West Virginia. Attorney James M. Ellis of Oak Hill, Fayette County, succeeded
Payne in the legislative sessions of 1903, 1907, and 1909, while the educator
H.H. Railey of Fayette County served in the 1905 session.38 In 1904 blacks in
the Pocahontas District formed the McDowell County Colored Republican
Organization (MCCRO). Over the next decade, the MCCRO claimed credit
for a growing number of black elected and appointed officials. In November
1913 the organization celebrated its achievements: six deputy sheriffs, three
guards on the county road, constables and justices of the peace in four districts,
members of school boards in three districts, and the state librarian, a post first
held by the influential schoolteacher and grand chancellor of the West Vir-
ginia Knights of Pythias L.O. Wilson. MCCRO was open to “All Negro Re-
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publicans”; in 1913 its officers included the deputy sheriff Joe E. Parsons, presi-
dent; the attorney S.B. Moon, recording secretary; the educator E.M. Craghead,
corresponding secretary; and the attorney A.G. Froe, treasurer.39 Black coal
miners were a powerful springboard for the political ascent of educated blacks
in southern West Virginia.

Nowhere did the political alliance of black workers and black elites in
the region produce greater results than in the educational system. African
Americans ranked education as their first priority. In their expanding electoral
activities, they increasingly demanded equal access to the state’s educational
resources. In rapid succession, during the 1880s and 1890s, the state funded
black public schools in Fayette, McDowell, Mercer, and Kanawha Counties.
In 1891 the state legislature established the West Virginia Colored [Colle-
giate] Institute, a Morrill land grant college for the training of blacks in “agri-
cultural and mechanical arts.” Four years later, the legislature created the
Bluefield Colored [Collegiate] Institute by “an act to establish a High Grade
School at Bluefield, Mercer County, for the colored youth of the State.”40

Storer College was the earliest institution to offer West Virginia blacks
an education “above the common school grades.” Founded in 1867 at Harpers
Ferry, Jefferson County, Storer would remain the only such school for the next
twenty-five years.41 Following the establishment of the Bluefield Colored In-
stitute and the West Virginia Colored Institute, though, Storer declined as a
major provider of educational services to blacks in southern West Virginia.42

This decline was yet another indication of the shifting center of black life
from northern to southern West Virginia as the black coal-mining prole-
tariat expanded.

Although the educational strides of blacks in southern West Virginia pro-
ceeded on a segregated and unequal basis, they still symbolized a victorious
black community. As suggested by Howard Rabinowitz in his study of race
relations in the urban South, whites increasingly accommodated themselves to
black access to, rather than exclusion from, fundamental resources and human
services. Racial separation was not a static phenomenon; it was not entirely
imposed by white racism, and it was not uniformly negative in its results. Within
the segregationist framework, the rise of the black coal-mining proletariat
spurred the African American struggle for racial equity, facilitated the winning
of new concessions, and made racial discrimination in the institutional life of
the region less demeaning than it might have been.43

Through membership in national black religious, fraternal, and political
organizations, southern West Virginia’s black coal miners and small black elites
also participated in a larger national black community. The National Baptist
Convention, the Colored Bureau of the Republican party, and the nationwide
bodies of the Elks, Masons, Knights of Pythias, and Odd Fellows all helped to
create bonds between the region’s blacks and their southern and northern coun-
terparts. Through black ministers like the self-educated Reverend Mr. Barnett
of Huntington, blacks in southern West Virginia were intimately linked to
blacks in northern West Virginia, Ohio, and parts of Kentucky. In addition to
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pastoring churches in West Virginia, such as the First Baptist Church in Hun-
tington, Barnett also pastored a variety of black Baptist churches in southern
Ohio, including the Tried Stone Baptist Church in Ironton as well as others in
Gallipolis, Glouster, Providence, and other cities. Upon Barnett’s death, the
New Hope Baptist Church of Ashland, Kentucky, adopted a resolution ex-
pressing its “admiration of the many fine qualities of our departed leader.”
“For a hundred miles around,” the Huntington Dispatch proclaimed, “Rev.
Barnett’s name is a household word in negro homes.”44

Based upon their firm support within the black coal-mining community,
black elites from southern West Virginia sometimes took prominent leader-
ship positions in national organizations. At its 1913 annual meeting in Atlantic
City, New Jersey, and for several years thereafter, for example, the Improved
Benevolent Protective Order of the Elks of the World elected Charleston at-
torney T.G. Nutter as its Grand Exalted Ruler. In 1913 Nutter defeated the
incumbent, Armand Scott, of Washington, D.C. It was the mass migration of
working-class blacks to southern West Virginia, along with their rich pattern
of visiting states farther south and north, that fundamentally underlay Nutter’s
victory and the growing participation of southern West Virginia blacks in the
creation of a national black community. These national linkages were to inten-
sify during World War I and its aftermath.45

Although extensive evidence attests to the strength of African American
unity across class lines, this unity had its limits. The McDowell Times worked
for African American solidarity, for example, and yet it also supported the class
interests of coal operators and the small black elites. The editor encouraged
black miners to provide regular and efficient labor and repeatedly warned them
against joining unions. In a mid-1913 letter to the editor, one reader dropped
his subscription, emphasizing the editor’s antiunion position as the reason.
The Times not only worked to mold workers’ behavior to meet their employ-
ers’ demands, but also worked to shape working-class behavior to fit middle-
class cultural norms. In an editorial titled “Clean Up and Swat the Flies,” the
editor admonished black coal miners to keep their surroundings sanitary,
downplaying the failure of operators to pay higher wages or to provide neces-
sary repairs and sanitation facilities.46

As black coal miners faced the limitations of their alliance with the black
elites, they developed distinct strategies of their own. While they did seek to
endear themselves to employers by providing regular and efficient labor, they
frequently shunned other elite injunctions. Seeking to improve the terms of
their labor, black coal miners often moved from one mine to another, either
within southern West Virginia or farther north and south, and often switched
between coal mining and farming in nearby southern agricultural areas, espe-
cially Virginia. In the early 1890s, and again in the Paint Creek-Cabin Creek
strike of 1913–1914, against the advice of middle-class leaders, numerous black
miners joined white miners in organized confrontations with management.
The Paint Creek-Cabin Creek confrontation produced the heroic exploits of
“Few Clothes” Dan Chain, a black union man. Portrayed by James Earl Jones
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in the 1987 film Matewan, “Few Clothes” was a big man of over 250 pounds,
according to available evidence. Labor historian Ronald Lewis claimed that
“Dan Chain’s size, nerve, and fighting ability made him a favorite among strik-
ers.” In 1887, however, when whites lynched a black man in Fayette County,
black miners initiated their own mass march of some one thousand men, by
some estimates three thousand, vowing to retaliate in kind. Although they dis-
banded without confrontation, James T. Laing noted, “Whites at the mines in
the New River Valley were terrified, for the report was sent to them that the
Negroes expected to ‘clean out’ every white person along the river.”47

While cleavage along class lines was the most prominent division within
the black community, gender inequality was also a significant problem. Em-
phasizing the home as women’s proper sphere, McDowell Times editor M.T.
Whittico sought to regulate the behavior of black women, endorsed the re-
moval of married women from teaching positions, and opposed woman’s suf-
frage. In an editorial titled “Split Skirts,” the editor urged black women to
shun the “split skirt” and maintain codes of “modesty.” The injunction, how-
ever, was directed mainly at black women in coal-mining families: “Only a few
of the vulgar variety have been seen in Keystone and none are worn at present
by the better class of Colored [women].”48 On another occasion, the editor
threatened to publish a gossip list if black women failed to attend to their own
“home work, social affairs and individual business and stop going from house
to house, store to store carrying messages and . . . stirring up strife and gener-
ally making trouble.”49 On gender issues, the views of elite black men, ex-
pressed by the editor, converged with those of the black proletariat.

Yet, as with class conflicts within the black community, gender conflict
tended to give way to the imperatives of racial solidarity. Black women per-
ceived their class and gender interests in essentially racial terms.50 Black Bap-
tist, Methodist, and Presbyterian women, through their regional, state, and
local auxiliaries, figured prominently in black religious activities, especially fund-
raising campaigns, sacred concerts, musicals, and literary programs.51 More-
over, under the energetic leadership of Mrs. Malinda Cobbs, by World War I
black women dominated the Independent Order of St. Luke, which diligently
worked “to benefit the race.”52

Although racial hostility, along with an expanding black consciousness,
helped to forge African American unity across class and gender lines, substan-
tial interracial cooperation went on as well. At elite and working-class levels, as
discussed above, blacks and whites in southern West Virginia developed inter-
racial alliances. As early as the 1880s, black miners in the Kanawha-New River
Field joined the Knights of Labor. They served on integrated committees and,
during strikes, helped to persuade black strikebreakers to leave the area.53 As
the United Mine Workers of America (UMWA) supplanted the Knights in the
early 1890s, it attracted blacks from the Pocahontas Field as well as the
Kanawha-New River area. Blacks soon gained recognition in the union, not
only as members, but as officers too. In 1893 when the white president of
District 17 died in office, the black miner J.J. Wren of Fayette County filled
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the position. At Freeman, Mercer County, a white official exclaimed, “The
Colored miners have been in the lead in this district until they have shamed
their white brethren.”54

Despite the dramatic display of interracial working-class unity during
the 1880s and early 1890s, interracial unionism declined during the mid-1890s
and resurged only briefly during the 1914 coal strikes.55 Even during periods
of intense interracial organizing, black members and officers of local unions
frequently complained that they were not accorded equal treatment with white
unionists. During the 1880s, for example, the Knights of Labor established
segregated units, while white members of the UMWA, formed later, some-
times blatantly resisted black leadership. Such resistance led one black labor
leader to complain, “If your vice president is a Negro . . . he must be treated
the same as a white man and unless you do there is going to be a mighty earth-
quake somewhere.” Although interracial working-class unity remained highly
volatile, it was nonetheless important in the lives of black workers.56

Black elites developed a corresponding relationship with white elites,
mainly coal operators, within the political framework of the Republican party.
As noted earlier, through alliances with black coal miners, on the one hand,
and white Republicans, on the other, black professional and business people
gained election to the West Virginia legislature, appointments to prestigious
positions like state librarian, and membership on the board of regents of all-
black colleges.57 Likewise, in McDowell County, coal operators supported M.T.
Whittico’s black weekly, the McDowell Times, which became a preeminent pro-
moter of the McDowell County Colored Republican Organization. No less
than the alliance between black and white miners, however, the alliance be-
tween black elites and the coal operators was inequitable, as indicated by the
companies’ demand that black leaders like Whittico help to discipline the black
coal-mining labor force. In the hostile class and racial climate of southern West
Virginia, neither black elites nor black workers could fully articulate their in-
terests in class terms.

Linked to each other through color and culture, black workers and black
elites forged their strongest bonds, across class lines, with each other. They
developed a distinct African American community in the coalfields. In the on-
going struggle between white capital and labor, however, African Americans
developed their most consistent alliances with coal operators and their corpo-
rate and political representatives rather than with organized labor. For example,
Republican governor H.D. Hatfield, speaking in a local black church in 1913
before a gathering of black Odd Fellows, declared his “uncompromising pur-
pose to see that every man gets a square deal.”58 Unfortunately, no corresponding
white labor leader developed such a close bond with the black community.

As the black coal-mining proletariat expanded following the Civil War
through the early twentieth century, it established the socio-economic and
demographic foundation for the emergence and growth of the black middle
class, the rise of black communities in coal-mining towns, and, most impor-
tant, the emergence of viable political and civil rights struggles. These pro-
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cesses, rooted in the prewar rise of the black industrial working class, involved
the complex dynamics of class, race, and region. Along with new develop-
ments, they would reach their peak during World War I and the 1920s.
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RACIAL VIOLENCE, LYNCHINGS,
AND MODERNIZATION IN
THE MOUNTAIN SOUTH

W. FITZHUGH BRUNDAGE

In October 1891, in Clifton Forge, a mining town in southwestern Virginia, a
mob of whites ceremoniously executed three black men and a black boy. The
lynching avenged the wounding of several whites who earlier had engaged the
black men in fatal gunplay. A year later, a well-organized group of vigilantes (or
“whitecappers”) in Whitfield County in north Georgia dragged Jack Wilson, a
black man, from his home and, without evident cause, murdered him. In 1909,
Richard Watson, one of two blacks living in Elliott County in eastern Kentucky,
was murdered by his white neighbors for no apparent reason other than his
business acumen. And during the “Red Summer” of 1919, whites in Knoxville,
provoked by the murder of a white woman, randomly attacked blacks, destroyed
the city jail and surrounding property, and killed at least one black man.1

The mountain South, as these examples indicate, was the setting for the
full repertoire of southern collective and racial violence. Lynchings,
“whitecappings,” rioting, and all manner of violence erupted there. The his-
tory of that violence from Reconstruction to World War II offers scant evi-
dence of either distinctive race relations or traditions of violence in the
Appalachian South. Instead, it confirms the findings of a generation of schol-
ars who have challenged the received wisdom about Appalachian exceptionalism.
The mountain South was neither blessed by exceptionally benign race rela-
tions nor cursed by implacable race hatred. Rather, the pattern of antiblack
violence in the mountains underscores John Inscoe’s conclusion that racial at-
titudes and practices there fit seamlessly along the continuum of orthodox race
relations in the Jim Crow South. What is most striking about the history of
lynching in the mountain South is its congruence with that of mob violence
elsewhere below the Mason-Dixon line. Lynching in Appalachia was simply
and fundamentally, in a word, southern.2

The ebb and flow of mob violence between 1880 and 1940 was consistent
throughout the Appalachian South. Although the history of lynching during
Reconstruction remains obscure, it appears that as the turmoil following the
Civil War eased, lynchings and extralegal violence diminished. The late 1870s
and early 1880s were infrequently scarred by mob violence. But after roughly
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1885, lynchings increased sharply and, as was true throughout the South, peaked
during the 1890s. Mob violence then declined steadily after the turn of the cen-
tury, although the region was never entirely free from racial violence, as the
Knoxville riot of 1919 graphically demonstrated. This pattern of mob violence
paralleled the broad trends of lynching evident throughout the South as a whole.3

The evolving distribution of lynching victims by race also coincided with
broader southern tendencies. With each passing decade the proportion of mob
victims who were black increased. Before 1900, mobs in the mountain region
executed almost as many whites as blacks. Indeed, in eastern Kentucky before
the century’s end, white mob victims actually outnumbered black victims three
to one. At first glance, this characteristic would seem to distinguish lynchings
in the mountains from mob violence elsewhere in the South. But, just as the
mountain regions of Tennessee and Kentucky were prone to white-on-white
lynchings, so too were the parishes of northern Louisiana, the counties of cen-
tral Arkansas, and the foothill border counties of Tennessee and Kentucky. A
recent study concludes that the lynchings of whites by white mobs was most
commonplace “in predominately white, rural counties of the South.”4 Thus,
while notable, the frequency of lynching of whites in the mountain South par-
alleled patterns in other mostly white areas of the South. And, most important,
after 1900, lynching in Appalachia and in the South in general became almost
exclusively a form of antiblack violence.5

Whether deep in the plantation South or high in Appalachia, the alleged
offenses that provoked mobs to inflict summary punishment were tragically
consistent. Wherever mob violence occurred in the South, the precipitating
causes of most lynchings were alleged murders and violent attacks. These two
offenses provoked over twice as many lynchings as did ostensible sexual of-
fenses, while minor offenses prompted few mob executions. In those areas of
the mountain South where blacks were the mobs’ targets, whites reacted to
alleged sexual assaults and murders according to the brutal etiquette of south-
ern race relations that justified the lynching of black rapists and murderers.
Three lynchings in north Georgia are illustrative. In 1913, a mob of hundreds
in Stephens County lynched two black tramps who had killed a popular town
policeman who tried to arrest them for loitering. In 1915, another mass mob
in Stephens County executed Sam Stephens, a convict serving time on the
chain gang, who allegedly had raped a sixteen-year-old white girl. Finally, in
1916, in the last lynching in the region a mob of one hundred in Walker County
lynched Henry White, a “floater” who was accused of raping a young white
woman. (The black-owned Chicago Defender claimed that the black man and
the white woman had actually been lovers.)6

Alleged murders and sexual offenses also precipitated the overwhelming
majority of mob murders in eastern Kentucky, where two-thirds of lynching
victims were white. When, on December 23, 1881, in Ashland, Kentucky,
George Ellis and two other white men raped two white girls, murdered them
and a young crippled boy with axes, and then set the mutilated corpses on fire,
they aroused a communal fury that could not be assuaged by the courts. After
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being captured by the police, Ellis turned state’s evidence, thereby securing
the conviction of his partners in the murders. He too was convicted and sen-
tenced to life in prison. Even so, on June 3, 1882, the night after his sentenc-
ing, a mob of several hundred men from Ashland traveled by chartered train to
Catlettsburg, where Ellis was jailed, overpowered the jailer, and returned with
Ellis to Ashland by train. Near the site of the murders, the mob hanged him
from the limb of a sycamore tree.7

The public ritual of the Ellis lynching and most other mob executions in
Appalachia was indistinguishable from the practice elsewhere in the South.
Mountain lynchings were neither spontaneous affairs nor substitutes for dis-
tant or absent legal institutions. Some lynchings in the region were hue-and-
cry affairs in which an outraged community rose up in the immediate aftermath
of a crime to punish the perpetrator, but many were not.8 Most lynchings were
premeditated affairs that displayed at least a modicum of organization. Some
planning was required simply for the mobs to wrest their victims away from
the legal authorities. For instance, the mob that lynched Sam Stephens in 1915
displayed striking fortitude. After devoting more than five hours to breaking
into the jail and being thwarted by the door of the black man’s cell, the mob
settled for firing hundreds of rounds through the cell door and into Stephens’s
body.9 Similarly, the logistics involved in transporting the mob that captured
and then lynched George Ellis demanded careful coordination. And, as in the
Ellis and Stephens cases, the overwhelming majority of mob victims in the
mountains of Virginia and Georgia were seized while in legal custody. Some-
times law officers vigorously resisted the mobs, but more often, like their coun-
terparts throughout the South, they surrendered their prisoners with
unbecoming haste to any threatening crowd.10

In Appalachia, as was common throughout the South, a mob’s brutality
escalated according to the race of its victim and in direct proportion to the
perceived severity of the alleged precipitating transgression. Mountain mobs
showed no more restraint than their flatland counterparts when they executed
their victims. One scholar has suggested that the most brutal forms of extrale-
gal execution, especially burning, were uncommon in the region.11 It is more
accurate to observe that the lynching of whites usually did not incorporate the
full repertoire of brutality that whites reserved for the lynching of some black
victims. Because whites comprised a large percentage of lynching victims in
the mountain South, a corresponding percentage of lynchings there were free
of the most extreme forms of torture and mutilation. The restraint of the mobs
that executed whites was evident, for instance, in the lynching of George Ellis
in Ashland, Kentucky. Despite the viciousness of the crimes that Ellis was con-
victed of committing, his executioners refrained from any mutilation of his
corpse. The mob that murdered Dock Posey, a white man in Whitfield County,
Georgia, accused of raping his stepdaughter, displayed similar discipline. After
hanging Posey, an unidentified “captain” of the mob explicitly ordered that no
shots be fired into the corpse.12

Such forbearance was almost unheard of when the mobs’ victims were
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black. The lynching of Thomas Smith in Roanoke, Virginia, offers one vivid
illustration of the capacity of mobs in the Appalachian South to erupt in almost
uncontrollable violence. On September 23, 1892, Smith, a young black la-
borer, allegedly choked, beat, and robbed Mrs. Henry Bishop, a “respectable”
white woman, in the downtown of the booming city of Roanoke. Within a
short time, Smith was arrested and placed in jail. Throughout the afternoon a
belligerent crowd milled in front of the jail and demanded the prisoner. The
pleas from prominent public officials for the crowd to disperse were met with
shouts and threatened violence. As conditions around the jail worsened, Mayor
Henry Trout ordered the entire city police and local militia to protect the
prisoner. Unintimidated by the gathered police and militia forces, an enor-
mous crowd, variously estimated at between fifteen hundred and five thousand
participants, hurled rocks at the militiamen and made a wild rush at the jail.
Shooting broke out, and in the subsequent chaos seven mob members were
killed and at least twenty-five members of the mob and the jail’s defenders
were wounded, including the mayor.13

Once the wounded and dead were cleared from the streets, the mob di-
rected its fury against three targets: the mayor, who they believed had given
the order to shoot; the militia, which they believed had fired without provoca-
tion; and Smith, whose alleged crime had sparked the crisis. The mob searched
furiously for the mayor and ransacked his home and the hotel to which he had
been moved for medical care. The mayor, meanwhile, had fled the city. Having
failed to punish either the militia or the mayor, the mob set about locating Smith,
who had been quietly removed from his cell by the police during the chaos sur-
rounding the jail. Early the next morning, the mob finally discovered the hiding
place of the alleged black assailant and lynched him. Only the timely interces-
sion of a local minister prevented the mob from burying the body of Smith,
which bore a sign with the caption “Mayor Trout’s friend,” in the front yard of
the mayor’s home. In the end, the mob satisfied itself by burning the body.

The lynching of Thomas Smith was an exception; rarely did lynchings
anywhere in the South degenerate into comparable assaults on public author-
ity. But, in some regards, Smith’s execution was emblematic. In keeping with
the pattern in the region, it was the work of a large mob, perhaps numbering in
the hundreds.14 Like most lynching victims in the mountain South, Smith was
seized from law officers. His murderers, as was typical in the region, made no
effort to disguise their identities. Instead, they relied upon the large size of the
crowds that participated in and observed most lynching in the mountain South
to provide whatever degree of anonymity they sought. In sum, few contempo-
rary observers of the lynching of Thomas Smith in Roanoke, of Dock Posey in
Dalton, Georgia, or of other instances of mob violence in Appalachia could
have distinguished the practice of lynching there from the work of mobs else-
where in the South.

Images of mob violence in the Appalachian South during the late nineteenth
century may appear to mesh with the region’s reputation for feuding and ram-
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pant violence. But, as Altina Waller has demonstrated, neither the myth of
hillbilly feuding nor the notion of a distinctive Appalachian culture of violence
withstands careful scrutiny. Violence in the region, she insists, cannot be traced
to some purported genetic inheritance or received culture from Scotch-Irish
ancestors. Nor did the violence simply reveal an irrational penchant for blood-
shed among the region’s residents. Such explanations obscure and trivialize the
very real conflicts and tensions that burst forth in violence in the mountain South.15

The preconditions for collective racial violence seemingly should have
been absent in the region. The large white majority faced little serious threat,
economic or otherwise, from the small and vulnerable black population in the
region. Plantation agriculture and its attendant traditions of violent and ex-
ploitative labor relations remained peripheral to the mountain economy.16 Yet
during the late 1880s and early 1890s mob violence in the mountains reached
levels comparable to other regions of the South. How, then, can the history
and magnitude of the bloodshed in the Appalachian South be explained?

The answer lies in the wrenching innovations and unwelcome immi-
grants that mountain folk confronted as the isolation of their region dimin-
ished. The steep ridges, shorter planting season, and seclusion of the mountain
South had impeded the incorporation of the region into the plantation economy
before the Civil War. Local elites, like their southern counterparts elsewhere,
did invest in slaves, who in time comprised a small but important part of the
labor force. Certainly, by the Civil War, the institution of slavery had touched
virtually every county in the mountain South. Yet, for many of the largely self-
sufficient white farmers who peopled the valleys and hollows of the region,
slaves were an expensive luxury. And after emancipation the black presence in
mountain hinterlands seemed destined to diminish after many longtime black
residents deserted the countryside, flocking instead to the burgeoning cities of
the mountain region.17

The growth of towns and cities was just one measure of the transforma-
tions that swept the Appalachian South during the postbellum era. For the
first time, rail lines cut deeply into the mountains, simultaneously incorporat-
ing the region into the nation’s expanding market economy and disrupting the
prevailing subsistence economy. In southwestern Virginia, eastern Tennessee,
and the western corner of north Georgia, improved transportation profoundly
transformed the region; staple crop cultivation expanded, commercial activity
increased, and mill towns, even cities, arose. Before 1870, for instance, a single
rail line ran down the valleys of southwestern Virginia. By 1900, railroads and
mining companies, lured by vast lumber and mineral resources, had penetrated
virtually all of the region. New communities sprang up, often with astonishing
speed. When the Norfolk and Western Railroad transformed Big Lick, a tiny
village in 1880, into the city of Roanoke, with a population exceeding twenty-
five thousand in 1890, it created one of the most celebrated boomtowns of the
New South.18

Rural industrialization also was the catalyst for substantial population
changes throughout the mountain South. Company recruiters brought for-



RACIAL VIOLENCE, LYNCHINGS, AND MODERNIZATION 307

eign immigrants and blacks into the mushrooming mills, lumber camps, and
coal mines, sometimes creating racially and ethnically mixed communities.
The steady stream of black laborers who flowed from the plantation belt of
the South to the mountain lumber camps and mining towns never assumed the
proportions of a large-scale migration, but it still significantly increased the black
population in the mountains. The number of blacks there grew from 175,000
in 1860 to more than 274,000 by century’s end. Simultaneously, an ongoing
redistribution of the black population within the region that had begun after
emancipation continued. Two counties in Virginia are illustrative. Between
1880 and 1900, the black population of Wise County grew from 101 to 1,965,
and in Alleghany County, from 1,132 to 4,013. In counties that were not un-
dergoing rapid economic development, however, black populations either re-
mained small or declined. Thus, the substantial growth of the black population
between 1865 and 1900 actually represented a far more significant increase
within certain portions of the region.19 The region’s modernization, in short,
took place unevenly. While some counties underwent dizzying transforma-
tions others remained largely cut off from the most pronounced manifesta-
tions of change. This quilt-like pattern contributed to a similarly complex
pattern of local responses to the developments sweeping over the region.

The racial tension that flared into mob violence in Appalachia was one
consequence of the furious pace of these social and economic transformations.
That the influx of black laborers into predominantly white communities, to-
gether with the social and economic effects of rapid development, spawned
deep tensions is hardly surprising. Some longtime mountain residents fought
the advance of industrialization with tactics ranging from lawsuits to outright
violence, while others acceded to the transformations but retained grave con-
cerns about the new immigrants. The editor of the Abingdon Weekly Virginian
expressed the uneasiness of many locals when, after surveying the effects of the
arrival of the railroad in his county, he complained that “along the tracks of the
railroad there have congregated ex-convicts, robbers, cutthroats, and outlaws,
the very scouring of the earth, until life and property are not safe.” Elsewhere
in the region, the fears of many whites focused specifically upon the influx of
itinerant black laborers.20

At first glance, the mob violence of the 1890s may appear to have been
the product of the collision of preindustrial values with the new industrial or-
der and the shift of community life from stable self-sufficiency to dependency
and exploitation. We may be tempted to assume that mountain residents, who
watched as distant industrialists and their local lackeys wrested control over
the region from them, struck out violently against diffuse targets. Anger, frus-
tration, social instability, and economic disruption, the argument goes, ignited
violence without bounds, ranging from so-called feuds, killings, and labor vio-
lence, to lynching.21

Certainly, more than coincidence explains the simultaneous phenomena
of rural industrialization and frequent lynchings in the mountain South. But it
is a mistake to assume that mob violence was an expression of the dedication of
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deeply traditional mountaineers to purge their society of the forces of moder-
nity. The violence of the mountain lynchers was not an inarticulate, irrational
reaction to inchoate fears but rather a concentrated effort to control, not stop
or reverse, change. Like their counterparts in other rapidly changing regions
of the South, such as the piney woods of south Georgia and Mississippi, the
whites who lived in Appalachia used violence as a tool to define racial bound-
aries in a region where traditional racial lines were either vague or nonexistent.
There is ample evidence that the frustration and anger of the white residents
of the region found its target with brutal precision.

The settings for many of the lynchings are suggestive of the tensions
that helped fuel mob violence in the region. Had raw competition between
white and black workers been at the root of the violence, lumber camps and
coal towns presumably would have been the sites of frequent lynchings and
racial clashes. In these communities the conflict between the older preindustrial
values of mountain whites and the new order represented by migrant black
workers arguably was most marked; however, they were seldom the sites of
mob violence. Until the full history of black and white workers in the moun-
tain South is written, it is difficult to know precisely why the economic compe-
tition and rugged communal life in the mines and mills did not spark more
racial violence. Nevertheless, there is growing evidence that suggests that a
surprising degree of racial harmony existed between the races in many indus-
trial communities. The nature of the labor in the mines and mills and the
considerable sense of community that developed in some industrial towns seem
to have mitigated against some of the harshest expressions of prejudice against
blacks. Almost certainly, steady friction between the races was present, but it
seldom escalated into outright mob violence.22

Lynching, rather than serving as a form of backwoods or mining camp
justice, instead often occurred in the comparatively cosmopolitan towns of the
mountain South. For instance, of the twenty-two counties in southwestern
Virginia, only twelve counties had lynching incidents, and of these only six had
more than one. The most mob-prone communities were the transportation,
financial, and administrative centers for the surrounding countryside, and typi-
cally were—much more than company towns—dependent upon a single in-
dustry. Among the towns in which lynchings occurred were Wytheville,
Bluefield, Richlands, Clifton Forge, and Roanoke. Lynching occurred in ar-
eas that tended to have a slightly higher percentage of black residents than
was typical in the region and that also enjoyed a more rapid rate of popula-
tion growth than the counties free of mob murders. Lynchings, then, oc-
curred in precisely those communities that were the centers of change within
the region.23

That explosive forces were at work in southwestern Virginia was evident
in the concentration of mob violence in place and in time. The twenty-eight
lynchings that occurred in the region reflected, more than in any other por-
tion of the Old Dominion, the desperation of whites to define the status of
blacks in a region where blacks were still uncommon and where rapid change
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was taking place. The explicit racial inspiration for the violence was evident in
the targets of the mobs; in a region where whites outnumbered blacks by a
margin of nine to one in 1900, the overwhelming majority of mob victims
were black.

The motivations of the overtly racist mobs in southwestern Virginia went
far beyond simple vengeance for some alleged crime and included blatantly
prescriptive aims. In some instances, white lynchers tapped into inherited atti-
tudes of “contempt, hostility and social superiority” toward all blacks.24 The
lynching of five black railroad hands in Tazewell County in February 1893, for
example, was intended to convey in unmistakable form the indiscriminate de-
sire of whites to rid their communities of all blacks. Four of the black men had
spent the evening before the lynching with two white store owners carousing,
drinking, and listening to “a disreputable white woman” play banjo. Later that
night, as the white men stumbled home, the blacks allegedly robbed and beat
them. On the following day, local law officers arrested and jailed one of the
black men. A mob quickly formed, easily overpowered the jailer, and captured
the prisoner. Within hours the sheriff arrived with the other three alleged
assailants. The sheriff, who perhaps was intimidated by the mob of eighty men,
or, more likely, was sympathetic to their aims because he was a cousin of one of
the assaulted white men, readily surrendered his prisoners. The Tazewell
County mob, which organized openly and made no effort to disguise its ranks,
hardly represented a misdirected or veiled assault on the established order. At
the front of the mob were James Hurt, a magistrate and a member of the
Richlands town council, and James Crabtree, a prominent Richlands business-
man. After hanging the four black men from the same tree, the lynchers mur-
dered a fifth victim, an innocent black man, and posted signs throughout the
county warning blacks to leave immediately or risk vigilante justice. In neigh-
boring Buchanan County, whites also ordered blacks out, announcing “that
Buchanan should be altogether a white county.”25

Comparable racial tensions also flared in the northwestern corner and
along the southern tier of counties in north Georgia, where economic devel-
opment was most marked. Much of the violence expressed the rage and frus-
tration of white tenants and sharecroppers. Landless whites, who chafed when
they found themselves caught in a system of labor that they believed was fit
only for blacks, insisted that they be in loftier positions than blacks on the
agricultural ladder. But the direction of staple-crop agriculture almost certainly
stripped most embattled poor whites of any hopes of acquiring land. They
were left with the token advantages that they received from white landlords:
modestly better land to till and a degree of latitude denied blacks. Their pent-
up discontent periodically surfaced in terrorist racial violence against blacks.

Where mountain whites pressed down into the upper piedmont and, in
turn, blacks pushed up from the cotton belt, white tenant farmers sporadically
organized campaigns to drive black families off their landlords’ land and to
ostracize the white farmers who rented to them. In 1912, for example, white
tenant farmers in Forsyth County, a county on the southern border of the
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region, determined to force all black landowners to sell their farms and to
drive all black tenants out of the county. They whipped and murdered an un-
determined number of blacks, burned their homes and barns, and warned them
to leave. The white planters who depended upon black laborers tried to pre-
vent the exodus of blacks by refusing to hire white tenants or to extend credit
to the leaders of the terrorist campaign, but even so, almost all blacks were
driven out of the county.26

More often, whites apparently intended for lynchings to communicate
codes of acceptable black behavior rather than to purge the region of blacks.
The targets of the violence, as was so often the case in the South, were young,
itinerant, black workers whose raucous and sometimes violent lifestyles pro-
voked considerable concern among whites. In the eyes of many whites, the
behavior of blacks was doubly upsetting because it was unpredictable and posed
a threat to life and property.

The lynching of four black miners in Alleghany County, Virginia, in 1891
is but one instance of savage white retaliation provoked by nothing more than
foolhardy black bravado in a region where the definition of acceptable conduct
by blacks had yet to be precisely etched. The events that culminated in the
bloodletting began on October 17, 1891, in the boomtown of Clifton Forge.
Six black miners from nearby mines came to town to carouse on their day off.
Whites would later claim that the miners had a more sinister motive, namely,
“to take the town.”27 Like most black miners in the region, the party was com-
posed of men who had been lured from the fields of eastern Virginia by prom-
ises of good pay, new opportunities, and tempered racial discrimination. But as
the men would discover, the tolerance of whites for any conspicuous behavior
by blacks had limits.

The miners first relaxed at a bar, and then, with considerable hoopla, had
themselves photographed. A surviving photograph records Charles Martin, the
leader of the group, with a pistol in each hand, his arms crossed on his chest, and
three additional pistols stuffed in his belt. Beneath a broad-brimmed cowboy
hat, he stares from the photograph as if self-consciously adopting the appear-
ance of a Wild West outlaw. One by one, the rest of the group followed Martin
and adopted equally fierce poses for their photographs. After their visit to the
photo studio, the men divided their time between shopping for flashy clothing
and carrying out various pranks against convenient passersby on the street.28

Although Martin and his friends seem to have committed no specific
crime beyond harassing a young black street vendor, their boisterous, intimi-
dating behavior attracted attention. A town police officer attempted to arrest
them but was forced to retreat when they announced that “they would die
before they were taken.” Actually, the men seem to have had no interest in
trouble, and, sensing the danger that they faced, they abandoned the town and
began the journey back to the mines. The officer, stung by his humiliation at
their hands, gathered together a posse and set out after them. A short distance
from the mines, the posse overtook the blacks and ordered them to surrender.
The details of subsequent events remain vague, but there is no question that a
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lengthy gun battle took place and left two members of the posse wounded, one
of them mortally. When news of the gun battle reached Clifton Forge, heavily
armed white men poured from the town and scoured the mountains for the
black miners. Within hours, four of the black “gang” had been captured and
lodged in the jail in Clifton Forge.29

By early evening plans to lynch the black men were under way. At ten
o’clock, a mob that may have numbered as many as three hundred surrounded
the mayor’s office and the jail that held the black “desperadoes.” Ignoring the
mayor’s meek protests, the mob methodically broke into the jail and seized the
black prisoners. After placing ropes around the necks of Miller, John Scott,
and William Scott, the mob dragged them through the streets to a neighbor-
hood known variously as Slaughter House Hollow or Butcher’s Hollow. The
lynchers allowed each man to pray and to confess before they yanked the vic-
tims up and fired hundreds of rounds into their swaying bodies. Despite three
executions to their credit, the lynchers still were not appeased. They returned
to the jail for Bob Burton, whose leg had been shattered by a bullet earlier,
loaded him into a cart, and transported him to the tree where the mangled
bodies of his three friends remained suspended. Despite his youth—he was
only a teenager—and Miller’s earlier confession that Burton had been forced
to participate in the day’s events against his will, the mob showed no pity. They
hoisted him aloft beside the three corpses and riddled his body with shot.30

There was little ambiguity in the intended meaning of the Clifton Forge ex-
ecutions. The mob used the murders to ensure that blacks were well aware
that they remained in the region only with the sufferance of whites.

So extensive were the social and economic transformations in the moun-
tain South that at times the vigilantes there sometimes appeared to lash out in
all directions at once. The whitecappers of north Georgia, where terrorist vio-
lence was especially pronounced, vented concerns over economic dislocations
and social disarray. Corn rather than cotton had been the region’s staple, and
the abundance of corn and the isolation of most farms had provided two of the
essential ingredients to the moonshining industry that thrived there.31 When
federal revenue agents launched an aggressive campaign to stamp out moon-
shining during the late 1880s, many mountain men resisted by joining with
other whitecappers in punishing revenue agents and their informants. Simul-
taneously, whitecappers worried that indolence and lasciviousness were invad-
ing the budding towns of the region. Some also apparently resented
surrendering more and more local autonomy to the whims of the market au-
tonomy. Finally, whites were troubled by the vexing problem of blacks, who
did not always abide by the region’s hardening code of white supremacy. Thus,
the spasm of lynchings and whitecappings against prostitutes, wife-beaters, petty
criminals, “uppity” blacks, and revenue informers was all part of a response to
modernization and its attendant far-reaching economic and social changes.32

Even where whites and blacks averted violence, the threat of it often
provided the pretext for the ongoing calibration of racial etiquette in the re-
gion. For instance, in 1909, in the town of Glen Wilton in southwestern Vir-
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ginia, a murder allegedly committed by a black miner threatened to provoke a
wholesale pogrom against all blacks in the community. Local blacks, including
several ministers, met with concerned local whites and agreed on measures to
relieve the crisis. By posting signs warning that “all bad negroes must quit
town,” the black community hoped to mollify white concerns about black law-
lessness. Local officials moved the alleged murderer to a safe jail, and tensions
subsided. As one white later observed, “What’s the use of having race trouble
when the good negroes want to be good?”33 Taken together, the averted vio-
lence in Glen Wilton and the lynchings in Clifton Forge, Bluefield, and Forsyth
County were all part of the unfolding of a regional racial etiquette. Each event
was intended to teach blacks what forms of public and private behavior would
and would not be tolerated in the new biracial communities of the Appalachia
South. Each was part of the tense negotiation between longtime residents and
newcomers, blacks and whites, workers and capitalists, over the direction, speed,
and benefits of the region’s transformation.

If mob violence in the mountain South was not a unique phenomenon rooted
in a peculiar mountain culture, it still was inextricably bound up in the disloca-
tions produced by the rapid and profound change there. It would be a mistake
to explain the pattern of lynching by exaggerating the enduring impact of such
social strains as economic depression and industrialization. These processes
unquestionably generated serious racial friction. But they may explain, at most,
only brief eruptions of mob violence. As profound as the shock of rapid change
was for many residents of the mountain South, it did not create the precondi-
tions for perpetually high levels of mob violence. The level of mob violence in
the mountain South, after all, subsided after 1900. No precise explanation for
this decline is apparent. The decline of lynching in the region, as noted earlier,
paralleled broader southern trends. Yet, any explanation for the decline must
take into account, in addition to regional trends, developments specific to the
mountain South.

The eruption of widespread mob violence almost certainly marked an
important but transitional stage in the social and economic modernization of
the mountain South. The peak of lynching in Appalachia, like the pattern of
collective violence in other areas undergoing rapid economic change, coin-
cided with the period when industrialization was relatively new.34 Rural indus-
trialization, wherever it took place, was a catalyst for racial antagonisms. The
combination of the footloose black workers in such rural industries as lumber-
ing and mining and the challenge that the industrial labor practices posed to
prevailing labor traditions predictably fostered ambivalence and hostility among
many white residents in communities undergoing rural industrialization. And
because rural industrialization did not require or encourage the expansion of
local government or the development of anything that might be labeled civic
culture, neither institutions nor individuals with any firm commitment to dis-
courage categorically racial violence existed.35

The racial tensions generated by the industrialization of the Appalachian
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South, however, were quickly subsumed by greater and more enduring strains
within the white community. The flurry of mob violence during the early years
of industrialization was an attempt by whites to define the status of blacks, an
effort that took on significance only because of the transformations within the
region. By the turn of the century, racial etiquette in the region was codified in
law and practice. The racial geography of the region likewise was stabilized.
After the initial dramatic influx of blacks into southwestern Virginia, eastern
Kentucky, and eastern Tennessee, fewer and fewer blacks found employment
in the mines there. Blacks seemingly preferred the coalfields of West Virginia,
where they suffered less oppressive treatment at the hands of whites.36 Only
the coal mines of Alabama continued to employ large percentages of blacks.
Throughout much of the region, whites, unchallenged by black laborers, re-
tained for themselves the dubious privilege of eking out a living in the region’s
mines and mills. When racial antagonism flared in those settings, it was most
often inflamed by mine and mill operators anxious to stymie unions and sup-
press strikes. As the effects of development became clear, residents of Appala-
chia allied themselves either in support of the changes or against them. The
ebbing of mob violence and the ongoing, periodic eruption of labor unrest and
violence in the Appalachian South during the twentieth century signaled the
advent of increasingly politicized protest directed against the people who spear-
headed change and the inequities of industrialization itself.

Even fewer catalysts for racial violence were evident in the areas of the
mountain South untouched by industrialization. Unlike the transformations
in the pine barrens of Louisiana or the Delta of Mississippi, two other areas
marked by headlong change after the Civil War, the changes in the mountain
South did not remake the region in the image of the plantation South. Only a
small portion of Appalachia, specifically the area along the borders with the
foothills, was devoted to monocultural agriculture with all of its attendant evils,
including lynching. Mobs flourished within the boundaries of the plantation
South where sharecropping, monocultural agriculture, and a stark line sepa-
rating white landowners and black tenants existed. In regions characterized by
these traits, mob violence became part of the very rhythm of life. Deeply rooted
traditions of violent labor control, unhindered by any meaningful resistance
from either institutions or individuals opposed unconditionally to racial vio-
lence, sustained a tradition of mob violence for decades. In rough proportion
to the degree that a particular region diverged from the plantation South, the
likelihood of habitual mob violence in that region shrank. Of course, neither
the pursuit of economic justice nor the rejection of violence lay behind the
absence of violence in agricultural labor relations in Appalachia. Mountain
landlords simply devised instead a system of labor that was exploitative, stable,
and lucrative but that did not rest upon the steady application of coercive meth-
ods. They showed little interest in mimicking their low country counterparts,
who assumed the prerogative to regulate violently all aspects of black life. Thus,
the enduring stimuli for lynching that were so abundant in the plantation dis-
tricts of the South were largely absent from rural Appalachia. The point is that
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although the color line was etched into the day-to-day reality of race relations
in Appalachia during the twentieth century, few whites believed that the up-
heavals of the late nineteenth century required them to defend violently and
habitually their property, livelihood, rights, or status from a black threat.
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